THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.

If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Scheme Circular and what action you should take, you should
consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent financial adviser who, if you
are taking such advice in Ireland, should be authorised or exempted pursuant to European Union (Markets in
Financial Instruments) Regulations 2017 (S.I. No. 375 of 2017) or the Investment Intermediaries Act 1995 (as
amended) or, if you are taking such advice in the United Kingdom, should be authorised pursuant to the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 of the United Kingdom.

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all your Total Produce Shares, please send this Scheme Circular and the
accompanying documents at once to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through
whom the sale or transfer was effected for delivery to the purchaser or transferee. The distribution of this Scheme
Circular in jurisdictions other than Ireland and the United Kingdom may be restricted by law and therefore persons
into whose possession this Scheme Circular comes should inform themselves about and observe such restrictions.
Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such
jurisdiction.

The release, publication or distribution of this Scheme Circular in or into jurisdictions other than Ireland or the
United Kingdom may be restricted by the laws of those jurisdictions and therefore persons into whose possession
this Scheme Circular comes should inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. Failure to comply
with any such restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

Tetal

Let’'s Grow Together

Scheme of Arrangement under Chapter 1, Part 9 of the Companies Act 2014
for the adoption of a mandatory share exchange arrangement so that Dole plc can acquire the entire
issued share capital of Total Produce plc in exchange for the issue of new shares in Dole plc

Extraordinary General Meeting
to approve the acquisition of the outstanding shares in Dole Food Company, Inc., the amendment of the
Constitution and the delisting of the Companybs shares from AIM and Euronext Growth

Notices convening the Scheme Meeting and EGM, which will be held at 29 North Anne Street, Dublin 7, D07
PH36, Ireland on 17 June 2021 are set out at the end of this Scheme Circular. The Scheme Meeting will start at
11.00 a.m. (Irish time) and the EGM will start at 11.15 a.m. (or, if later, as soon thereafter as the Scheme Meeting,
convened for the same date and place, has concluded or has been adjourned).

Your attention is drawn to the letter from Carl McCann, Chair of Total Produce, in Part 1 (Letter from the Chair
of Total Produce) of this Scheme Circular, which contains the recommendation of the Board that you vote in
favour of the resolutions to be proposed at the Scheme Meeting and the EGM.

COVID-19 Notice

The well-being of shareholders and our people is a primary concern for the Directors. We are closely monitoring
the COVID-19 situation and any advice by the Government of Ireland in relation to the pandemic. We will take
all recommendations and applicable law into account in the conduct of the Scheme Meeting and the EGM. If
current or similar restrictions or recommendations relating to COVID-19 remain in force on the date of the Scheme
Meeting and the EGM, the Board expects that the Scheme Meeting and the EGM will be held as a closed meeting
and shareholders will not be able to attend in person on account of the Irish Government restrictions arising from
the COVID-19 situation. This will facilitate Total Produce in ensuring it adheres to the Government's restrictions
and HSE instructions and recommendations regarding physical distancing, non-essential travel and the limit on
the number of people for public gatherings. This will be determined closer to the date of the Scheme Meeting and
the EGM.



The Scheme Meeting and the EGM will therefore be broadcast from 11.00 a.m. on 17 June 2021. Total Produce
Shareholders are invited to participate in the Scheme and the EGM via a live webcast which you can access by
logging on to http://web.lumiagm.com.

Before the Scheme Meeting and the EGM, in the event of a closed meeting, Total Produce Shareholders may also
submit a question in writing, to be received at least two business days before the meeting (i.e. by 11.15 a.m. on
15 June 2021) by post to the Company Secretary at Total Produce plc, 29 North Anne Street, Dublin 7, D07 PH36,
Ireland or by email to jdevine@totalproduce.com. All correspondence should include sufficient information to
identify a Total Produce Shareholder on the Register of Members.

Form of proxy and electronic proxy appointment

Forms of Proxy for use at the Scheme Meeting and the EGM are enclosed. Following the migration of the
Company’s ordinary shares to the system operated by Euroclear Bank SA/NV (the “Euroclear System” and
“Euroclear Bank”, respectively) on 15 March 2021, the process for appointing a proxy and/or voting at the
meeting will now depend on the manner in which you hold your ordinary shares in the Company.

Further information for shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company

For Total Produce Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company (i.e. those
shareholders who hold their shares in certificated form and who therefore do not hold their interests in ordinary
shares as Belgian law rights through the Euroclear System or as CREST Depositary Interests (“CDIs”) through
CREST), the Forms of Proxy must be completed and signed in accordance with the instructions printed thereon,
and returned by post to the Company’s Registrars, Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited, at PO Box
13030, Dublin 24, Ireland (if delivered by post) or at 3100 Lake Drive, Citywest Business Campus, Dublin 24,
D24 AK82, Ireland (if delivered by hand) as soon as possible but in any event so as to be received by the
Company’s Registrar no later than 11.00 a.m. on 15 June 2021 for the Scheme Meeting, or 11.15 a.m. on 15 June
2021 for the EGM. If the Form of Proxy for the Scheme Meeting is not lodged by the relevant time, it may be
handed to a representative of Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited, on behalf of the Chairman of
the Scheme Meeting, or to the Chairman of the Scheme Meeting, before the start of the Scheme Meeting.

Alternatively, electronic proxy appointment is also available for the Scheme Meeting and the EGM. This facility
enables Total Produce Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company to appoint
a proxy by electronic means by logging on to www.eproxyappointment.com. To appoint a proxy on this website
shareholders need to enter a Control Number, a Shareholder Reference Number (SRN), and PIN and agree to the
terms and conditions specified by the Company’s Registrar. The Control Number, the Shareholder Reference
Number (SRN) and PIN can be found on the top of the Form of Proxy.

Total Produce Shareholders are strongly encouraged to appoint “the Chair of the meeting” as their proxy. If any
other person is appointed as proxy, he or she may not be permitted by the prevailing COVID-19 restrictions to
attend the relevant Meeting in person, but will be able to attend, speak, ask questions and vote at the relevant
Meeting remotely via the Virtual Meeting Platform and related teleconference facility, further details of which are
set out below and in the Virtual Meeting Guide (as defined below).

Further Information for the holders of CDIs (“CDI Holders”)

CDI Holders should consult with their stockbroker or other intermediary at the earliest opportunity for further
information on the processes and timelines for submitting proxy votes for the Scheme Meeting and the EGM
through the respective systems.

Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (“EUI”), the operator of CREST, has arranged for voting instructions relating to
the CDIs held in CREST to be received via a third party service provider, Broadridge Financial Solutions Limited
(“Broadridge”). Further details on this service are set out on the “All you need to know about SRD II” in
Euroclear UK & Ireland webpage (see section CREST International Service — Proxy voting).

If you are a CDI Holder, you will be required to make use of the EUI proxy voting service facilitated by Broadridge
Global Proxy Voting service in order to receive meeting announcements and send back voting instructions, as
required. To facilitate client set up, if you hold CDIs and wish to participate in the proxy voting service, you will
need to complete a Meetings and Voting Client Set-up Form (CRT408). Completed application forms should be
returned to EUI by an authorised signatory with another relevant authorised signatory copied in for verification
purposes using the following email address: eui.srd2@euroclear.com.


http://web.lumiagm.com/

Fully completed and returned applications forms will be shared with Broadridge by EUI. This will enable
Broadridge to contact you and share further detailed information on the service offering and initiate the process
for granting your access to the Broadridge platform.

Once CDI Holders have access to the Broadridge platform, they can complete and submit proxy appointments
(including voting instructions) electronically. Broadridge will process and deliver proxy voting instructions
received from CDI Holders by the Broadridge voting deadline date to Euroclear Bank, by their cut-off and to
agreed market requirements. Alternatively, a CDI Holder can send a third party proxy voting instruction through
the Broadridge platform in order to appoint a third party (who may be a corporate representative or the CDI Holder
themselves) to attend and vote at the meeting for the number of shares specified in the proxy instruction (subject
to the Broadridge voting deadline). There is no facility to offer a letter of representation/appoint a corporate
representative other than through the submission of third party proxy appointment instructions through
Broadridge.

Broadridge’s voting deadline is expected to be two days prior to Euroclear Bank’s voting instruction deadline as
set out below. Voting instructions cannot be changed or cancelled after Broadridge’s voting deadline.

CDI Holders are strongly encouraged to familiarise themselves with the new arrangements with Broadridge,
including the new voting deadlines and procedures and to take, as soon as possible, any further actions required
by Broadridge before they can avail of this voting service.

Further Information for Euroclear Bank Participants

Total Produce Shareholders who hold their interests in the Company’s ordinary shares through a participant
account in the Euroclear System (“EB Participants”) can submit proxy appointments (including voting
instructions) electronically in the manner described in the document issued by Euroclear Bank in February 2021
and entitled “Euroclear Bank as issuer CSD for Irish corporate securities”. EB Participants can either send:

. electronic voting instructions to instruct Euroclear Nominees Limited (i.e. the nominee of Euroclear
Bank) (“Euroclear Nominees”) to either itself or by appointing the Chair as proxy:

@ vote in favour of all or a specific resolution(s);
(b) vote against all or a specific resolution(s);
(© abstain for all or a specific resolution(s); or
(d) give discretionary vote to the Chair for all or a specific resolution(s); or
. a proxy voting instruction to appoint a third party (other than Euroclear Nominees or the Chair of the

Scheme and the EGM) (who may be a corporate representative or the EB Participant themselves) to
attend the meeting and vote for the number of ordinary shares specified in the proxy voting instruction
by providing Euroclear Bank with the proxy details as requested in its notification (e.g. proxy first name,
proxy last name, proxy address, nationality code). If an EB Participant appoints someone other than the
Chair of the meeting to be their proxy, that person is unlikely to be able to attend in person if the
prevailing Covid-19 measures require the Company to conduct the Scheme Meeting as a closed meeting.
There is no facility to offer a letter of representation/appoint a corporate representative other than through
the submission of third party proxy appointment instructions.

Euroclear Bank will, wherever practical, aim to have a voting instruction deadline of one hour prior to the
Company’s proxy appointment deadline, which, in the case of the Scheme Meeting and the EGM, would be a
deadline of 10.00 a.m. on 15 June 2021 for the Scheme Meeting and 10.15 a.m. on 15 June 2021 for the EGM.
Voting instructions cannot be changed or cancelled after Euroclear Bank’s voting deadline.

EB Participants are strongly encouraged to familiarise themselves with the new arrangements with Euroclear
Bank, including the new voting deadlines and procedures.

For voting services offered by custodians holding Irish corporate securities directly with Euroclear Bank, please
contact your custodian.



Logging in to the Scheme Meeting and the EGM via the Lumi platform:

In order to attend the Scheme Meeting and the EGM and ask questions via the Lumi platform, holders of
certificated shares or any person acting as a proxy will need to connect to the following site
https://web.lumiagm.com. Lumi is compatible with the latest browser versions of Chrome, Firefox, Internet
Explorer 11 (Internet Explorer V10 and lower are not supported), Edge and Safari and can be accessed using any
web browser, on a PC or smartphone device.

Once Total Produce Shareholders have accessed https://web.lumiagm.com from a web browser on a tablet or
computer, they will be asked to enter the Lumi Meeting ID which is 100-861-321. Total Produce Shareholders
will then be prompted to enter a Shareholder Reference Number (SRN) and a PIN. The Shareholder Reference
Number (SRN) and PIN can be found on the top of the Form of Proxy.

Access to the Lumi platform for the purpose of the Scheme Meeting and the EGM will be available from 60
minutes before meeting start time. During the Scheme Meeting and the EGM, you must ensure you are connected
to the internet at all times in order to listen to the Chair and ask questions. Therefore, it is your responsibility to
ensure connection to the internet for the duration of the Scheme Meeting and the EGM. A user guide to the audio
webcast is available on our website at: www.totalproduce.com and contains further information on remotely
accessing and participating in the EGM via the Virtual Meeting Platform and related teleconference facility (the
“Virtual Meeting Guide”).

A duly appointed proxy or corporate representative should contact their nominee in order to access the Lumi
platform. CDI holders or EB Participants (or underlying beneficial holders) wishing to access the Lumi platform
must arrange to have themselves appointed as their own proxy as explained in notes 5 and 6 at the end the Notice
of Scheme Meeting and the Notice of the EGM.

Persons appointed as a proxy for a Total Produce Shareholder should contact Computershare before 11.00 a.m.
on 16 June 2021 by emailing clientservices@computershare.ie for unique log-in credentials in order to access the
Meeting.

Total Produce Shareholders should read the whole of this Scheme Circular, any documents incorporated into it by
reference and the accompanying Forms of Proxy. This document together with those documents listed in
paragraph 12 of Part 10 (Additional Information) and all information incorporated into this Scheme Circular by
reference to another source will be available on Total Produce’s website at www.totalproduce.com. The content
of such website is not incorporated and does not form part of this Scheme Circular.

No Offer to the Public
European Economic Area

This Scheme Circular does not constitute a prospectus for the purpose of the Article 3(1) of the Prospectus
Regulation and the Share Exchange does constitute an offer of shares to the public in Ireland as there is no offer
capable of acceptance.

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area other than Ireland (each a “Relevant State”™),
no Shares have been offered or will be offered pursuant to the Scheme to the public and the Share Exchange may
only extend:

€)] to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined under Article 2 of the Prospectus Regulation;

(b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined under Article 2 of the
Prospectus Regulation), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the representative for any such offer; or

(© in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer to the public” in relation to the Shares in any Relevant
State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer
and any Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for any Shares, and the
expression “Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.
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United Kingdom

This Scheme Circular does not constitute a prospectus pursuant to Section 85 of the FSMA or a supplemental
prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the UK Prospectus Regulation and the Share Exchange does constitute an
offer of shares to the public in the United Kingdom as there is no offer capable of acceptance.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer to the public” in relation to the Shares in the United
Kingdom means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the
offer and any Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for any Shares
and the expression “UK Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic
law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018.

Hong Kong

The Share Exchange is not being made available in Hong Kong by means of any document other than (i) in
circumstances which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance”) or which do not constitute an invitation to the public within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Securities and
Futures Ordinance”), (ii) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance and any
rules made thereunder, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a “prospectus” as
defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, and no advertisement,
invitation or document relating to the shares may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the
purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is directed at, or the contents of which
are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities
laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons
outside Hong Kong or only to “professional investors” in Hong Kong as defined in the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and any rules made thereunder.

Switzerland

We have not and will not register with the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (“FINMA?) as a foreign
collective investment scheme pursuant to Article 119 of the Federal Act on Collective Investment Scheme of
23 June 2006, as amended (“CISA”), and accordingly the Share Exchange has not and will not be approved, and
may not be licensable, with FINMA. Therefore, the securities have not been authorized for distribution by FINMA
as a foreign collective investment scheme pursuant to Article 119 CISA and the Share Exchange may not be
offered to the public (as this term is defined in Article 3 CISA) in or from Switzerland. The Share Exchange is
only being made available to “qualified investors,” as this term is defined in Article 10 CISA, and in the
circumstances set out in Article 3 of the Ordinance on Collective Investment Scheme of 22 November 2006, as
amended (“CISO”), such that there is no public offer. Such persons, however, do not benefit from protection
under CISA or CISO or supervision by FINMA. This Scheme Circular and any other materials relating to the
shares in Dole plc are strictly personal and confidential to each Total Produce Shareholder and do not constitute
an offer capable of acceptance by any person. This Scheme Circular may only be used by those qualified investors
to whom it has been handed out in connection with the Share Exchange described herein and may neither directly
or indirectly be distributed or made available to any person or entity other than its recipients. It may not be used
in connection with any offer and shall in particular not be copied and/or distributed to the public in Switzerland
or from Switzerland. This Scheme Circular does not constitute an issue prospectus as that term is understood
pursuant to Article 652a and/or 1156 of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations. We have not applied for a listing
of the securities on the SIX Swiss Exchange or any other regulated securities market in Switzerland, and
consequently, the information presented in this Scheme Circular does not necessarily comply with the information
standards set out in the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange and corresponding prospectus schemes annexed
to the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange.

Adyvisors

Goldman Sachs, which is authorised by the PRA and regulated by the FCA and the PRA in the United Kingdom,
is acting exclusively for Total Produce and no one else in connection with the Transaction and the matters set out
in this Scheme Circular and will not regard any other person as its client in relation to the matters in this Scheme
Circular and will not be responsible to anyone other than Total Produce for providing the protections afforded to
clients of Goldman Sachs or its affiliates, nor for providing advice in relation to the Transaction, the contents of
this Scheme Circular or any other matters referred to herein.



Davy, which is regulated in Ireland by the Central Bank of Ireland, is acting for Total Produce and no one else in
relation to the matters referred to herein. In connection with such matters, Davy, its affiliates, directors, officers,
employees and agents will not regard any other person as their client, nor will they be responsible to anyone other
than Total Produce for providing the protections afforded to their clients or for providing advice in connection
with the matters described in this Scheme Circular or any matter referred to herein.



IMPORTANT NOTICE

Overseas jurisdictions

The distribution, release or publication of this Scheme Circular in or into jurisdictions other than Ireland or the
United Kingdom may be restricted by law and therefore any persons who are subject to the laws of any jurisdiction
other than Ireland or the United Kingdom should inform themselves about, and observe, any applicable
requirements. Any failure to comply with the applicable requirements may constitute a violation of the securities
laws of such jurisdiction. This document is not intended to and does not constitute, or form part of, any offer to
sell or issue or an invitation to purchase or subscribe for any securities or a solicitation of an offer to buy any
securities pursuant to this Scheme Circular or otherwise in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is
unlawful. This document has been prepared for the purposes of complying with Irish law, the Euronext Growth
Rules and the AIM Rules and the information disclosed may not be the same as that which would have been
disclosed if this Scheme Circular had been prepared in accordance with the laws of jurisdictions outside Ireland.

The attention of Total Produce Shareholders who are resident in, or citizens of, jurisdictions outside Ireland or the
United Kingdom, is drawn to the paragraph 12 (headed “Overseas shareholders™) in Part3 (Explanatory
Statement) of this Scheme Circular.

Statements made in this Scheme Circular

The statements contained in this Scheme Circular are made as at the date of this Scheme Circular, unless some
other time is specified in relation to them, and service of this Scheme Circular shall not give rise to any implication
that there has been no change in the facts set forth in this Scheme Circular since such date. Nothing in this Scheme
Circular shall be deemed to be a forecast, projection or estimate of the future financial performance of Total
Produce, Dole plc, the Total Produce Group or Dole Food Company except if and where otherwise stated.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to Dole plc and Total Produce. These
forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate only to historical or current facts.
Forward-looking statements often use words such as “anticipate”, “target”, “expect”, “estimate”, “intend”, “plan”,
“believe”, “will”, “may”, “would”, “could” or “should” or other words of similar meaning or the negative thereof.
Forward-looking statements may include statements relating to the following: (i) future capital expenditures,
expenses, revenues, economic performance, financial conditions, dividend policy, losses and future prospects;
(ii) business and management strategies and the expansion and growth of the operations of Dole plc, or the Total
Produce Group; and (iii) the effects of government regulation on the business of Dole plc, or the Total Produce
Group.

2 CLINTS CLINTS

These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of any such person, or industry results, to be materially
different from any results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
These forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the present and future business
strategies of such persons and the environment in which each will operate in the future. You are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. All subsequent
oral or written forward-looking statements attributable to Dole plc or Total Produce or any persons acting on their
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statement above. None of Dole plc, Total Produce
or the Total Produce Group undertake any obligation to update publicly or revise forward-looking or other
statements contained in this Scheme Circular, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise,
except to the extent legally required.

Publication of this Scheme Circular

A copy of this Scheme Circular will be made available free of charge (subject to any applicable restrictions with
respect to persons resident in Restricted Jurisdictions) on Total Produce’s website at
https://www.totalproduce.com by no later than noon time on the day following the publication of this Scheme
Circular.

Rounding

Certain figures included in this Scheme Circular have been subjected to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals in
certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them.
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General

The laws of certain jurisdictions may affect the availability of the Transaction to persons who are not resident in
Ireland or the United Kingdom. Persons who are not resident in Ireland or the United Kingdom, or who are subject
to laws of any jurisdiction other than Ireland or the United Kingdom, should inform themselves about, and
observe, any applicable legal or regulatory requirements. Any failure to comply with any applicable legal or
regulatory requirements may constitute a violation of the laws and/or regulations of any such jurisdiction. To the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the companies and persons involved in the Transaction disclaim any
responsibility and liability for the violation of such restrictions by any person.

The Transaction will not be made available, directly or indirectly, in any Restricted Jurisdiction, and the
Transaction will not be capable of acceptance from within a Restricted Jurisdiction.

The release, publication or distribution of this Scheme Circular in or into certain jurisdictions may be restricted
by the laws of those jurisdictions. Accordingly, copies of this Scheme Circular and all other documents relating
to the Transaction are not being, and must not be, released, published, mailed or otherwise forwarded, distributed
or sent in, into or from any Restricted Jurisdiction. Persons receiving such documents (including, without
limitation, nominees, trustees and custodians) should observe these restrictions. Failure to do so may constitute a
violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, Dole
and Total Produce disclaim any responsibility or liability for the violations of any such restrictions by any person.

This document does not constitute an offer or invitation to subscribe for or purchase securities in Total Produce,
Dole plc or any other entity.

If you have any questions relating to this Scheme Circular or how to complete and return the Forms of
Proxy please call the Company’s Registrars, Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited on
+353 1 447 5527 between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. Monday to Friday (other than bank holidays in Ireland).
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Expected Timetable of Principal Events

Event Time Date

Latest time for receipt of Forms of Proxy for the Scheme 11.00 a.m. 15 June 2021
Meeting YELLOW Form

Latest time for receipt of Forms of Proxy for the 11.15am. 15 June 2021
Extraordinary General Meeting WHITE Form

Voting Record Time Close of business 13 June 2021
Deadline for receipt of written questions in advance of the  11.15 a.m. 15 June 2021

Extraordinary General Meeting
Scheme Meeting 11.00 a.m. 17 June 2021

Extraordinary General Meeting (1) 11.15a.m. 17 June 2021

The following dates are provided by way of indicative guidance only, are subject to change and will
depend, amongst other things, on the date on which certain Conditions to the Scheme are satisfied or, if
capable of waiver, waived and on the date on which the Court sanctions the Scheme. Total Produce will
give adequate notice of all of these dates, when known, by issuing an announcement through a Regulatory
Information Service. Further updates or changes to other times or dates indicated below shall, at Total
Produce’s discretion, be notified in the same way.

Intended date to present petition to the High Court to issue 21 June 2021

directions to fix Court Hearing date

Earliest expected date for Court Hearing (of the petition 7 July 2021

to sanction the Scheme)

Expected Completion Date Late July 2021

Expected last day of dealings in Total Produce Shares The earlier of two days

before Completion Date
or the last trading day
prior to the Completion

Date
Cancellation of the Euronext Growth listing of Total Late July 2021
Produce shares by Euronext Dublin and the cancellation
of the AIM listing of Total Produce shares by the London
Stock Exchange
Expected settlement of share consideration due under the Late July 2021
Scheme
Notes:
(1) To commence at 11.15 a.m., or, if later, immediately after the conclusion or adjournment of the Scheme
Meeting.

All times shown in this Scheme Circular are a reference to times in Ireland unless otherwise stated.
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Action to be Taken
Meetings to be held on 17 June 2021

The Scheme requires approval by Total Produce Shareholders at the Scheme Meeting to be held at 11.00 a.m. on
17 June 2021.

In addition to approval at the Scheme Meeting, implementation of the Scheme also requires various approvals by
Total Produce Shareholders at the EGM to be held at 11.15 a.m. on 17 June 2021, or, if later, immediately after
the conclusion or adjournment of the Scheme Meeting. Once effective, the Scheme will be binding on all Total
Produce Shareholders, including those who did not vote, or who voted against it, at the Scheme Meeting.

Sign and return the accompanying forms

It is important that as many votes as possible are cast at the Scheme Meeting so that the High Court may be
satisfied that at such Scheme Meeting there was a fair representation of Total Produce Shareholders’ opinion. You
are therefore encouraged to sign and return the enclosed Forms of Proxy as soon as possible and in any event so
as to be received by the Company’s Registrars, Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited, at
PO Box 13030, Dublin 24, Ireland (if delivered by post) or at 3100 Lake Drive, Citywest Business Campus,
Dublin 24, D24 AK82, Ireland (if delivered by hand). These should be signed and returned so as to be received
no later than 11.00 a.m. and 11.15 a.m., respectively, on 15 June 2021.

If you hold your Total Produce Shares in your own name, the completion and return of a Form of Proxy either for
the relevant Scheme Meeting or for the EGM will not prevent you from accessing and voting at either meeting (or
any adjournment thereof) remotely if you wish to do so. If you wish to amend or revoke your Forms of Proxy
after you have returned them to the Company’s Registrars, you should contact the Company’s Registrars at the
address given above.

As set out in the opening pages of this Scheme Circular and in Part 12 (Notice of the Scheme Meeting) and Part 13
(Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting of Total Produce plc), Total Produce Shareholders and other attendees
may not be permitted by the prevailing COVID-19 restrictions to attend the Scheme Meeting and the EGM in
person, but can remotely attend, speak, ask questions and vote at the Scheme Meeting or the EGM via the Virtual
Meeting Platform and related teleconference facility, as described in the opening pages of this Scheme Circular
and the Virtual Meeting Guide.

If you are a participant in the Total Produce Share Plans, unless you hold other Total Produce Shares in your own
name, you will not be entitled to attend any of the Meetings.

Voting electronically

If you are a certificated shareholder you may submit your Forms of Proxy via the internet by accessing the
Company’s Registrars’ website www.eproxyappointment.com. To appoint a proxy on this website shareholders
need to enter a Control Number, a Shareholder Reference Number (SRN), and PIN and agree to the terms and
conditions specified by the Company’s Registrar. The Control Number, the Shareholder Reference Number (SRN)
and PIN can be found on the top of the Form of Proxy.

If you are a CDI Holder, you will be required to make use of the EUI proxy voting service facilitated by Broadridge
Global Proxy Voting service. To participate in this proxy voting service, you will need to complete a Meetings
and Voting Client Set-up Form (CRT408). Once CDI Holders have access to the Broadridge platform, they can
complete and submit proxy appointments (including voting instructions) electronically. Broadridge will process
and deliver proxy voting instructions received from CDI Holders by the Broadridge voting deadline date to
Euroclear Bank, by their cut-off and to agreed market requirements.

If you are an EB Participant, you can submit proxy appointments (including voting instructions) electronically in
the manner described in the document issued by Euroclear Bank in February 2021 and entitled “Euroclear Bank
as issuer CSD for Irish corporate securities”.

Questions

Before the Scheme Meeting and the EGM, in the event of a closed meeting, Total Produce Shareholders may
submit a question in writing, to be received at least two business days before the meeting (i.e. by 11.15 a.m. on
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15 June 2021) by post to the Company Secretary at Total Produce plc, 29 North Anne Street, Dublin 7, DO7 PH36,
Ireland or by email to jdevine@totalproduce.com. All correspondence should include sufficient information to
identify a Total Produce Shareholder on the Register of Members.

Recommendation

The Board unanimously recommends that you vote in favour of all resolutions at the Scheme Meeting and the
EGM.

Enquiries

If you have any queries in relation to action to be taken, please contact the Company’s Registrars, Computershare
Investor Services (Ireland) Limited, on +353 1 447 5527 between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. Monday to Friday
(other than bank holidays in Ireland). For legal reasons, the Company’s Registrars will not be able to provide
advice on the merits of the Transaction itself or to give legal, financial or tax advice.

Under the current COVD-19 regulations, Total Produce Shareholders will not be able to attend the EGM in person.
Total Produce Shareholders are therefore encouraged to use the above facility for any queries. Total Produce
Shareholders can also submit questions to be raised at the Scheme Meeting or the EGM in writing, to be received
at least two business days before the meeting (i.e. by 11.15 am on 15 June 2021) by post to the Company Secretary
at Total Produce plc, 29 North Anne Street, Dublin 7, D07 PH36, Ireland or by email to
jdevine@totalproduce.com. All correspondence should include sufficient information to identify a Total Produce
Shareholder on the Register of Members.
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Part 1
LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF TOTAL PRODUCE PLC

(Registered in Ireland No. 427687)

DIRECTORS REGISTERED OFFICE:
Carl McCann (Chair) 29 North Anne Street
Rory Byrne (Chief Executive Officer) Dublin 7
Frank Davis (Chief Financial Officer) D07 PH36
Imelda Hurley (Non-executive Director) Ireland

Rose Hynes (Non-executive Director)
Michael Meghen (Non-executive Director)
Helen Nolan (Non-executive Director)
Kevin Toland (Non-executive Director)

19 May 2021

To Total Produce Shareholders (including participants in the Total Produce Share Plans) and for information
only, to the holders of the Total Produce Options.

Scheme of Arrangement
under Chapter 1, Part 9 of the Companies Act 2014
for the adoption of a mandatory share exchange arrangement so that Dole plc can acquire the entire
issued share capital of Total Produce plc in exchange for the issue of new shares in Dole plc

Extraordinary General Meeting
to approve the acquisition of the outstanding shares in Dole Food Company, Inc., the amendment of the
Constitution and the delisting of the Company’s shares from AIM and Euronext Growth

Dear Shareholder,
1. Background

On 17 February 2021, the board of Total Produce, Dole Food Company, Inc. (“Dole Food Company”), and
affiliates of Castle & Cooke, Inc. (the “C&C Shareholders”), which own a 55% interest in DFC Holdings, LLC
(“DFC Holdings”), which is the parent company of Dole Food Company (collectively, the “Parties”), announced
that they had entered into a binding transaction agreement (which, together with the amendment dated 23 April
2021, is referred to as the “Transaction Agreement”) to combine under a newly created, Irish incorporated,
U.S. listed company, Dole plc.

On 31 July 2018, Total Produce USA Holdings Inc. (“TP USA”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Total Produce,
acquired 45% of the membership interests in DFC Holdings (the “2018 Transaction”). Pursuant to the terms of
the 2018 Transaction, TP USA has the right, but not the obligation, (i) to acquire up to an additional 6% of the
membership interests in DFC Holdings (in one or more tranches) (the “Second Tranche”) and (ii) from and after
31 July 2020, to acquire the balance of the membership interests in DFC Holdings (the “Third Tranche”), in
each case, on terms agreed in the 2018 Transaction. If TP USA has not exercised its right to acquire the Third
Tranche by 31 July 2023, the C&C Parties have the right to cause a process to market and sell DFC Holdings or
all or substantially all of its assets.

Implementation of the Transaction Agreement requires the approvals of certain resolutions as explained in this
Scheme Circular.

2

Z, Terms of the Transaction Agreement

Under the terms of the Transaction Agreement, Total Produce and Dole Food Company will combine under
Dole plc, an Irish incorporated company, which will seek a listing on a major U.S. stock exchange (now
determined to be the New York Stock Exchange) as soon as possible thereafter. Upon completion of the
Transaction, Total Produce’s existing listings on the Euronext Dublin and the London Stock Exchange will be
discontinued (the “Delistings”).
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Subject to the adoption of a mandatory share exchange mechanism by the approval of a scheme of arrangement
(the “Scheme of Arrangement”), the Board of Total Produce will be authorised to implement a share exchange
so that all shares in Total Produce will be exchanged for new shares in Dole plc on the basis of seven Total Produce
Shares for one Ordinary Share in Dole plc (the “Share Exchange”). The Share Exchange will result in Total
Produce shareholders holding 82.5% of the issued share capital of Dole plc on a fully diluted basis immediately
prior to the completion of the Transaction. Simultaneously, DFC Holdings will combine with a subsidiary of
Dole plc, whereby the C&C Shareholders (the owners of the 55% interest in DFC Holdings not currently owned
by Total Produce) will receive Ordinary Shares in Dole plc equivalent to 17.5% of the issued share capital of Dole
plc on a fully diluted basis immediately prior to the completion of the Transaction (the “Merger”). As a result, of
the Merger and related transactions, Dole Food Company will become an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of
Dole plc.

In accordance with the terms of the Transaction Agreement, as soon as possible following completion of the Share
Exchange and the Merger, Dole plc is required to target an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) and a related listing on
a major U.S. stock exchange (now determined to be the New York Stock Exchange). In connection with the
Transaction, Dole plc intends to raise equity capital with a target amount of between US$500 million and
US$700 million. Immediately following the IPO and based on the assumptions regarding size and pricing of the
IPO as set out in the table in Part 9 of this Scheme Circular (entitled “Expected Ownership of Dole plc following
Completion of the Transaction”), existing Total Produce Shareholders are expected to hold an aggregate
shareholding of 55% of Dole plc on a fully diluted basis, and the C&C Shareholders are expected to hold an
aggregate shareholding of 9% of Dole plc on a fully diluted basis, with the remainder to be held by investors
participating in the equity capital raise.

Regarding the IPO, the Parties have agreed to the following conditions with the objective to support and protect
the value proposition of the Transaction to the existing Total Produce shareholders and the C&C Shareholders as
well as enable the C&C Shareholders to realise liquidity for a portion of their holdings in the Transaction:

o The IPO achieving a price per Dole plc share such that the 17.5% of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc to be
held by the C&C Shareholders on a fully diluted basis immediately prior to the IPO have an aggregate
value of at least US$215 million (the “Valuation Floor”). The Valuation Floor implies a valuation of
Dole plc of approximately 7.7x 2020 EV / Adjusted EBITDA (7.1x post including targeted synergies),
which the Board of Directors of Total Produce believes is meaningfully below the valuation levels
observed in public markets for relevant comparable companies. This implied valuation is dependent on
the assumptions explained in Part 9 (Description of Certain Indebtedness, Expected Ownership and
Implied Valuation) of this Scheme Circular.

o The C&C Shareholders achieving net proceeds of at least US$50 million in the sale of shares on a
secondary basis in conjunction with the IPO (the “Minimum Secondary”). In accordance with the
Transaction Agreement, further sales of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc by the Directors of Dole plc and the
C&C Shareholders post completion of the Transaction will be subject to customary lock-up provisions.

At the Valuation Floor, the terms of the Transaction would imply a value of €2.15 per Total Produce share. The
Board of Directors of Total Produce believes there is further upside to the value creation potential, assuming that
Dole plc can achieve a public trading valuation in line with comparable industry peers.

The Valuation Floor and Minimum Secondary conditions can be waived by the Board of Total Produce and the
C&C Shareholders by mutual consent at any time prior to Completion.

Additionally, under the terms of the Transaction Agreement, the Parties agreed that upon completion of the
Transaction, the capital amount of US$25 million due under the promissory note issued by the C&C Shareholders
to DFC Holdings dated 30 June 2020 shall be deemed satisfied in exchange for equivalent value. The Parties
further agreed that Total Produce and the C&C Shareholders shall release each other from existing and future
indemnity claims arising from the 2018 Transaction (subject to certain exceptions).

Completion of the IPO will occur as soon as possible following completion of the Share Exchange and the Merger,
subject to market conditions. The Transaction also remains subject to the Valuation Floor, the Minimum
Secondary and regulatory approvals in a limited number of jurisdictions and other conditions and approvals
customary to a transaction of this nature. Subject to all conditions having been satisfied or (where permissible)
waived, Completion will occur at such time as the Board of Total Produce may determine, provided that if
Completion has not occurred by 15 November 2021 or such later date as the C&C Shareholders and Total Produce
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may (if required) agree (the “Outside Date”), either Total Produce or the C&C Shareholders may terminate the
Transaction on the terms set forth therein. Should the IPO not be completed for any reason, the terms of the
2018 Transaction will remain in place and Total Produce will continue to be listed on Euronext Dublin and the
London Stock Exchange.

-

E3 Background to and reasons for recommending the Transaction
Rationale for the Transaction:

The Transaction will simplify the existing relationship structure between the two companies by unifying Dole
Food Company and Total Produce under common ownership. This will allow for full operational integration,
realisation of targeted synergies and value creation across the combined business. The new structure will build
upon the successful existing relationship between the two companies and thereby facilitate strategic alignment
and operational agility across the whole organization.

The Transaction also creates the potential for significant synergies, cost efficiencies and a platform to pursue
growth from a broader set of available commercial opportunities:

. The Board expects Dole plc to deliver Adjusted EBITDA synergies of between US$30 million and
US$40 million over the medium term, largely through expansion and cost optimization opportunities
across products, regions, sourcing and supply chain.

. As aresult of the Enlarged Group’s increased footprint and brands, the Board expects the Enlarged Group
to further its market penetration, expand into growth product categories, utilise a larger network of
relationships across customers, distributors, suppliers, growers and shippers and to enhance its ability to
capitalise on a greater opportunity set in the produce industry.

° The Transaction unlocks potential across the value chain, combining Dole Food Company’s vertically
integrated business model and asset base with the Company’s flexible and agile service and distribution
structure.

. Dole plc will benefit from greater supply chain efficiencies, utilising a strategically valuable, estimated

combined 2020 total asset base of approximately US$4.7 billion. As of 31 March 2021, assets include
over 109,000 acres of farms and other land holdings around the world, a fleet of 16 refrigerated ships,
16,400 refrigerated containers and more than 250 facilities globally, including 5 salad manufacturing
plants, more than 10 cold storage facilities, in excess of 75 packing houses and more than 160 distribution
and manufacturing facilities.

By strengthening the combined balance sheet, the Transaction is expected to make future corporate acquisitions
possible, in addition to organic and development opportunities:

o In accordance with the Transaction Agreement, Dole plc intends to target a primary equity capital raise
of between US$500 and US$700 million and which will be used to pay down debt which would
significantly de-lever the combined balance sheet with a target net leverage of approximately 3x
estimated combined net debt to Adjusted EBITDA.

° This strong foundation will allow the Enlarged Group to invest in future corporate acquisitions in addition
to investing in organic and development opportunities. It positions it to achieve sustainable long-term
growth.

Dole plc Business Profile and Growth Opportunity:

The Transaction will create the premier global #1 in fresh produce, with a superior footprint and leadership
position across attractive categories:

° With estimated combined 2020 Adjusted Revenue (see definition in Part 7 of this Scheme Circular) of
approximately US$9.7 billion, the Board estimates that the Enlarged Group will be approximately two
times larger than its nearest competitor. It will have leadership in the supply of produce from cultivation
to end markets.
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. Dole plc will have greater diversity across products, deep relationships with customers and suppliers and
avail itself of more operational efficiencies.

. Dole plc will have a well-balanced portfolio with leadership positions in stable categories such as
bananas, pineapples and fresh vegetables, combined with increased presence in attractive growth
categories such as berries and avocados, while building upon its current position in organic produce.

The Transaction enhances the overall resilience of the business with complementary core capabilities and a highly
diversified presence across categories and geographies:

. The combined product portfolio of Dole plc is amongst the most diversified in the produce industry.

. Dole Food Company’s iconic DOLE brand, is a strategic asset which Dole plc will continue to develop,
and complements Total Produce’s business-to-business brands. Its on-the-ground capabilities in category
management and innovation is delivered on a combined basis from more than 250 facilities globally.

. Total Produce’s presence across the European continent, in addition to its growing presence in North
America, complements Dole Food Company’s deep heritage in the Americas and together with its
existing footprint in Europe and South Africa will result in a well-balanced geographic footprint and
significantly enhanced global customer insights.

o Dole plc’s global sourcing and control over its shipping and distribution networks will provide operating
flexibility and product availability throughout the year, utilising own production capabilities and strong
supplier relationships.

. As a result of Dole plc’s expanded sourcing and distribution network, Dole plc will have enhanced
capabilities to create value from cultivation to market, strengthening and enhancing its partnership with
customers and be best placed to respond to meet customer demands and requirements.

The Enlarged Group is also expected to benefit from consumer trends towards healthier and more natural foods
in a sector well-aligned with ESG themes and objectives:

o The fresh produce category provides highly nutritious products and has the lowest ecological, water and
carbon footprints compared to other food categories (source Euromonitor, Barilla Centre for Food and
Nutrition Foundation).

o The sector is expected to provide sustainable and highly resilient long-term growth due to the increasing
demand from environmentally and socially conscious consumers for healthier foods and innovative
convenience meal solutions produced more sustainably.

. Both Total Produce and Dole Food Company have been at the forefront of driving positive environmental
and social change across the industry and Dole plc will continue to pursue ambitious 2025 and 2030
sustainability, environmental, ethical and social and economic targets.

The Board believes Dole plc will have long-term organic growth potential of 2%-3% p.a., enhanced further by
corporate acquisitions and development opportunities. Dole plc’s earnings stability will be supported by increased
diversification and from an integrated supply chain, with a long-term target to achieve 5%-7% Adjusted EBITDA
growth p.a., supported by synergies, efficiencies, acquisitions and development opportunities. Dole plc’s principal
capital allocation priorities are reinvesting into the existing business, pursuing external growth opportunities, and
returning cash to the holders of its ordinary shares, including in the form of cash dividends. Total Produce has a
long history of paying regular interim and final cash dividends to its shareholders. Following completion, Dole
plc intends to pay quarterly cash dividends on our ordinary shares at a level consistent with Total Produce’s
historical dividend track record. Dole plc’s ability to pay dividends in the future will depend upon many factors,
including our financial condition, financial results, other capital requirements, restrictions in our debt agreements
and any other factors that are deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. The declaration, amount and timing of
payment of any future dividends will therefore be subject to the recommendation of the Directors based on their
assessment of these factors at the time.
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Significant Commercial Opportunities and Cost Synergies from the Transaction:

The Transaction is expected to generate significant EBITDA synergies of between US$30 million and US$40
million over the medium term from significant commercial opportunities and cost synergies and cost optimization
opportunities across products, regions, sourcing and logistics.

Product targeted synergies are expected to accrue from new corporate acquisitions, accelerated strategic
development of high growth products such as avocados and berries, the promotion of the DOLE brand in
conjunction with the Total Produce brands, and the utilisation of existing infrastructure and distribution networks
in the key markets of North America and Europe.

Opportunities are expected to come from increased collaboration between Total Produce and Dole Food Company
commencing in regions such as the UK, France and Spain, new corporate acquisitions and further development
of the service provision model with key retail customers.

Sourcing benefits are targeted to come from collaborative sourcing from key production regions in Chile and
South Africa which are counter-cyclical to Northern Hemisphere countries, together with further coordination and
expansion of the Enlarged Group’s extensive procurement and supply chain network.

Supply chain benefits will include increased collaboration across inland freight and logistics in North America,
further development of third-party logistics offerings, as well as a strategic coordination of global sea freight
management.

The targeted synergies described above are incremental to the collaboration, efficiency and portfolio management
initiatives which the two organizations have heretofore undertaken since Total Produce’s initial 45% investment
in DFC Holdings, which was completed on 31 July 2018. In an effort to drive cost savings and better align time
zones, Dole Food Company moved its corporate headquarters from California to North Carolina in 2019. From a
commercial perspective, the two organisations have made progress on efforts to cross-sell fruits and vegetables
between the two companies’ respective home markets. In addition, the two organizations have advanced steps to
consolidate logistics and procurement functions in selected territories such as South Africa and Chile as well as
to enhance Dole Food Company’s sales function in Europe.

4, Timing and Next Steps

The High Court has, in accordance with section 450 of the Companies Act 2014, (the “Act”) directed that the
Scheme Meeting be convened of the Total Produce Shareholders to be held at 11.00 a.m. on 17 June 2021 for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, approving a resolution to approve (with or without modification) a
scheme of arrangement pursuant to Chapter 1 of Part 9 of the Act proposed to be made between the Company and
the Total Produce Shareholders.

The Extraordinary General Meeting has been convened for Total Produce Shareholders to be held immediately
after the Scheme Meeting to consider and, if thought fit, approve the EGM Scheme Resolutions. Approval from
the High Court of Ireland will be sought shortly after receiving the required approvals from Total Produce
Shareholders at both the Scheme Meeting and the EGM.

The Scheme is intended to become effective in advance of the Transaction being completed. The Transaction is
expected to close in early Q3 2021, subject to the approvals and conditions set out above.

3 Management and Governance

The management teams of Total Produce and Dole Food Company, each of which have long and extensive
experience in the fresh produce sector, will continue to operate the combined business. Dole plc will continue to
service customers with high quality premium food products as each of Total Produce and Dole Food Company
have done heretofore.

The Enlarged Group, operating under the DOLE brand, will have its Global Headquarters in Dublin and its
Headquarters for the Americas will be in Charlotte, North Carolina.

The composition of the Board of Directors of Dole plc at Completion will be in line with SEC rules and the
corporate governance standards of the New York Stock Exchange. The Total Produce directors shall become
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Directors of Dole plc alongside newly appointed directors Tim George, Johan Lindén and Jimmy Tolan, and the
Board of Directors of Dole plc will consist of:

Carl McCann (Chair)

Rory Byrne (Chief Executive Officer)
Johan Lindén (Chief Operating Officer)
Frank Davis (Chief Financial Officer)
Tim George (Non-executive Director)
Imelda Hurley (Non-executive Director)
Rose Hynes (Non-executive Director)
Michael Meghen (Non-executive Director)
Helen Nolan (Non-executive Director)
Jimmy Tolan (Non-executive Director)
Kevin Toland (Non-executive Director)

In addition to the above appointments to the Board of Directors of Dole plc, the following senior executive
management appointments will be effected upon Completion of the Transaction: Johan Malmgqvist, current Chief
Financial Officer of Dole Food Company, will become Executive-VP Finance of Dole plc; Jacinta Devine, current
Company Secretary of Total Produce, will become Company Secretary of Dole plc; and Jared Gale, current
General Counsel of Dole Food Company, will become Chief Legal Officer of Dole plc.

As of Completion, Dole plc intends to comply with the corporate governance standards generally applicable to
U.S. domestic companies listed on the NYSE. Dole plc may in the future decide to use the foreign private issuer
exemption with respect to some or all of the NYSE corporate governance rules.

Following the Transaction, Dole plc will report its financial statements under U.S. GAAP and publish financial
statements on a quarterly basis in line with U.S. publicly listed companies.

f. Balance Sheet, Debt Financing and pre-Completion Dividend

It is intended that Dole plc will target a primary equity capital raise of between US$500 million and
US$700 million, which will be used to repay certain of our and our subsidiaries’ outstanding indebtedness and for
general corporate purposes. It will significantly de-lever the combined balance sheets and target net leverage of
approximately 3x estimated combined net debt / Adjusted EBITDA. This would result in a long-term sustainable
capitalization of Dole plc and create a strong foundation facilitating investing in organic and development
opportunities in the future in a fragmented and structurally growing market.

On 26 March 2021, Total Produce and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a new credit agreement which
provides for a $500 million five-year committed multi-currency senior secured revolving credit facility to Total
Produce and certain of its subsidiary co-borrowers (“Revolving Credit Facility”). The credit agreement also
provides for a $940 million seven-year U.S. dollar senior secured term loan facility with Bank of America N.A.,
as administrative agent, to be available upon the consummation of certain conditions provided therein, including
the completion of the Transaction (the “Term Loan B Facility”). In connection with Completion, the Credit
Agreement is expected to be amended to provide for an increase in the Revolving Credit Facility to $600 million,
a decrease in the Term Loan B Facility to $540 million and a new $300 million five-year U.S. dollar senior secured
term loan A facility (the “Term Loan A Facility” and, together with the Term Loan B Facility, the “Term Loan
Facilities”; the Term Loan Facilities collectively with the Revolving Credit Facility, the “Facilities”). The
Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan Facilities will be syndicated. Proceeds of the Term Loan Facilities
will be used to refinance certain Dole Food Company’s existing credit facilities and senior secured notes and in
connection with the Completion, certain bilateral facilities of the Company will be terminated. Overall, this is
expected to provide a long-term sustainable capitalization for Dole plc, creating a stronger balance sheet which is
expected to enhance Dole plc’s credit profile, and lowering its average cost of capital going forward.

On April 22, 2021, it was announced that the Board had resolved to pay a final dividend of 2.770 cent per share
for the year ending 31 December 2020. This dividend will be paid on 28 May 2021 to shareholders on the Register
of Members at the close of business on 30 April 2021. The ex-dividend date will be 29 April 2021 with a currency
election date of 5 May 2021, 12.00 noon GMT.
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T The Conditions

The Transaction is conditional, amongst other things, on the Scheme being approved. The conditions to the
Transaction and the Scheme are set out in full in Part 5 (Conditions to and further terms of the Scheme and the
Transaction) of this Scheme Circular. The implementation of the Scheme is conditional, amongst other things,
upon:

. as required by section 449(1) of the Act (as amended by section 1087D of the Withdrawal of the United
Kingdom from the European Union (Consequential Provisions) Act 2020) the resolution to approve the
Scheme must be approved by a majority representing at least 75 per cent in value of the members present
and voting either in person or by proxy at the Scheme Meeting and the quorum for the Scheme Meeting
is at least two persons holding or representing by proxy at least one-third in nominal value of the issued
shares in the Company;

o the approval of the EGM Scheme Resolutions;

o the sanction of the Scheme by the High Court and the delivery of an office copy of the Court Order to
the Registrar of Companies and the registration of such Court Order by the Registrar of Companies;

o to the extent that the Transaction or its implementation constitutes a concentration within the scope of
the EU Merger Regulation or is otherwise a concentration that is subject to the EU Merger Regulation,
the European Commission deciding that it does not intend to initiate any proceedings under
Avrticle 6(1)(c) of the EU Merger Regulation in respect of the Transaction or to refer the Transaction (or
any aspect of the Transaction) to a competent authority of an EEA member state under Article 9(1) of
the EU Merger Regulation or otherwise deciding that the Transaction is compatible with the common
market pursuant to Article 6(1)(b) of the EU Merger Regulation;

. the Valuation Floor and Minimum Secondary conditions being satisfied or waived by Total Produce and
the C&C Shareholders by mutual consent at any time prior to Completion;

o the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc being approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange; and

. the conditions to the Scheme which are not otherwise identified above and which are set out in full in
Part 5 (Conditions to and further terms of the Scheme and the Transaction) of this Scheme Circular being
satisfied or waived on or before the sanction of the Scheme by the High Court pursuant to Chapter 1,
Part 9 of the Act.
The Scheme must become effective by not later than the Outside Date or such later date as the Company and the
C&C Shareholders, may agree and, if applicable, the High Court may allow, otherwise the Transaction will not
proceed.
M. Total Produce Employee Share Plans
fa) Treatment of Total Produce Short Term Incentive Plan
On Completion, all shares which vested under the Total Produce Short Term Incentive Plan (“STIP”) will be
exchanged for shares in Dole plc and will be held by the Trustees of the Total Produce STIP in accordance with
the terms of the Total Produce STIP.
(k) Total Produce APSS

On Completion, all shares held by the Total Produce APSS will be exchanged for shares in Dole plc and will be
held by the Trustees of the Total Produce APSS in accordance with the terms of the Total Produce APSS.

(o) Total Produce SIP

On Completion, all shares held by the Total Produce SIP will be exchanged for shares in Dole plc and will be held
by the Trustees of the Total Produce SIP in accordance with the terms of the Total Produce SIP.

)] Total Produce Share Options
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On Completion, Total Produce will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Dole plc. For this reason, the
Compensation Committee has resolved to apply Clause 13 of the 2007 Option Scheme so that all options granted
under the 2007 Option Scheme which have not been exercised prior to completion of the Transaction will be
cashed out by the application of the cash settlement facility (the “Option Cash Settlement Facility’’) which will
operate as follows:

. Total Produce Options with an exercise price of €1.55 would be cash settled by a net payment of
€0.83 per Total Produce Share; and

. Total Produce Options with an exercise price of €0.669 would be cash settled by a net payment of
€1.51 per Total Produce Share.

The respective cash settlement payments were determined on the basis of customary valuation methodologies.

Total Produce Options can continue to be exercised at any time before the date specified by the Compensation
Committee but this may be no later than 14 days before the expected Completion Date. All Total Produce Options
which are outstanding on a date which is no later than 14 days prior to the completion of the Transaction will be
cash settled as described above. The Option Cash Settlement Facility will be paid via the Group’s payroll system
after deduction of payroll taxes.

If the Transaction does not take place, the Option Cash Settlement Facility will not be applied, and option holders
will retain their unexercised Total Produce Options.

As the Option Cash Settlement Facility applies to all Total Produce Options and Rory Byrne is deemed to be
interested in 250,000 Total Produce Options through his spouse in her capacity as one of the Group’s divisional
finance directors, it will be necessary to approve the Option Cash Settlement Facility for the purpose of section
238 of the Act.

9, Taxation

Your attention is drawn to the taxation summary in paragraph 9 of Part 3 (Explanatory Statement) of this Scheme
Circular. We strongly recommend that you consult your independent professional adviser as to the tax
consequences of the Scheme to you.

1161 Overseas shareholders

Overseas shareholders should refer to paragraph 12 of Part 3 (Explanatory Statement) of this Scheme Circular
which contains important information relevant to such holder.

11. Action to be taken

Your attention is drawn to the summary of the action to be taken paragraph 13 of Part 3 (Explanatory Statement)
of this Scheme Circular.

12. Further information

Your attention is drawn to the explanations contained in Part 3 (Explanatory Statement) of this Scheme Circular
and to the further information in the remainder of this Scheme Circular.

Total Produce will advise, via relevant Regulatory Information Services, of any future material developments
relating to the Transaction, including but not limited to, the results of the Scheme Meeting and the EGM and any
adjustments to the indicative dates set out in the “Expected Timetable of Principal Events” on page 10 of this
Scheme Circular.

13 Approvals required from Shareholders

The exchange of shares in Total Produce for shares in Dole plc will require the approval of the Scheme of
Arrangement by Total Produce Shareholders and the approval of the High Court of Ireland as well as an
amendment to the Total Produce Articles. The Transaction and the Delistings will also need to be approved by
Total Produce Shareholders. Total Produce Shareholders will be asked to vote in favour of the proposed scheme
of arrangement at the Scheme Meeting to be held at 11.00 a.m. on 17 June 2021 as well as approving the
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amendment of the Total Produce Articles, the Transaction, the Delistings and certain related matters at the
Extraordinary General Meeting to be held at 11.15a.m. on 17 June 2021, or, if later, immediately after the
conclusion or adjournment of the Scheme Meeting.

The following resolutions will be proposed at the Extraordinary General Meeting:
Resolution 1 — Ordinary Resolution

To approve the Transaction and direct and authorise the Company to implement the Transaction as described in
this Scheme Circular.

Resolution 2 — Special Resolution

To amend the Total Produce Articles so that any Total Produce Shares in issue on the Completion Date will
automatically be transferred to Dole plc in consideration for the issue of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc on the same
terms as under the Scheme.

Resolution 3 — Special Resolution
To approve the Delistings on the Completion Date.
Resolution 4 — Advisory Non-binding Resolution

To approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the reduction of the share premium of Dole plc resulting from the
issuance of Dole plc shares pursuant to the Scheme and the Merger in order to create distributable reserves of
Dole plc.

The Scheme and the Transaction are not conditional on approval of the non-binding advisory EGM resolution
which relates to the creation of distributable reserves of Dole plc, which are required under Irish law in order for
Dole plc to be able to pay dividends and repurchase or redeem shares after the completion of the Transaction. As
the Total Produce Shareholders will not be holders of Dole plc shares at the date of the EGM, the board of directors
of Total Produce is seeking a non-binding advisory resolution of the Total Produce Shareholders approving the
creation of distributable reserves of Dole plc.

Resolution 5 — Ordinary Resolution - Section 238 Approval of the Option Cash Settlement Facility

To approve the Option Cash Settlement Facility for the purpose of Section 238 Companies Act 2014 so that it
may apply to all Total Produce Options.

14, Recommendation

The Board, who have been so advised by Goldman Sachs, consider the terms of the Transaction to be fair and
reasonable. In providing its advice to the Directors, Goldman Sachs has taken into account the commercial
assessments of the Directors.

The Board also consider that the terms of the Transaction is in the best interests of the Total Produce Shareholders
and the Company as a whole.

Accordingly, the Board unanimously recommend that Total Produce Shareholders vote in favour of the Scheme
and Resolutions 1 to 5 above as they intend to do so in respect of their entire beneficial holdings amounting to, in
aggregate, 10,217,305 shares, representing approximately 2.63% of Total Produce’s existing issued share capital®.

Yours sincerely,
Carl McCann

Chair
Total Produce plc

1 Rory Byrne did not participate in the Board’s decision to recommend Resolution 5.
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Part 2
RISK FACTORS AND SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

RISK FACTORS

2

In this Part 2, the words “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer (i) after giving effect to the Transaction, to
Dole plc and its consolidated subsidiaries, which will include Total Produce and Dole Food Company, (ii) for
periods from and after 30 July 2018, when Total Produce acquired a 45% equity interest in DFC Holdings, and
up to the completion of the Transaction, to Total Produce, its consolidated subsidiaries and Dole Food Company,
which operated as a part of an operating segment of Total Produce, and (iii) for periods prior to 30 July 2018, to
Total Produce and its consolidated subsidiaries.

An investment in our ordinary shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below together with the other information set forth in this Scheme Circular before
investing in our ordinary shares. If any of the following risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business,
financial position and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In such case, the trading
price of our ordinary shares could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment. Our business, financial
condition, prospects, results of operations or cash flows could also be harmed by risks and uncertainties not
currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are material. We cannot assure you that any of the events
discussed in the risk factors below will not occur.

Risks Related to Dole plc’s Business and Industry

Adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, crop disease, pests and other natural conditions can impose
significant costs and losses on our business.

Fresh produce is vulnerable to adverse weather conditions, including windstorms, floods, drought and temperature
extremes, which are quite common but difficult to predict, the effects of which may be influenced and intensified
by ongoing global climate change. Unfavourable growing conditions can reduce both crop size and crop quality.
This risk is particularly acute with respect to regions or countries from which Dole plc sources a significant
percentage of our products. In extreme cases, entire harvests may be lost in some geographic areas. In addition,
weather patterns may affect consumer demand, creating shortages in key products. For example, Dole plc
experiences an increased demand for salads during summer months and prolonged warm weather may stress our
ability to meet such demand. Conversely, extended bouts of cold or other inclement weather may depress such
demand, leading to wasted product. Adverse weather may also impact the Dole plc supply chains, preventing it
from procuring supplies necessary to the running of its operations and delivering products to customers. Outsized
weather events and natural disasters may prolong or worsen such impacts. For example, Dole Food Company
was recently adversely impacted by hurricanes in Honduras and unseasonably significant rainfall in Chile. Such
adverse conditions can increase costs, decrease revenue and lead to additional charges to earnings, which may
have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Fresh produce is also vulnerable to crop disease and to pests, which may vary in severity and effect, depending
on the stage of production at the time of infection or infestation, the type of treatment applied, climatic conditions
and the risks associated with ongoing global climate change. For example, black sigatoka is a fungal disease that
affects banana cultivation in most areas where they are grown commercially. Dole Food Company and Total
Produce have also begun seeing instances of Tropical Race 4 (“TR4”), a serious vascular crop disease that affects
bananas in some areas where we source product. TR4 significantly reduces productivity of banana crops and
destroys affected banana plants. Dole Food Company and Total Produce continue to monitor TR4 and are working
to improve its existing quarantine and other prevention strategies as well as to develop contingency plans,
including the potential deployment of conventionally bred, gene-edited or genetically modified (“GMO”) banana
plants more resistant to the disease than plants currently in use in areas where TR4 is prevalent. However, Dole
plc may be unable to prevent TR4’s spread or develop bananas fully resistant to the disease, causing increased
costs, decreased revenue and charges to earnings, which may have an adverse effect on the Dole plc business,
financial condition and results of operations. Efforts to develop a fully resistant plant may not succeed and if
those efforts do succeed, fruit from fully resistant plants may not be marketable due to consumer preference or
government regulation.
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The Dole plc business is highly competitive and Total Produce cannot assure you that the Enlarged Group will
maintain its current market share.

Dole plc faces strong competition from many companies in all of the Dole plc product lines. Dole ple’s principal
competitors in the international banana business are Chiquita Brands International, Fresh Del Monte Produce and
Fyffes. The international pineapple and diversified fruit categories have a large number of exporters, importers,
and cooperatives competing in the sector. Dole plc’s primary competitor in pineapples is Fresh Del Monte
Produce and its primary competitors in the diversified fruit category are the South African company Core Fruit,
the Chilean company Frusan and the multinational Unifrutti. In fresh vegetables, a limited number of grower-
shippers in the United States and Mexico supply a significant portion of the U.S., with numerous smaller
independent distributors also competing. Dole plc also faces competition from grower cooperatives. In value-
added salads, Dole plc’s primary competitors include Chiquita Brands International (which markets Fresh
Express), Ready Pac Produce and Taylor Fresh Foods. In fresh-packed vegetables, Dole plc’s primary competitors
include Tanimura & Antle, Duda Farm Fresh Foods, Ocean Mist Farms and the Nunes Company. In berries, Dole
ple’s primary competitors include Driscoll Strawberry Associates, Naturipe Farms, California Giant Berry Farms,
and Well-Pict Berries.

Some of Dole plc’s most significant competitive risks include the following:

. some of Dole plc’s competitors may have greater operating flexibility and, in certain cases, this
may permit them to respond better or more quickly to changes in the industry or to introduce
new products and packaging more quickly and with greater marketing support;

. several of Dole plc’s product lines compete with products sourced from other regions, private
label products and other alternatives;
. bidding for contracts or arrangements with retail and food service customers is highly

competitive, and the prices or other terms of Dole plc’s contract bids may not be sufficient to
retain existing business or to maintain current levels of profitability;

. existing customers may demand changes in terms of trading which would impact Dole plc’s
cash flow and/or profitability;

. Dole plc cannot predict the pricing or promotional actions of its competitors or whether those
actions will have a negative effect on Dole plc; and

. global economic conditions or trade disruptions may influence the behaviour of Dole plc’s

competitors in a manner, which may have a negative effect on it.

There can be no assurance that Dole plc will continue to compete effectively with Dole and Total Produce’s
present and future competitors.

Global capital and credit market issues could negatively affect Dole plc’s liquidity, increase its costs of
borrowing and disrupt the operations of its suppliers and customers.

Dole plc depends in part on stable, liquid and well-functioning capital and credit markets to fund its operations.
Although Dole plc believes that its operating cash flows, access to capital and credit markets and credit facility
will permit it to meet its financing needs for the foreseeable future, there can be no assurance that continued or
increased volatility and disruption in the capital and credit markets will not impair Dole plc’s liquidity or increase
its costs of borrowing. Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of operations could also be negatively
impacted if its suppliers or customers experience disruptions resulting from tighter capital and credit markets.

Dole plc’s earnings are sensitive to fluctuations in market prices and demand for its products.

Excess supply often causes severe price competition in Dole plc’s businesses. Growing conditions in various
parts of the world, particularly weather conditions such as windstorms, fires, floods, droughts and freezes, as well
as diseases and pests, are primary factors affecting market prices because of their influence on the supply and
quality of product.

Although the perishability of fresh produce varies to a certain degree by item (for example, bananas will typically
keep fresh in temperature controlled storage for longer than lettuce), fresh produce is, as a general matter, highly
perishable and must be brought to market and sold soon after harvest. The selling price received for each type of
produce depends on all of these factors, including the availability and quality of the produce item in the market,
and the availability and quality of competing types of produce.
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In addition, general public perceptions regarding the quality, safety or health risks associated with particular food
products could reduce demand and prices for some of Dole plc’s products. To the extent that consumer
preferences evolve away from products that Dole plc produces for health or other reasons, and Dole plc is unable
to modify its products or to develop products that satisfy new consumer preferences, there will be a decreased
demand for Dole plc products. However, even if market prices are unfavourable, produce items which are ready
to be, or have been, harvested must be brought to market promptly. A decrease in the selling price received for
Dole ple’s products due to the factors described above could have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Currency exchange fluctuations may impact the results of our operations.

Dole plc grows, sources, imports, packages, markets and distributes over 300 products that are sourced, grown,
processed, marketed and distributed in over 80 countries. Dole plc’s international sales are usually transacted in
U.S. dollars and European currencies. Dole plc’s results of operations are affected by fluctuations in currency
exchange rates in both sourcing and selling locations. Although Dole plc enters into foreign currency exchange
forward contracts from time to time to reduce its risk related to currency exchange fluctuation, Dole plc’s results
of operations may still be impacted by foreign currency exchange rates, primarily, the euro-to-U.S. dollar, Swedish
krona-to-U.S. dollar and Chilean peso-to-U.S. dollar exchange rates. For example, if the U.S. dollar exchange
rates in 2020, had remained unchanged from the 2019 rates, the Total Produce and Dole Food Company revenues
would have been lower by approximately $25 million and $14.1 million respectively. In recent years, the euro-
to-U.S. dollar exchange rate has been subject to substantial volatility which may continue, particularly in light of
recent political events regarding the European Union, or EU, including the United Kingdom’s exit from the EU.
Dole plc estimates that a 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to Dole Food Company’s foreign currency
exposure would lower pro forma revenue by approximately $86.0 million, excluding the impact of foreign
currency exchange hedges. The impact of the U.S. dollar strengthening by 10% relative to Euro, Swedish Kroner
and Pound Sterling would lower the revenue of Total Produce by approximately $243.0 million, excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange hedges. Because Dole plc does not hedge against all of its foreign currency
exposure, its business will continue to be susceptible to foreign currency fluctuations. For more information see
Part 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Key Factors
and Trends Affecting Our Results of Operations—Foreign Currency Fluctuations.”

Increases in commodity or raw product costs, such as fuel and paper, or changes to their availability, could
adversely affect Dole plc’s operating results.

Increased costs for purchased fruit and vegetables have in the past negatively impacted our operating results, and
there can be no assurance that they will not adversely affect Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results
of operations in the future.

In addition, the price and availability of various commodities can significantly affect Dole plc’s costs. For
example, the price of bunker fuel used in shipping operations, including fuel used in ships that we own or charter,
is an important variable component of transportation costs. In addition, fuel and transportation costs are a
significant component of the price of much of the produce that Dole plc purchases from third parties, and there
can be no assurance that it will be able to pass on the increased costs incurred in these respects to customers.

The cost and availability of paper is also significant to Dole plc because some of its products are packed in
cardboard boxes for shipment. If the price of paper increases, and Dole plc is not able to effectively pass these
price increases along to its customers, then Dole plc’s operating income will decrease. Similarly, if the availability
of paper is affected by increased global demand, Dole plc’s operations could be negatively impacted. Increased
costs for paper have in the past negatively impacted Dole and Total Produce’s operating results, and there can be
no assurance that these increased costs will not adversely affect Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results
of operations in the future.

Dole plc is subject to the risk of product contamination and product liability claims.

The sale of food products for human consumption involves the risk of injury to consumers. Such injuries may
result from tampering by unauthorized third parties, quality issues such as product contamination or spoilage,
including the presence of foreign objects, substances, chemicals or other agents or residues introduced during the
growing, storage, processing, handling or transportation phases. Dole plc has been from time to time involved in
product liability lawsuits and cannot be sure that consumption of Dole plc’s products will not cause a health-
related illness in the future, that Dole plc will not be subject to claims or lawsuits relating to such matters or that
it will not need to initiate recalls of its products in response to the foregoing. Dole plc has in the past from time
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to time initiated recalls, including Class I recalls, for possible contamination of produce with allergens or bacteria,
such as Salmonella, E. coli and Listeria. For example, Dole Food Company experienced a Listeria outbreak in
early 2016 linked to packaged salads produced at a Dole Food Company facility in Ohio, which Dole Food
Company responded to by immediately ceasing all production at in such facility and issuing a voluntary
withdrawal and recall of packaged salads produced there. Even if a product liability claim is unsuccessful or is
not fully pursued, the negative publicity surrounding any assertion that our products caused illness or injury could
adversely affect our reputation with existing and potential customers and our corporate and brand image.
Moreover, claims or liabilities of this sort might not be covered by our insurance or by any rights of indemnity or
contribution that we may have against others. Dole plc’s cannot be sure that it will not incur claims or liabilities
for which Dole plc is not insured or that exceed the amount of its insurance coverage.

Adverse perception, events or rumors relating to our brand could negatively impact Dole plc’s business.

Consumer and institutional recognition of the Total Produce and Dole Food Company trademarks and related
brands, and the association of these brands with high-quality and safe food products, are an integral part of Dole
plc’s business. The occurrence of any events or rumors that cause consumers and/or institutions to no longer
associate these brands with high-quality and safe food products may materially adversely affect the value of Dole
plc’s brand names and demand for its products. Dole plc has licensed and will continue to license the Total
Produce and DOLE brand name to several affiliated and unaffiliated companies for use in the United States and
abroad. In addition, Dole plc sold the use of the DOLE brand in Asia, Australia and New Zealand for fresh fruit,
worldwide for shelf stable packaged food products and worldwide for juice products. Acts or omissions by these
companies, over which Dole plc has limited or no control, may also have such adverse effects.

In addition, sustainability credentials are an increasingly important factor in stakeholders’ perceptions of a
company. Should Dole plc not meet the expectations of its stakeholders or communicate our work in this area
sufficiently this may negatively impact Dole plc’s reputation.

Dole plc may be unable to service its substantial debt with its current or expected cash flows and such debt may
limit its flexibility and ability to pursue additional financing.

Dole plc’s ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance its
indebtedness, depends on its future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other
factors beyond Dole plc’s control, including those described in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this
Scheme Circular. Dole plc’s business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to service our debt
and make necessary capital expenditures. If Dole plc is unable to generate such cash flow, it may be required to
adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional financing on terms
that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Dole plc’s ability to refinance its indebtedness will depend on the capital
markets and Dole plc’s financial condition at such time. Dole plc may not be able to engage in any of these
activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on its debt obligations.
For more information on our outstanding indebtedness, see Part 9 of this Scheme Circular (“Description of Certain
Indebtedness, Expected Ownership and Implied Valuation™).

Dole plc’s earnings are subject to seasonal variability.

Dole plc’s earnings may be affected by seasonal factors, including:

. the seasonality of Dole plc’s supplies and consumer demand,;
. the ability to process products during critical harvest periods; and
. the timing and effects of ripening and perishability.

As an example, although banana production tends to be relatively stable throughout the year, banana pricing is
seasonal because bananas compete against other fresh fruit that generally comes to market beginning in the
summer. As a result, banana prices are typically higher during the first half of the year.

Dole plc expects to expand its business, in part, through future acquisitions, but it may not be able to identify
or complete suitable acquisitions, which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Dole plc’s business strategy includes growth through the acquisitions of other businesses. Dole plc continually
reviews, evaluates and considers potential acquisitions. In such evaluations, Dole plc required to make difficult
judgments regarding the value of business opportunities and the related risks and cost of potential liabilities. Dole
plc plans to use acquisitions of companies to expand its geographic coverage, add experienced management and
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increase its product offerings. Dole plc may not be able to continue to identify attractive acquisition opportunities
or successfully acquire identified targets. In addition, Dole plc may not be successful in integrating its current or
future acquisitions, including integrations in connection with the Transaction, into its existing operations, which
may result in unforeseen operational difficulties or diminished financial performance or require a disproportionate
amount of our management’s attention. Even if Dole plc is successful in integrating its current or future
acquisitions into its existing operations, it may not derive the benefits, such as operational or administrative
synergies, that it expected from such acquisitions, which may result in the investment of Dole plc’s capital
resources without realizing the expected returns on such investment. Furthermore, competition for acquisition
opportunities may increase Dole plc’s cost of making further acquisitions or cause it to refrain from making
additional acquisitions. Dole plc also may be limited in its ability to incur additional indebtedness in connection
with or to fund future acquisitions under its Credit Agreement. In addition, although Dole plc has dedicated in-
house personnel whose primary role is to focus on acquisitions, the time and effort involved in attempting to
identify acquisition candidates and consummate acquisitions may divert members of its management from the
operations of the company.

Dole plc depends on certain key customers and are subject to risks if such key customers reduce the amount of
products they purchase from it or terminate their relationships with it.

In certain regions Dole plc’s customer base is concentrated among a small number of large, key customers.
Overall Dole plc’s top ten customers accounted for approximately 30% of pro forma revenue for fiscal year 2020,
although no one customer accounted for more than 10% of combined revenue. If Dole plc fails to maintain its
relationships with such customers and such customers terminate their relationship or otherwise reduce the amount
of products they purchase from us below our expectations, Dole plc could suffer adverse effects in such reason on
its business, business opportunities, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Dole plc’s sometimes extends credit to our key customers. Failure to collect, trade receivables, untimely
collection or customer defaults could adversely affect Dole plc’s liquidity.

Dole plc extends credit to certain of its key customers and, as of December 31, 2020, on a pro forma basis, Dole
plc would have had $741.0 million in trade receivables outstanding. Generally, Dole plc’s customers will pay
within the credit period, however, customer illiquidity may cause repayment to fall outside the credit period or
not at all. Dole plc performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and manages the risk
based on experience, customers’ track record and historic default rates. If Dole plc encounters future problems
collecting amounts due from its customers, particularly customers with a large amount of credit outstanding, or if
it experiences delays or customer default in the collection of amounts due, Dole plc’s liquidity could be adversely
affected.

Public health outbreaks, epidemics or pandemics, including the global COVID-19 pandemic, have disrupted
and may continue to disrupt, Dole plc’s business and could materially affect its business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The recent COVID-19 pandemic and resulting worldwide economic conditions have affected, and may continue
to affect, Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. For example, government imposed mandatory closures
and restrictions across various key global markets of Dole plc’s resulted in volatile supply and demand conditions,
primarily due to reduced demand in the foodservice distribution channel. As a result, product was redirected to
the retail channel and in some cases this led to an increased supply and lower pricing. This primarily impacted
Dole plc’s pineapple and fresh-packed vegetable products. While demand in Dole plc’s retail channels for certain
products has increased due to the impact of COVID-19 and this has somewhat compensated for losses in other
channels and for other products, there is no guarantee that this increased demand will continue. While these
effects were pronounced to varying degrees throughout fiscal year 2020, the future extent of the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on Dole plc’s financial performance, including Dole plc’s ability to execute its strategic
initiatives, is still uncertain and will depend on future developments, including the duration and spread of the
pandemic, related government restrictions and the success of vaccines and other treatments for COVID-19.
Additionally, as the global economic impacts of COVID-19 continue, fluctuate and/or change, the pandemic’s
impact on Dole plc’s operating results may change or be prolonged.

In addition, Dole plc’s ability to continue to supply its products is highly dependent on Dole plc’s workforce,
including its workers involved in the growing, harvesting, transportation, processing and distribution of its
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products. Dole plc’s ability to maintain the safety of its workforce may be significantly impacted by individuals
contracting or being exposed to COVID-19, and Dole plc’s operations and financial results may be negatively
affected as a result. While Dole plc is following the requirements of governmental authorities and taking
additional preventative and protective measures to ensure the safety of its workforce, it cannot be certain that these
measures will be successful in ensuring the health of Dole plc’s workforce. For example, as a result of a significant
number of positive test results at one of Dole’s salad processing plants, its workforce was significantly depleted
for approximately one week, resulting in inefficiencies and higher production and product transportation costs.
Additional workforce disruptions of this nature may significantly impact Dole plc’s ability to maintain its
operations and may adversely affect Dole plc’s financial results. Throughout the pandemic governments have
restricted travel between countries and transportation generally, and this has impacted the movement of Dole and
Total Produces’ goods across international borders. While these restrictions have not significantly impacted Dole
and Total Produces’ ability to supply its products to date, there is no guarantee that future border closures or
restrictions will not have a significant impact on Dole plc’s business. Dole also incurred costs in relation to safety
precautions undertaken in its shipping operations and the stockpiling of certain commaodities, and although such
costs have since subsided, there can be no assurances that Dole plc would not be required to incur such costs or
similar costs in the future.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Dole plc’s operating results can also impact its ability to meet its
financial obligations. Dole plc’s operating results have been and may continue to be impacted by the pandemic,
and Total Produce cannot predict whether future developments associated with the COVID-19 pandemic will
materially adversely affect Dole plc’s long-term liquidity position. In the event of a continued sustained market
deterioration or further delayed recovery, Dole plc may need additional liquidity which would require it to evaluate
available alternative strategies such as selling assets, restructuring or refinancing our indebtedness, or seeking
additional equity capital, strategies of which could be unsuccessful.

We are subject to costs and liabilities under foreign and domestic environmental laws and regulations.

Compliance with environmental laws, including those related to the handling, use, generation, transport, and
disposal of hazardous materials is inherent in major agricultural operations, including those conducted by us.
Compliance with these foreign and domestic laws and related regulations is an ongoing process, and these laws
and regulations are frequently revised and generally become stricter over time. Failure to comply with applicable
laws and regulations can result in requirements to cease noncompliant operations, incurrence of additional capital
or operating expenses to correct violations, or the assessment of significant fines and penalties. While we believe
that we are generally in material compliance with applicable laws and regulations, there can be no assurance that
the cost of compliance with environmental laws and regulations will not, in the future, have a material effect on
our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position. It is possible that future developments, such as
increasingly strict environmental laws and enforcement policies thereunder, including those driven by concerns
about climate change and further restrictions on the use of agricultural chemicals, could result in increased
compliance costs which may be material.

Environmental laws include those that impose liability and/or increased costs for environmental damage from the
use of herbicides, pesticides and other potentially hazardous substances or environmental contamination of our
current and previously owned or leased property.

We use herbicides, pesticides and other potentially hazardous substances in the operation of our business. We may
have to pay for the costs or damages associated with any improper application, accidental release or the use or
misuse of such substances. Our insurance may not be adequate to cover such costs or damages or may not continue
to be available at a price or under terms that are satisfactory to us. In such cases, payment of such costs or damages
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Dole plc may be subject to liability and/or increased costs for environmental damage from the use of herbicides,
pesticides and other potentially hazardous substances or environmental contamination of Dole plc’s current
and previously owned or leased property.

Dole plc uses herbicides, pesticides and other potentially hazardous substances in the operation of its business.
Dole plc may have to pay for the costs or damages associated with any improper application, accidental release
or the use or misuse of such substances. Dole plc’s insurance may not be adequate to cover such costs or damages
or may not continue to be available at a price or under terms that are satisfactory to Dole plc. In such cases,
payment of such costs or damages could have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business, financial condition or
results of operations.
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Certain environmental laws, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability
Act in the United States, impose strict and, in many cases, joint and several, liability for the cost of remediating
contamination, on current and former owners of property or on persons responsible for causing such
contamination. Dole Food Company has been in the past involved in remedial investigations and actions at some
locations, and Dole plc could in the future be required to spend significant sums to remediate contamination that
has been caused by it, its predecessors, or prior owners or operators of its properties. An adverse result in any
potential future matter could have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Dole plc faces risks related to its former use of the pesticide DBCP.

Dole Food Company formerly used DBCP, a nematicide that was used on a variety of crops throughout the world.
The registration for DBCP with the U.S. government was cancelled, with limited exceptions, in 1979 based in
part on an apparent link to male sterility among chemical factory workers who produced DBCP. There are a
number of pending lawsuits in the United States and other countries against the manufacturers of DBCP and
certain growers, including Dole Food Company, who used DBCP in the past. The cost to defend or settle these
lawsuits, and the costs to pay any judgments or settlements resulting from these lawsuits, or other lawsuits which
might be brought, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Goodwill and other intangible assets are subject to the risk of future impairments which could adversely impact
Dole plc’s operating results.

Dole plc reviews goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis or earlier if indicators
for impairment are present. The goodwill associated with Dole plc’s acquisitions are sensitive to differences
between estimated and actual cash flows and changes in the related discount rate used to evaluate the fair value
of these assets. If these businesses do not perform to expected levels, the goodwill may be at risk for impairment
in the future.

The fair value of the Dole Food Company trade names and trademarks are sensitive to differences between
estimated and actual cash flows and changes in the related discount rate used to evaluate the fair value of these
assets. If Dole plc’s products do not perform to expected levels, the trade names and trademarks associated with
these products may also be at risk for impairment in the future.

Any such impairment charges could be material and have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Changes in immigration laws could impact the availability of labour to harvest our products and operate Dole
ple’s salad manufacturing plants, or the availability of produce purchased from third-party suppliers.

The personnel engaged for Dole plc’s U.S. harvesting operations typically include significant numbers of
immigrants who are authorized to work in the United States. Immigrants who are authorized to work in the United
States also make up a portion of the workforce at our U.S. salad manufacturing plants. The availability and
number of these workers could decrease if there are changes in U.S. immigration laws. A scarcity of available
personnel to harvest agricultural products in the United States could increase Dole plc’s labour costs, increase our
product costs or lead to product shortages, and adversely impacting our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

A portion of Dele plc’s workforce is unionized and labour disruptions could decrease Dole plc’s profitability.

As of December 31, 2020, approximately 30% of Total Produce and Dole Food Company’s employees worldwide
worked under various collective bargaining agreements and unionized workforces. Total Produce cannot give
assurance that Dole plc will be able to negotiate these or other collective bargaining agreements on the same or
more favourable terms as the current agreements, or at all, and without production interruptions, including labour
stoppages. A prolonged labour dispute, which could include a work stoppage, could have an adverse effect on
the portion of Dole plc’s business affected by the dispute, which could adversely impact Dole plc’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Dole plc is subject to risks relating to its information systems.

Dole plc’s electronic information and information system assets may be made unavailable, leaked or altered due
to a computer cybersecurity incident, which could adversely affect the results of its operations, and Total Produce
cannot predict the extent or duration of these incidents.

Although Dole plc’s computer systems are distributed in many geographic areas and Dole and Total Produce
maintain largely independent information technology systems, there are some intra-company systems which are
connected together in a private network. A widespread computer cybersecurity incident, such as virus infection,
may significantly disrupt Dole plc’s operations and business processes. In such a case, Dole plc may have to
operate manually, which may result in significant delay in the delivery of its products to its customers or damage
to the fresh fruit and vegetable products. Dole plc’s customers could refuse to continue to do business with it and
prematurely terminate or reduce existing contracts, resulting in a significant reduction of our operating revenue.

Dole plc has intellectual property, trade secrets and confidential business information that are stored in electronic
formats that could be leaked to competitors or the public due to computer cybersecurity incidents, which may
result in loss of competitive position and market share. Dole plc also has personal confidential information stored
in its controlled systems. This information, if stolen or leaked, could result in significant financial and legal risk
including penalties under data protection legislation, such as the General Data Protection Regulation in the EU.

In the context of our EU-facing operations, we may be subject to specific compliance obligations under the
General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (the “GDPR”) and associated laws and regulations in different
EU Member States in which we operate. In addition, portions of our business established outside the EU may be
required to comply with the requirements of the GDPR and associated EU legislation with respect to the offering
of products to, or the monitoring of, individuals in the EU. We may also be subject to the local privacy and data
protection laws of the EU Member States in which we offer products. Failure to comply with these EU data
protection and privacy laws, can carry penalties and potential criminal sanctions, as well as the risk of litigation.
In addition, Directive2002/58/EC (as amended by Directive 2009/136/EC) (together, the “e-Privacy Directive”)
governs, among other things, the use of cookies and the sending of electronic direct marketing within the EU and,
as such, will apply to our marketing activities within the EU. Following Brexit, the UK has adopted its own data
protection and direct marketing laws (the “UK data protection laws”) which are currently based on the
corresponding EU legislation. Our UK-facing operations may therefore be subject to specific compliance
obligations under the UK data protection laws.

Dole plc may be targeted by computer hackers from the internet, from business partners’ networks connected to
its network or from employees, for specific purposes such as financial gain, political or ideological motives or
simply to damage our reputation, which may result in significant decline in consumer preference for Dole plc’s
products in certain geographic regions or globally, and could potentially reduce Dole plc’s market share.

Recovery from any of the above computer incidents could be expensive. Rapidly raising and maintaining higher
standards of computer cybersecurity practices in Dole plc’s business globally may require significant initial
investment and higher operating costs, and therefore could negatively impact Dole plc’s operating income.

Dole plc is increasingly dependent on information technology, and expanding social media vehicles present
new risks.

The inappropriate use of certain media vehicles could cause brand damage or information leakage. Negative posts
or comments about Dole plc or its products on any social networking web site could seriously damage Dole plc’s
reputation. In addition, the disclosure of non-public company sensitive information through external media
channels could lead to information loss. Identifying new points of entry as social media continues to expand
presents new challenges. Any business interruptions or damage to Dole plc’s reputation could negatively impact
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Certain of Dole plc’s defined benefit pension plans are currently underfunded, and we may have to make
significant cash payments to the plans, which would reduce the cash available for our business.

Dole plc has underfunded obligations under certain of its benefit plans. As of December 31, 2020, the liabilities
under Dole Food Company’s benefit plans exceeded the assets of such benefit plans by approximately
$132.2 million, and the liabilities under Total Produce’s benefit plans exceeded the assets of such benefit plans
by approximately €21.3 million. As a result, on a pro forma basis, as of December 31, 2020, the liabilities under
Dole plc’s benefit plans would have exceeded the assets of those benefit plans by approximately $153.5 million.
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The funded status of our benefit plans is dependent upon many factors, including returns on invested assets,
actuarial assumptions, including the level of certain market interest rates and the discount rate used to determine
pension obligations. Unfavourable returns on the plan assets, or unfavourable changes in applicable laws or
regulations, could materially change the timing and amount of required plan funding, which would reduce the
cash available for Dole plc’s business. In addition, a decrease in the discount rate used to determine pension
obligations could result in an increase in the valuation of Dole plc’s Benefit Plans obligations, which could affect
the reported funding status of its Benefit Plans and future contributions, as well as the periodic pension cost in
subsequent fiscal years. ERISA, along with certain provisions of the Code (as defined below), require minimum
funding contributions to our U.S. defined benefit pension plan.

The Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (the “PBGC”) has the authority to petition a court to terminate an
underfunded tax-qualified pension plan under limited circumstances. In the event Dole plc’s U.S. tax-qualified
defined benefit pension plan is terminated by the PBGC, Dole plc could be liable to the PBGC for the entire
amount of the underfunding, as calculated by the PBGC based on its own assumptions, which might result in a
larger obligation than that based on the assumptions Dole plc has used to fund such plan.

The European defined benefit plans are also subject to local regulators such as the Irish Pensions Authority and
UK’s Pension Regulator. Total Produce has three European defined benefit plans (two in Ireland and one in the
Netherlands), two UK defined benefit plans and one in Canada. Each of these is subject to local funding
requirements and the powers of local regulators such as the Irish Pensions Authority, the UK’s Pension Regulator
and the Dutch Central Bank (De Nederlandse Bank) in the Netherlands. The UK’s Pension Regulator has the
power in certain circumstances to impose a debt or contribution demand on an employer to the extent that a defined
benefit scheme is underfunded. There is currently no legislation in Ireland or the Netherlands equivalent to that
in the UK.

Dole plc faces other risks in connection with its international operations.

Dole plc’s operations are heavily dependent upon products grown, purchased and sold internationally. In addition,
Dole plc’s operations significantly contribute to the economies of many of the countries in which Dole plc
operates, increasing its visibility and susceptibility to legal or regulatory changes. These activities are subject to
risks that are inherent in operating in foreign countries, including the following:

. foreign countries could change laws and regulations, or impose currency restrictions and other
restraints;

. the risk that the government may expropriate assets;

. the potential imposition or implementation of burdensome tariffs, quotas or customs clearance
processes;

. political changes and economic crises may lead to changes in the business environment in which
we operate;

. conflict within a country in which we operate or international conflict, including terrorist acts,
could significantly impact our business, financial condition and results of operations;

. economic sanctions may be imposed on some countries, which could disrupt the markets for
products Dole plc sells, even if it do not sell into the target country;

. the suspension of imports of one or more products Dole plc sells, which could disrupt the
markets for those products in other countries;

. dependency on leases and other agreements;

. global competitive, economic, industry, market, political and regulatory conditions, including

economic downturns, political instability and war or civil disturbances that may disrupt
production and distribution logistics or limit sales in individual territories;

. trade wars between nations in which Dole plc does business; and

) the difficulty in adhering to various anti-corruption laws and regulations.

Terrorism and the uncertainty of war may have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s operating results.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war in the United States, the EU or in other countries may affect the
markets in which Dole plc operates and its operations and profitability. From time to time in the past, Dole plc’s
operations or personnel have been the targets of terrorist or criminal attacks, and the risk of such attacks impacts
Dole plc’s operations and results in increased security costs. Further terrorist attacks outside the United States
against the United States or operators of businesses with significant presence or history in the United States may
occur, or hostilities could develop based on the current international situation. The potential near-term and long-
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term effect these attacks may have on Dole plc’s business operations, its customers, the markets for its products,
the U.S. economy and the economies of other places in which Dole plc source or sells its products is uncertain.
The consequences of any terrorist attacks, or any armed conflicts, are unpredictable, and Dole plc may not be able
to foresee events that could have an adverse effect on its markets or its business.

Dole plc’s operations and products are highly regulated in the areas of food safety and protection of human
health and the environment.

Dole plc’s operations are subject to a broad range of foreign, federal, state and local environmental, health and
safety laws and regulations, including laws and regulations governing the use and disposal of pesticides and other
chemicals, all of which involve compliance costs. These regulations directly affect day-to-day operations and, to
maintain compliance with all of the laws and regulations that apply to Dole plc’s operations, it has been and may
be required in the future to modify its operations, purchase new equipment or make capital improvements.
Changes to Dole plc’s processes and procedures could require it to incur unanticipated costs and/or materially
impact Dole plc’s business. Violations of these laws and regulations can result in substantial fines, penalties or
sanctions. In some circumstances, Dole plc may recall a product, voluntarily or otherwise, if Dole plc or the
regulators believe it presents a potential risk. There can be no assurance that these modifications and
improvements and any fines, penalties and recalls would not have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, Dole plc has been and in the future may become subject
to lawsuits alleging that its operations and products caused personal injury or property damage.

As a producer and distributor of food products, Dole plc is subject to the laws and regulations in the jurisdictions
where its facilities are located and where its products are distributed. In particular, Dole plc is subject to the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended by the Food Safety Modernization Act (“FSMA”), which is
enforced by the FDA. The FDA has the authority to regulate the growing, harvesting manufacture, including
composition and ingredients, processing, labelling, packaging import, distribution and marketing and safety of
food in the United States. The FSMA, enacted in January 2011, significantly enhances the FDA’s authority over
various aspects of food regulation. For example, the FSMA granted the FDA mandatory recall authority when
the FDA determines there is a reasonable probability that a food is adulterated or misbranded and that the use of,
or exposure to, the food will cause serious adverse health consequences or death to humans or animals. The FDA
has been active in implementing the requirements of the FSMA through issuance of regulations designed to result
in a reduction of the risk of contamination in food manufacturing and in beginning compliance enforcement of
those regulations, such as the Foreign Supplier Verification program, and the full impact of the FDA’s compliance
protocols is not yet known, and Total Produce cannot assure you that it will not materially impact Dole plc’s
business. Regulatory agencies in other jurisdictions have similar authority to address the risk of contamination or
adulteration, and to require that contaminated products be removed from the market.

Within the European Union, food safety policy is governed by the Farm to Fork Strategy which regulates food
safety at all stages of the production and distribution process for all food products marketed within the EU, whether
produced within the EU or imported from third countries. This body of legislation forms a complex and integrated
system of rules covering the entire food chain, from animal feed and health, through plant protection and food
production, to processing, storage, transport, import and export and retail sales. A framework regulation called
the General Food Law Regulation (EC No. 178/2002) lays down the general principles and requirements of food
law. European Member States are required to implement European food safety law at national level. National
authorities and food agencies are responsible for enforcement and ensuring compliance within European Member
States. National authorities may withdraw or recall food from the market if it is considered to be injurious to
health or unfit for human consumption. Where food presents a serious risk to human health, animal health, or the
environment, the European Commission can put in place protective measures and suspend the placing on the
market or use of products originating from the EU or suspend imports of products originating from non-EU
countries.

The European Green Deal sets out to make Europe the first climate-neutral continent by 2050. The EU’s Farm to
Fork Strategy is an integral part of the Green Deal and aims to address the challenges of sustainable food systems.
The shift to a sustainable food system could result in increased compliance costs associated with compliance with
new laws and regulations.

The failure to comply with these laws and regulations in any jurisdiction, or to obtain required approvals, could
result in fines, as well as a ban or temporary suspension on the production of our products or limit or bar their
distribution, and affect Dole plc’s development of new products, and thus could materially adversely affect its
business and operating results. In addition, the United States Department of Agriculture (the “USDA”) regulates
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the import and export of certain fruits and vegetables into and from the United States, and the USDA also imposes
growing, manufacturing and certification requirements for certain products labeled with organic claims.
Similarly, the EU maintains a system of control, certification and enforcement to guarantee that food which is
marketed as organic complies with organic standards. Organic food imported into the EU is also subject to control
procedures to guarantee that they have been produced and shipped in accordance with organic principles. Failure
to obtain necessary permits or otherwise comply with USDA and European regulations and requirements could
result in a ban or temporary suspension of the import or export of our products into or from the United States, or
Dole plc’s ability to grow, manufacture or market our products as organic, and thus could materially adversely
affect its business. The Canadian Food Inspection Agency, and other Canadian governmental departments, could
enforce laws such as the Safe Food for Canadians Regulations in such a way as to cause significant disruption to
Dole plc’s Canadian business, including for example requirements relating to import licenses, traceability, organic
certification, and food testing requirements.

Dole plc is subject to transportation risks.

An extended interruption in Dole plc’s ability to ship its products could have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s
business, financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, any extended disruption in the distribution of
our products could have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Dole plc relies on third-party shipping companies to move some of its products overseas, third-party stevedores
to load and unload Dole plc’s products at its port locations, and third-party trucking companies to transport its
products to and from its port locations, and these third parties are therefore a source of transportation risk. While
Total Produce believes that Dole plc is adequately insured and would attempt to transport its products by
alternative means if Dole plc were to experience an interruption due to a strike, natural disaster or otherwise, Total
Produce cannot be sure that it would be able to do so, or be successful in doing so, in a timely and cost-effective
manner.

Some of the ingredients that Dole plc uses in its products contain GMOs and Dole plc may in the future need
to develop and market GMO products and products containing GMO ingredients based on adverse market
conditions.

Some of the ingredients that Dole plc uses in its products may contain GMOs in varying proportions. The use of
GMO:s in food has been met with varying degrees of acceptance in the territories in which Dole plc operates.
Some of such territories, including the United States, have approved the use of GMOs in food products, and GMO
and non-GMO products in such territories are produced together and frequently commingled. Regulations will or
may be passed that require labelling of any food with GMO ingredients, such as a regulation that is planned to go
into effect in 2022 in the United States. Such labelling requirements may impact the public perception of products
containing such labels. Elsewhere, adverse publicity about genetically modified food has led to governmental
regulation limiting sales of GMO products in some of the territories in which Dole plc operates, including the EU.
It is possible that new restrictions on GMO products will be imposed in major territories for some of Dole plc’s
products or that its customers will decide to purchase fewer GMO products or not buy GMO products at all, which
could adversely affect Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to the GMO ingredients that Dole plc currently deploys, Dole plc is researching gene-edited products
and GMO products and may deploy and market these products in the future based on market demand and need.
The success of such deployment will in large part depend on the market acceptance of these products in the areas
that Dole plc operates. In the future, Dole plc may be forced to utilize gene-edited or GMO products in response
to adverse market conditions, including disease, climate change or rising costs, if such products are the only viable
alternatives. For example, as a result of TR4 spreading into new growing regions, Dole plc may need to deploy
gene-edited or GMO bananas resistant to the disease to maintain a viable supply of bananas to our key markets.
If adverse public opinion about gene-edited or GMO products predominates, Dole plc may be unable to sell such
products in certain of our key markets, adversely affecting our business, financial condition and results of
operations. For more information about TR4, see “—Risks Related to Our Business and Industry—Adverse
weather conditions, natural disasters, crop disease, pests and other natural conditions can impose significant costs
and losses on our business.”

Dole plc’s future results of operations may be adversely affected by the availability of organic and non-GMO
products and ingredients.

Dole plc’s ability to ensure a continuing supply of organic and non-GMO products and ingredients at competitive
prices depends on many factors beyond Dole plc’s control, such as the number and size of farms that grow organic
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and non-GMO crops, climate conditions, changes in national and world economic conditions, currency
fluctuations and forecasting adequate need of seasonal products and ingredients.

The organic and non-GMO ingredients that Dole plc uses in the production of its products, including, among
others, fruits, vegetables, nuts and grains, are vulnerable to adverse weather conditions and natural disasters, such
as floods, droughts, water scarcity, temperature extremes, frosts, earthquakes and pestilences. Natural disasters
and adverse weather conditions, including the potential effects of climate change, can lower crop yields and reduce
crop size and crop quality, which in turn could reduce our supplies of, or increase the prices of, organic or non-
GMO ingredients. If Dole plc’s supplies of organic or non-GMO ingredients are reduced, it may not be able to
find enough supplemental supply sources on favourable terms, if at all, which could impact its ability to supply
product to its customers and adversely affect Dole plec’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

An interruption at one or more of Dole plc’s manufacturing facilities could negatively affect its business, and
its business continuity plan may prove inadequate.

Dole plc owns or leases, manages and operates a number of manufacturing, processing, packaging, storage and
office facilities. Dole plc could be rendered unable to accept and fulfil customer orders as a result of disasters,
pandemics, including COVID-19, business interruptions or other similar events. Some of Dole plc’s inventory
and manufacturing facilities are located in areas that are susceptible to harsh weather, and the production of certain
of Dole plc’s products is concentrated in a few geographic areas. In addition, Dole plc stores chemicals used in
its business, and its storage of these chemicals could lead to risk of leaks, explosions or other events. Although
Dole plc has business continuity plans, it cannot provide assurance that its business continuity plan will address
all of the issues Dole plc may encounter in the event of a disaster or other unanticipated issue. Dole plc’s business
interruption insurance may not adequately compensate it for losses that may occur from any of the foregoing. In
the event that a natural disaster, or other catastrophic event, were to destroy any part of any of its facilities, or
interrupt its operations for any extended period of time, or if harsh weather or epidemics prevent it from delivering
products in a timely manner, Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially
and adversely affected. In addition, if Dole plc fails to maintain its labour force at one or more of its facilities, it
could experience delays in production or delivery of its products, which could also have an adverse effect on its
business, financial condition and results of operations.

If Dole plc loses the services of its key management, its business could suffer.

Dole plc depends to a significant extent on the continued service of our key executives, and Dole plc’s continued
growth depends on its ability to identify, recruit and retain key management personnel. Dole plc is also dependent
on its ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate its personnel. Dole plc does not typically carry key person
life insurance on its executive officers. If Dole plc loses the services of its key management or fail to identify,
recruit and retain key personnel, its business, financial condition or results of operations may be materially and
adversely impacted.

Climate change laws could have an impact on Dele plc’s financial condition and results of operations.

Legislative and regulatory authorities in the United States, the EU, Canada and other jurisdictions internationally
will likely continue to consider numerous measures related to climate change and greenhouse gas emissions. In
order to produce, manufacture and distribute Dole plc’s products, Dole plc and its suppliers, use fuels, electricity
and various other inputs that result in the release of greenhouse gas emissions. Concerns about the environmental
impacts of greenhouse gas emissions and global climate change may result in environmental taxes, charges,
regulatory schemes or assessments or penalties, which could restrict or negatively impact Dole plc’s operations,
as well as those of its suppliers, who would likely pass all or a portion of their costs along to Dole plc. Dole plc
may not be able to pass any resulting cost increases along to its customers. Any enactment of laws or passage of
regulations regarding greenhouse gas emissions or other climate change laws by the United States, the EU, Canada
or any other international jurisdiction where Dole plc conducts business, could materially and adversely affect its
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Dole plc is dependent on its relationships with key suppliers to obtain a number of its products.

Dole plc depends on key suppliers to obtain a number of its products with its top ten suppliers accounting for 18%
of our total supplies in fiscal year 2020. Termination of Dole plc relationship with its key suppliers could
adversely affect Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, Dole plc may
enter into seasonal purchase agreements committing us to purchase fixed quantities of produce at fixed prices.
Dole plc may suffer losses arising from the inability to sell these committed quantities and/ or achieve the
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committed price. Dole plc also provides grower loans to suppliers with various levels of security and it may suffer
losses if these loans are not repaid. Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect Dole plc’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Technological innovation by Dele plc’s competitors could make its food products less competitive.

Dole plc’s competitors include other fresh fruit and vegetable producers and major food ingredient and consumer-
packaged food companies that also engage in the development and sale of food and food ingredients. Many of
these companies are engaged in the development of new plant varieties, food ingredients and other food products
and frequently introduce new products into the market. Existing products or products under development by Dole
plc’s competitors could prove to be more effective, more resistant to disease or less costly than Dole plc’s products,
which could have an adverse effect on the competitiveness of Dole plc’s products and adversely affect its business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Dole plc’s reliance on protection of its intellectual property and proprietary rights.

Dole plc’s success depends in part on Dole plc’s ability to protect its intellectual property rights. Dole plc relies
primarily on patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws to protect its proprietary technologies. Dole plc’s
policy is to protect its technology by, among other things, filing patent applications for technology relating to the
development of our business in the United States, the EU and in selected foreign jurisdictions. Dole plc’s
trademarks and brand names are registered in jurisdictions throughout the world. Dole plc intends to keep these
filings current and seek protection for new trademarks to the extent consistent with business needs. Dole plc also
relies on trade secrets and proprietary know-how and confidentiality agreements to protect certain of the
technologies and processes that it uses. The failure of any patents, trademarks, trade secrets or other intellectual
property rights to provide protection to Dole plc’s technologies would make it easier for its competitors to offer
similar products, which could adversely affect Dole plc’s business, financial conditions and results of operations.

Dole plc’s operations are influenced by agricultural policies.

Dole plc is affected by governmental agricultural policies such as price supports and acreage set aside programs,

and these types of policies may affect its business. The production levels, markets and prices of the grains and
other raw products that are used in the Dole plc business are materially affected by government programs that
include acreage control and price support programs, including policies of the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the
EU’s Common Agricultural Policy and similar programs in other jurisdictions. Changes in these and other
comparable programs could have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business, financial condition and results of our
operations.

Litigation and regulatory enforcement concerning marketing and labelling of food products could adversely
affect Dole plc’s business and reputation.

The marketing and labelling of any food product in recent years has brought increased risk that consumers will
bring class action lawsuits, and that the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, and/or state attorneys general will
bring legal action concerning the truth and accuracy of the marketing and labelling of the product. Examples of
causes of action that may be asserted in a consumer class action lawsuit include fraud, unfair trade practices and
breach of state consumer protection statutes, such as Proposition 65 in California. FTC and/or state attorneys
general may bring legal action that seeks removal of a product from the marketplace and impose fines and
penalties. Even when not merited, class claims, action by the FTC or state attorneys general enforcement actions
can be expensive to defend and adversely affect Dole plc’s reputation with existing and potential customers and
consumers and Dole plc’s corporate and brand image, which could have a material and adverse effect on its
business, financial condition or results of operations. The labelling of Dole plc’s products, and their distribution
and marketing, is also subject to regulation by governmental authorities in each jurisdiction where our products
are marketed, such as, in the EU, under Council Regulation (EC) No 834/2007 on organic production and labelling
of organic products and under Directive (EU) 2019/2161 on consumer protection rules, Regulation (EU) No
1169/2011 on the provision of food information to consumers and Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 on nutrition
and health claims made on foods. For example, the USDA requires compliance with certain growing production
and certification requirements as a condition to labelling foods with the word “organic” or with the USDA organic
seal. A failure to comply with such labelling requirements could result in enforcement proceedings in the relevant
jurisdiction that could materially affect our marketing and distribution.
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Dole plc is the subject of a number of legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries that could have an adverse
effect on its reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations, and could result in additional
claims.

Dole Food Company and Total Produce has been or is currently the subject of a number of legal proceedings and
civil and criminal investigations and inquiries by governmental agencies, including matters related to DBCP use
in the past, product safety and health, product recalls, environmental property damage and personal injury and tax
disputes. Total Produce is unable to predict how long such proceedings, investigations and inquiries will continue
or the full scope of such investigations, but it is anticipated that Dole plc will continue to incur significant costs
in connection with these matters and that these proceedings, investigations and inquiries will result in a substantial
distraction of management’s time, regardless of the outcome. These proceedings, investigations and inquiries
may result in damages, fines, penalties, consent orders or other administrative action against Dole plc and/or
certain of its officers, or in changes to Dole plc’s business practices, and any such fines or penalties could be
greater than currently anticipated. Furthermore, publicity surrounding these proceedings, investigations and
inquiries or any enforcement action as a result thereof, even if ultimately resolved favorably for Dole plc could
result in additional investigations and legal proceedings. As a result, these proceedings, investigations and
inquiries could have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s reputation, business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Tax matters, including changes in tax rates, disagreements with taxing authorities and imposition of new taxes
could impact Dole plc’s results of operations and financial condition.

Dole plc and its subsidiaries are subject to taxes in Ireland, the United States and numerous other jurisdictions
where Dole plc’s subsidiaries are organized. Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various
jurisdictions may be subject to significant change. Dole plc’s future effective tax rate could be affected by changes
in our mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in valuation of its deferred tax assets
and liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their interpretation, including possible U.S. tax reform and contemplated
changes in other countries of long-standing tax principles. These and other similar changes, if finalized and
adopted, could have a material impact on Dole plc’s income tax expense and deferred tax balances.

Dole plc is also subject to regular reviews, examinations and audits by the Internal Revenue Service and other
taxing authorities with respect to taxes inside and outside of the United States. Although Dole plc believes its tax
estimates are reasonable, if a taxing authority disagrees with the positions Dole plc has taken, it could face
additional tax liability, including interest and penalties. There can be no assurance that payment of such additional
amounts upon final adjudication of any disputes will not have a material impact on Dole plc’s results of business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Dole plc also needs to comply with new, evolving or revised tax laws and regulations. The enactment of or
increases in tariffs, including value added tax, or other changes in the application of existing taxes, in markets in
which Dole plc is currently active, or may be active in the future, or on specific products that Dole plc sells or
with which its products compete, may have an adverse effect on Dole plc’s business or on its results of operations.

The exit by the United Kingdom from the EU could adversely affect Dole plc.

The United Kingdom formally exited the EU (“Brexit”) on December 31, 2020, however the future terms of the
United Kingdom’s relationship with the EU remain uncertain. Such uncertainty was diminished on December 24,
2020, as the United Kingdom and the EU reached agreement in principle on the terms of the EU-U.K. Trade and
Cooperation Agreement (the “EU-U.K. Agreement”), which became provisionally applicable on January 1, 2021
and covers economic and security co-operation between the two, has a single overarching governance framework,
and covers a wide range of topics, including trade in goods and in services. The scope of the EU-U.K. Agreement
is narrower than the pre-Brexit trade framework, and the effects of Brexit will depend in part on any further
agreements the United Kingdom makes to retain access to the EU or to compensate elsewhere with agreements
with other global markets. Accordingly, Brexit could adversely affect United Kingdom and European market
conditions, could contribute to instability in some global financial and foreign exchange markets, including
continued volatility in the value of the GBP, require the United Kingdom to establish or renegotiate trade
relationships with other countries or otherwise adversely affect trading agreements or similar cross-border
cooperation arrangements (whether economic, tax, legal, regulatory or otherwise) beyond the date of December
31, 2020.
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Given the perishable nature of food products and the inevitable delays incurred as a result of Brexit in transporting
food around the EU and into and out of the U.K., food and agricultural products may have a reduced shelf life
which could adversely affect Dole plc’s business.

The long-term effects of Brexit are still uncertain, including the permanent policy framework to be put in place
following the EU-U.K. Agreement. Any change in economic, trade or tariff policy could adversely affect our
business, business opportunities, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Dole plc is subject to the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws or trade control laws, as well as other laws
governing its operations. If Dole plc fails to comply with these laws, it could be subject to civil or criminal
penalties, other remedial measures, and legal expenses, which could adversely affect Dole plc’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Dole plc is subject to anti-corruption laws, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), Irish anti-
corruption laws including the Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018, Proceeds of Crime Acts 1996 —
2016, the Criminal Justice (Theft and Fraud Offences) Act 2001 and other anti-corruption laws that apply in
countries where Dole plc does business. The FCPA, UK Bribery Act and these other laws generally prohibit Dole
plc and intermediaries from bribing, being bribed or making other prohibited payments to government officials or
other persons to obtain or retain business or gain some other business advantage. Dole plc operate in a number of
jurisdictions, some of which may pose a high risk of potential FCPA violations, and Dole plc participates in joint
ventures and relationships with third parties whose actions could potentially subject us to liability under the FCPA
or local anti-corruption laws. In addition, Total Produce cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future
regulatory requirements to which Dole plc international operations might be subject or the manner in which
existing laws might be administered or interpreted.

Dole plc is subject to anti-trust laws such as EU Competition law. Failure to comply with such regulations could
adversely impact Dole plc’s reputation, business and results of operations. It could also result in material fines
for Dole plc.

Dole plc is also subject to other laws and regulations governing its international operations, including regulations
administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security, the U.S. Department of
Treasury’s Office of Foreign Asset Control, and various non-U.S. government entities, including applicable export
control regulations, economic sanctions on countries and persons, customs requirements, currency exchange
regulations and transfer pricing regulations, or collectively, Trade Control laws.

There is no assurance that Dole plc will be completely effective in ensuring its compliance with all applicable
anticorruption laws, including the FCPA or other legal requirements, including Trade Control laws. If Dole plc
is not in compliance with the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws or Trade Control laws, it may be subject to
criminal and civil penalties, disgorgement and other sanctions and remedial measures, and legal expenses, which
could have an adverse impact on Dole plc’s business financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.
Likewise, any investigation of any potential violations of the FCPA other anti-corruption laws or Trade Control
laws by United States or foreign authorities could also have an adverse impact on Dole plc’s reputation, business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to the Transaction

Optimizing Dole plc’s operations may be more difficult, costly or time-consuming than expected and the
anticipated benefits and cost savings of the Transaction may not be realized.

Historically, Total Produce and Dole Food Company operated independently. Immediately prior to completion
of the IPO, Total Produce expects to complete the Transaction and will begin the process of integrating these
companies into Dole plc.

The future success of the Transaction, including the anticipated benefits and cost savings, depends, in part, on
Dole plc’s ability to optimize its operations. The optimization of Dole plc’s operations following the completion
of the Transaction will be a complex, costly and time-consuming process and if Dole plc experiences difficulties
in this process, the anticipated benefits may not be realized fully or at all, or may take longer to realize than
expected, which could have an adverse effect on Dole plc for an undetermined period. In addition, there is no
guarantee that once such process has been completed Dole plc will operate in a manner that is more efficient,
organized, effective and competitive as a whole than Dole Food Company and Total Produce operated as separate
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companies prior to the Transaction, that Dole plc will be successful or realize the expected operating efficiencies,
cost savings and other benefits currently anticipated from the Transaction.

Specifically, the following issues, among others, must be addressed in combining Total Produce’s and Dole Food
Company’s operations:

. combining the companies’ corporate functions;

. managing geographically separated organizations, systems and facilities;

. complying with additional regulatory and other legal, accounting and financial requirements;

o addressing financial and other impacts to our business resulting from fluctuations in currency
exchange rates and unit economics across multiple jurisdictions;

. enforcing intellectual property rights internationally;

. general economic and political conditions;

. integrating Total Produce’s and Dole Food Company’s accounting and finance processes,
including different fiscal year end dates and methods of accounting;

. combining Total Produce’s and Dole Food Company’s businesses in a manner that positions us

to achieve the synergies anticipated to result from the Transaction, the failure of which would
result in the anticipated benefits of the Transaction not being realized in the time frame currently
anticipated or at all;

o maintaining existing agreements with customers, distributors, suppliers and growers and
avoiding delays in entering into new agreements with prospective customers, distributors,
suppliers and growers;

. determining whether and how to address possible differences in corporate cultures and
management philosophies;

. integrating the companies’ administrative and information technology infrastructure;

. developing products and technology that allow value to be unlocked in the future;

. evaluating and forecasting the financial impact of the Transaction, including accounting
charges; and

. effecting potential actions that may be required in connection with obtaining regulatory
approvals.

In addition, at times the attention of certain members of Dole plc’s management and resources may be focused on
integration of the businesses of Total Produce and Dole Food Company and diverted from day-to-day business
operations, which may disrupt Dole plc’s ongoing business and the business of the combined company.

Dole plc is also incurring costs related to the optimization of its operations, including facilities and systems
consolidation costs and employment-related costs, such as maintaining employee morale and retaining key
employees. Dole plc continues to assess the magnitude of these costs, and additional unanticipated costs may be
incurred in the optimization of its operations.

The synergies attributable to the Transaction may vary from expectations.

While we do not anticipate fully integrating the divisions of Total Produce and Dole Food Company and, as a
result, expect modest organizational synergies between our businesses, we may fail to realize the anticipated
benefits and expected operational synergies from the Transaction, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. The success of the Transaction will depend, in significant part, on our
ability to successfully manage the business of Total Produce and Dole Food Company, grow the revenue of the
combined company and realize the anticipated strategic benefits and expected synergies from the Transaction.
The integration process, to the extent the two businesses are to be integrated, could take longer than anticipated
and could result in the loss of key employees, the disruption of each company’s ongoing businesses, tax costs or
inefficiencies, or inconsistencies in standards, controls, information technology systems, procedures and policies,
any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, employees or other third
parties, or our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Transaction and could harm our financial
performance.

We believe that the combination of Total Produce and Dole Food Company will benefit from the advantages of
supply chain and production synergies. However, the anticipated benefits of the Transaction may not be realized
fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected. Actual operating, production, supply chain, strategic
and revenue opportunities, if achieved at all, may be less significant than expected or may take longer to achieve
than anticipated. If we are not able to achieve these objectives and realize the anticipated benefits and synergies
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expected from the Transaction within the anticipated timing or at all, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects may be materially adversely affected.

We have incurred significant transaction costs and may incur integration costs in connection with the
Transaction.

We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant costs in connection with the Transaction. The
substantial majority of these costs will be non-recurring expenses and are reflected in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information included in this Scheme Circular. We may incur additional costs as a
result of any integration of the Total Produce and Dole Food Company businesses, and we may not achieve
synergies and other benefits sufficient to offset the incremental costs of the Transaction.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are presented for illustrative purposes only and
Dole plc’s actual financial condition and results of operations following completion of the Transaction may
differ materially.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements contained in this Scheme Circular are presented for
illustrative purposes only; may not be an accurate indication of what results of operations would have been had
the Transaction been completed on the dates assumed; are based on various adjustments, assumptions and
preliminary estimates; and may not be an indication of Dole plc’s financial condition or results of operations for
several reasons. Dole plc’s actual financial condition and results of operations following the completion of the
integration of the businesses may not be consistent with, or evident from, these unaudited pro forma consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the assumptions used in preparing the unaudited pro forma consolidated
financial statements may not be realized, and other factors may affect Dole plc’s financial condition or results of
operations. The pro forma financial information has been derived from the audited historical financial statements
of Total Produce and Dole Food Company, and certain adjustments and assumptions have been made regarding
Total Produce and Dole Food Company on a pro forma basis. The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based
upon available information and certain assumptions that Total Produce believes are reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from the assumptions within the accompanying unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial information.

Any potential decline in Dole plc’s financial condition or results of operations may cause significant variations in
the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements and the price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc.

Risks Related to the IPO and Ordinary Shares in Dole plc
An active trading market for Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may never develop or be sustained.

Prior to the IPO, there has been no public market for the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc, though Total Produce’s
securities are currently publicly traded on the Euronext Growth Dublin and AIM London Stock Exchange.
Although Total Produce intends to apply to have Ordinary Shares in Dole plc approved for listing on the NYSE,
an active trading market for Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may not develop on that exchange or elsewhere or, if
developed, that market may not be sustained. Accordingly, if an active trading market for Ordinary Shares in
Dole plc does not develop or is not maintained, the liquidity of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc, Total Produce
Shareholders’ ability to sell Ordinary Shares in Dole plc when desired and the prices that may be obtain for Dole
plc’s Ordinary Shares will be adversely affected. An inactive trading market may also impair Dole plc’s ability
to raise capital to continue to fund operations by selling shares and may impair Dole plc’s ability to acquire other
companies or technologies by using Dole plc shares as consideration.

The market price and trading volume of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may be volatile, which could result in
rapid and substantial losses for Dole plc’s shareholders.

Even if an active trading market develops, the market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may be highly volatile
and could be subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, the trading volume in Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may
fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. The initial public offering price of our Ordinary Shares
in Dole plc will be determined by negotiation between Dole plc and the representative of the underwriters based
on a number of factors and may not be indicative of prices that will prevail in the open market following the
completion of the IPO. If the market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc declines significantly, you may be
unable to resell your shares at or above your purchase price, if at all. The market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole
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plc may fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could negatively affect Dole plc’s
share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc include:

e variations in Dole plc’s quarterly operating results or Dole plc’s operating results failing to meet the
expectations of securities analysts or investors in a particular period;

e changes in Dole plc’s earnings estimates (if provided) or differences between Dole plc’s actual financial
and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts;

e the contents of published research reports about us or Dole ple’s industry or the failure of securities
analysts to cover Ordinary Shares in Dole plc after the IPO;

e additions to, or departures of, key management personnel;

e any increased indebtedness Dole plc may incur in the future;
e actions by institutional shareholders;

o litigation and governmental investigations;

e operating and stock performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to Dole plc (and
changes in their market valuations) and overall performance of the equity markets;

e speculation or reports by the press or investment community with respect to Dole plc or its industry in
general;

e increases in market interest rates that may lead purchasers of Dole plc’s shares to demand a higher yield;

e announcements by Dole plc or its competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, dispositions, strategic
relationships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

e volatility or economic downturns in the markets in which Dole plc, its distributors and customers are
located caused by pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, and related policies and restrictions
undertaken to contain the spread of such pandemics or potential pandemics; and

e general market, political and economic conditions, including any such conditions and local conditions in
the markets in which any of Dole plc’s customers are located.

These broad market and industry factors may decrease the market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc, regardless
of Dole plc’s actual operating performance. The stock market in general has from time to time experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations, including in recent months. In addition, in the past, following periods of
volatility in the overall market and the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has
often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against Dole plc, could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

Future offerings of debt or equity securities by Dole plc may materially adversely affect the market price of
Ordinary Shares in Dole plc.

In the future, Dole plc may attempt to obtain financing or to further increase its capital resources by issuing
additional Ordinary Shares or offering debt or other equity securities, including senior or subordinated notes, debt
securities convertible into equity or shares of preferred shares. Dole plc may also seek to expand operations in
the future to other markets which it would expect to finance through a combination of additional issuances of
equity, corporate indebtedness and/or cash from operations.

Issuing additional Ordinary Shares or other equity securities or securities convertible into equity may dilute the
economic and voting rights of our existing shareholders or reduce the market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc
or both. Upon liquidation, holders of such debt securities and preferred shares, if issued, and lenders with respect
to other borrowings would receive a distribution of Dole plc’s available assets prior to the holders of Ordinary
Shares in Dole plc. Debt securities convertible into equity could be subject to adjustments in the conversion ratio
pursuant to which certain events may increase the number of equity securities issuable upon conversion. Preferred
shares, if issued, could have a preference with respect to liquidating distributions or a preference with respect to
dividend payments that could limit Dole plc’s ability to pay dividends to the holders of Ordinary Shares in Dole
plc. Dole plc’s decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other
factors beyond its control, which may adversely affect the amount, timing or nature of Dole plc’s future offerings.
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Holders of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc bear the risk that its future offerings may reduce the market price of
Ordinary Shares in Dole plc and/or dilute their shareholdings in us.

The market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc could be negatively affected by sales of substantial amounts
of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc in the public markets by the C&C Shareholders and shareholders who receive
shares as part of the Share Exchange.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the C&C Shareholders will be entitled to certain registration rights
with respect to the resale of their Ordinary Shares. The sale by the C&C Shareholders of a large number of shares
after the IPO, or a perception that such sales could occur, could significantly reduce the market price of Ordinary
Shares in Dole plc. Dole plc may also find it more difficult to raise additional capital by selling equity securities
in the future, at a time and price that we deem appropriate as a result of such sales or perception that such sales
could occur.

In addition, the Ordinary Shares sold in the IPO and all of the Ordinary Shares held by the Total Produce
Shareholders will be freely transferable, except for any shares held by our “affiliates,” as that term is defined in
Rule 144 (“Rule 144”) under the Securities Act. Dole plc and its directors (and certain connected parties thereof)
and the C&C Shareholders will agree with the underwriters that, subject to certain exceptions, for a period of 180
days after the date of the IPO, they will not directly or indirectly offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option
or contract to purchase or otherwise dispose of any Ordinary Shares or any securities convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for Ordinary Shares, or in any manner transfer all or a portion of the economic
consequences associated with the ownership of Ordinary Shares, or cause a registration statement covering any
ordinary shares to be filed, without the prior written consent of Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC.

The market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may decline when the restrictions on resale by the C&C
Shareholders lapse. A decline in the price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc might impede Dole plc’s ability to raise
capital through the issuance of additional Ordinary Shares or other equity securities.

The future issuance of additional Dole plc Ordinary Shares in connection with its incentive plans or otherwise
will dilute all other shareholdings.

After the IPO, Dole plc may issue all authorized but unissued Ordinary Shares without any action or approval by
its shareholders, subject to certain exceptions. Dole plc may also issue Ordinary Shares under its incentive plans
subject to the limits in these plans. Any Ordinary Shares issued in connection with its incentive plans, the exercise
of outstanding share options or otherwise, would dilute the percentage ownership held by Total Produce
Shareholders and the other investors who purchase ordinary shares in the IPO.

Investors in the 1PO will suffer immediate dilution.

The initial public offering price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc will be higher than the as adjusted net tangible
book value per share issued and outstanding immediately after the IPO. On the IPO, there would therefore be an
immediate dilution for Investors in the IPO of the net tangible book value of an Ordinary Share in Dole plc.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about Dole plc’s business or publish
negative reports, its share price could decline.

The trading market for Ordinary Shares in Dole plc will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or
securities analysts publish about us or its business. If one of more of these analysts ceases coverage of Dole plc
or fails to publish reports on it regularly, Dole plc could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could
cause its share price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover Dole plc
downgrades Ordinary Shares in Dole plc or if its reporting results do not meet their expectations, Dole plc’s share
price could decline.

United States investors may have difficulty enforcing judgments against Dole plc, its directors and executive
officers.

Dole plc is incorporated under the laws of Ireland, and its registered offices and a substantial portion of its assets
are located outside of the United States. As a result, it may not be possible to effect service of process on such
persons or Dole plc in the United States or to enforce judgments obtained in courts in the United States against
such persons or Dole plc based on civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States.
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There is no treaty between Ireland and the United States providing for the reciprocal enforcement of judgments
obtained in the other jurisdiction and Irish common law rules govern the process by which a U.S. judgment may
be enforced in Ireland. The following requirements must be met as a precondition before a U.S. judgment will be
eligible for enforcement in Ireland:

e the judgment must be for a definite sum;

e the judgment must be final and conclusive, and the decree must be final and enforceable in the court
which pronounces it;

o the judgment must be provided by a court of competent jurisdiction, and the procedural rules of the court
giving the foreign judgment must have been observed,;

o the U.S. court must have had jurisdiction in relation to the particular defendant according to Irish conflict
of law rules; and

e jurisdiction must be obtained by the Irish courts over judgment debtors in enforcement proceedings by
service in Ireland or outside Ireland in accordance with the applicable court rules in Ireland.

Even if the above requirements have been met, an Irish court may exercise its right to refuse to enforce the U.S.
judgment if the Irish court is satisfied that the judgment (1) was obtained by fraud; (2) is in contravention of Irish
public policy; (3) is in breach of natural or constitutional justice; or (4) is irreconcilable with an earlier judgment.
By way of example, a judgment of a U.S. court of liabilities predicated upon U.S. federal securities laws may not
be enforced by Irish courts on the grounds of public policy if that U.S. judgment includes an award of punitive
damages. Further, an Irish court may stay proceedings if concurrent proceedings are being brought elsewhere.

Certain provisions of Irish law and Doele plc’s Articles of Association could hinder, delay or prevent a change
in control of Dole plc’s, which could adversely affect the price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc.

Certain provisions of Irish law and Dole plc’s Articles of Association will contain provisions that could make it
more difficult for a third-party to acquire Dole plc without the consent of our board of directors.

Dole plc’s Articles of Association will include provisions permitting its board of directors to issue preferred shares
from time to time in one or more series and to establish the terms, preferences and rights of any such series of
preferred shares, all without approval of its shareholders and allowing its board of directors to adopt a shareholder
rights plan upon such terms and conditions as it deems expedient in the interests of the Company.

As an Irish public limited company, Dole plc is subject to provisions of Irish law, which may prevent or impede
any attempt to acquire Dole plc including provisions relating to mandatory bids, voluntary bids, requirements to
make a cash offer and minimum price requirements, as well as substantial acquisition rules and rules requiring the
disclosure of interests in our shares in certain circumstances.

Dole plc’s Atrticles of Association will include provisions classifying its board of directors into three classes of
directors with staggered three-year terms. A retiring director will be eligible for reappointment at the annual
general meeting at which he or she retires. Dole plc’s Articles of Association will also permit the board of
directors to fill any vacancies. These factors could have the effect of making the replacement of incumbent
directors more time consuming and difficult.

These provisions may make it difficult and expensive for a third party to pursue a tender offer, change in control
or takeover attempt that is opposed by Dole plc’s management or Dole plc’s board of directors. Public
shareholders who might desire to participate in these types of transactions may not have an opportunity to do so,
even if the transaction is favourable to shareholders. These anti-takeover provisions could substantially impede
the ability of public shareholders to benefit from a change in control or change Dole plc’s management and board
of directors and, as a result, may adversely affect the market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc and your ability
to realize any potential change of control premium.

Dole plc will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a U.S. public company, and its management will
be required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices. Dole
plc may fail to comply with the rules that apply to public companies, including Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which could result in sanctions or other penalties that would harm Dole plc’s business.

As a public company that qualifies as a foreign private issuer, Dole plc will incur significant legal, accounting,
and other expenses that Total Produce did not incur prior to the IPO, including costs resulting from public
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company reporting obligations under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and regulations regarding corporate
governance practices. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act, the rules of the SEC, the listing requirements of the NYSE, and other applicable securities rules and
regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including establishment and maintenance of
effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Dole plc expects that it will need
to hire additional accounting, finance, and other personnel in connection with Dole plc’s becoming listed on the
NYSE, and its efforts to comply with the requirements of being, a public company, and Dole plc’s management
and other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time towards maintaining compliance with these
requirements. These requirements will increase Dole plc’s legal and financial compliance costs and will make
some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, these reporting requirements, rules and
regulations, coupled with the increase in potential litigation exposure associated with being a public company,
could also make it more difficult for Dole plc to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on its board of
directors or board committees or to serve as executive officers, or to obtain certain types of insurance, including
directors’ and officers’ insurance, on acceptable terms. Dole plc is currently evaluating these rules and regulations
and cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs it may incur or the timing of such costs. These rules
and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as
a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and
governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs
necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Total Produce cannot predict or
estimate the amount of additional costs Dole plc may incur as a result of becoming a public company or the timing
of such costs. Any changes Dole plc makes to comply with these obligations may not be sufficient to allow us to
satisfy its obligations as a public company on a timely basis, or at all.

Pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404, Dole plc will be required to furnish a report by its management on
our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our second filing of an Annual Report on Form 20-F
with the SEC after it becomes a public company. In order to maintain effective internal controls, Dole plc will
need additional financial personnel, systems and resources. To achieve compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Section 404 within the prescribed period, Dole plc will be engaged in a process to document and evaluate its
internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, Dole plc will need
to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants, adopt a detailed work plan to
assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control
processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented, and implement a
continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite Dole plc’s
efforts, there is a risk that it will not be able to conclude, within the prescribed timeframe or at all, that Dole plc’s
internal control over financial reporting is effective as required by Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404. If Dole plc
identifies one or more material weaknesses, it could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a
loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements. To date, Dole plc has not conducted a review of
its internal controls for the purpose of providing the reports required by these rules. During the course of Dole
plc’s review and testing, it has in the past and may in the future, identify deficiencies and be unable to remediate
them before Dole plc must provide the required reports.

Furthermore, if Dole plc identifies a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting in the future,
it may not detect errors on a timely basis and its financial statements may be materially misstated. Dole plc or its
independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that Dole plc has
effective internal control over financial reporting, which could harm our operating results, cause investors to lose
confidence in Dole plc’s reported financial information and cause the trading price of its shares to fall. In addition,
as a public company Dole plc will be required to file accurate and timely quarterly and annual reports with the
SEC under the Exchange Act. Any failure to report Dole plc’s financial results on an accurate and timely basis
could result in sanctions, lawsuits, delisting of Dole plc’s shares from the NYSE or other adverse consequences
that would materially harm its business and reputation.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or
interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We have
identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and we may identify additional
material weaknesses in the future.

Historically, as a public company operating in Ireland, we were not required to comply with the internal control
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As a U.S. public company, our management will be required to report
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on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our Annual Report on Form
20-F for the year ended December 31, 2022. The rules governing the standards that must be met for management
to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing
and possible remediation.

In the course of preparing for the Transaction, we and our independent registered public accounting firm identified
a deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018 that we concluded represented a material weakness. The material weakness identified related to our internal
controls over the manual review of journal entry postings not being designed to an appropriate level of precision
and insufficient segregation of duties over the review process. While no misstatement was identified, this
material weakness could result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements that would
not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

We have initiated the process of remediating the identified material weakness and are taking steps that we believe
will address the underlying cause of the identified material weakness. We have engaged financial advisors to assist
us in the process. We plan to take various measures to remediate the deficiency, including and not limited to hiring
additional finance and accounting personnel with appropriate Sarbanes-Oxley training, and further developing
and documenting our accounting policies and financial reporting procedures. These actions that we are taking are
subject to ongoing management review, as well as audit committee oversight. Neither we nor our independent
registered public accounting firm have performed an assessment or audit, respectively, of our internal control over
financial reporting during any period in accordance with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Dole plc expects to be a “foreign private issuer” and are permitted to follow certain home country corporate
governance practices. As a foreign private issuer, Dole plc may have different disclosure and other
requirements than U.S. domestic registrants. While Dole plc intends to adopt the NYSE corporate governance
requirements you may not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to
all NYSE corporate governance requirements. Dole plc may lose its foreign private issuer status in the future,
which could result in significant additional costs and expenses.

As a foreign private issuer, Dole plc is subject to different disclosure and other requirements than domestic U.S.
registrants and non-emerging growth companies. For example, as a foreign private issuer, in the United States, it
is not subject to the same disclosure requirements as a domestic U.S. registrant under the Exchange Act, including
the requirements to prepare and issue quarterly reports on Form 10-Q or to file current reports on Form 8-K upon
the occurrence of specified significant events, the proxy rules applicable to domestic U.S. registrants under Section
14 of the Exchange Act or the insider reporting and short-swing profit rules applicable to domestic U.S. registrants
under Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition, Dole plc may rely on exemptions from certain U.S. rules
which permit Dole plc to follow Irish legal requirements rather than certain of the requirements that are applicable
to U.S. domestic registrants.

Dole plc follows Irish laws and regulations that are applicable to Irish companies. However, Irish laws and
regulations applicable to Irish companies do not contain provisions directly comparable to the U.S. proxy rules
and the U.S. rules relating to the filing of reports on Form 10-Q or 8-K. Furthermore, foreign private issuers are
required to file their annual report on Form 20-F within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year, while U.S.
domestic issuers that are accelerated filers are required to file their annual report on Form 10-K within 75 days
after the end of each fiscal year. Foreign private issuers are also exempt from Regulation Fair Disclosure, aimed
at preventing issuers from making selective disclosures of material information. As a result of the above, even
though Dole plc is required to file reports on Form 6-K disclosing the limited information which it has made or is
required to make public pursuant to Irish law, or is required to distribute to shareholders generally, and that is
material to Dole plc, you may not receive information of the same type or amount that is required to be disclosed
to shareholders of a U.S. company. In addition, as a “foreign private issuer” whose securities will be listed on the
NYSE, the Company is permitted to follow certain home country corporate governance practices in lieu of certain
requirements of the NYSE. A “foreign private issuer” must disclose in its annual reports filed with the SEC each
requirement of the NYSE with which it does not comply, followed by a description of its applicable home country
practice. Dole plc currently intends to follow the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE rather than
home country practice. However, Dole plc cannot make any assurances that it will continue to follow such
corporate governance requirements in the future, and may therefore, in the future, rely on available exemptions
that would allow Dole plc to follow its home country practice. Unlike the requirements of the NYSE, there are
currently no mandatory corporate governance requirements in Ireland that would require the Company to: (i) have
a majority of the Board of Directors be independent; (ii) establish a nominating/governance committee; or (iii)
hold regular executive sessions where only independent directors may be present. As a result of the above, Dole
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plc shareholders will not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all
NYSE corporate governance requirements.

Further, loss of Dole plc’s foreign private issuer status could result in significant additional cost and expense. The
determination of foreign private issuer status is made annually on the last business day of an issuer’s most recently
completed second fiscal quarter, and, accordingly, the next determination will be made on June 30, 2022. In order
to maintain Dole plc’s current status as a foreign private issuer, either a majority of its outstanding voting securities
must be directly or indirectly held of record by non-residents of the United States, or, if a majority of its
outstanding voting securities are directly or indirectly held of record by residents of the United States, a majority
of its executive officers or directors may not be United States citizens or residents, more than 50% of its assets
cannot be located in the United States and its business must be administered principally outside the United States.
If Dole plc loses its foreign private issuer status, it will be required to file with the SEC periodic reports and
registration statements on U.S. domestic issuer forms, which are more detailed and extensive than the forms
available to a foreign private issuer. Dole plc would also have to mandatorily comply with U.S. federal proxy
requirements, and its officers, directors and principal shareholders will become subject to the short-swing profit
disclosure and recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition, Dole plc would lose its ability
to rely upon exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements under the listing rules of NYSE, as
described above. Further, asa U.S. listed public company that is not a foreign private issuer, Dole plc would incur
significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses that it would otherwise not incur as a foreign private
issuer.

Dole plc intends to pay regular dividends on Ordinary Shares in Dole plc, but its ability to do so may be limited.

Following the closing of the IPO and subject to legally available funds, Dole plc intends to pay quarterly cash
dividends on Ordinary Shares in Dole plc, subject to the discretion of its board of directors and its compliance
with applicable law, including the Act, and depending on Dole plc’s financial condition, earnings, capital
requirements, level of indebtedness, statutory and contractual restrictions applicable to the payment of dividends
and other considerations that its board of directors deems relevant. Because Dole plc is a holding company and
has no direct operations, it expects to pay dividends, if any, only from funds it receives from its subsidiaries, which
may further restrict its ability to pay dividends as a result of the laws of their jurisdiction of organization,
agreements of its subsidiaries or covenants under any existing and future outstanding indebtedness Dole plc or its
subsidiaries incur. Dole plc’s ability to pay dividends may also be restricted by the terms of its existing debt
agreements, including the Credit Agreement, or any future debt or preferred equity securities.

Dole plc’s dividend policy entails certain risks and limitations, particularly with respect to its liquidity. By paying
cash dividends rather than investing that cash in Dole plc’s business or repaying debt, it risks, among other things,
slowing the pace of its growth and having insufficient cash to fund its operations or unanticipated capital
expenditures or limiting its ability to incur additional borrowings.

Although Dole plc expects to pay dividends according to its dividend policy, it may not pay dividends according
to its policy, or at all, if, among other things, it do not have the cash necessary to pay its intended dividends. The
declaration and payment of dividends will be determined at the discretion of Dole plc’s board of directors, acting
in compliance with applicable law and contractual restrictions.

A transfer of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc, other than by means of the transfer of book-entry interests in the
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), may be subject to Irish stamp duty.

Transfers of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc effected by means of the transfer of book-entry interests in DTC will not
be subject to Irish stamp duty. However, if you hold Ordinary Shares in Dole plc directly rather than beneficially
through DTC, any transfer of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc could be subject to Irish stamp duty (currently at the
rate of 1% of the higher of the price paid or the market value of the shares acquired). In such circumstances, while
the payment of Irish stamp duty is primarily a legal obligation of the transferee, when shares are purchased on the
NYSE the purchaser will require the stamp duty to be borne by the transferor. The potential for stamp duty could
adversely affect the price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc which are held directly outside of DTC rather than
beneficially through DTC.

In certain limited circumstances, dividends Dole plc pays may be subject to Irish dividend withholding tax.

In certain limited circumstances, Irish dividend withholding tax (currently at a rate of 25%) may arise in respect
of any dividends paid on Ordinary Shares in Dole plc. A number of exemptions from Irish dividend withholding
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tax exist such that shareholders resident in the United States and shareholders resident in certain countries may be
entitled to exemptions from Irish dividend withholding tax.

Shareholders resident in the United States that hold their Ordinary Shares through DTC will not be subject to Irish
dividend withholding tax provided the addresses of the beneficial owners of such Ordinary Shares in the records
of the brokers holding such Ordinary Shares are recorded as being in the United States (and such brokers have
further transmitted the relevant information to a qualifying intermediary appointed by us). U.S. resident
shareholders in Dole plc that hold their Ordinary Shares outside of DTC and shareholders resident in certain other
countries (irrespective of whether they hold their ordinary shares through DTC or outside DTC) will not be subject
to Irish dividend withholding tax provided the beneficial owners of such Ordinary Shares have furnished
completed and valid dividend withholding tax forms or an IRS Form 6166, as appropriate, to Dole plc’s transfer
agent or their brokers (and such brokers have further transmitted the relevant information to our transfer
agent). However, other shareholders may be subject to Irish dividend withholding tax, which could adversely
affect the price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc.

Dividends received by Irish residents and certain other shareholders may be subject to Irish income tax.

Shareholders entitled to an exemption from Irish dividend withholding tax on dividends received from Dole plc
will not be subject to Irish income tax in respect of those dividends, unless they have some connection with Ireland
other than their shareholding in Dole plc (for example, they are resident in Ireland). Shareholders who are not
resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland but who are not entitled to an exemption from Irish dividend withholding
tax will generally have no further liability to Irish income tax on those dividends which suffer Irish dividend
withholding tax.

Ordinary Shares received by means of a gift or inheritance could be subject to Irish capital acquisitions tax.

Irish capital acquisitions tax (“CAT”) could apply to a gift or inheritance of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc,
irrespective of the place of residence, ordinary residence or domicile of the parties. This is because Ordinary
Shares in Dole plc is regarded as property situated in Ireland. The person who receives the gift or inheritance has
primary liability for CAT. Gifts and inheritances passing between spouses are exempt from CAT. Children have
a tax-free threshold of €335,000 in respect of taxable gifts or inheritances received from their parents. Certain
other tax-free thresholds may also apply.

There can be no assurance that Dole plc will not be a passive foreign investment company for United States
federal income tax purposes for any taxable year, which could subject United States investors in Ordinary
Shares in Dole plc to significant adverse United States income tax consequences.

A non-U.S. corporation, such as Dole plc, will be classified as a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”)
for any taxable year if either (i) at least 75% of its gross income for such year consists of certain types of “passive”
income, or (ii) at least 50% of the value of its assets (generally determined on the basis of a quarterly average)
during such year is attributable to assets that produce passive income or are held for the production of passive
income (the “asset test”). Based on the current and anticipated value of Dole plc’s assets and composition of its
income and assets (taking into account the expected cash proceeds from, and Dole plc’s anticipated market
capitalization following, the IPO), Dole plc does not presently expect to be a PFIC for the current taxable year or
the foreseeable future.

However, while Dole plc does not expect to be or become a PFIC, no assurance can be given in this regard because
the determination of whether Dole plc is or will become a PFIC for any taxable year is a fact-intensive
determination made annually that depends, in part, upon the composition and classification of Dole plc’s income
and assets. Fluctuations in the market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may cause Dole plc to be or become
a PFIC for the current or subsequent taxable years because the value of Dole plc’s assets for purposes of the asset
test, including the value of our goodwill and other unbooked intangibles, may be determined by reference to the
market price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc from time to time (which may be volatile).

If Dole plc was to be or become a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. investor holds Ordinary Shares
in Dole plc, certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences could apply to such U.S. investor.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information contained in this Scheme Circular contains forward-looking statements that relate to Dole
plc’s plans, objectives, estimates and goals. Statements regarding the Transaction and statements regarding Dole
ple’s future and projections relating to products, sales, revenues, expenditures, costs and earnings are typical of
such statements. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s beliefs, assumptions and expectations
of Dole plc’s future economic performance, considering the information currently available to management.
These statements are not statements of historical fact. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties
that may cause Dole plc’s actual results, performance or financial condition to differ materially from the
expectations of future results, performance or financial condition that is expressed or implied in any forward-
looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “could,” “will,” “should,” “would,” “anticipate,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “objective,” “seek,” “strive”, “target” or similar words, or the negative of these words, identify
forward-looking statements. The inclusion of this forward-looking information should not be regarded as a
representation by Total Produce, the underwriters or any other person that the future plans, estimates or
expectations contemplated by Dole plc will be achieved. Such forward-looking statements are subject to various
risks and uncertainties and assumptions relating to Dole plc’s operations, financial results, financial condition,
business, prospects, growth strategy and liquidity. Accordingly, there are, or will be, important factors that could
cause Dole plc’s actual results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements. Total Produce believe
that these factors include, but are not limited to:

EEINT3

o the successful integration of the Total Produce and Dole companies following the Transaction and the
realization of any anticipated benefits and cost savings resulting therefrom;

e the impact of pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, including demand for Dole plc’s products,
illness, quarantines, government actions, facility closures, store closures or other restrictions in
connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, and the extent and duration thereof, related impact on our
ability to meet customer needs and on the ability of third parties on which Dole plc relies, including its
franchisees, suppliers, customers, contract manufacturers, distributors, to meet their obligations to Dole
plc, the extent that government funding and reimbursement programs in connection with COVID-19 are
available to Dole plc, and the ability to successfully implement measures to respond to such impacts;

o the effects of any changes in laws (including the interpretation thereof), regulations, rules, quotas, tariffs,
export and import laws on Dole plc’s operations;

e weather conditions that affect the production, transportation, storage, import and export of fresh produce
or packaged foods;

e adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, crops disease, pests and other natural conditions, which
may affect market prices and the demand for Dole plc’s products, and its ability to mitigate such risks;

e Dole plc’s ability to compete and innovate effectively against its present and future competitors;
e product and raw material supplies and pricing;

e changes in interest and currency exchange rates;

e economic crises or a decline in general economic conditions;

e international conflict;

e information permitted to be filed and corporate governance practices permitted to be followed as a result
of being a “foreign private issuer” under the rules and regulations of the SEC;

o the impact of governmental trade restrictions, including adverse governmental regulation that may impact
Dole plc’s ability to access certain markets, such as uncertainty surrounding Brexit, including spillover
effects to other Eurozone countries;

e the adequacy of the insurance Dole plc maintains;

e Dole plc’s exposure to product liability claims and associated regulatory and legal actions, product recalls
or other legal proceedings relating to its business;

e acts of crime or terrorism, including any potential impact on Dole plc’s information systems;
e risks associated with uncertainty stemming from the recent U.S. presidential election;

e Dole plc’s failure to hire and retain key personnel and highly skilled employees;
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e labour disruptions, strikes or work stoppages;
e loss of important intellectual property rights;

e Dole plc’s ability to generate a sufficient amount of cash to service its indebtedness and fund its
operations;

e Dole plc’s ability to operate its business under agreements governing certain of its indebtedness
containing financial covenants and other restrictions;

e the volatility of the trading price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc;

e sale of a large number of Ordinary Shares, or a perception that such sale may occur, by the C&C
Shareholders; and

o additional factors discussed under the Parts 2, 7 and 9 of this Scheme Circular entitled “Risk Factors,”
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
“Description of Certain Indebtedness, Expected Ownership and Implied Valuation.”

All such factors are difficult to predict, contain uncertainties that may materially affect actual results and may be
beyond Dole plc’s control. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for Total Produce to
predict all such factors or to assess the impact of each such factor on Dole plc. Any forward-looking statement
speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and Total Produce do not undertake any obligation
to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement
is made except as required by applicable laws. In addition, this Scheme Circular contains industry data related to
Dole plc’s business and the markets in which it operates. This data includes projections that are based on a number
of assumptions. If these assumptions turn out to be incorrect, actual results could differ from the projections.

If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if Total Produce and Dole plc’s underlying
assumptions prove to be incorrect, Dole plc’s actual results may vary materially from what may have expressed
or implied by these forward-looking statements. We caution that you should not place undue reliance on any of
our forward-looking statements. You should specifically consider the factors identified in this Scheme Circular
that could cause actual results to differ before making an investment decision to purchase Ordinary Shares in Dole
plc. Furthermore, new risks and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict those
events or how they may affect us.
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Part 3
EXPLANATORY STATEMENT (IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 452 OF THE ACT)

Scheme of Arrangement
under Chapter 1, Part 9 of the Companies Act 2014
for the adoption of a mandatory share exchange arrangement so that Dole plc can acquire the entire
issued share capital of Total Produce plc in exchange for the issue of new shares in Dole plc

Introduction

On 17 February 2021, the board of Total Produce, Dole Food Company, Inc. (“Dole Food Company”),
and affiliates of Castle & Cooke, Inc. (the “C&C Shareholders”), which own a 55% interest in
DFC Holdings, LLC (“DFC Holdings”) which is the parent company of Dole Food Company (together,
the “Parties”) announced that they had entered into a binding transaction agreement to combine under a
newly created, U.S. listed company (“Dole plc”) by the implementation, upon the terms and subject to
the conditions set forth in the Transaction Agreement, of the Share Exchange, the Merger and the IPO,
each as defined in the Transaction Agreement and, together the “Transaction”.

Your attention is drawn to the letter of recommendation from Carl McCann, the Chair of Total Produce,
on behalf of the Board, in Part 1 (Letter from the Chair of Total Produce) of this Scheme Circular, which
sets out the reasons why the Board, who have been so advised by Goldman Sachs, consider the terms of
the Transaction to be fair and reasonable and why the Board unanimously recommends that all Total
Produce Shareholders vote in favour of the Transaction and all resolutions to be considered at the Scheme
Meeting and the EGM, as they intend to do in respect of their own beneficial holdings of, in aggregate,
10,217,305 Total Produce Shares which represent approximately 2.63% of the total issued share capital
of Total Produce as of the Latest Practicable Date. In providing their advice to the Board, Goldman Sachs
have taken into account the commercial assessments of the Board.

Your attention is also drawn to the other parts of this Scheme Circular, which all form part of this
Explanatory Statement.

Scheme of arrangement to adopt a mandatory share exchange arrangement so that Dole plc can
acquire the entire issued share capital of Total Produce plc in exchange for the issue of new shares
in Dole plc

The Company is proposing that a mandatory share exchange arrangement be adopted so that Dole plc
can acquire the entire issued share capital of Total Produce plc in exchange for the issue of new shares
in Dole plc and that this is to be effected by way of a scheme of arrangement between the Company and
the Total Produce Shareholders under Part 1 of Chapter 9 of the Act, also referred to as the Scheme. The
Scheme is set out in full in Part 4 (The Scheme of Arrangement) of this Scheme Circular.

If the Scheme is approved, it will be implemented as part of the completion of the Transaction. This will
result in all Total Produce Shares being transferred to Dole plc in accordance with the Scheme and share
exchange provision which will have been incorporated into the Total Produce Articles pursuant to an
amendment to the Total Produce Articles to be adopted at the EGM. Dole plc will then issue the
Consideration Shares to Total Produce Shareholders in consideration for the Share Exchange. As a result
of the Scheme, Total Produce will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Dole plc.

The Scheme will require approval by the relevant majority of Total Produce Shareholders at the Scheme
Meeting, approval of the EGM Scheme Resolutions at the EGM and the sanction of the High Court at
the Court Hearing. The Scheme Meeting and the EGM and the nature of the approvals required to be
given at the Meetings are described in more detail in paragraph 3 of this Part 3 (Explanatory Statement).
Each Total Produce Shareholder is entitled to be represented by counsel or a solicitor (at its own expense)
at the Court Hearing to support or oppose the sanctioning of the Scheme.

Assuming the necessary approvals from Total Produce Shareholders have been obtained at the Meetings,
the Scheme will become effective upon delivery to the Registrar of Companies of a copy of the Court
Order and registration of the Court Order by the Registrar of Companies. If the Scheme becomes
effective, it will be binding on all Total Produce Shareholders, irrespective of whether or not they
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attended or voted at the Scheme Meeting or the EGM (and, if they attended and voted, whether or not
they voted in favour).

The Scheme is intended to become effective in advance of the Transaction being completed. Completion
of the Transaction is subject to a number of Conditions set out in full in Part 5 (Conditions and Further
Terms of the Scheme and the Transaction) of this Scheme Circular. The Valuation Floor and Minimum
Secondary conditions can be waived by Total Produce and the C&C Shareholders by mutual consent at
any time prior to Completion. Shareholders are being asked to approve the Scheme on the basis that the
Share Exchange will be implemented notwithstanding any waiver of the Valuation Floor and Minimum
Secondary conditions. The Transaction can only become effective if the Conditions have been satisfied
or (where permissible) waived by no later than the Outside Date or such later date (if any) as Total
Produce and C&C Shareholders may agree and (if required) the High Court may allow.

Consents and Meetings

The Scheme requires approval by Total Produce Shareholders at the Scheme Meeting to be held at 29
North Anne Street, Dublin 7, D07 PH36, Ireland and remotely by the Virtual Meeting Platform at
11.00 a.m. on 17 June 2021.

In addition to requiring approval at the Scheme Meeting, implementation of the Scheme also requires
various approvals by Total Produce Shareholders at the EGM to be held at the same venue as the Scheme
Meeting at 11.15 a.m. on 17 June 2021, or, if later, immediately after the conclusion or adjournment of
the Scheme Meeting. The EGM is being convened to enable the directors of Total Produce to implement
the Scheme and to amend the Total Produce Articles, as described below.

Notices of the Scheme Meeting and the EGM are set out at the end of this Scheme Circular. Entitlement
to attend and vote at each meeting and the number of votes which may be cast at each meeting will be
determined by reference to the Register of Members of Total Produce at the Voting Record Time.

(] Scheme Meeting

The Scheme Meeting has been convened for 11.00 a.m. on 17 June 2021 to enable Total Produce
Shareholders to consider and, if thought fit, approve the Scheme. At the Scheme Meeting, voting will be
by poll and not a show of hands and each holder of Total Produce Shares who is present in person or by
proxy will be entitled to one vote for each Total Produce Share held. The quorum for the Scheme Meeting
shall be at least two persons holding or representing by proxy at least one-third in nominal value of the
issued shares in Total Produce. As required by section 449(1) of the Act (as amended by section 1087D
of the Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union (Consequential Provisions) Act
2020) the resolution to approve the Scheme must be approved by a majority representing at least 75 per
cent in value of the members present and voting either in person or by proxy at the Scheme Meeting.

It is important that as many votes as possible are cast at the Scheme Meeting so that the High Court may
be satisfied that there was at such Scheme Meeting a fair representation of Total Produce Shareholders’
opinion. You are therefore encouraged to sign and return the enclosed Form of Proxy as the case may be,
for the Scheme Meeting as soon as possible and in any event so as to be received by the Company’s
Registrars, Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited, at PO Box 13030, Dublin 24, Ireland (if
delivered by post) or at 3100 Lake Drive, Citywest Business Campus, Dublin 24, D24 AK82, Ireland (if
delivered by hand).

() Extraordinary General Meeting

In addition to the Scheme Meeting, the EGM has been convened for the same date at 11.15 a.m. (or, if
later, as soon thereafter as the Scheme Meeting is concluded or adjourned) to consider and, if thought fit,
pass five resolutions (which in the case of special resolutions require a vote in favour of not less than
75%, of the votes cast in person or by proxy and in respect of ordinary resolutions require in excess of
50%, of the votes cast in person or by proxy).
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(o) Forms of Proxy

Total Produce Shareholders are strongly urged to complete and return their Forms of Proxy as soon as
possible. Total Produce Shareholders who hold their Total Produce Shares in their own name have been
sent a YELLOW Form of Proxy for the Scheme Meeting.

All Total Produce Shareholders who hold their Total Produce Shares in their own name have been sent
a WHITE Form of Proxy for the EGM.

() Court Hearing

Subject to the approval of the Scheme and the EGM Scheme Resolutions, it is expected that the Court
Hearing will be held in July 2021 subject to the discretion of the High Court. All Total Produce
Shareholders are entitled to attend the Court Hearing in person (subject to any Court directions given
restrictions that may exist as a result of Covid-19) or to be represented by counsel or a solicitor at their
own expense to support or oppose the sanctioning of the Scheme.

Structure of the Scheme

It is proposed that, under the Scheme, all Total Produce Shares in issue on the Completion Date will be
transferred to Dole plc. As a result of these arrangements, Total Produce will become a wholly owned
subsidiary of Dole plc and Total Produce Shareholders will become shareholders in Dole plc.

All Total Produce Shareholders on the Completion Date will receive the Consideration Shares based on
the Exchange Ratio.

The Scheme will be implemented if all the Conditions to which the Transaction is subject have been
satisfied or (where permissible) waived by no later than the Outside Date or such later date (if any) as
Total Produce and the C&C Shareholders may agree and (if required) the High Court may allow. It is
expected that the Transaction will be completed in early Q3 2021, subject to the approvals and conditions
set out above.

Transaction related agreements
E] Transaction Agreement

Total Produce entered into a transaction agreement with, amongst other parties, Dole plc, which contains
certain assurances in relation to the implementation of the Scheme and other matters related to the
Transaction. Further details regarding the Transaction Agreement are set out at paragraph 7 of Part 10
(Additional Information) of this Scheme Circular.

(&) Expense Reimbursement Agreement

Concurrently with the execution of the Transaction Agreement, Dole plc entered into an expense
reimbursement agreement (the “Expense Reimbursement Agreement”) with the Total Produce Parties,
DFC Holdings and the C&C Parties. If Completion occurs, Dole plc will bear the costs of the other
parties to the Transaction Agreement and Dole plc, subject to and in accordance with the terms of the
Expense Reimbursement Agreement. If Completion does not occur, DFC Holdings will procure that
Dole Food Company, Inc. will bear the costs of the parties to the Transaction Agreement, subject to and
in accordance with the terms of the Expense Reimbursement Agreement.

Board and Employees
(] Generally

Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the Total Produce directors shall become Directors of Dole plc
alongside three new directors, Tim George, Johan Lindén and Jimmy Tolan.

50



-l

() Indemnification and Insurance

Indemnification rights in favour of each of the former and present directors and officers of Total Produce
are included in Total Produce Articles.

Total Produce Employee Share Plans
K Treatment of Total Produce Short Term Incentive Plan

On Completion, all shares which vested under the Total Produce STIP will be exchanged for shares in
Dole plc and will be held by the Trustees of the Total Produce STIP in accordance with the terms of the
Total Produce STIP.

(b Treatment of shares held in the Total Produce APSS

On Completion, all shares held by the Total Produce APSS will be exchanged for shares in Dole plc and
will be held by the Trustees of the Total Produce APSS in accordance with the terms of the Total Produce
APSS.

() Treatment of Total Produce Share Incentive Plan

On Completion, all shares held by the Total Produce SIP will be exchanged for shares in Dole plc and
will be held by the Trustees of the Total Produce SIP in accordance with the terms of the Total Produce
SIP.

i) Treatment of Total Produce Options

On completion of the Transaction, Total Produce will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Dole plc.
For this reason, the Compensation Committee has resolved to apply Clause 13 of the 2007 Option
Scheme in order to require the exercise of all options granted under the 2007 Option Scheme on or before
the completion of the Transaction. In addition, the Compensation Committee has resolved that any
options granted under the 2007 Option Scheme which have not been exercised prior to completion of the
Transaction will be cashed out by the application of a cash settlement facility (the “Option Cash
Settlement Facility””) which will operate as follows:

(i) Total Produce Options with an Exercise Price of €1.55 would be cash settled by a net
payment of €0.83 per Total Produce Share;

(i) Total Produce Options with an Exercise Price of €0.669 would be cash settled by a net
payment of €1.51 per Total Produce Share.

The respective cash settlement payments were determined on the basis of customary valuation
methodologies.

Total Produce Options can continue to be exercised in accordance with their terms which may be no later
than 14 days before the expected Completion Date (the “Latest Exercise Date”). All Total Produce
Options which are outstanding after the Latest Exercise Date will be cash settled as described above.

The Option Cash Settlement Facility will be paid via the Group’s payroll system after deduction of
applicable payroll taxes.

If the Transaction does not take place, the Option Cash Settlement Facility will not be applied and option
holders will retain their unexercised Total Produce Options.

As the Option Cash Settlement Facility applies to all Total Produce Options and Rory Byrne is deemed
to be interested in 250,000 Total Produce Options through his spouse in her capacity as one of the
Group’s divisional finance directors, it will also be necessary to approve the Option Cash Settlement
Facility by an Ordinary Resolution at the EGM for the purpose of section 238 of the Act.
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The Total Produce Directors and the effect of the Scheme on their interests

In considering the recommendation of the Board, you should be aware that certain directors of Total
Produce will have interests in the proposed Transaction that may be different from, or in addition to, the
interests of Total Produce Shareholders generally. These interests are described in more detail and
quantified below. Save as described below, the effect of the Scheme on the interests of the Total Produce
Directors does not differ from its effect on the like interests of other persons. The Total Produce Directors
were aware of these interests and considered them when it evaluated, negotiated and approved the
Transaction Agreement and in making its recommendations to the Total Produce Shareholders.

() Interests of Directors

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

The interests of the directors of Total Produce in the share capital of Total Produce are
set out in paragraph 3 of Part 10 (4ddditional Information) of this Scheme Circular.

The equity awards held by the directors of Total Produce will be treated as described
in the preceding paragraph 7 captioned “Total Produce Employee Share Plans”.

Carl McCann is one of the sons of Mrs. Mary McCann who has indirect control of the
corporation which is the majority shareholder of Balkan Investment Unlimited
Company. Balkan Investment Unlimited Company and its subsidiaries including
Arnsberg Investment Unlimited Company hold 48,908,125 ordinary shares in Total
Produce. Mrs. Mary McCann owns 1,000 ordinary shares in Total Produce. These
shareholdings represent an aggregate beneficial ownership of 12.57% of Total
Produce.

On Completion, Dole plc will adopt a change in control severance plan for certain of
its executive officers (which will include the Executive Directors), which will be
effective as of IPO. It is anticipated that the change in control severance plan will
provide for severance benefits upon certain terminations of employment in connection
with a change in control and also for lesser severance benefits upon certain
terminations of employment not in connection with a change in control.

Long-term equity incentive awards can assist Dole plc in recruiting and retaining
individuals with ability and initiative by enabling such individuals to participate in the
future success of Dole plc and aligning their interests with interests of Dole plc and the
interests of the shareholders of Dole plc. Having regard to the generally acknowledged
benefit of long-term equity incentive awards Dole plc will adopt the 2021 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan, which will be effective upon Completion and will
provide for a broad range of award types that may be granted under the terms of the
plan. A description of the plan is set out in paragraph 10 of Part 10 (4dditional
Information) of this Scheme Circular.

Indemnification rights in favour of each of the former and present directors and officers
will be included in Dole plc’s Articles of Association. Effective on Completion, Dole
plc will put in place agreements with each of our directors that provide, in general, that
Dole plc and its subsidiaries will indemnify them to the fullest extent permitted by law
in connection with their service to Dole plc.

() Changes to the remuneration of Directors on Completion

Taking into account the additional responsibilities arising from the Transaction and the IPO, the
Compensation Committee retained the services in 2021 of FW Cook, an independent executive
compensation consulting firm, to review and advise on the Group’s post-IPO executive
compensation program, including the competitiveness of the Group’s executive compensation
programs relative to comparable companies. FW Cook provided the Compensation Committee
with relevant market data relating to each Executive Director’s position at Dole plc.

(i)

Following the compensation review by the Compensation Committee and the
information gathered by and advice received from FW Cook, the Compensation
Committee intends to vary the annual compensation and benefits provided to our
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Executive Directors effective upon Completion, as shown in the table below. Annual
bonus payments will be determined based on the achievement of certain performance
budgetary goals and annual equity awards will be granted under the new Dole plc 2021
Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. No increase in Fixed Salary will take place

upon the completion of the IPO for any Executive Director.

Name Fixed Salary ($) Target Annual Annual Target
Incentive Equity Award (%
Opportunity (% of | of Fixed Salary) ($)
Fixed Salary) ()
Carl McCann 950,000 (70%)665,000 (10090)950,000
Rory Byrne 900,000 (100%)900,000 (150%)1,350,000
Johan Lindén 800,000 (100%)800,000 (100%0)800,000
Frank Davis 600,000 (100%)600,000 (100%0)600,000

(i)

On a domestic currency basis, the Fixed Salaries in the table above reflect no increase
from 2020 Fixed Salaries.

Following the compensation review by the Compensation Committee and the
information gathered by and advice received from FW Cook, the Compensation
Committee approved certain awards, which the Compensation Committee of Dole plc
will grant under the new Dole plc 2021 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. These
grants to our Executive Directors will consist of both stock options and restricted stock
units and in the amounts set forth in the table below.

Name

Restricted
Stock Units

®

Ordinary
Shares
Underlying
Options ($)

Exercise
Price Per
Ordinary

Grant Date

Expiration
Date (if
applicable)

Carl McCann

475,000

475,000

IPO price

Completion
Date

10 years for
Options

Rory Byrne

675,000

675,000

IPO price

Completion
Date

10 years for
Options

Johan
Lindén

400,000

400,000

IPO price

Completion
Date

10 years for
Options

Frank Davis

300,000

300,000

IPO price

Completion
Date

10 years for
Options

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Additionally, it is contemplated that one-time awards will be granted to our Executive
Directors in connection with the Transactions. These grants will be effective upon the
IPO date and may include cash-based awards and shares-based awards. The precise
breakdown between cash and share portions will be determined by the Compensation
Committee and the Board prior to the IPO date.

Having taken into account the information gathered from the compensation review and
the advice received from FW Cook, we intend to vary the annual compensation and
benefits provided to our non-executive directors upon Completion in substitution for
their existing compensation as directors of Total Produce. Specifically, it is intended
that non-executive director of the Dole plc board of directors will be entitled to receive
an annual cash retainer of $85,000 and an annual award of restricted stock units with
a grant date value of $85,000. In addition, each committee chair will receive an annual
cash retainer of $10,000.

Save as disclosed above the total emoluments receivable by the directors of Total
Produce will not be varied automatically as a consequence of the Transaction.
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Taxation

This is a summary of the material Irish and UK tax considerations for Irish Holders (as defined below)
and UK Holders (as defined below) respectively in respect of the receipt of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc
under the Scheme based on Irish and UK taxation laws and our understanding of the practices of the
Revenue Commissioners of Ireland and HM Revenue & Customs currently in force in Ireland and the
UK and may be subject to change. It deals with Irish Holders and UK Holders who beneficially own their
Total Produce ordinary shares as an investment. The below summary is intended as a general guide and
particular rules not discussed below may apply to certain classes of taxpayers holding Total Produce
ordinary shares, such as dealers in securities, collective investment schemes, insurance companies, trusts,
persons who hold more than 5 per cent of the share capital or voting rights of Total Produce, persons
who have acquired Total Produce ordinary shares by reason of their, or another’s employment, etc. Total
Produce Shareholders should consult their professional advisers on the tax implications of the
Scheme under the laws of their country of residence, citizenship or domicile. If you are in doubt as
to your tax position or are subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than Ireland or the UK, you should
consult an appropriate professional adviser without delay.

E] Irish Taxation for Total Produce Shareholders

This summary applies to holders of Total Produce ordinary shares that (a) beneficially own Total Produce
Shares; and (i) in the case of individual holders, are resident, ordinarily resident and domiciled in Ireland
for the purposes of Irish tax law; or (ii) in the case of holders that are companies, are resident in Ireland
for the purposes of Irish tax law; and (b) are not considered resident in any country other than Ireland for
the purposes of any double taxation agreement entered into by Ireland (“Irish Holders”).

0] Taxation of Chargeable Gains

For the purposes of Irish taxation of capital gains and corporation tax on chargeable
gains (as appropriate) (“Irish CGT”):

(A) the receipt of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc in exchange for Total Produce
ordinary shares pursuant to the Scheme should not be treated as a disposal of
Total Produce ordinary shares but instead the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc
should be treated as the same asset, acquired at the same time and for the same
consideration, as the holding of Total Produce ordinary shares held by that
Irish Holder immediately prior to the Scheme;

(B) the sale, on behalf of relevant Irish Holders, of fractional entitlements may
constitute a part disposal for CGT purposes and a liability to CGT may arise.
However, where the relevant amount involved is small and the Irish Holder
agrees, the amount of any payment received by the Irish Holder may be
deducted from the base cost of the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc received
pursuant to the Scheme; and

© a subsequent disposal of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may, depending on an
Irish Holder’s circumstances (including the availability of exemptions and
reliefs) give rise to a chargeable gain or allowable loss.

(i) Stamp duty

No Irish stamp duty should be payable by Total Produce Shareholders on the exchange
of the Total Produce ordinary shares or the issue of the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc.

After the IPO, transfers of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc effected by means of the transfer of book-entry
interests in DTC will not be subject to Irish stamp duty. However, if you hold Ordinary Shares in Dole
plc directly rather than beneficially through DTC, any transfer of such Ordinary Shares in Dole plc could
be subject to Irish stamp duty (currently at the rate of 1% of the higher of the price paid or the market
value of the shares acquired). Payment of Irish stamp duty is generally a legal obligation of the transferee.
The potential for stamp duty could adversely affect the price of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc which are
held directly rather than beneficially through DTC.
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() UK Taxation for Total Produce Shareholders

This summary applies to holders of Total Produce ordinary shares that (a) beneficially own Total Produce
Shares; and (i) in the case of individual holders, are resident and domiciled in the UK for the purposes
of UK tax law; or (ii) in the case of holders that are companies, are resident in UK for the purposes of
UK tax law; and (b) are not considered resident in any country other than the UK for the purposes of any
double taxation agreement entered into by the UK (“UK Holders”).

(M Taxation of Income

The Scheme should not be treated as involving a distribution subject to UK tax as
income.

(ii) Taxation of Chargeable Gains

The Scheme should be treated as a scheme of reconstruction for the purposes of UK taxation of
chargeable gains. Accordingly, a UK Holder owning 5 per cent or less of the issued share capital
of Total Produce who receives Ordinary Shares in Dole plc pursuant to the Scheme should be
treated as not having made a disposal of Total Produce Shares. Instead, “roll over” treatment
should apply, which means that the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc should be treated as the same
asset as the Total Produce Shares in respect of which they are issued and treated as acquired at
the same time as those Total Produce Shares, and for the same acquisition cost.

A subsequent disposal of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc may, depending on the UK Holder’s
circumstances, give rise to a liability to UK taxation of chargeable gains.

The sale, on behalf of relevant UK Holders, of fractional entitlements may constitute a part
disposal for purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains and a liability to Capital Gains Tax or
corporation tax on chargeable gains may arise. However, where the relevant amount is small as
compared with the value of the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc held by the UK Holder, the amount
of any payment received by the UK Holder should be deducted from the base cost of the
Ordinary Shares in Dole plc received pursuant to the Scheme.

(iii) Transactions in Securities

Although no application for clearance has been made to HM Revenue & Customs under
section 701 of the Income Tax Act 2007 in respect of the Scheme, UK Holders should not be
subject to a counteracting tax assessment under the transactions in securities rules in sections
682 et seq. of the Income Tax Act 2007 by reference to the Scheme.

(iv) Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”)

No UK stamp duty or SDRT should be payable by UK Holders on the issue of the Ordinary
Shares in Dole plc or the cancellation of the Total Produce Shares.

Any holder of Total Produce Shares who has any doubt about his own taxation position or who is subject
to taxation in any jurisdiction other than Ireland or the UK is strongly recommended to consult his or her
independent professional adviser immediately.

110 Cancellation of Listings and last day of dealings

As part of the implementation of the Scheme and the Transaction an application will made to the Euronext Dublin
and the London Stock Exchange to cancel the admission of the Total Produce Shares to trading on Euronext
Growth and AIM respectively. The last day of dealings in Total Produce Shares on Euronext Growth and AIM is
currently expected to be the earlier of two days prior to the Completion Date or the last trading day immediately
prior to the Completion Date.

Following the Completion Date, it is intended that Total Produce will be re-registered as a private company limited
by shares. No transfers of Total Produce Shares (other than transfers to Dole plc) will be registered after the
Completion Date. At the Completion Date, any share certificates in respect of Total Produce Shares will cease to
be of value and should, if so requested by Total Produce or its agents, be sent to Total Produce for cancellation.
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11. Certain Effects of the Scheme

If the Scheme becomes effective, Total Produce will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Dole plc and, as such,
Total Produce Shareholders will not have an opportunity to continue their direct equity interest in Total Produce
as an ongoing company.

12. Overseas shareholders

As regards persons resident in, or citizens of, jurisdictions outside Ireland or the United Kingdom (“overseas
shareholders™), the Transaction may be affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdictions. Such overseas
shareholders should inform themselves about and observe any applicable legal requirements. It is the
responsibility of overseas shareholders to satisfy themselves as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant
jurisdiction in connection therewith, including the obtaining of any governmental, exchange control or other
consents which may be required, or the compliance with other necessary formalities which are required to be
observed and the payment of any issue, transfer or other taxes due in such jurisdiction.

This recommended Transaction by way of a scheme of arrangement under the Act is being proposed for securities
of an Irish company, and non-Irish investors should be aware that this Scheme Circular has been prepared for the
purposes of complying with Irish law and the Euronext Growth Rules and the AIM Rules (to the extent applicable)
and the information disclosed as well as the format and style of this Scheme Circular, may be different from that
which would have been the case if this Scheme Circular had been prepared in accordance with the laws of the
jurisdictions outside Ireland. In particular, this Scheme Circular contains information concerning the transaction
required by Irish disclosure requirements which may be material and which have not been summarised elsewhere
in this Scheme Circular.

Overseas shareholders are advised to consult their own tax advisers with respect to the application of taxation
laws to their particular circumstances in relation to the Transaction.

13 Action to be taken

It is important that as many votes as possible are cast at the Scheme Meeting so that the High Court may be
satisfied that there was at such Scheme Meeting a fair representation of Total Produce Shareholders’ opinion. You
are therefore encouraged to sign and return the enclosed Forms of Proxy as soon as possible and in any event so
as to be received by the Company’s Registrars, Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited, at PO Box
13030, Dublin 24, Ireland (if delivered by post) or at 3100 Lake Drive, Citywest Business Campus, Dublin 24,
D24 AK82, Ireland (if delivered by hand) no later than 11.00 a.m. and 11.15 a.m., respectively, on 15 June 2021.

If you hold your Total Produce Shares in your own name, the completion and return of a Form of Proxy either for
the relevant Scheme Meeting or for the EGM will not prevent you from accessing and voting at either meeting (or
any adjournment thereof) remotely if you wish to do so. If you wish to amend or revoke your Forms of Proxy
after you have returned them to the Company’s Registrars, you should contact the Company’s Registrars at the
address given above.

As set out in the opening pages of this Scheme Circular and in Part 12 (Notice of Scheme Meeting) and Part 13
(Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting of Total Produce plc), Total Produce Shareholders and other attendees
may be restricted by the prevailing COVID-19 restrictions from attending the Scheme Meeting and the EGM in
person, but can remotely attend, speak, ask questions and vote at the Scheme Meeting or the EGM via the Virtual
Meeting Platform and related teleconference facility, as described in the opening pages of this Scheme Circular
and the Virtual Meeting Guide.

If you are a holder of Total Produce Options, unless you hold other Total Produce Shares in your own name, you
will not be entitled to attend any of the Meetings.

14. Voting electronically

If you are a certificated shareholder you may submit your Forms of Proxy via the internet by accessing the
Company’s Registrars’ website www.eproxyappointment.com. To appoint a proxy on this website shareholders
need to enter a Control Number, a Shareholder Reference Number (SRN), and PIN and agree to the terms and
conditions specified by the Company’s Registrar. The Control Number, the Shareholder Reference Number (SRN)
and PIN can be found on the top of the Form of Proxy.
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If you are a CDI Holder, you will be required to make use of the EUI proxy voting service facilitated by Broadridge
Global Proxy Voting service. To participate in this proxy voting service, you will need to complete the Meetings
and Voting Client Set-up Form (CRT408). Once CDI Holders have access to the Broadridge platform, they can
complete and submit proxy appointments (including voting instructions) electronically. Broadridge will process
and deliver proxy voting instructions received from CDI Holders by the Broadridge voting deadline date to
Euroclear Bank, by their cut-off and to agreed market requirements.

Shareholders who hold their interests in the Company’s ordinary shares through a participant account in the
Euroclear System can submit proxy appointments (including voting instructions) electronically in the manner
described in the document issued by Euroclear Bank in February 2021 and entitled “Euroclear Bank as issuer CSD
for Irish corporate securities”.

If you have any queries regarding electronic voting, please contact the Company’s Registrars, Computershare
Investor Services (lreland) Limited, on +353 1 447 5527 between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. Monday to Friday
(other than bank holidays in Ireland). For legal reasons, the Company’s Registrars will not be able to provide
advice on the merits of the Transaction itself or give legal, financial or tax advice.

15. Further information
Your attention is drawn to the Conditions and Further Terms of the Scheme and the Transaction set out in Part 5

(Conditions to and further terms of the Scheme and the Transaction) of this Scheme Circular all of which form
part of this Scheme Circular.
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Part 4

THE SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT

THE HIGH COURT
IN THE MATTER OF TOTAL PRODUCE PLC AND IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2014
SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT (UNDER CHAPTER 1, PART 9 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2014)
BETWEEN TOTAL PRODUCE PLC AND
THE HOLDERS OF THE TOTAL PRODUCE SHARES (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED)
PRELIMINARY

(A) In this Scheme, unless inconsistent with the subject or context, the following expressions bear the
following meanings:

“Act”
“AIM”

“AIM Rules”

“Amended Constitution”

“Ancillary Agreements”

“Belgian Law Rights”

“Board”

“Business Day”

“Company’s Registrars”

“Completion”

“Completion Date”

“Conditions”

“Consideration Shares”

“Court Order”

the Companies Act 2014, as amended;
the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange plc;

the AIM Rules published by the London Stock Exchange plc as in force
from time to time;

the Constitution of Total Produce plc as amended at the EGM,;

the Registration Rights Agreement, the Expense Reimbursement
Agreement, the Trademark License Extension and all other
agreements, certificates and instruments executed and delivered in
connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction
Agreement;

the rights governed by Belgian Law that EB Participants have in respect
of securities held in the Euroclear System;

the board of directors of Total Produce;

any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Dublin,
London or New York;

Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited,;

completion of the Share Exchange, effectiveness of the Merger and
completion of the IPO;

the date on which Completion take place;

the conditions to the Scheme and the Transaction set out in Part5
(Conditions to and further terms of the Scheme and the Transaction) of
the Scheme Circular, and “Condition” means any one of the
Conditions;

the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc to be issued as part of the Share
Exchange in accordance with the Exchange Ratio;

the order or orders of the High Court sanctioning the Scheme under
Chapter 1, Part 9 of the Act;
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“CREST”

“CREST Regulations”

“Delistings”

“Dole plc”

“Dole plc’s Articles of Association”

“DTC”

“DTC Rules”

“EB Operating Procedures”

“EB Participants”

“EUI”

“euron or “ea’

“Euroclear System”

“Exchange Ratio”

“Extraordinary General Meeting”
or “EGM”

“Forms of Proxy”

“Governmental Body”

the relevant system (as defined in the CREST Regulations) in respect
of which EUI is the Operator (as defined in the CREST Regulations);

the UK Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001/3755) as
amended from time to time;

the cancellation of the listings of the Company’s shares on Euronext
Growth and AIM;

Dole plc, a public limited liability company incorporated in Ireland
with registered number 606201, having its registered office at 29 North
Anne Street, Dublin 7, Dublin, D07 PH36, Ireland;

the articles of association of Dole plc as in effect at the completion of
the Transaction;

The Depositary Trust Company;

the rules and procedures of DTC, including, but not limited to, the
Rules, By-Laws and Organization Certificate of DTC and the DTC
Settlement Service Guide (as amended from time to time);

the Operating Procedures of the Euroclear System as published and
amended by Euroclear Bank SA/NV from time to time;

participants in Euroclear Bank, each of which has entered into an
agreement to participate in the Euroclear System subject to the
Euroclear Terms and Conditions;

Euroclear UK & Ireland, Limited;

the currency unit of participating member states of the European Union
as defined in Recital (2) of Council Regulation 974/98/EC on the
introduction of the euro;

the securities settlement system operated by Euroclear Bank and
governed by Belgian law;

one share in Dole plc for every seven Total Produce Shares or such
other ratio as the Board of Total Produce may resolve to apply for the
purpose of effecting the Share Exchange;

the extraordinary general meeting of the Total Produce Shareholders
(and any adjournment thereof) to be convened in connection with the
Scheme, expected to be held as soon as the preceding Scheme Meeting
shall have been concluded or adjourned (it being understood that if the
Scheme Meeting is adjourned, the EGM shall be correspondingly
adjourned);

the YELLOW form of proxy for the Scheme Meeting and the WHITE
form of proxy for the EGM, as the context may require;

any lIrish, UK or other foreign national or supranational, federal, state,
local or other governmental or regulatory authority, agency,
commission, board, body, bureau, arbitrator, arbitration panel, or other
authority in any jurisdiction, including courts and other judicial bodies,
or any competition, antitrust, foreign investment review or supervisory
body, central bank or other governmental, trade or regulatory agency
or body, securities exchange, stock exchange or any self-regulatory
body or authority, including any instrumentality or entity designed to
act for or on behalf of the foregoing, in each case, in any jurisdiction
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“High Court” or “Court”

“Holder”

CEIPO”

“IPO Registration Statement”

“Latest Practicable Date”

tE)

“Law

“Members”

“Merger”

“Option Cash Settlement Facility”

“Ordinary Shares in Dole plc”

“Outside Date”

“Receiving Agent”

“Register of Members”

“Registrar of Companies’

“Restricted Jurisdiction”

(provided it has jurisdiction over the applicable person or its activities
or property) and including any Tax Authority;

the High Court of Ireland;

in relation to any Total Produce Share, the Member whose name is
entered in the Register of Members as the holder of the share, and “Joint
Holders” shall mean the Members whose names are entered in the
Register of Members as the joint holders of the share, and includes
any person(s) entitled by transmission;

the initial public offering to be undertaken by Dole plc in accordance
with the Transaction Agreement;

a registration statement on Form F-1 (or such other form as the Steering
Committee may deem appropriate) with respect to the offer and sale of
Ordinary Shares in Dole plc in respect of the IPO;

16 May 2021, being the latest practicable date prior to printing and
publication of this Scheme Circular;

any applicable national, federal, state, local, municipal, foreign,
supranational or other law, statute, constitution, principle of common
law, resolution, ordinance, code, agency requirement, licence, permit,
edict, binding directive, decree, rule, regulation, judgment, order,
injunction, ruling or requirement issued, enacted, adopted,
promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the
authority of any Governmental Body;

members of Total Produce on its Register of Members at any relevant
date (and each a “Member”);

has the same meaning as defined in the Transaction Agreement;

has the same meaning as in Section 8 (Total Produce Share Options)
of Part1 (Letter from the Chair of Total Produce) of the Scheme
Circular;

the ordinary shares with a nominal value of US$0.01 each in the capital
of Dole plc;

15 November 2021 or such later date as the C&C Shareholders and
Total Produce may agree and, if applicable, the High Court may allow;

such agent as the Company may appoint from time to time with
responsibility for assisting the Company in (inter alia) the calculation
of the Consideration Shares and liaison with the Transfer Agent for the
settlement of the Share Exchange and the Merger;

the register of members maintained by Total Produce pursuant to the
Act;

the Registrar of Companies in Dublin, Ireland as defined in Section 2
of the Act;

any jurisdiction in relation to which Total Produce is advised that the
release, publication or distribution of the Scheme Circular or the related
Forms of Proxy or the issue of the Consideration Shares, would or
might infringe the laws of that jurisdiction or would or might require
compliance with any governmental or other consent or any registration,
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“Restricted Overseas
Shareholder”

“Scheme” or “Scheme of
Arrangement”

“Scheme Circular”

“Scheme Meeting”

“Scheme Meeting Resolution”

G‘SEC”
“Security Entitlement”

“Scheme Shareholder”

“Share Exchange”

“subsidiary” or “subsidiaries”

“Trademark License Extension”

“Transfer Agent”

filing or other formality that Total Produce is unable to comply with or
regards as unduly onerous to comply with;

any Total Produce Shareholder (including an individual, partnership,
unincorporated syndicate, limited liability company, unincorporated
organization, trust, trustee, executor, administrator or other legal
representative) in, or resident in, or any Total Produce Shareholder
whom Total Produce believes to be in, or resident in, a Restricted
Jurisdiction;

this proposed scheme of arrangement under Chapter 1 of Part 9 of the
Act to effect the acquisition of all Total Produce Shares under the terms
of the Transaction Agreement, on the terms (including the Conditions)
and for the issue of the Consideration Shares set out in the
Announcement and the Scheme Circular and on such other terms as the
Parties mutually agree in writing, including any revision of the scheme
of arrangement as may be so agreed between the Parties and, if
required, by the High Court;

the document dated 19 May 2021 sent by Total Produce to Total
Produce Shareholders (and for information only, to the holders of Total
Produce Options) of which this Scheme forms part;

the meeting of Total Produce Shareholders convened by order of the
High Court pursuant to Chapter 1, Part 9 of the Act to consider and, if
thought fit, approve the Scheme, including any adjournment thereof;

the resolution to be considered and voted on at the Scheme Meeting
proposing the Scheme, with or without amendment (but subject to such
amendment being acceptable to each of Total Produce and Dole plc,
except for a technical or procedural amendment which is required for
the proper implementation of the Scheme and does not have a
substantive consequence on the implementation of the Scheme);

the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission;
has the same meaning as in the DTC Rules;

a Holder of Total Produce Shares immediately prior to the Completion
Date;

the acquisition by Dole plc of 100% of the issued share capital of Total
Produce in exchange for issuing shares in itself to the Total Produce
Shareholders such that immediately after the Merger and immediately
prior to the IPO the Total Produce Shareholders will be holders of
82.5% of Dole plc’s share capital (rounded to the nearest whole share)
on a fully diluted basis;

has the same meaning as in Section 7 of the Act;

a seventh amendment to the trademark license agreement, dated as of
7 December 1995, by and between Dole and Castle (as amended from
time to time, the “Trademark License Agreement”), pursuant to which
Dole and Castle will agree to extend the term of the Trademark License
Agreement until the 15-year anniversary of the date of Completion
(unless sooner terminated in accordance with its terms);

Computershare Trust Company N.A. as appointed by Dole plc to
maintain the register of Ordinary Shares in Dole plc;
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“Tax Authority”

“Total Produce” or the “Company”

“Total Produce APSS”

“Total Produce Employees’ Share
Trust”

“Total Produce Option Holders”

“Total Produce Option”

“Total Produce Shareholders”

“Total Produce Share Plans”

“Total Produce SIP”

“Total Produce Shares”

“Transaction Agreement”

any Governmental Body responsible for the assessment, collection or
enforcement of laws relating to taxes or for making any decision or
ruling on any matter relating to tax;

Total Produce plc, a company incorporated in Ireland with registered
number 427687 and having its registered address at 29 North Anne
Street, Dublin 7, DO7 PH36, Ireland;

the Total Produce Employee Profit Sharing Scheme constituted by a
trust deed dated 2 October 2007 and entered into by the Company and
Computershare Trustees (Ireland) Limited;

the trust constituted by the trust deed dated 5 December 2007 and
entered into by the Company and Lloyds TSB Offshore Trust Company
Limited;

the holders of Total Produce Options;

any subsisting options granted under the 2007 Total Produce Share
Option Plan;

the holders of Total Produce Shares;

the Total Produce APSS, the Total Produce STIP and the Total Produce
SIP;

the Total Produce Share Incentive Plan constituted by a trust deed dated
15 February 2008 and entered into by the Company and Computershare
Trustees Limited;

the ordinary shares of €0.01 each in the capital of Total Produce;

the transaction agreement entered into on 16 February 2021 Agreement
and as amended on 23 April 2021 (and from time to time thereafter)
between Total Produce, TP USA, TP-Dole Merger Sub, LLC, Dole plc,
DFC Holdings and the C&C Parties in relation to the implementation
of the Scheme and the Transaction; and

“Transaction” the implementation of the Share Exchange, the Merger and the IPO,
each as defined in the Transaction Agreement.
(A) The authorised share capital of Total Produce at the date of this Scheme is €10,000,000 divided into

(B)

1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.01 each. As of the Latest Practicable Date, 388,999,681 Total
Produce Shares in the share capital of Total Produce have been issued and are credited as fully paid
and the remainder are unissued.

Dole plc was incorporated and registered in Ireland on 16 June 2017 under the Companies Act 2014
as a private company limited by shares under the name “Pearmill Limited” with registered number
606201. Its name changed to Dole Limited pursuant to a special resolution passed on 2 April 2021
and it was re-registered as a public company on 26 April 2021. Pursuant to Dole plc’s Articles of
Association the authorised share capital of Dole plc will be US$3,300,000 divided into 300,000,000
Ordinary Shares with a nominal value of US$0.01 each and 300,000,000 Preferred Shares with a
nominal value of US$0.001 each and €25,000 divided into 25,000 euro shares with a nominal value
of €1.00 each. As of the date of this Scheme Circular, the issued share capital of Dole plc consists
of 25,000 euro shares of €1.00 each.
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(©)

(D)

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide for the adoption of a mandatory share exchange
arrangement so that Dole plc can acquire the entire issued share capital of Total Produce plc in
exchange for the issue of new shares in Dole plc to Total Produce Shareholders.

As a party to the Transaction Agreement, Dole plc has undertaken to be bound by this Scheme and
to execute and do or procure to be executed and done all such documents, acts and things as may be
necessary or desirable to be executed or done by it for the purpose of giving effect to this Scheme.

THE SCHEME

Before Dole plc can undertake the Merger and the IPO, it must first become the holder of the entire issued
share capital of Total Produce. This will be made possible by the approval and adoption of the following
arrangements between Total Produce, Total Produce Shareholders and Dole plc:

Mandatory share exchange arrangement so that Dole plc can acquire the entire issued share
capital of Total Produce in exchange for the issue of new shares in Dole plc

()

()

All of the Total Produce Shares (including the legal and beneficial interest therein) shall in
accordance with the terms of the Transaction Agreement and the Amended Constitution be
transferred to Dole plc fully paid up and free from all options, liens, charges, encumbrances and
other rights of pre-emption and any other third party rights and interests and together with all
rights at the Completion Date or thereafter attached thereto, including voting rights and the right
to receive and retain all dividends and other distributions (if any) and any return of capital
(whether by reduction of share capital or share premium account or otherwise) announced,
declared, made or paid in respect of all Total Produce Shares by reference to a record date on
or after the Completion Date.

For such purposes, all Total Produce Shares shall be transferred to Dole plc and such transfer
shall be effected by means of a form of transfer or other instrument or instruction of transfer
and to give effect to such transfer(s) any person may be appointed by the Board as attorney
and/or agent and/or otherwise and shall be authorised as such attorney and/or agent and/or
otherwise to execute and deliver as transferor a form of transfer or other instrument or
instruction of transfer (whether as a deed or otherwise) of, or give any instruction to transfer or
procure the transfer of such Total Produce Shares and every form, instrument or instruction of
transfer so executed shall be as effective as if it had been executed or given by the holder or
holders of all Total Produce Shares thereby transferred.

The Company be and is hereby authorised and instructed to:

0] take any and all actions which the Board (or a committee thereof), in their absolute
discretion, consider necessary or desirable to implement the Share Exchange and/or
the matters in connection with the Share Exchange referred to in the Scheme Circular
(including the procedures and processes described in the EB Operating Procedures and
the DTC Rules);

(i) appoint any persons as attorney or agent for the holders of all Total Produce Shares to
do any and all things, including the execution and delivery of all such documents
and/or instructions as may, in the opinion of the attorney or agent, be necessary or
desirable to implement the Share Exchange and/or the matters in connection with the
Share Exchange referred to in the Scheme Circular (including the procedures and
processes described in the EB Operating Procedures (as amended from time to time));

(iii) instruct Euroclear Bank and/or Euroclear Nominees to effect the transfer to Dole plc
of the Total Produce Shares registered in the name of Euroclear Nominees and cancel
the Belgian Law Rights representing such Total Produce Shares;

(iv) instruct the Company’s Registrars to effect the transfer to Dole plc of all Total Produce
Shares;
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(V) take any action necessary or desirable to enable the issuance of Ordinary Shares in
Dole plc to (i) holders of Total Produce Shares in certificated form by book entry
registration in the records of Dole plc and (ii) Cede & Co., as the nominee for DTC,
for the subsequent creation by the DTC of Security Entitlements in respect of certain
Ordinary Shares in Dole plc in favour of the relevant holders of Total Produce Shares
on the Completion Date, including any action deemed necessary or desirable in order
to deliver such Security Entitlements to Euroclear Bank, EUI and/or any other relevant
entity pursuant to the terms of the DTC Rules or otherwise; and

(vi) authorise the release by the Company’s Registrars, the Secretary of the Company,
Euroclear Bank and/or EUI of such personal data of a holder of Total Produce Shares
to the extent required to effect the Share Exchange and to create the relevant (i) book
entries in the records Dole plc and (ii) Security Entitlements in respect of shares in
Dole plc in favour of the relevant holders of Total Produce Shares on the Completion
Date.

Consideration for the mandatory share exchange so that Dole plc can acquire the entire issued
share capital of Total Produce in exchange for the issue of new shares in Dole plc

(u) In consideration for the transfer of all Total Produce Shares pursuant to Clause 1 of this Scheme,
Dole plc will issue and allot one Ordinary Share in Dole plc (or such other number of Ordinary
Shares in Dole plc as shall have been selected by the Total Produce Board) for every seven Total
Produce Shares transferred to Dole plc to (i) holders of Total Produce Shares in registered form
(represented by share certificate(s)) by book entries in the records of Dole plc or (ii) Cede &
Co, as nominee for DTC, for inclusion in the centralized depositary and clearing system of DTC,
and ultimately, directly or indirectly, on behalf of and for the benefit of the Total Produce
Shareholders on the Completion Date, as appropriate.

] On the Completion Date, the Consideration Shares shall be allotted and issued credited as fully
paid and free from all liens, charges, encumbrances, rights of pre-emption and any other third
party rights of any nature whatsoever.

() Dole plc be and is hereby authorised and instructed to:

0] take any and all actions which the Board of Total Produce (or a committee thereof), in
their absolute discretion, consider necessary or desirable to implement the Share
Exchange and/or the matters in connection with the Share Exchange referred to in the
Scheme Circular (including the procedures and processes described in the DTC Rules
(as amended from time to time));

(i) take any action necessary or desirable to enable DTC to hold the interests in the
relevant Ordinary Shares in Dole plc referred to in sub-paragraph (i) above on trust
pursuant to the terms of the DTC Rules or otherwise and for the benefit of the holders
of all Total Produce Shares on the Completion Date;

(iii) take any action necessary or desirable to enable the issuance of Security Entitlements
by the DTC to the relevant holders of all Total Produce Shares, including any action
deemed necessary or desirable in order to deliver such Security Entitlements to
Euroclear Bank, EUI and/or any other relevant entity on behalf of the relevant holders
of all Total Produce Shares on the Completion Date pursuant to the terms of the DTC
Rules or otherwise; and

(iv) authorise the release by the Company’s Registrars, the Secretary of the Company,
Euroclear Bank and/or EUI of such personal data of a holder of Total Produce Shares
to the extent required to effect the Share Exchange and create the relevant (i) book
entries in the records of Dole plc and (ii) Security Entitlements.
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Settlement of Consideration Shares

(a)

Where, at the Completion Date, a Total Produce Shareholder holds Total Produce Shares in
certificated form, settlement of any Consideration Shares will be as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Total Produce Shareholders who hold their Total Produce Shares in certificated form
will be mandatorily entered into the book entry records maintained by Dole plc and the
Transfer Agent will record such Consideration Shares in the book entry records of Dole
plc.

Total Produce Shareholders who hold their Total Produce Shares in certificated form
and have a registered address in a Restricted Jurisdiction will have their Consideration
Shares sold and the proceeds net of dealing costs or foreign exchange remitted to them
by cheque in US Dollars.

Where, at the Completion Date, a Total Produce Shareholder holds Total Produce
Shares via Euroclear Bank in the form of Belgian Law Rights, the Consideration
Shares to which such Total Produce Shareholder is entitled will, except as specified
below, be allotted and issued to Cede & Co and Security Entitlements deposited in
DTC to Euroclear Bank’s nominated DTC participant account for the benefit of the
persons entitled thereto.

Where, at the Completion Date, a Total Produce Shareholder holds Total Produce
Shares via CREST in the form of CDIs, the Consideration Shares to which such Total
Produce Shareholder is entitled will, except as specified below, be allotted and issued
to Cede & Co and Security Entitlements deposited in DTC to Euroclear Bank’s
nominated DTC participant account (as the current custodian for EUI) for the benefit
of the persons entitled thereto.

On Completion, each holding of Total Produce Shares credited to any stock account in
Euroclear Bank shall be disabled and all such Total Produce Shares will be removed
from Euroclear Bank in due course.

On Completion, each holding of CDIs representing Total Produce Shares credited to
any stock account in CREST shall be disabled and all such CDIs will be removed from
CREST in due course.

No fractional entitlement of a Consideration Share shall be allotted to any Total
Produce Shareholder but all fractions of Consideration Shares to which a Total Produce
Shareholder would otherwise be entitled will be aggregated and sold in the market by
the Receiving Agent or Transfer Agent on behalf of Dole plc with any sale proceeds
being donated to UNICEF.

All despatches of cheques required to be made pursuant to this Scheme shall be
effected by sending the same through the post in prepaid envelopes addressed to
the persons entitled thereto at their respective registered addresses as appearing in the
Register of Members of Total Produce immediately prior to Completion (or, in the case
of joint holders, at the registered address as appearing in the said register at such time
of that one of the joint holders whose name then stands first in the said register in
respect of such joint holding) or in accordance with any special instructions regarding
communications, and neither Total Produce nor Dole plc nor their agents shall be
responsible for any loss or delay in the transmission of any cheques sent in accordance
with this sub-clause, which shall be sent entirely at the risk of the persons entitled
thereto.

None of the Company, Dole plc, their respective agents and nominees shall be
responsible for any loss or delay in the transmission of any notice, book entry advices,
or cheques sent to Total Produce Shareholders which shall be sent entirely at the risk
of the Total Produce Shareholder concerned.
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(x) The provisions of this Clause 3 shall take effect subject to any condition or prohibition
imposed by law.

Certificates for Total Produce Shares
With effect from the Completion Date:

(u) all certificates representing Total Produce Shares shall cease to have effect as documents of title
to the shares comprised therein and every holder thereof shall be bound at the request of Total
Produce to deliver up such certificate(s) to Total Produce or as it may direct; and

)] the Company shall make, or procure to be made, the appropriate entries in its Register of
Members to reflect the transfer of all Total Produce Shares.

Overseas Shareholders

() The provision of Clauses 1, 2, 3 and 4 of this Scheme shall be subject to any prohibition or
condition imposed by law.

(k) Notwithstanding the provisions of Clause (a) of this Scheme, Total Produce retains the right to
permit the release, publication or distribution of the Scheme Circular (or any part or parts
thereof) and/or the Forms of Proxy to any Restricted Overseas Shareholder who satisfies Total
Produce (in its sole discretion) that doing so will not infringe on the laws of the relevant
Restricted Jurisdiction or require compliance with any governmental or other consent or any
registration, filing or other formality that Total Produce is unable to comply with or which Total
Produce regards as unduly onerous to comply with.

Restricted Jurisdiction and Restricted Overseas Shareholder

E] The provisions of this Scheme shall be subject to any prohibition or condition imposed by law.
Total Produce may in its sole discretion determine that the Consideration Shares will not be
available in any Restricted Jurisdiction and/or that any Restricted Overseas Shareholder will not
be entitled to require that the Consideration Shares be registered in his/her name with an address
in such jurisdiction.

)] Notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 3(a) of this Scheme, Total Produce Shareholders who
hold their Total Produce Shares in certificated form and have a registered address in a Restricted
Jurisdiction will have their Consideration Shares sold and the proceeds net of dealing costs
remitted to them, net of any fees or expenses, by cheque in US Dollars.

] Total Produce retains the right to permit the release, publication or distribution of the Scheme
Circular or the Forms of Proxy to any Restricted Overseas Shareholder who satisfies Total
Produce (in its sole discretion) that doing so will not infringe the laws of the relevant Restricted
Jurisdiction or require compliance with any governmental or other consent or any registration,
filing or other formality that Total Produce is unable to comply with or regards as unduly
onerous to comply with.

Mandates

All mandates to the Company in force at Completion relating to all Total Produce Shares shall, as from
the Completion Date, cease to be valid. Email addresses and communication preferences will, to the
extent possible, remain valid.

Effective Date

() This Scheme shall become effective on delivery to, and registration by, the Registrar of
Companies of the Court Order in connection with the Transaction.

(e} Unless the Scheme shall have become effective on or before the Outside Date or such later date
as Total Produce and Dole plc may, with the consent of High Court (if required), agree, it shall
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not proceed and all undertakings given to the Court in respect of the Scheme shall be deemed
to have lapsed with immediate effect.

a, Modification

Total Produce and Dole plc may jointly consent on behalf of all persons concerned to any modification of or
addition to this Scheme or any condition that the Irish High Court may approve or impose.

11 Costs

Total Produce is authorised and permitted to pay all of the costs and expenses relating to the negotiation,
preparation, approval and implementation of this Scheme.

11 Governing Law

This Scheme is governed and construed by the laws of Ireland and Total Produce, Dole plc and the Total Produce
Shareholders hereby agree that the Courts of Ireland shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine any
suit, action or proceeding or to settle any dispute which may arise in relation thereto.

Dated 19 May 2021
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Part 5

CONDITIONS TO AND FURTHER TERMS OF THE SCHEME AND THE TRANSACTION

Conditions to the Scheme

1.

The Scheme is subject to the following conditions:

E)

(b

(d}

as required by section 449(1) of the Act (as amended by section 1087D of the Withdrawal of
the United Kingdom from the European Union (Consequential Provisions) Act 2020) the
resolution to approve the Scheme must be approved by a majority representing at least 75 per
cent in value of the members present and voting either in person or by proxy at the Scheme
Meeting and the quorum for the Scheme Meeting is at least two persons holding or representing
by proxy at least one-third in nominal value of the issued shares in the Company;

the EGM Scheme Resolutions being duly passed by the requisite majority of Total Produce
Shareholders at the EGM (or any adjournment of such meeting) held no later than the Qutside
Date;

the sanction by the High Court (with or without material modification), but subject to any such
modification being acceptable to each of Dole plc and Total Produce, of the Scheme pursuant
to Chapter 1 of Part 9 of the Act on or before the Outside Date; and

a copy of the Court Order being delivered for registration to the Registrar of Companies in
Dublin and registration of the Court Order by the Registrar of Companies.

Conditions to the Transaction

Completion of the Transaction is subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions at or prior
to Completion, any of which may be waived in writing by all Parties in their sole discretion:

(a)

(b

()

The Scheme becoming effective and unconditional by not later than the Outside Date (or such
later date as Total Produce and the C&C Shareholders may agree and (if applicable) the High
Court may allow).

The EGM Scheme Resolutions shall have been approved.

(i) Any applicable waiting period (and any extensions thereof) under the HSR Act shall have
expired, lapsed or been terminated (as appropriate); (ii) to the extent that the Commission has
jurisdiction to examine all or part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the
EUMR or to the extent that all or part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are
referred to the European Commission (the “Commission”) pursuant to Article 4(5) or Article 22
of the EUMR and the Commission obtains jurisdiction under the EUMR to examine the Share
Exchange or the Merger, as the case may be, the issuing by the Commission of a final decision
under Article 6.1(b), Article 6.2, Article 8(1) or Article 8(2) of the EUMR, declaring the Share
Exchange or the Merger, as the case may be, compatible with the common market subject to the
fulfilment of one or more conditions or obligations, if any; and (iii) to the extent that the
Commission has jurisdiction to examine all or part of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement under the EUMR and subsequently all or part of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement are referred by the Commission under Articles 9(1) or 9(5) of the EUMR, or
under Article 6(1) of Protocol 24 of the Transaction on the European Economic Area, to the
Relevant Authority of one or member countries of the European Economic Area, the issuing by
such Relevant Authority or Authorities (in case of a partial referral, in conjunction with a final
decision of the Commission) of a final decision or decisions which satisfy (or together satisfy)
the preceding clause (ii) (that clause being interpreted mutatis mutandis).

No Order binding on the Parties shall be in effect that prohibits, enjoins or makes illegal

Completion or any of the other transactions contemplated by the Transaction Agreement or any
of the Ancillary Agreements.
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(hy

(1}

(k)

The IPO Registration Statement shall have been declared effective by the SEC and shall not be
the subject of any stop order or proceedings seeking any stop order.

The Ordinary Shares in Dole plc shall have been approved for listing on the New York Stock
Exchange.

The IPO Underwriting Agreement (containing the terms set forth or referenced in the definition
of IPO Underwriting Agreement in the Transaction Agreement) shall have been executed by the
Underwriters in the IPO.

The relevant Parties shall have executed and delivered, or shall have caused the applicable
parties thereto to execute and deliver, the Trademark License Extension.

Dole shall have entered into a composition agreement with the Revenue Commissioners of
Ireland and a Special Eligibility Agreement for Securities with The Depository Trust Company
in respect of the Ordinary Shares in Dole plc, both of which shall be in full force and effect.

The IPO achieving a price per Dole plc share such that the 17.5% of Ordinary Shares in Dole
plc to be held by the C&C Shareholders on a fully diluted basis immediately prior to the IPO
have an aggregate value of at least US$215 million (the “Valuation Floor”); and

The C&C Shareholders achieving net proceeds of at least US$50 million in the sale of shares
on a secondary basis in conjunction with the IPO (the “Minimum Secondary”).

The Valuation Floor and Minimum Secondary conditions can be waived by Total Produce and the C&C
Shareholders by mutual consent at any time prior to Completion. The Scheme of Arrangement is being
proposed on the basis that the Share Exchange will be implemented notwithstanding any waiver of the
Valuation Floor and Minimum Secondary conditions.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Total Produce plc:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Total Produce plc and subsidiaries (the Company)
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash
flows, and shareholders’ equity, for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the
related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020,
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated
financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that:
(1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Valuation of goodwill

As discussed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, at 31 December 2020, the Company’s goodwill was
$234.2 million. As discussed in Note 2, goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment, at the reporting unit level.
The Company measured the fair value of goodwill using the income or market approach, or a combination thereof.
We identified the valuation of goodwill as a critical audit matter. Subjective auditor judgement and specialized skills
and knowledge was required in assessing the assumptions used in the valuation models. The valuation of goodwill is
sensitive to differences between estimated and actual cashflows and changes in discount rates. Specifically forecasted
revenue, earnings margin and long-term growth rates were judgmental to test as they are affected by expectations
about future market or economic conditions, which can vary significantly and are dependent on market forces and
events outside of the Company’s control.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter:

e We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in assessing the
appropriateness of the discount rates applied for each reporting unit by comparing the assumptions used to develop
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the discount rates to externally derived data of comparable entities.

e We challenged the reasonableness of the long-term economic growth rate applied for each reporting unit by
comparing the Company’s assumptions to externally derived data, and the reporting units’ historically achieved
growth rates;

e We assessed the Company’s ability to accurately forecast revenues and earnings margin by comparing historical
forecasted revenues and earnings margin for the Company to actual results;

e We performed sensitivity analysis over the Company’s key assumptions used to measure the fair value of goodwill
to assess the impact of changes in those assumptions on the Company’s determination of fair value.

KPMG
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2006.

Dublin, Ireland
28 April 2021
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENES .........cccoviiiieiiciecc e

Trade receivables, net of allowances of $10,122 and $5,661,
FESPECTIVEIY .ot e

Other receivables, net of allowances of $8,448 and $6,312, respectively

INVENTOTIES ...ttt e sre e e sae e re e

Prepaid expenses and other current assets.............cccoceveiviiinnen.n.

Total current assets

Other INVESIMENES ......ccuiiiiiiicie st
Investments in equity method iNVeStMents .........ccccccvevvevv e cccsieceenn,
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of
$160,111 and $131,031, respectively .......ccccccevvvvieveirceiiicicecievene,
GOOAWITL L.t
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $121,721 and
$104,502, reSPECHIVEIY....c.ocviviiiicriricieeic e,
Right of use assets - operating leases
Deferred taX @SSELS......ccviiiieieeiieeie ettt
Other noncurrent receivables ..o

Total assets

December 31, December 31,

2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars and shares in
thousands)

160,503 129,577
361,721 359,596
47,486 54,918
141,179 114,679
19,506 18,780
730,395 677,550
406 3,077
458,557 429,175
219,665 188,578
234,161 221,102
65,634 78,576
140,212 128,961
6,682 4,728
30,090 28,108
1,885,802 1,759,855

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ..........c.cccovvvvevreieiennnn,
Bank oVerdraft ..o
Current maturities of debt and finance leases .........c.ccccevvenennn
Current maturities of operating 1€ases ..........cccccvevrieneniienennnn
Defined benefit plan liability ...........ccooooiiiiiiii,
Income tax payable ...
Short-term contingent consideration ............ccoceovervienensienennns

Total current liabilities

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Long-term debt and finance leases, less current maturities ........
Long-term operating leases, less current maturities ...................
Employee benefits ......cccocvieeiiiie e
Deferred income tax liabilities .........cccccoveveiiiieniiinieeee e
Long-term contingent cONSIderation ...........ccccccvevvirenninennnns
Other noncurrent liabilities .......ccccooviveienine i,

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingent liabilities

(SEE NOLE 25) .o

Redeemable noncontrolling interests .........ccccoevvevvevieevieeieeenenn,
Shareholders' QUILY .......coevieiiee i

Ordinary shares €0.01 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares
authorized, 410,724,962 and 410,524,962 issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December 31,

2019 respectively ..o
Additional paid-in capital ..........ccocooviiriiiiiii
Accumulated retained €arnings .........ccoccovereienieneinieneienenees
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS ........ccccceveevieeieeie e,
Total equity attributable to Total Produce Plc. .........cccccoeevvnene.
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests ............cceevenane.
Total @qUILY ......cccoeiiiiiiii

Total liabilities and equity ...............cccooiviniiiin,

(U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands)

622,717
11,243
20,748
21,910

5,787
2,589
4,912

689,906
314,840
122,225
23,607
22,451
5,786
18,755

1,197,570

30,317

4,865
198,232
460,715

(128,803)
535,009
122,906
657,915

1,885,802

530,013
10,657
86,493
22,250

5,511
2,428
8,862

666,214
282,208
110,736
13,260
16,411
7,805
18,337

1,114,971

30,891

4,863
202,619
418,923

(131,604)
494,801
119,192
613,993

1,759,855

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

REVENUE oottt
COSt OF SAIES ..ot

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses ....

Impairment loss of goodwill .............ccoeoiinenn.
Impairment loss of property, plant and
BAUIPIMENT ...t
(Loss) / gain on disposal of farming investment
REStruCturing eXpense .......cccccvvvveererreerireeenenns
Foreign currency gain from share placing .........

Operating income

INterest iINCOME ......ccvvveierii e
INtErest eXPENSE ......coovvvvviiiiiiireee e
Other (expense)/income, Net ........ccccceveverrrennne.

Income before income taxes and income
from investments accounted for under
the equity method

INCOME taX EXPENSE ..ivvvviiieeriiie e
Equity in net earnings of investments accounted
for under the equity method .......................

Net income

Less net income attributable to noncontrolling
INEEESES oveeieieeeiee e

Net income attributable to Total Produce
Plc.

Net income per ordinary share attributable to
Total Produce Plc. — Basic (in USD cents
PEI SNAIE) ...vvivvicerece e

Net income per ordinary share attributable to
Total Produce Plc. — Diluted (in USD cents
PEF SNAE) ..viviieiiciiee s

Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic
(in thousands) .......coevvvererninenreecens

Weighted average shares outstanding — Diluted
(in thousands) ......cccevererereniiieee e

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year ended
December 31,
2020

Year ended
December 31,
2019

Year ended
December 31,
2018
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(U.S. Dollars in thousands, except share data)

4,345,939
(4,012,348)

333,591

(264,844)

(1,210)

67,537

2,604
(10,523)
(515)

59,103
(18,130)
30,279

71,252
(18,764)

52,488

13.51
13.49

388,560

389,143

4,166,799
(3,864,313)

302,486

(252,679)

(7495
(1,280)

47,778
3,077

(12,042)
3,943

42,756
(10,312)
36,943

69,387
(14,327)

55,060

14.17
14.14

388,478

389,295

4,392,593
(4,067,180)

325,413
(256,227)
(9,811)

17,355
(5,764)
14,771
85,737

4,364

(13,829)
1,057

77,329
(19,854)
363

57,838
(21,224)

36,614

9.59
9.56

381,890

383,147



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Year ended
December 31,
2018

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

NELINCOME ooviieieirie et e 71,252 69,387
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustments ............... 21,876 (5,232)
Remeasurement (loss)/gain on employee

benefit SChemes ... (12,624) (6,265)
Share of unconsolidated affiliates effective

portion of cash flow hedges ...........ccoccoviieincnens (2,705) -
Total other comprehensive income (loss) ........... 6,547 (11,497)
Comprehensive income 77,799 57,890

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to
noncontrolling interests .......c.cccvvvevivevveieviesieesnn, (22,510) (14,120)

Comprehensive income attributable to Total
Produce Plc 55,289 43,770

57,838

(40,091)

10,920

(29,171)

28,667

(17,786)

10,881

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
(U.S. Dollars In thousands)
Operating Activities
NELINCOME .. 71,252 69,387 57,838
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ...........c.c.coeeeeernveeinnccinnnes 36,182 34,409 34,023
Non-cash leasing expense . (78) 2,409 -
Goodwill IMPaIrMENt .......ccooiiiiiiiee e - - 9,811
Property, plant and equipment impairment ............c.cocvveeerininne. 1,210 - -
Income from equity method investments ... (30,279) (36,943) (363)
Deferred tax eXpense .........coccocveveeneieneiencneenns . (698) (7,966) 2,354
Fair value movement on contingent consideration ..................... 519 (228) (4,764)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plan expense net of
CoNtributions Paid ........cccocevriiiiniie e (3,620) (3,760) (3,070)
Loss / (gain) on disposal of farming investment ... - 749 (17,355)
Dividends received from investees 12,906 11,901 12,854
Other ..o (481) (3,257) (4,971)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net of allowances ............cccovevieiniinniscc e, 32,578 29,712 (29,495)
INVENTOTIES ...t (18,027) (6,213) 387
Accounts payable and accrued
EXPENSES ..vvriaeteiereststetese st sesbebese sttt s et b ettt et 43,109 (14,951) 8,423
Cash flow provided by operating activities .........cccceeeererveerenens 144,573 75,249 65,672
Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment ............... 891 758 939
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments ...........c.cccccevvunee. 4,362 11,564 6,924
Capital expenditures . (23,202) (26,971) (35,721)
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired ...........c.cccccevvrrnnnen. 298 (4,888) 1,576
Payment of contingent consideration ..............c.ccceeevvrrcinininnnn. (7,729) (12,405) (8,259)
Investments in unconsolidated companies .. . 537 (8,151) (293,996)
ONEr e (753) (1,891) (227)
Cash flow used in investing activities (25,596) (41,984) (328,764)
Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt ..........cocevvviriniiniiniin e, 302,450 386,257 512,146
Repayment of long-term debt .......... (361,057) (372,297) (388,596)
Lease repayments on finance leases ... . (2,844) (990) (802)
Proceeds from issue of share capital, net ............ccccovveiiirnnnee. 153 75 174,432
Dividends paid (11,875) (14,919) (15,208)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests ............c.cocoeeeerinienn. (23,349) (17,938) (12,414)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests subject to put options ... (4,062) - -
OLhEI e - - 153
Cash flow (used in)/provided by financing activities ............. (100,584) (19,812) 269,711
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash ......... 12,533 (957) (9,634)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ....... 30,926 12,496 3,015)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .................
129,577 117,081 120,096
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period............ccceeveuuennene 160,503 129,577 117,081
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for INCOME TaXES ......ccerveiriririeririreeee e (19,313) (16,931) (15,730)
Cash paid fOr INErest .........ccoceveereiiniseree e (10,859) (10,682) (11,098)
Non-cash financing and investing activities:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease 20,978 16,628 -
OBHGALIONS ...
Purchases of assets under financing lease obligations ................ 9,892 644 801

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GENERAL INFORMATION

Total Produce plc (in these notes, the “Company”) is a company tax resident and incorporated in Ireland.
Operating from 30 countries primarily across Europe, North America and South America. Total Produce and
its subsidiaries (together “Total Produce” or the “Group”) is involved in the growing, sourcing, importing,
packaging, marketing and distribution of an extensive selection of fresh fruits, vegetables and flowers,
serving the retail, wholesale and foodservice sectors. References in this Report to “we,” “our” and “us” refer
to Total Produce plc and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.

The principal accounting policies that have been applied to the consolidated financial statements are
described in note 2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements herein are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as of December 31, 2019 and 2020 and for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2020, include all adjustments necessary, which are of a normal recurring
nature, to present fairly the Group's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. Dollars.
Principles of Consolidation

We consolidate all companies in which we have direct and indirect legal or effective control and all Variable
Interest Entities (“VIEs”) for which we have determined that we are the Primary Beneficiary (“PB”) under
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810. We use judgement when determining (i) whether an entity
is a VIE; (ii) who are the variable interest holders; (iii) the elements and degree of control that each variable
interest holder has; and (iv) ultimately which party is the PB.

When determining which party is the PB, we perform an analysis which considers (i) the design of the VIE;
(ii) the capital structure of the VIE; (iii) the contractual relationship between the variable interest holders;
(iv) the nature of the VIE's operations; and (v) the purpose and interest of all parties involved including
related parties. While we consider these factors, our conclusions about whether to consolidate ultimately
depends on the breadth of our decision making-making ability and our ability to influence activities that
significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE. We continually re-evaluate whether we are the
PB for VIE's in which we hold a variable interest. We have three VIE's two of which Dole Food Company
(“Dole”) and Exportadora y Servicios El Parque (“El Parque™) in which we are not the PB in the arrangement.
We equity account for our investment in both. In respect of the third VIE, Eurobanan Canarias S.A. (“EBC”),
we are the PB and consolidate its results.

All intercompany balances and transactions with consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated. The results of
consolidated entities are included from the effective date of control or, in the case of VIEs, from the date that
we are or become the PB. The results of subsidiaries sold or otherwise deconsolidated are excluded from the
date that we cease to control the subsidiary or, in the case of VIES, when we cease to be the PB.

Unconsolidated investments where we have significant influence are reported using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, we recognize our share of earnings and losses based on
our ownership percentage of such investments in equity in net earnings of investments accounted for under
the equity method. Unrealized gains and income and expenses arising from transactions with equity method
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investments are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the equity. Unrealized losses are eliminated
in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that they do not provide evidence of impairment.
In accordance with ASU 2016-15 Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments, our policy is to classify dividends from equity method investees within
operating activities  in our statement of cashflows as a return on investment, unless the investor's cumulative
distributions received less distributions received in prior periods that were determined to be returns of
investment exceed cumulative equity in earnings recognized by us. When such an excess occurs, the current-
period distribution up to this excess is considered a return of investment and classified as cash inflows from
investing activities

All material equity method investments have either coterminous financial year ends, or accounting year ends
within three months of that of the Group. In the case of the latter, appropriate adjustments are made for the
effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the Group's
consolidated financial statements. Where appropriate, the accounting policies of equity method investments
have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts and disclosures reported in the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes.

Estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, the areas of: defined benefit pension obligations;
impairment of goodwill; valuation of intangible assets; uncertainty in income taxes; determination of control
and evaluation of VIE considerations; measurement of contingent consideration, measurement and
classification of noncontrolling interest containing put and call options; deferred tax asset valuation
allowances; measurement of expected credit loss for trade and other receivables; and measurement of right
of use assets and lease liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits, including bank deposits of less than
three months maturity on acquisition.

Trade and Other Receivables
We adopted ASC 326 Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (“ASC 326) effective January 1, 2020 using
the modified retrospective approach. The comparative periods continue to be presented under the then-

applicable accounting policy.

2020 Accounting Policy

Trade receivables less allowances are recognized in our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at net
realizable value, which approximates fair value.

Included in other receivables are Grower and supplier loans. The Group makes advances to third-party
growers for various farming needs. Grower and supplier advances are stated at the gross advance amount less
allowances for potentially uncollectible balances.

Our allowance for credit losses on trade and other receivables will reflect our estimate of credit losses over
the remaining expected life of the asset. Expected credit losses for newly recognized trade and other
receivables, as well as changes to expected credit losses during the period, will be recognized in earnings and
classified within cost of sales for grower and supplier loans receivable, and selling, general and administrative
expenses for trade accounts receivable..  These expected credit losses will be measured based on historical
loss data, current conditions and forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. Write-off of
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accounts receivable is performed only when all collection efforts have been exhausted without success.

Previous accounting policy prior to adoption of ASC 326

Trade receivables less allowances are recognized in our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at net
realizable value, which approximates fair value. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers
and adjust credit limits based upon payment history and customers' credit worthiness, as determined by our
review of their current credit information. We continuously monitor collections and payments from our
customers and maintain a provision for estimated credit losses based upon our historical experience, specific
customer collection issues that we have identified, and the aging of the trade receivables based on contractual
terms.

Write-off of accounts receivable is performed only when all collection efforts have been exhausted without
success.

Included in other receivables are Grower and Supplier loans. The Group makes advances to third-party
growers for various farming needs. Some of these advances are secured with crop harvests, property or other
collateral owned by the growers. The Group monitors these receivables on a regular basis and records an
allowance for these grower receivables based on estimates of the growers' ability to repay advances, the
historical loss experience, and the fair value of the collateral if appropriate. Grower and supplier advances
are stated at the gross advance amount less allowances for potentially uncollectible balances.

Allowances are recorded and charged to cost of sales for grower and supplier loans receivable, and selling,
general and administrative expenses for trade accounts receivable when an account is deemed to be
uncollectible. Recoveries of advances to growers and suppliers previously reserved in the allowance are
credited to cost of sales and SG&A for grower and supplier loans receivable and accounts receivable
respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. The cost
of inventories is based on the first-in, first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition.

The Group incurs certain crop growing costs such as land preparation, planting, fertilization, grafting,
pruning, and irrigation. Based on the nature of these costs and type of crop production, these costs may be
capitalized into inventory. These costs are recognized into cost of products sold during each harvest period.
The deferred growing costs included in inventories in our Consolidated Balance Sheets consist primarily of
land preparation, cultivation, irrigation and fertilization costs. Due to the nature of the products sold by the
Group no provision for obsolete inventories is required against the value of inventories held.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment (if any).
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of these assets as set
out below:

Freehold buildings: 30-50 years;
Plant and equipment: 5-15 years;
IT equipment: 3-5 years;

Motor vehicles: 5 years;

Bearer plants: 1-30 years; and
Software: 3-8 years
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The residual value of assets, if not insignificant, and the useful life of assets are reassessed annually. Gains
and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are recognized on the completion of sale. Gains and
losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds received with the carrying amount and are
included in operating profit in accordance with the guidance in ASC 610.

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for separately
is capitalized. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the item of property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure, including repairs and
maintenance costs, is recognized in the statement of operations as an expense as incurred. Borrowing costs
incurred in the construction of major assets which take a substantial period of time to complete are capitalized
in the financial period in which they are incurred.

Costs incurred on the acquisition of computer software and software licenses are capitalized. Other costs
directly associated with developing and maintaining computer software programs are capitalized once the
recognition criteria set out in ASC 350-40 are met. Computer software is depreciated over periods of between
three to eight years using the straight-line method.

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. Fair value is measured by either determining the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows directly associated with the asset and is compared to the asset's
carrying amount. If this comparison indicates that there is an impairment, the amount of the impairment is
calculated by comparing the carrying value to discounted expected future cash flows or comparable market
values, depending on the nature of the asset. We recognized impairment of $1,210,000 for property, plant
and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2020. We did not recognize any impairment for property,
plant and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2019 or December 31, 2018.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents amounts arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries or equity-accounted affiliates as a
result of the fair value of consideration transferred exceeding the fair value of net identifiable assets and
liabilities assumed in a business combination. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units and is not amortized
but is tested annually for impairment at a consistent time each financial year and more frequently when events
or changes in circumstance indicate that it may be impaired.

During the annual goodwill impairment test performed, we assessed qualitative and quantitative factors to
determine whether it was more likely than not that the fair value of each reporting unit was less than it's
carrying value. Qualitative factors include industry and market considerations, overall financial performance,
and other relevant events and factors affecting the reporting unit. Quantitative factors include forecasted
revenue and margin and determination of recoverable amount. Based on the results of the qualitative
impairment test for 2020, we determined that it was not more likely than not that the fair value was less than
the carrying value of our reporting units.

Our goodwill impairment charges are calculated as the amount by which the carrying amount of the reporting
unit exceeds the reporting unit's fair value. However, the impairment charge recognized cannot exceed the
total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Goodwill is stated at the amount originally
recognized less any impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted affiliates, the carrying amount of
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where goodwill forms part of a reporting unit and part of the operations within that unit is disposed of and,
the operations being disposed constitute a business, the goodwill associated with the business disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the business when determining the gain or loss on its disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative fair values of the business disposed
of and the portion of the reporting unit retained.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination are valued at their fair value at the date of
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acquisition. These include customer relationships, supplier relationships and brands. Intangible assets are
amortized to the statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected useful lives
as follows:

e  Customer relationships: 3-15 years;
e  Supplier relationships: 3-15 years; and,
e Brands: 10-15 years.

We did not recognize any impairment charges for goodwill or intangible assets for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. An impairment charge of $9,811,000 was recognized in the
year ended December 31, 2018 in respect of the Group's fresh produce business in the Netherlands.

Borrowings

Long-term debt is carried at the principal amount borrowed, including unamortized discounts and premiums,
fair value adjustments and debt issuance costs, where applicable. We amortize the amount of discounts,
premiums and fair value adjustments over the period the debt is outstanding using the effective interest
method. The costs we incur for issuing debt are capitalized and amortized as an increase to interest expense
over the life of the debt using the effective interest method.

Lease Liabilities and Right of Use Assets

Leases where we are the lessee - accounting policy from January 1, 2019

As of the first day of our 2019 fiscal year beginning January 1, 2019, we adopted ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases
(Topic 842),” which requires leases with durations greater than twelve months to be recognized on the
balance sheet, using the modified retrospective approach. Prior year consolidated financial statements were
not adjusted, and therefore information for periods prior to fiscal year 2019 is presented in accordance with
the previous accounting standard. We elected to avail of the package of transition provisions available for
expired or existing contracts, which allowed us to carryforward our historical assessments of (1) whether
contracts are or contain leases, (2) lease classification and (3) initial direct costs. The Group has availed of
the practical expedient not to separate lease components from any associated non-lease components for leases
of plant and equipment and motor vehicles.

A lease is defined as a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. We lease property, plant, equipment and motor vehicles under finance and operating leases.
We evaluate our leases at inception or at any subsequent modification and classify them as either finance or
operating leases. For leases with terms greater than 12 months, we recognize a related asset (“right-of-use
asset”) and obligation (“lease liability’) on the lease commencement date, calculated as the present value of
lease payments over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term
of the lease, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease or, where this is not available, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include fixed and variable lease payments, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. Variable lease payments are those made for the right to
use the underlying asset that vary because of changes in facts or circumstances occurring after the
commencement date, other than the passage of time. Subsequent changes in lease payments that vary with
an index or rate are recognized as incurred and do not form part of the variable lease payment within the
lease liability. Lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option where the Group is
reasonably certain that they will exercise the option and also any termination costs associated with a lease
where the lease term reflects the termination of the lease.

The right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities

represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The cost of the right of use asset
includes the lease liability recognized, any initial direct costs, restoration costs and payments made on or
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before the lease commencement date less any lease incentives received. The right of use asset is depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the lower of the lease term and the useful life of the asset. Where the lease
contains a purchase option and the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the purchase option the asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Right of use assets are subject to impairment testing.

The Group has applied judgment in determining the lease term for leases where they are the lessee and the
lease contract contains renewal and/or termination options. The assessment of whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term which in turn impacts the right of use asset
and lease liability to be recognized.

For finance leases, we recognize interest expense and amortization of the right-of-use asset, and for operating
leases, we recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

See note 21 for more information.

Leases where we are the lessor - accounting policy from January 1, 2019

At inception or modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative standalone prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset. If an arrangement
contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies ASC 606 to allocate the consideration in
the contract.

The Group recognizes lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term as part of Other (expense)/income, net.

Leases where we are the lessee - accounting policy until December 31, 2018

Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the
lower of the fair value of the leased item and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant interest charge on
the finance balance outstanding.

The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in interest bearing loans and
borrowings, allocated between current and non-current as appropriate. The interest element of the finance
cost is charged to the statement of operations over the lease period. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter of their expected useful lives or the lease term, taking into account the time
period over which benefits from the leased assets are expected to accrue to the Group.

Operating leases
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of incentives received from the

lessor, are charged to the statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Income
earned from operating leases is credited to the statement of operations when earned.
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Leases where we are the lessor — accounting policy until December 31, 2018

Under the new standard, accounting for leases as a lessor is similar to the previous standard

For contracts entered into before January 1, 2019, the Group determined whether the arrangement was or
contained a lease based on the assessment of whether:

e Fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
e The arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset if one of the following was met:
e The purchaser had the ability or right to operate the asset while obtaining or controlling more than
an insignificant amount of the output;
e The purchaser had the ability or right to control physical access to the asset while obtaining or
controlling more than an insignificant amount of the output; or
e Facts and circumstances indicated that it was remote that other parties would take more than an
insignificant amount of the output, and the price per unit was neither fixed per unit of output nor
equal to the current market price per unit of output.

When the Group acted as a lessor, it determined at lease inception whether each lease was a finance lease or
an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group made an overall assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially
all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying assets. If this was the case, then the
lease was a finance lease; if not, then it was an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group
considered certain indicators such as whether the lease was for the major part of the economic life of the
asset.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used to reduce our exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange
and interest rates. Foreign currency derivatives are entered into only when they match an existing foreign
currency asset or liability, or where they are used to hedge a forecasted transaction. Interest rate swaps may
be used to manage any interest rate risk in accordance with our risk management policies. Derivative financial
instruments are not used for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value at each reporting date and the movement in fair
value is recognized in the statement of operations unless they are designated in a hedge accounting
relationship.

We account for derivative financial instruments in accordance with the guidance in ASC 815 Derivatives and
Hedging (“ASC 815”) including the guidance in ASU 2017-12. ASC 815 requires us to recognize the value
of derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for
changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been
designated as a hedge and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship. None of our derivatives have been
entered into hedge accounting relationships during the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018.

For derivatives not in hedge accounting relationships, the earnings impact resulting from our derivative
instruments is recorded in the same line item within the Consolidated Statements of Operations as the items
being hedged from a financial risk management perspective. We also classify the cash flows from our
derivative financial instruments in the same category as the items being hedged on our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows based on the fact that our derivative financial instruments do not contain an other-
than-insignificant financing element at inception. The fair values of derivatives used to hedge or modify our
risks fluctuate over time.

We also enter a number of loans denominated in a foreign currency into hedges of a net investment in a
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foreign operation. Refer to “Foreign Currency” for our policy with respect to net investment hedges.
Employee Benefits

Using appropriate actuarial methods and assumptions, we evaluate defined benefit pension plans in
accordance with the ASC 715 Compensation - Retirement Benefits. Our disclosures in respect of plan assets,
investment strategies, major categories of plan assets, concentration of risks within plan assets and valuation
techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets are contained in note 22.

We account for share-based compensation expense consistent with ASC 718 Compensation — Stock
Compensation (“ASC 718”). Our share-based payments are composed entirely of share-based compensation
expense as all equity awards granted to employees and members of our Board of Directors, each of whom
meets the definition of an employee under the provisions of the ASC are stock options. We use a binomial
pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted. We recognize share-based compensation
expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of each award. The employee
share-option benefit in the Statement of Operations amounted to $130,000 in the year ended 31 December
2020 and the share option expense charge in the Statement of Operations amounted to $122,000 and $656,000
in the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized as control of a good or service is transferred to a customer in the amount expected to
be entitled at transfer. We record revenue based on the five-step model in accordance with ASC 606
Revenues from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). We identify for our contracts with customers, the
performance obligations within each contractual arrangement, determine the transaction price of that
contract, allocate that price to each of the performance obligations based on observable stand-alone selling
prices and recognize revenues when each performance obligation has been fulfilled. Due to the nature of our
performance obligations and our contractual arrangements with our customers, there are no significant
judgements involved in the measurement, timing and recognition of revenue arising from our application of
ASC 606.

The Group’s principal revenue streams include: i) product revenue from the sale of fresh produce and ii)
product revenue from the sale and distribution of health foods and consumer goods.

Product revenues are recognized at a point in time when control of the goods have been transferred to the
customer, which can be on shipping or delivery depending on the terms of trade with that customer. Product
revenues can include surcharges for warehousing, transportation, handling and palletization of product before
shipment or delivery.

We avail of the election available under ASC 606 to account for shipping and handling costs that occur after
the customer has obtained control of the product as fulfilment costs and not as performance obligations within
the contractual arrangement. Such costs are reported within selling, general and administrative expenses.

For product revenues contracts with customers state the terms of the sale including net payment terms, the
quantity, and the price of each product purchased. As a result, the contracts do not include a significant
financing component. The transaction price for product is measured as the consideration that is expected to
be received for the sale, net of variable consideration including provisions for returns, discounts, rebates and
allowances and also excluding value added taxes. These provisions for variable consideration are estimated
based on the expected amount to be provided to the customers, taking into account our experience with those
customers, historical and expected trading and contractual terms. The estimated variable consideration is
included in transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative
revenue recognized would not occur when the uncertainties giving rise to the estimate crystallize.

Returns, discounts and rebates are recorded as a reduction to revenue. Estimated sales discounts are recorded
in the period in which the related sale is recognized. Consideration given to customers for cooperative
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advertising is recognized at the terms agreed in advance and as a reduction of revenue except to the extent
that there is a distinct good or services, in which case it is recorded as distribution expenses. Volume rebates
are recognized as earned by the customer, based upon the contractual terms of the arrangement with the
customer and, where applicable, the estimate of sales volume over the term of the arrangement. Estimates
of variable consideration are reassessed at each reporting date and adjustments made as new information
becomes available and actual sales volumes become known. Adjustments to these estimates have historically
not been significant.

We have elected the practical expedient to expense incremental costs of obtaining a contract, if the contract
period is for one year or less. These costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. We
have no contract periods in excess of one year and so also utilize the following practical expedients: to not
adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component due to the
fact that the period between the transfer of the promised good or service to a customer and the customer
payment is one year or less; and to omit disclosure of unsatisfied performance obligations as of each balance
sheet date.

Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold includes the cost of produce, packaging materials, labor, depreciation, overhead,
transportation and other distribution costs, including handling costs incurred to deliver fresh produce or
consumer products to customers.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

We expense advertising and promotional costs as incurred. Advertising and promotional costs, which are
included in selling, general and administrative expenses, were $5,300,000 for 2020, $5,800,000 for 2019 and
$6,300,000 for 2018.

Research and Development

Expenditure on research and development activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific
or technical knowledge and understanding is recognized in the statement of operations as an expense as
incurred. We did not incur any material research and development expense in the years ended December 31,
2020, 2019 and 2018.

Interest Income/Expense

Interest income comprises interest income on funds invested and other receivables like grower loans. It also
includes dividends received from equity investments and amortization of premium on borrowings issued.
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective interest method. Dividends are recognized
when received or entitlement to dividend is declared.

Interest expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, amortization of discount on borrowings, interest
expense relating to ASC 842, unwinding of the discount on provisions, debt extinguishment costs and
arrangement fees. All finance costs, other than borrowing costs incurred in the construction of major assets
which are capitalized, are recognized in the statement of operations using the effective interest method. No
such borrowing costs requiring capitalization arose during the periods presented.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included
in the consolidated financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amount and the tax basis of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The
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effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date.

The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income,
and to the extent it believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that
all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established. The
potential for recovery of deferred tax assets is evaluated by considering taxable income in carryback years,
existing taxable temporary differences, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies and estimating the future
taxable profits.

We recognize the benefit of a tax position only to the extent that it is more likely than not that the tax position
will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. If
the tax position is deemed more-likely-than-not to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine
the amount of benefit to recognize in the consolidated financial statements. The amount of the benefit that is
recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon
settlement. Income tax expenses includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax
benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties.

We present interest and penalties related to an underpayment of income taxes on the income tax expense line
in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are included on the
related income tax liability line in the consolidated balance sheet.

In respect of undistributed earnings for foreign subsidiaries, where those earnings are considered to be either
indefinitely reinvested, or the earnings could be distributed tax free, no taxes have been provided thereon.

We release income tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income/(losses) when the entire
portfolio of the item giving rise to the tax effect is disposed of, liquidated, or terminated.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, excluding
shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all ordinary shares and options with
a dilutive effect.

Operating and Reportable Segments

Operating segments, defined as components of the Group that engage in business activities from which they
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any
of the Group's other components, are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the Chief Operating Decision-Maker (‘(CODM’). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors of the Board.
Our reportable segments are identified in note 5. All transactions between our reportable segments are at an
arm's length basis.

Foreign Currency and Net Investment Hedges

The functional currency of Total Produce plc is Euro and the reporting currency for the presentation of the
consolidated financial statements is the U.S. dollar. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency of the entity at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Non-
monetary assets carried at historic cost are not subsequently retranslated. Non-monetary assets carried at fair
value are subsequently remeasured at the exchange rate at the date of valuation. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency
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at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange movements arising on such translation are
recognized in the statement of operations. Cost of Sales in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations includes a net foreign exchange loss of $0.2 million for 2020, $0.2 million for 2019, and a gain
of $0.1 million for 2018. These amounts include the effect of foreign currency remeasurement and realized
foreign currency transaction gains and losses.

Net investment hedges are used in connection with foreign currency denominated operations. Assets and
liabilities of foreign currency denominated operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on consolidation, are translated to Euro at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.

The income and expenses of foreign currency denominated operations are translated to the functional
currency of their parent at the average exchange rate for the year. Foreign exchange movements arising on
translation of the net investment in a foreign operation, including those arising on long-term intra-Group
loans deemed to be quasi equity in nature, are recognized directly in other comprehensive income, in the
currency translation reserve. The portion of exchange gains or losses on foreign currency borrowings used to
provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign operation that is designated as a hedge of those
investments is recognized directly in other comprehensive income to the extent that they are determined to
be effective. Hedge accounting for net investment hedges are discontinued prospectively when the net
investment hedging relationship no longer meets the prospective effectiveness test. If the net investment
hedge is no longer effective, any amounts not yet recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations
remain in currency translation reserve until the net investment is sold, substantially or completely liquidated.

Business Combinations

We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. Application of this
method of accounting requires that (i) identifiable assets acquired (including identifiable intangible assets)
and liabilities assumed generally be measured and recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and (ii)
the excess of the purchase price over the net fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
be recognized as goodwill. Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed as incurred.

Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the allocation of the purchase price
requires management to use significant judgment and estimates, especially with respect to intangible assets.
Estimates in valuing certain identifiable assets include, but are not limited to, the selection of valuation
methodologies, estimates of future revenue and cash flows, expected long-term market growth, future
expected operating expenses, costs of capital and appropriate discount rates. Management's estimates of fair
value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, we
may record certain adjustments to the carrying value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. After the measurement period, which could last up to one year after the
transaction date, all adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss.

The noncontrolling interests (“NCI”) in acquired businesses are measured at fair value at the date of
acquisition and are separately presented within shareholders' equity, distinct from equity attributable to Total
Produce plc. Each reporting period, net income/(loss) and comprehensive income/(loss) of the consolidated
subsidiaries in which noncontrolling interests are held, are attributed to that noncontrolling interest based on
their equity interest in each consolidated subsidiary.

Contingent consideration is defined in ASC 805 Business Combinations (“ASC 805”) as an obligation of the
acquirer to transfer additional assets or equity interests to the former owners of an acquiree as part of the
exchange for control of the acquiree if specified future events occur or conditions are met. Contingent
consideration is recognized and measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Any obligation of the Group
to pay contingent consideration in connection with a business combination is classified as a liability where
liability classification is required by ASC 480 Distinguishing liabilities from equity (“ASC 480”), otherwise
it is classified as equity. Post-combination accounting for contingent consideration is impacted by its initial
classification. Where it is classified as a liability, it is remeasured at each reporting date at fair value and any
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change is reported within earnings. Where equity classification has been followed, the contingent
consideration is not remeasured subsequently and its settlement is accounted for within equity.

The Group made acquisitions in 2020 and 2019 with initial cash spend of $1,440,000 (2019: $7,467,000),
deferred consideration of $Nil (2019: $127,000) with a further $139,000 (2019: $1,632,000) of contingent
consideration payable dependent on the achievement of profit targets.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

If a put option is held by a NCI in a subsidiary undertaking, whereby the holder of the put option can require
the Group to acquire the NCI's shareholding in the subsidiary at a future date, the Group examines the nature
of such a put option to determine whether the put option is a separate financial instrument to, or embedded
within, the NCI.

As our NCI containing put and call options contain exercise prices based on future EBIT/(DA) of the
consolidated subsidiaries in question and meet the criteria for mezzanine classification they are classified as
Redeemable noncontrolling interest as mezzanine equity. The embedded put and call features do not meet
the criteria for bifurcation.

Both permanent and mezzanine classified NCI are measured at fair value on the acquisition date. Each
reporting period we attribute net income and comprehensive income of a consolidated subsidiary to the
controlling interest and NCI. When redemption of a mezzanine classified NCI becomes probable, the NClI is
accreted to its redemption amount with the offset to retained earnings. We accrete these changes over the
periods prior to the earliest redemption date, or recognize them immediately as they occur.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is measured in accordance with ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” that defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances disclosures about fair value
measures required under other accounting pronouncements, but does not change existing guidance as to
whether or not an instrument is carried at fair value. We measure fair value for financial instruments, such as
derivatives on an ongoing basis. We measure fair value for non-financial assets when a valuation is
necessary, such as for impairment of long-lived and indefinite-lived assets when indicators of impairment
exist.

The inputs used to measure fair value are based on a hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable
inputs used in valuation techniques. These levels, in order of highest to lowest priority, are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market
data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

Certain assets and liabilities, including long-lived assets, goodwill, property plant and equipment, and cost
and equity investments, are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis using Level 3 inputs, which would
primarily include the use of a discounted cash flow valuation approach.

Contingencies

Estimated losses from contingencies are expensed if it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability

has been incurred at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. Gain contingencies are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements until
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realized. We use judgment in assessing whether a loss contingency is probable and estimable. Actual results
could differ from these estimates.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

In February 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-02, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326) and
Leases (Topic 842) which provides additional guidance in respect of the measurement of current expected
credit losses calculated in accordance with ASC 326. The guidance in ASU 326 immediately applicable and
was applied in conjunction with FASB ASC Topic 326, which we adopted effective January 1, 2020.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments and subsequent amendments to the guidance, ASU 2018-19 in November 2018, ASU
2019-05 in May 2019 including codification improvements in Topic 326 in ASU 2019-04, issued in April
2019, ASU 2019-10 and ASU 2019-11 both issued in November 2019. This standard significantly changes
how entities measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that are not
measured at fair value through net income. The standard replaces the previous “incurred loss” approach with
an “expected loss” model for instruments measured at amortized cost, generally resulting in the earlier
recognition of credit losses in the consolidated financial statements. The amendment affects loans, debt
securities, trade receivables, net investment in leases, off balance sheet credit exposures, reinsurance
receivables and any other financial assets not excluded from the scope that have the contractual right to
receive cash.

We adopted this ASU along with the conforming subsequent amendments using the modified retrospective
and their impact was not material and there was no adjustment to retained earnings as of the adoption date,
January 1, 2020. In addition, at that date we also adopted the guidance in ASU 2020-03, Codification
Improvements to Financial Instruments. This ASU contains a number of amendments to financial instruments
in terms of updated disclosures, changes and clarifications to existing definitions and guidance in order to
improve the understandability of the financial instrument guidance and was effective at the adoption of ASU
2016-13.

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic
470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for
Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity's Own Equity. This ASU reduces the complexity in
accounting for convertible debt and contracts in an entity's own equity by limiting the accounting models
used for convertible instruments. It is expected to result in fewer embedded conversion features being
separately recognized from the host contract as compared with current GAAP. Convertible instruments that
continue to be subject to separation models are (1) those with embedded conversion features that are not
clearly and closely related to the host contract, that meet the definition of a derivative, and that do not qualify
for a scope exception from derivative accounting and (2) convertible debt instruments issued with substantial
premiums for which the premiums are recorded as paid-in capital. This ASU will not become effective for
us until January 1, 2022 but can be adopted early from January 1, 2021. We are currently evaluating this
ASU and the impact it may have on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The ASU provides optional guidance to companies
to ease the potential burden associated with transitioning away from reference rates that are expected to be
discontinued. The new guidance provides optional expedients and exceptions to apply generally accepted
accounting principles to contract modifications and hedging relationships, subject to certain criteria that
reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued. Companies can adopt the ASU
immediately, however the guidance will only be available through December 31, 2022. We are currently
evaluating this ASU and the impact it may have on our consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Investments-Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments-
Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)-Clarifying the
Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815.

The amendments in this update clarify certain interactions between the guidance to account for certain equity
securities under Topic 321, the guidance to account for investments under the equity method of accounting
in Topic 323, and the guidance in Topic 815, which could change how an entity accounts for an equity
security under the measurement alternative or a forward contract or purchased option to purchase securities
that, upon settlement of the forward contract or exercise of the purchased option, would be accounted for
under the equity method of accounting or the fair value option in accordance with Topic 825, Financial
Instruments.

This ASU will be effective for us beginning the first day of our 2021 fiscal year. We are evaluating the impact
of the adoption of this ASU on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and, as such, we
are not able to estimate the effect the adoption of the new standard will have on our consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting
for Income Taxes. The ASU introduces new guidance to evaluate whether a step-up in tax basis of goodwill
relates to a business combination in which book goodwill was recognized or a separate transaction, and also
provides a policy election to not allocate consolidated income taxes when a member of a consolidated tax
return is not subject to income tax. The ASU also makes changes to the current guidance for making
intraperiod allocations and determining when a deferred tax liability is recognized after an investor in a
foreign entity transitions to or from the equity method of accounting, among other changes. This ASU will
be effective for us beginning the first day of our 2021 fiscal year, and the impact of adopting the new standard
will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

REVENUE

The following table presents the Group's revenues split by revenue to third parties and revenue to equity
accounted affiliates.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Third party revenue ..........cccoeeeveeveecveseesneenn, 4,232,318 4,060,571 4,294,032
Sales to equity method investments............... 113,621 106,228 98,561
Total revenue 4,345,939 4,166,799 4,392,593

The Group's revenues by primary revenue stream for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018
are as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Fresh produce ... 4,180,845 4,026,291 4,233,954
Health foods and consumer goods.................. 124,040 99,774 115,240
Third party freight ..., 41,054 40,734 43,399
Total revenue 4,345,939 4,166,799 4,392,593
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The following table presents the Group's disaggregated revenue disclosures by channel for revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018. Revenue by reportable segment for the same periods is
disclosed in note 5.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Retail......cccooeiiceireece s 2,668,454 2,386,697 2,551,029
Wholesale .........cccvvviveieice e 1,252,547 1,252,562 1,337,017
FOOd SErVICE ..o 311,317 421,312 405,986
Sales to equity method investments................ 113,621 106,228 98,561
Total revenue 4,345,939 4,166,799 4,392,593

SEGMENTS

ASC 280 Segment Reporting (“ASC 280”) sets out the requirements for disclosure of financial and
descriptive information about the operating segments, products and the geographical areas in which the
Group operates, as well as information on major customers.

In accordance with ASC 280, the Group's reportable operating segments, based on how performance is
assessed, and resources are allocated, are as follows:

e Europe — Non-Eurozone: This reportable segment is an aggregation of six operating segments in the
Czech Republic, Poland, Scandinavia and the United Kingdom. These segments have been aggregated
as they all are primarily involved in the procurement, marketing and distribution of fresh produce and
share other similar economic characteristics and operate in similar regulatory environments. Up to the
middle of 2018, it also included a small healthfoods business that has been discontinued.

e Europe — Eurozone: This reportable segment is an aggregation of thirteen operating segments principally
in France, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Brazil and Spain. These segments have been aggregated as
they all are primarily involved in the procurement, marketing and distribution of fresh produce and some
healthfoods and consumer goods products, and share other similar economic characteristics, transact in
Euro and operate in the same regulatory environment. The Brazilian business is included in the Eurozone
as it is a subsidiary of our Dutch businesses and a supplier to our operations in the Eurozone.

o International: This segment is an aggregation of five operating segments in North America, one in South
America and one in India. These segments have been aggregated as they all are primarily involved in
the procurement, marketing and distribution of fresh produce and share other similar economic
characteristics and operate in similar regulatory environments. They also primarily transact in U.S.
Dollar.

e Dole: This operating segment represents the Group's 45% interest in Dole. Dole is one of the world's
leading producers, marketers and distributors of fresh fruit and vegetables. It has an iconic brand and
leading market positions and scale. It is one of the world's largest producers of bananas and pineapples,
and a leader in other fresh fruits, value added and fresh-packed vegetables and berries. In terms of market
share, they hold the number one and three positions, respectively, for bananas in North America and
Europe, and are number two and three, respectively, for pineapples in North America and Europe. They
sell and distribute throughout a wide network in North America, Europe, Latin America, the Middle East
and Africa.

Management uses Adjusted Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate segment performance and allocate
resources.

Adjusted Revenue is defined as revenue adjusted to include each segment’s share of revenue from
investments accounted for under the equity method. Management uses Adjusted Revenue when evaluating
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performance of segments because of the significance of investments accounted for under the equity method
to segments and the Group.

Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled below to income before income taxes and income from investments
accounted for under the equity method by: (1) subtracting net interest charges (2) subtracting depreciation
(3) subtracting intangible asset amortization charges (4) subtracting litigation and transaction related costs
(5) adding or subtracting fair value movements on contingent consideration (6) subtracting impairment
charges on goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, (7) subtracting the net unrealized
loss or adding the net unrealized gain on derivative instruments; (8) subtracting the net unrealized loss or
adding the net unrealized gain on foreign denominated intercompany borrowings; (9) subtracting the net
realized loss or adding the net realized gain on noncash settled foreign denominated intercompany
borrowings; (10) subtracting restructuring charges or onerous contract costs; (11) subtracting the loss or
adding the gain on asset sales for assets held-for-sale and actively marketed property; (12) subtracting
financing charges and other debt related costs; (13) adding the gain or subtracting the loss on the sale of
equity investments or other business interests and (14) subtracting the foreign currency gains relating to
proceeds from share placings. It also includes the Group share of these items within equity method
investments and the following items specific to its equity method investment in Dole (A) deducting costs of
discontinued operations; (B) deducting vegetable recalls and related costs and (C) deducting costs that are
directly related to the COVID-19 pandemic, and are as follows: (i) incremental to charges incurred prior to
the outbreak, including incremental costs related to personal protective equipment and transportation, and
direct costs due to lower production capacity from a plant shutdown, (ii) not expected to recur once the crisis
has subsided and operations return to normal, and (iii) clearly separable from normal
operations. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA when evaluating performance because it eliminates the
effects of (i) considerable amounts of non-cash depreciation and amortization and (ii) items not within the
control of the Company’s operations managers.

Interest expense, interest income and income taxes are managed on a centralized basis. These items are not
allocated between operating segments for the purposes of the information presented to the Chief Operating
Decision-Maker (CODM").

Management does not use assets by segment to evaluate performance or allocate resources. Therefore, we do
not disclose assets by segment.
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Adjusted Revenue

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Europe - NON-EUrozone..........ccocvvvvvcnenvennenn, 1,706,802 1,655,456 1,745,184
Europe — EUr0ZONE .......cccocvvvirivinciiciencns 1,920,902 1,856,334 2,063,019
International.............ccooviiiiiien i 1,475,309 1,420,721 1,384,970
DOIE oo 2,098,529 2,012,591 815,734
Inter-segment revenue .................c.c.coeeveeennn.. (75,729) (70,249) (65,659)
Adjustments
Share of revenue of investments accounted

for under the equity method @ e (2,779,874) (2,708,054) (1,550,655)
Group revenue as reported in the

consolidated statement of operations ....... 4,345,939 4,166,799 4,392,593

@ After elimination of proportionate share of transactions between Group subsidiaries and investments accounted
for under the equity method.
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Adjusted EBITDA

Europe - NON-EUrozone ..........ccccovviinenccnennene,
EUrope — EUr0ZONE..........ccocvvveiiriiiin e
International ...

Adjustments

Interest eXPense, NEt .......ccccvvereireneire e
Depreciation ...........ccovevevieiiee i ece e
Amortization of intangible assets..........c...cceevenenne.
Litigation and transaction related costs...................

Net unrealized (loss)/gain on derivative financial
INSEFUMENTS ...

Fair value movements on contingent consideration
Goodwill impairment ..........ccccovvevveveeceee e,
Impairment of property, plant and equipment.........
(Loss)/gain on disposal of farming investment .......
Restructuring Charges..........ccveveveevescveseesresieniens
Foreign currency gain from share placing...............

Year ended
December 31,
2018

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

60,628 57,826

43,513 31,460

30,680 25,470

114,117 112,873

(7,920) (8,965)

(24,634) (22,900)

(11,548) (11,509)

(396) (198)

(633) (13)

(519) 228

(1,210) —

— (749)

— (1,280)

96

62,828
42,754
25,267
20,894

(9,465)
(21,908)
(12,115)

(4,197)

428

2,551
(9,811)
17,355
(5,764)
14,771



Europe Non-Eurozone

Europe Eurozone........

Items in earnings for equity method
investments

Equity in net earnings of investments

accounted for under the equity method...........
Group share of depreciation ...........ccccceevevernennn.
Group share of income tax expense ..................

Group share of amortization of acquisition
related intangible assets

Group share of net gain/(loss) on asset

sales/iMPairments .......c.ccccevevvsiesineieenese s

Group share of net unrealized (gain)/loss on

derivative financial instruments .....................

Group share of net gain/(loss) on foreign
currency denominated intercompany

DOITOWINGS .o

Group share of restructuring charges and

0NErous CoNtract CoStS........vvvvivvivrinneeiinienne

Group share of costs associated with industry

wide product recalls.........cccccvvviiriiiinennnnn,
Group share of transaction coSts...........ccccevuenee.
Group share of COVID-19 COStS .......ceeververenen.

Group share of costs of discontinued

OPEFALIONS ..ovvvieieieieiceie et
Group share of interest expense, net..................

Income before income taxes and income
from investments accounted for under the
equity method

Year ended
December 31,
2020

(30,279)
(45,135)
(22,329)

(2,895)
3,137

5,321

(8,977)

(2,039)

(294)
(4,854)

(34,631)

59,103

December 31,

Year ended

2019

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

(36,943)
(40,601)
(16,532)

(3,012)
7,369

(5,185)

1,886
(4,959)

(1,832)
(756)

(1,114)
(37,808)

42,756

Year ended
December 31,

2018

(363)
(19,553)
(2,760)

(3,163)
14

325

1,784
(2,781)

(1,740)

(18,022)

77,329

Our acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and
amortization of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2020

Year ended December 31, 2019

Year ended December 31, 2018

Acquisition Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Depreciation

of property, Depreciation of  Amortization of  of property, of property,  Amortization  of property, of property,  Amortization
plant and property, plant intangible plant and plant and of intangible plant and plant and of intangible

equipment and equipment assets equipment equipment assets equipment equipment assets
27,901 12,959 3,338 11,403 12,141 2,973 17,716 11,427 3,332
6,878 9,568 1,363 10,246 9,102 1,691 13,635 8,739 1,888
................ 1,791 2,107 6,847 5,357 1,657 6,845 3,337 1,742 6,895
............... 36,570 24,634 11,548 27,006 22,900 11,509 34,688 21,908 12,115

Country of domicile and geographic disclosures

The Group had significant sales from our operations in the United States, Sweden, Spain, UK, Republic of
Ireland, and the Netherlands, based on point of sale. Our revenue by country for years ended December 31,

2020, 2019 and 2018 were:
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Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
United StatesS.......ccovvevenereniseriee e 1,094,917 989,815 943,461
SWEABN.....viiii et 645,067 604,651 646,790
SPAIN ot 628,444 605,605 676,987
UK e 619,361 653,446 663,651
Republic of Ireland ..o, 424,918 391,983 412,317
Netherlands ... 381,970 416,052 512,619
Other oo 551,262 505,247 536,768
Total revenue 4,345,939 4,166,799 4,392,593

The Group had significant long-lived assets in the Sweden, UK, Spain, Republic of Ireland, Denmark and
the United States. Long-lived assets are comprised of property, plant and equipment and right of use assets
net of related accumulated depreciation. Our long-lived assets by country were:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
o =T o SRR 74,239 54,752
SPAIN et 50,759 46,700
UK e 60,963 44,700
Republic of Ireland ..........cccoveiiiiiie e 38,825 37,549
ONEE e 134,882 133,722
Total long-lived assets 359,668 317,423
OTHER (EXPENSE)/ INCOME, NET
Other income, net includes the following:
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 31,
2020 2019 2018

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Other income

Rental iNCOME......vveieeeciiceece e 2,708 2,270 2,304
Gain/(loss) on contingent consideration............ (519) 228 2,551
Other iNCOME .....veevviiieeece e 1,042 2,273 1,249
Subtotal — other income 3,231 4,771 6,104
Other components of net periodic benefit cost .. (2,169) (419) (835)
Transaction related COStS .......ccooveveirencienennn (396) (198) (4,197)
Other EXPENSES ....c.vrveeeririeieirienieese e (1,245) (211) (15)
Subtotal — other expense (3,810) (828) (5,047)
Total other income/(expense), net .......cceeeeeenes (579) 3,943 1,057
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7. INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Interest Income

INterest iINCOME ...ovvvieiieiie e 2,604 3,077 4,364
Total interest Income 2,604 3,077 4,364
Interest Expense

Interest expense on long term debt.................... (7,796) (10,492) (12,195)
Interest expense on finance lease liabilities...... (114) (58) —
Interest expense on capital lease liabilities ...... — — (130)
Other interest EXPense .......cccccvvvveveereereereeennes (2,613) (1,492) (1,504)
Total Interest Expense (10,523) (12,042) (13,829)

8. INCOME TAXES

The following table presents income tax expenses by selected jurisdiction for each of the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Current tax (benefit)/expense

Ireland ... 262 (280) 492
United StatesS.......coocvvvrivrieeeiee e 2,706 3,109 1,563
Foreign - excluding United States............. 15,860 15,449 15,445
Total current tax (benefit)/expense ...... 18,828 18,278 17,500
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense

Ireland......ccccooe e 185 566 421
United States........coovvireeiireceeciens (298) (1,948) 2,016
Foreign - excluding United States............. (585) (6,584) (83)
Total deferred tax (benefit)/expense...... (698) (7,966) 2,354
Income tax expenses 18,130 10,312 19,854
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Income before income taxes and income from investments accounted for under the equity method consisted
of the following:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Ireland......c.ccooeieieieice 2,852 2,597 15,128
United StatesS.......cocvvivvivnveeeieie e 7,615 978 7,206
Foreign - excluding United States............. 48,636 39,181 54,995
59,103 42,756 77,329

The differences between the reported income tax expense and income taxes computed at the Irish statutory
tax rate of 12.5% for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are explained in the following
reconciliation:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Income tax expense at the Irish statutory tax

rate 0f 12.5% ..ocoovviiiiecieiiieecee e 7,388 5,345 9,666
Effects of
Nondeductible goodwill impairment................. — — 2,453
Difference intax rates .......coocevevvvivreevererivree e, 8,247 1,908 4,018
Movement in valuation allowance..................... 2,824 740 1,014
Tax exempt iNCOME .....covvvreririenereene e (248) — (1,546)
Expenses not deductible for income tax

PUIPOSES ..ottt ettt 1,467 1,227 1,492
Changes in unrecognized tax benefits, net of

indirect benefits ... (648) 32 1,227
Contingent consideration adjustments............... (329) 163 1,316
Changes in estimates made in respect of prior

PEFIOUS ..ot (678) 821 427
Other ItBMS ....oveiiiiice e 107 76 (213)
Income tax expense 18,130 10,312 19,854
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Deferred tax recognized directly in other comprehensive income:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Deferred tax benefit (expense) on
remeasurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit
PIANS....c.eeiieie e 2,584 84 (763)

Total deferred tax benefit (expense)
recognized in other comprehensive income 2,584 84 (763)

Deferred tax recognized directly in retained earnings

On January 1, 2019, we recognized a benefit of $412,000 in retained earnings for the income tax effects of
our adoption of ASC 842—Leases.

The following table provides details of the principal components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as
of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Property, plant and equipment..........ccccoovevrinenninenecnees 996 924
LSS ettt ettt 583 413
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities............ccooeeveverinnnn 7,295 5,540
Employee BenefitS........ccooovviriviieiieeee e 4,153 1,955
Carry fOrward 10SSES......c.evererereeeeaieee e 18,548 15,573
(O] 131 R 1,335 1,047
Total deferred taxX aSSetS.......covvvvvveiveeiiveeiee e 32,910 25,452
Valuation allowancCe ... (16,395) (12,091)
Offset against deferred tax liabilities ..........ccoevviniininciien, (9,833) (8,633)
Total deferred tax assets, net 6,682 4,728

Deferred tax liabilities:

INtaNgible @SSELS ......ooeieiiiee e 18,982 20,660
Property, plant and equipment...........cccoorerrninninenecnens 3,863 2,039
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities..........c..ccocveevererennnn. — 77
LLBASES .. vt 120 —

L 13 TR 222 1,284
Investments in equity method investments...........ccccooeveenennn 9,097 982
Total deferred tax liabilities. ... 32,284 25,042
Offset against deferred tax aSSets ......ccoveveverereieneneieseree e (9,833) (8,633)
Total deferred tax liabilities, net 22,451 16,409
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At December 31, 2020, we had approximately $81,534,000 of operating and capital loss carryforwards
expiring as follows (USD in thousands):

Foreign -
excluding
United United
Ireland States States Total

2021 oo — — 1,727 1,727
2022 o — — — —
2023 i — — — —
2024 oo — — 108 108
2025 oo — 304 1,551 1,855
INAEFiNItE...oveiiiicce e, 32,977 917 43,950 77,844
B 0] - | 32,977 1,221 47,336 81,534

The following table presents the movement in the valuation allowance for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2020:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars In thousands)

Balance at January 1 12,091 11,577 11,091
Increase recognized in the income statement.. 4,509 1,437 1,201
Decrease recognized in the income statement (1,685) (697) (187)
Translation adjustments..........ccccccvervirennnnn, 1,480 (226) (528)
Balance at December 31 16,395 12,091 11,577

The valuation allowance increased by $2,824,000 in 2020 and by $740,000 in 2019. The increase in 2020
and 2019 relates primarily to valuation allowance on additional net operating loss and capital loss
carryforwards. The 2020 increase includes an additional $3,622,000 valuation allowance on net operating
loss carryforwards relating to one of our subsidiaries that we recognized because it is experiencing a
downturn in its trading conditions that in 2020 we determined to be sustained.

No provision for income tax has been provided on undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries because
such earnings are indefinitely reinvested in the foreign operations or because such earnings can be repatriated
in a tax-free manner. Cumulative unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries that are indefinitely reinvested
totaled approximately $10,600,000 at December 31, 2020. In the event of a repatriation of those earnings in
the form of dividends or otherwise, we may be liable for income taxes, subject to adjustment, if any, for
foreign tax credits and foreign withholding taxes payable to foreign tax authorities. The Company estimates
that approximately $500,000 of income taxes would be payable on the repatriation of the unremitted earnings
to Ireland.

We recognize deferred tax assets on potential foreign tax credits expected to be generated by the repatriation
of undistributed earnings only when the repatriation has occurred or is expected to occur in the foreseeable
future.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits (excluding interest and
penalties) is as follows:
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Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Balance at January 1 11,928 12,140
Increases due to tax positions taken in the current year-................. 2,190 1,676
Decreases due to lapse of statute of limitations ............c.cc.cceveenes (2,704) (1,652)
Translation adjuStMENTS ..........cooveireriiieeee e 1,285 (236)
Balance at December 31 12,699 11,928

The total of unrecognized tax benefits was $12,699,000 and $11,928,000 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
respectively. If recognized, we estimate that our effective tax rate would be affected by additional income
tax benefit of $6,089,000 and $6,024,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively. We
currently estimate that our unrecognized tax benefits will not change materially during the next twelve
months. We recognized a liability for accrued interest and penalties of $2,019,000 and $2,032,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively.

The tax years 2016 to 2020 remain subject to examination by taxing jurisdictions in Ireland, the United States,
and the United Kingdom; the tax years 2015 to 2020 remain subject to examination by taxing jurisdictions
in Sweden and Denmark.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding
shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares.

In November 2010, the Group purchased 22,000,000 of its own shares which are held as treasury shares. In
respect of the shares that are held by the Group (treasury shares), all rights (including voting and dividend
rights) are suspended until those shares are reissued and therefore they are not included in earnings per share
calculations. Details relating to the purchase of the Group's own shares in prior periods are outlined in
Note 27.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018

(U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands)

Profit for the year attributable to equity

shareholders of the parent..........ccccccoerennene. 52,488 55,060 36,614
Weighted average number of shares — basic

(in thouSaNnds)........covvireiiiriireeees 388,560 388,478 381,890
Basic earnings per share — cents ...........c.e..... 13.51 14.17 9.59

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the
effects of all ordinary shares and options with a dilutive effect. We use the treasury stock method to calculate
the dilutive effect of outstanding equity awards in the denominator for diluted EPS.
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Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018

(U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands)

Profit for the year attributable to equity

shareholders of the parent...........c.ccccccevenne 52,488 55,060 36,614
Weighted average number of shares............... 388,560 388,478 381,890
Effect of share options with a dilutive effect .. 583 817 1,257
Weighted average number of shares — diluted 389,143 389,295 383,147
Diluted earnings per share —cents................... 13.49 14.14 9.56

The average market value of the Company's shares used for the purpose of calculating the dilutive effect of
share options was based on quoted market prices for the year, during which the options were outstanding.

CASH
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held for the purposes of meeting short-term cash

commitments and call deposits, which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash within a short time
frame of between one day and three months.

December 31 December 31
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Bank DalanCesS........ccvveivvieiiiice e 160,434 111,537
Call deposits (demand balances).........ccovveeiireinineincncseeas 69 18,040
Cash, cash equivalents 160,503 129,577
TRADE RECEIVABLES
December 31 December 31
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Trade receivables due from third parties ...........ccocceevvivevereneniennnns 350,349 347,704
Trade receivables due from equity accounted affiliates.................. 21,494 17,553
Allowance for Credit 10SS ..o (10,122) (5,661)
Trade Receivables, net of allowance
(1014 1=] o SO 361,721 359,596

Movements in the trade receivables, allowance for credit losses are as follows.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Balance at January 1.......cccoovivviiniennn, (5,661) (7,770) (7,192)
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries......... (157) (118) (956)
Provision for receivables impairment -
charged to selling, general and
administrative eXpenses ........ccocevvervenne (5,468) (964) (1,561)

104



Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Receivables written off as uncollectible ..... 1,976 3,094 1,566
Foreign exchange........ccoccvveeiineccnicnnnn, (812) 97 373
Balance at December 31 ........ccccoceevvnenan. (10,122) (5,661) (7,770)

We adopted ASC 326 Financial Instruments—Credit Losses effective January 1, 2020, which did not have a
material impact on the Group's allowance for credit losses.

We manage the credit risk of a portion of our trade receivables through the use of non-recourse trade
receivables arrangements with a total facility amount of $115,300,000. Under the terms of these agreements
the Group has transferred substantially all of the credit risk of the trade receivables which are subject to these
agreements. At December 31, 2020 trade receivables amounting to $57,600,000 million have been
derecognized.

OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31 December 31
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

GIOWET J0ANS.......viiiiecitie ettt reas 30,677 35,242
Irish value added tax (“VAT?”) receivables............ccooeorvnennnnnnn. 837 758
Other VAT reCeivables ........oovvveieiiiecee e 7,292 7,646
Other reCEIVADIES .......ccvv e 34,387 31,946
Other receivables due from equity accounted affiliates................ 12,831 13,746
Allowance for Credit 10SS ........oocvvereireneeeee e (8,448) (6,312)
Other Receivables, net of allowance

(1= 0| SRR 47,486 54,918

[N Lo] g (U =1 ] USRS 30,090 28,108

Movements in the other receivables allowance for credit loss are as follows.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Balance at January 1 .......ccocoeeveeveverieneninnenns (6,312) (5,789) (5,141)
Provision for receivables impairment -
charged to selling, general and
administrative eXpenses .......cc.cceveverereens (2,745) (1,070) (2,200)
Receivables written off as uncollectible ...... 390 572 1,366
Reclassification...........cccoevvevrvvivnveiencneneens 428 — —
Foreign exchange.......c.cooeovviineccienn, (209) (25) 186
Balance at December 31 .......c.cceeveveveiennne (8,448) (6,312) (5,789)

We adopted ASC 326 Financial Instruments—Credit Losses effective January 1, 2020, which did not have a
material impact on the Group's allowance for credit losses on other receivables. The comparative periods
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continue to be presented under the then-applicable accounting policy.

As a result, for our December 2019 amounts, allowances were calculated on the basis of losses incurred at
this date of assessment. We continuously monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain
a provision for estimated credit losses based upon our historical experience, specific customer collection
issues that we have identified, and the aging of the trade receivables based on contractual terms.

For allowances calculated after January 1 2020, our allowance for credit losses on trade and other receivables
will reflect our estimate of credit losses over the remaining expected life of the asset. Expected credit losses
for newly recognized financial assets, as well as changes to expected credit losses during the period, will be
recognized in earnings and classified within cost of sales. These expected credit losses will be measured
based on historical loss data, current conditions and forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported
amount. Write-off of accounts receivable is performed only when all collection efforts have been exhausted
without success.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
The Group has detailed procedures for monitoring and managing the credit risk related to its trade receivables
based on experience, customers' track records and historic default rates. Individual risk limits are generally
set by customer, and risk is accepted above such limits only in defined circumstances. The utilization of credit
limits is regularly monitored, and a significant element of the credit risk is covered by credit insurance. The
impairment provision is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of
the amount owing is possible, at which point the amount is considered irrecoverable and is written off directly
against the trade receivable.

The Group also makes advances to key suppliers, generally to secure produce in key categories. Advances
made are generally interest- bearing and recovered through deduction from payments made in respect of
produce delivered by the counterparty.

A rating system has been utilized in relation to other receivables.

Trade receivables are considered to be in default if repayment is not considered probable. Other receivables
are considered to be in default if the receivable is not collected within the agreed terms.

The expected loss rates for other receivables are based on the repayment profiles of individual receivables
over a three-year period and the corresponding historical credit losses that have been experienced in this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information available that
affect the ability of the other receivable to repay the balance.

The following table details the aging of other receivables (non-current and current) including loans and
advances to suppliers, and the related loss allowance:

Loss Loss
Gross allowance Gross allowance
2020 2020 Net 2020 2019 2019 Net 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Not past due.................. 65,807 (1,445) 64,362 67,393 — 67,393
Past due 0 — 30 days ..... 844 (786) 58 627 — 627
Past due 31 — 90 days ... 167 (167) — 252 — 252
Past due 91 — 180 days.. 291 (291) — 952 (421) 531
Past due more than
180 days.......ccevverrennne 6,084 (5,759) 325 6,368 (5,891) 477

Total 73,193 (8,448) 64,745 75,592 (6,312) 69,280
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13.

14.

15.

Non-trade receivables due from equity accounted affiliates

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group had non-trade receivable balances due from its equity accounted
affiliates of $12,831,000 and $13,746,000, respectively.

INVENTORIES
December 31 December 31
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars In thousands)

Inventories

GOO0dS TOr IESAIE......cecieiee e s 120,897 97,346
CoNSUMADIES.......eciiicecc s 16,731 12,886
GIOWING CIOPS 1uvvveeveerieiseiesiestesesseeseessessessessessessessesssessessessessessenses 3,551 4,447
Total 141,179 114,679

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Prepaid EXPENSES. ......civveiie e iie e see et e e sre e e 16,570 13,254
Income tax receivable ... 2,936 2,736
OFNEE @SSBLS...c.teitieieiiietie ettt bbb 2,790
Total prepayment and other assetS.........ccovvveievieevieeveece e 19,506 18,780

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES — DOLE

On February 1,2018, the Group announced that it had entered into a binding agreement to acquire a 45%
stake in Dole from Mr. David H. Murdock for a cash consideration of $300 million (the 'First Tranche'). The
acquisition of the First Tranche was approved by the Board of Directors of Total Produce and was initially
subject to anti-trust review in a limited number of jurisdictions. On July 30, 2018, the European Commission
(the 'EC") approved the acquisition of the First Tranche. The EC approval was conditional on the divestment
of Saba Fresh Cut AB (the Swedish bagged salad business owned by Dole). This limited disposal had no
material impact on the strategic rationale or the commercial value of the transaction. As all other transaction
conditions precedent were satisfied at this date, the acquisition of the First Tranche completed on July 31,
2018. The registered address of Dole is One Dole Drive, Westlake Village, California 91362, United States.

On completion of the acquisition of the First Tranche on July 31, 2018, the Group and Mr. David H. Murdock
have balanced governance rights with respect to Dole. The Board of Directors of Dole comprises six
members, three of which are appointed by Total Produce and three by Mr. David H. Murdock. Mr. David H.
Murdock remains Chairman of Dole and Carl McCann was appointed Vice Chairman. Major decisions
require consent of at least one Board member appointed by each of Total Produce and Mr. David H. Murdock.

In addition, and at any time after closing of the First Tranche, the Group has the right, but not the obligation,
to acquire (in any one or more tranches of 1%) up to an additional 6% of Dole common stock (the 'Second
Tranche'). In the event the Group exercises the right to acquire the additional 6% the total consideration for
the 51% stake shall be $312 million. Following the second anniversary of the closing of the First Tranche,
the Group has the right, but not the obligation, to acquire the balance of Dole common stock (the Third
Tranche'), whereby the consideration for the Third Tranche is to be calculated based on nine times the three-
year average historical Dole Adjusted EBITDA less net debt. However, in no event shall the Third Tranche
purchase price be less than $250 million or exceed $450 million (such cap subject to increase after six years).
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The Third Tranche consideration is payable in cash or, if the parties mutually agree, Total Produce stock.
From the fifth anniversary of completion of the acquisition of the First Tranche, in the event the Group has
not exercised its right to acquire 100% of Dole, Mr. David H. Murdock is permitted to cause a process to
market and sell 100% of Dole common stock.

We hold a variable interest in Dole and it qualifies as a VIE under the guidance in ASC 810-10-15-14. Due
to the governance arrangements in place and as all significant decisions in Dole require the consent of both
the Group and Mr David H. Murdock, we do not hold a controlling financial interest in Dole and are not the
primary beneficiary. By virtue of the voting arrangements in place we exercise significant influence over
Dole and equity account for our investment in accordance with ASC 323 in the consolidated Group accounts
following completion of the acquisition of the First Tranche on July 31, 2018. The overall business is seasonal
with the greater share of net income in the first half of the financial year.

The following table provides aggregated financial information for Dole as it relates to the amounts recognized
in the statement of operations, statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet. The audited financial
statements of Dole as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2020 are separately presented elsewhere in this Scheme Circular in accordance with the
requirements of rules 3-05 and 3-09 of Regulation S-X.

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Opening DAlANCE ........ocviiiece e 313,289 303,367
Share 0f NEt INCOME .......coiiiiiice e 21,868 24,890
Share of other comprehensive income/(10SS) .........ccevvecveiiveiveninns 4,551 (6,028)
Share of notes and interest issued to affiliates...........cccoccevvviivennnnns 777 (8,940)
Closing carrying amount...............cccoeeviieeeiniiee e 340,485 313,289
Deferred tax recognized on the change in the Group’s temporary
taxable basis difference on its investment in Dole, recognized
in:
Equity in net earnings of investments accounted for under the
equUity Method ........cooveiiiiiecr e 6,757 982
Other comprehensive income/(l0ss), net of taX.........ccccccvvvennee 1,358 -

Dole's financial calendar consists of thirteen periods of four weeks. The 2020 financial year began on
December 29, 2019 (FY19: December 30, 2018) and ended on December 31, 2020 (FY19: December 28,
2019).

Summarized financial information for Dole for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and December
28, 2019 as well as for the five months ended December 29, 2018 are set out below. Unless stated otherwise
the information reflects the amounts reported in the financial statements of Dole rather than the share
attributable to the Group.
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Summary Statement of Operations

REVENUE ...t
Gross Profit........cccceveieiinieieiseeeee e
Selling, general and administrative expenses .
Net INterest EXPENSE ......cccvrvervierieiesrerieesienans
Earnings/(loss) from equity investments ........
Other income/(EXPENSE) ......covrvvvveeerverieriennens
Income (loss) before income taxes...............
Income tax (expense)/benefit...........cccevnee.
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations ....
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests...........cccceeevvievnenen.

Net income/(loss) attributable to Dole
equity shareholders....................cccccoonnen.

Total Produce 45% share of net
income/(loss) attributable to equity
shareholders ..........................ocee .

Summary Statement of Other Comprehensive Income Statement

Other comprehensive (loss)

Pension and postretirement obligation
adjustments, net of income tax benefits of
$875, $1,131 and SNil......coceveviriiiiieis

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net
of income tax of $Nil, $Nil and $Nil ..........

Effective portion of changes in fair value of
cash flow hedges, net of income tax of
$2,758, $Nil and $Nil ........cocooveiviiieii

Total other comprehensive income/ (loss)...

Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable
to equity shareholders .............................

Total Produce 45% share of net
income/(loss) attributable to equity
shareholders ........................ooeee,

Year ended Year ended Five months ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
4,671,999 4,515,955 1,766,625
365,799 354,562 89,823
(189,912) (183,657) (79,404)
(72,906) (82,072) (36,202)
2,149 (378) 183
(29,305) (3,316) (1,131)
75,825 85,139 (26,731)
(25,332) (25,122) 1,256
(43) (2,500) 249
(1,854) (2,205) (974)
48,596 55,312 (26,200)
21,868 24,890 (11,790)
Year ended Year ended Five months ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
(7,045) (5,131) 14,362
25,575 (8,265) (8,361)
(8,417) — —
10,113 (13,396) 6,001
10,113 (13,396) 6,001
4,551 (6,028) 2,700
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Summary Balance Sheet information

Current assets....
Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment ..........cccccvvereiineneineee e
RIGNt Of USE @SSELS ...
ASSEtS held TOr Sale ........oviiiiiie e
Other NON-CUITENT BSSELS ....c.viveveieirerieieete ettt

Borrowings .......
Lease liabilities.

Other noncurrent HabilitieS ..........cocoevviiiie i
Other current HabilitieS........eveivviie e
NONCONLrOHING INTErEST .....c.veviieiieiieee e

Net assets .........

Total Produce 45% share of Net aSSetS.......cccvevvveeeeveiirevireee e,

Goodwill............

Carrying amount of Total Produce’s 45% investment in Dole.

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
784,231 774,812
278,093 278,155
1,093,355 1,058,534
232,067 263,073
48,543 64,637
108,297 98,612
(1,247,522) (1,317,317)
(229,220) (261,590)
(348,956) (364,248)
(683,542) (619,953)
(9,367) (9,170)
25,979 (34,455)
11,691 (15,505)
328,794 328,794
340,485 313,289

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we did not provide any financial support to Dole that we were
not contractually obligated to provide.

The following table presents our maximum exposure to loss in Dole as a VIE as of December 31, 2020 and

2019:

Carrying value of equity investment in Dole...........c.ccccovevveiennnnns
Maximum eXposure t0 10SS........cccveieiiieiie e

December 31,

December 31,

2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
340,485 313,289
340,485 313,289

The maximum exposure to loss represents the amount that would be absorbed by us in the event that all of
our assets held in the VIE, had no value. We have not provided any guarantees in respect of debt issued by

Dole.

The following table shows amounts due to and from Dole as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Amounts due to

Dole - presented within trade payables................

Amounts due from Dole - presented within trade receivables.......

December 31,

December 31,

2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
2,627 971
1,298 493

See Note 26 for related party transactions with Dole for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2020.
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16.

Other required disclosures

Audited financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019 and for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2020 are in accordance with Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X., included
elsewhere within the Scheme Circular.

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES - OTHER

As of December 31, 2020, our investments in unconsolidated affiliates (other than Dole) using the equity
method of accounting was $118,072,000 (2019: $115,886,000). There are no significant investees in which
we hold 20% of more of their voting stock that are not accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

One of our equity accounted affiliates, El Parque, a fresh produce business is a VIE and is accounted for
under the equity method of accounting. See Note 29 for further details in respect of El Parque.

For our equity accounted investments, we recognize our share of earnings and losses based on our ownership
percentage of such investments in equity in net earnings (losses) of investments accounted for under the
equity method. Significant equity method investees excluding Dole as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 are as follows:

The following sets out the Group's significant equity method investments other than Dole.

Principal Country of Ownership

Activity Incorporation interest
The Fresh Connection LLC Fresh Produce USA 50%
2451487 Ontario Inc. Fresh Produce Canada 50%

Property Holding

2451490 Ontario Inc. Company Canada 50%
Frankfort & Korning Beheer Venio BV Fresh Produce Netherlands 50%
Peviani SpA Fresh Produce Italy 50%
Frutas IRU S.A. Fresh Produce Spain 50%
Exportadora y Servicios El Parque Limitada Fresh Produce Chile 50%

111



The following table provides aggregated financial information for equity-accounted entities, other than Dole
as it relates to the amounts recognized in the statement of operations, statement of comprehensive income
and balance sheet.

2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Opening balanCe ... 115,886 119,174
Share of profit after taxX.........ccocoevvreiiiii 15,168 13,035
Share of other comprehensive income/(10SS) .........cocoovevrennne — —
Recognized directly in qQUItY ........ccccooeiirenniinincneee (91) (169)
Investment in equity accounted affiliates (A) ......cccceveveiennns (176) 1,868
Repayment of long-term 10ans..........ccccvevevevenesnscnceecesenn, (68) (2,261)
Equity accounted investee becoming an investment (D) ......... — (2,458)
Equity accounted investee becoming a subsidiary (C)............. (5,328) —
DiSPOSAl ..o — (65)
Dividends declared (E) .......ccovevveriverieeiieeieeseeie e sie s s (15,292) (12,432)
FOreign eXChange ........ccveuveiieie e 7,973 (806)
Closing carrying amount..............ccccoecvveeniiinesniiee e 118,072 115,886
A Investments in equity accounted affiliates

During 2020, the Group invested $901,000 (FY19: $1,875,000) in cash in a number of joint ventures
in Europe.

Equity accounted investee becoming an investment

In 2019, as a result of changes in shareholder arrangements and the Group no longer having
significant influence in two equity accounted affiliates, the Group ceased equity accounting for these
two investments. The carrying value of these investments at the date that the arrangements changed
was deemed to equate to fair value and the value was reclassified to other investments and accounted
for as an, other financial asset.

Equity accounted investee becoming a subsidiary

In April 2020, the Group acquired additional shares in Eco Farms, a company based in California
in the United States that specializes in avocados. This resulted in Eco Farms being consolidated as
a subsidiary of the Group from the date of acquisition of additional shares. The carrying amount of
the original shareholding at the date of acquisition of $5,328,000 was deemed to be fair value.

Dividends declared

Dividends of $15,292,000 (2019: $12,432,000) were declared by equity accounted affiliates during
the year. The cash received from dividends in 2020 was $13,905,000 (2019: $11,497,000).

The following table shows, as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group's share of the underlying
equity in net assets of equity accounted affiliates (other than Dole) and the carrying amount of the
Group's investment in those equity accounted affiliates. The difference arising relates to goodwill
on acquisition of those affiliates:
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17.

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Net assets of equity accounted affiliates — excluding
Dole

Total Produce share of net assets...........ccooeverrenerinennen.

GOOAWIHL ...

Carrying value of equity investment in equity
accounted affiliates — excluding Dole ........................

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

88,944 87,309
29,128 28,577
118,072 115,886

The following table shows amounts due to and from equity accounted affiliates, other than Dole as

of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Amounts due to equity accounted investees (other than
Dole) - presented within trade payables.......................

Amounts due from equity accounted investees (other
than Dole) - presented within trade receivables...........

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

17,477 16,471

3,790 866

See Note 26 for related party transactions with equity accounted affiliates for each of the three years

in the period ended December 31, 2020.

December 31,

December 31,

2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
CUITENT ASSELS ..ttt ettt ettt e e et e e ee e e s are e e e erbeeeeenes 382,187 311,260
NON-CUITENT SSELS ..o vveee et 308,192 259,454
CUrrent HabiltieS ....eoveeeee e s (288,712) (249,168)
Non-current Habilities. ..o (140,590) (118,981)
Redeemable preferred stock
Noncontrolling INtErestS........covvvereiieneeee e (3,900) (2,970)
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
REVENUE ... 1,605,660 1,621,362 1,684,004
(000 A0 HEY (=T (1,383,617) (1,391,192) (1,487,641)
Net INCOME/(10SS) ....evervieiriiieiiiere e 34,496 19,703 45,525
Net Income/(loss)- attributable to Total Produce
15,168 13,035 12,769

PIC et

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

113



18.

December 31, December 31,

2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Land and BUIdINgS ........ccoieriiiiiie e 147,028 130,030
Plant and eqQUIPMENT .........coeiiiiiiieeeereee e 175,163 141,203
MOLOr VENICIES ... 26,844 26,103
Bearer PIantS........cooi i 1,566 1,836
COMPULET SOTIWAIE ...t 29,175 20,419
Less accumulated depreciation ...........c.ccoveveieneneienencieneneee (160,111) (131,013)
Property, plant and equipment, net ....................cccoceniiininnn. 219,665 188,578

Plant and equipment and motor vehicles include assets held under finance leases totaling $10,414,000 and
$3,928,000 respectively (2019: $693,000 and $3,592,000 respectively). Accumulated amortization for assets
under finance leases was $3,578,000 at December 31, 2020 and $2,223,000 at December 31, 2019.
Depreciation on right of use assets was $1,192,000, (2019: $756 and 2018: $Nil).

Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment totaled $24,634,000 (2019: $22,900,000 and 2018:
$21,908,000). Included within depreciation expense was depreciation expense on capitalized software of
$2,978,000 (2019: $2,286,000 and 2018: $1,646,000). Computer software expenditure capitalized in the year
was $6,586,000 (2019: $5,183,000, 2018: $4,981,000). Accumulated depreciation of capitalized software
was $12,308,000 at December 31, 2020 and $8,386,000 at December 31, 2019.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table reflects our indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill and our definite-lived
intangible assets along with related accumulated amortization by major category:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

GOOAWIT ... 234,161 221,102
Definite lived intangibles

Customer relationships ........ccocveveererinieresee e 141,157 137,077
Other intangible aSSELS ......coviiiiiiiiieieree e 44,053 46,000
Accumulated amortization ... (119,576) (104,502)
Goodwill and intangibles, net..................cccooiiiiiiniinn 299,795 299,678

There were no impairment charges recorded to goodwill or indefinite lived intangibles during the year (2019:
Nil and 2018: 9,811,000).
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The following table reflects the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019 by reportable segment.

Europe- Europe -
Non-Eurozone Eurozone International Total
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 103,192 14,995 101,917 220,104
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 1,895 2,101 — 3,996
Disposal of business..........c.ccceeveueen. (775) — — (775)
Foreign exchange movement............ (368) (174) (1,681) (2,223)
Balance as of December 31, 2019.. 103,944 16,922 100,236 221,102
Avrising on acquisition of subsidiaries — 1,031 67 1,098
Foreign exchange movement........... 10,233 1,445 283 11,961
Balance as of December 31, 2020.... 114,177 19,398 100,586 234,161

The Group has applied the provisions of ASU 2017-04 with effect from January 1, 2017 and so uses the
simplified impairment testing set out in that update which provides guidance in applying a step one approach
to test for impairment before calculating the actual impairment. Our goodwill impairment charges are
calculated as the amount by which the carrying amount of the reporting exceeds the reporting unit's fair value.
However, the impairment charge recognized cannot exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that
reporting unit Goodwill is tested annually for impairment in the 4" quarter, or more frequently if there are
indications that goodwill might be impaired. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated at
the reporting unit level.

Our impairments of goodwill are generally estimated using the income or market approach, or a combination
thereof. This approach calculates the present value of future cash flows by estimating the after-tax cash flows
attributable to a reporting unit and then discounting the after-tax cash flows to a present value using a risk-
adjusted discount rate. We selected this method as being the most meaningful in preparing our goodwill
assessment as we believe the income approach most appropriately measures our income-producing assets.
The cash flow projections in the analysis consist of management's estimates of revenue growth rates and
profitability. The values applied to these key assumptions are derived from a combination of external and
internal factors, based on past experience together with management's future expectations about business
performance.

The Group's earnings are significantly dependent on the selling prices and margins obtained for products
sold. These, in turn, are largely determined by market supply and demand. Fresh produce supplies in
individual markets are affected by the geography of production, growing conditions (including climate),
seasonality and perishability. Market demand is a function of population size, per capita consumption, the
availability and quality of individual products, competing products, climatic, economic and other general
conditions in the marketplace. Excess produce leading to reduced selling prices (particularly for products
purchased under contract) could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations
and financial condition.

The discount rate used in the fair value analysis reflect the current market assessment of the risk specific to
each reporting unit. The discount rates were estimated by calculating a reporting unit-specific weighted
average cost of capital to reflect the market assessment of risks specific to each reporting unit for which the
cash flow projections have not been adjusted.

Due to the mix of unobservable inputs utilized, the fair value of goodwill is classified as Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy. Applying the techniques above, an impairment charge of $Nil relating to goodwill was
recognized in the statement of operations in 2020 (2019: $Nil, 2018: $9,811,000. The impairment charges in
2018 related to the fresh produce businesses in the Netherlands, which had experienced a difficult trading
environment resulting in a slower recovery than had been anticipated.
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Details of our definite lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 were as follows:

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Definite lived intangibles
Customer relationships ..........ccoceevvreiicneens 141,157 (95,580) 45,577
Other intangible assets.......cc.ccoovvviiiciennnenine 44,053 (23,996) 20,065

Other intangible assets include brands of $6,760,000 and supplier relationships of $13,296,000

A rollforward of the intangible assets excluding goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
was as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Balance as of January 1..........c.ccoccoviiiiiiiniine e 78,576 86,961
AAITIONS .. 186 2,953
DiSPOSAL .....c.vieeiice e s (298) (15)
AMOITIZALION ....cciiie e (11,548) (11,509)
Foreign exchange iIMpPact.........ccccevevierieie s (1,282) 186
Balance as of December 31...............ccoooiiiiiiiiii e, 65,634 78,576

Amortization expense of definite-lived intangible assets totaled $11,548,000, $11,509,000 and $12,115,000
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These amounts are included in selling,
general and administrative expenses.

The estimated amortization expense related to definite-lived intangible assets for the five succeeding years
is as follows:

Year Estimated amortization expense
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

2020 e e 10,538

2022 .t 10,062

2023 e 9,209

2024 ..o e 8,252

2025 e 7,979
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20.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Current (U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Trade Payables ..o 464,105 405,831
ACCIUALS ..ot ene s 92,484 62,804
Deferred consSideration............cocooereieneiie s — 288
Other PayabIes ..o 31,183 30,885
IFiSh PaYrOll tAXES.......coiviiiiiiiciee s 3,650 3,083
Irish valued added taXesS........ccooviiriiiere e 1,664 939
OFher tAXES ...eveivieieiieeiie et 18,056 15,132
Derivative Hability ..o 1,149 342
Related party payables

Trade payables due to unconsolidated investments .................... 10,298 10,681
Non-trade payables due to unconsolidated investments ............. 128 28
Total current payables and accrued expenses........................ 622,717 530,013

Other taxes include payroll taxes and value added taxes incurred outside of Ireland.
BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2020, the principal amount of our outstanding indebtedness totaled $346,831,000. There
were no debt issuance costs, debt discounts or debt premium at December 31, 2020. Commitment fees of
$669,000 are included in prepayments on the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2020.

Our undrawn facilities comprised approved revolving debt facilities, committed and uncommitted borrowing
facilities and term debt of up to $388,636,000 (2019: $332,425,000) in addition to undrawn amounts of
$129,857,000 (2019: $111,248,000) on approved overdrafts. As of December 31, 2020, we remained in
compliance with the financial covenants across our various debt agreements.
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The following table provides a summary of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

As of
December
As of December 31, 31,
2020 2019
Weighted
average
Undrawn Amounts interest Amount
Debt obligation Commitment amounts  outstanding rate Maturity outstanding
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Revolving credit facilities 578,147 319,893 258,254 1.23% 2021 - 2023 284,185
Committed notes............. 60,097 — 60,097 3.20% 2021 - 2024 75,936
Uncommitted notes......... 66,000 66,000 — — 2023
Other (mainly term debt) 10,628 2,743 7,885 4.21% 2021 - 2024
Overdrafts ........ccccevenenen. 141,100 129,857 11,243 1.38% 1 year 10,657
Finance leases................. 9,352 — 9,352 241% 2021 - 2025
................................ 346,831 379,358
Current.....cccooceevviiiennennn 31,991 97,150
Non-current............ccceeee. 314,840 282,208

Revolving credit facilities

The Group has a number of bilateral revolving credit facilities with six relationship banks (Rabobank, HSBC,
Bank of Montreal, Danske Bank, Ulster Bank and Bank of Ireland). These facilities typically have maturities
of three to five years and can contain plus one extensions and accordion features. The facilities mature
between 2021 and 2023. The total of these facilities amounted to $578,147,000 at December 31, 2020 with
$319,893,000 undrawn.

These facilities are generally multicurrency giving the Group the ability to draw down borrowings in Euro,
US Dollar, Sterling, Canadian Dollar, Swedish Krona, Danish Kroner and Czech Koruna. Interest on the
borrowings is at floating rates set in advance for periods ranging from 1 month to 3 months by reference to
interest bank interest rates (EURIBOR, US LIBOR, sterling LIBOR, STIBOR etc) plus a margin dependent
on net leverage of the Group as calculated in accordance with the individual facility agreements. In addition,
we pay fees on unused commitments. The facilities are unsecured and are guaranteed by Total Produce plc
and certain subsidiaries. The facilities contain covenants customary for unsecured facilities of this type
including financial covenants on maximum leverage and minimum interest cover.

Committed notes

The Group has issued committed notes under two private placement facilities. The Group's unsecured
committed notes which fall due between 2021 and 2024 are comprised of amortizing fixed rate debt issued
in 2013 that is maturing in 2021 and 2022 and amortizing fixed rate debt issued in 2017 and maturing in 2021
to 2024. At December 31, 2020 the total unamortized principle on these notes was STG £3,000,000 and
$44,000,000, respectively. The facilities are unsecured and are guaranteed by Total Produce plc and certain
subsidiaries. The facilities contain covenants customary for unsecured facilities of this type including
financial covenants on maximum leverage and minimum interest cover.

Uncommitted note facility

In July 2020, the Group renewed a three-year private placement facility of $66,000,000. This facility allows
the Group to drawn down long term funding for periods of up to twelve years. The facilities are unsecured
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and are guaranteed by Total Produce plc and certain subsidiaries. The facilities contain covenants customary
for unsecured facilities of this type including financial covenants on maximum leverage and minimum
interest cover.

Bank overdrafts

The Group and its subsidiaries have a number of bank overdraft facilities which are primarily used to fund
season working capital requirements. The total of these facilities at December 31, 2020 was $141,100,000
with $129,857,000 available. The facilities contain covenants customary for unsecured facilities of this type
including financial covenants on maximum leverage and minimum interest cover.

Maturities of debt financing

Maturities of our debt financings excluding debt issuance costs, debt discounts and debt premium as of
December 31, 2020 were as follows (translated at the December 31, 2020 Euro to USD exchange rate:

Fiscal Year Maturity of debt financings
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

2020 e e 30,344

2022 . e 164,550

2023 e 127,722

2024 ..o s 14,863

2025 e —

THEIEATTEI ...t —

Total bank borrowings include borrowings of $6,289,000 (2019: $3,838,000) secured on property, plant and
equipment.

Interest on borrowings expensed in each of the three years ended December 31, 2020 is disclosed in Note 7.

No interest on borrowings incurred on construction of property, plant and equipment requiring capitalization
arose during the three years ended December 31, 2020.

LEASES

As of the first day of our 2019 fiscal year beginning December 29, 2018, we adopted ASU No. 2016-02,
“Leases (Topic 842),” which requires leases with durations greater than twelve months to be recognized on
the balance sheet using the modified retrospective approach. Prior year consolidated financial statements
were not adjusted under the new standard and, therefore, those amounts are not presented below.

We elected the package of transition provisions available for expired or existing contracts, which allowed us
to carry forward our historical assessments of (1) whether contracts are or contain leases, (2) lease
classification and (3) initial direct costs.

A lease is defined as a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. We lease property, plant, equipment & motor vehicles under finance and operating leases. We
lease property and equipment under finance and operating leases. For leases with terms greater than 12
months, we record the related asset and obligation at the present value of lease payments over the term. Many
of our leases include rental escalation clauses, renewal options and/or termination options that are factored
into our determination of lease payments when appropriate. We do not separate lease and non-lease
components of contracts.

Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities
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represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and liabilities are
recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the
lease term. When available, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present value;
however, most of our leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. Therefore, we must estimate
our incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease payments based on information available at lease
commencement.

The lease term consists of the non-cancellable period of the lease and the periods covered by options to extend
or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise such options. Our lease agreements
do not contain any residual value guarantees.

We elected the package of transition provisions available for expired or existing contracts, which allowed us
to carry forward our historical assessments of (1) whether contracts are or contain leases, (2) lease
classification and (3) initial direct costs.

A lease is defined as a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. We lease property, plant, equipment & motor vehicles under finance and operating leases. We
lease property and equipment under finance and operating leases. For leases with terms greater than 12
months, we record the related asset and obligation at the present value of lease payments over the term. Many
of our leases include rental escalation clauses, renewal options and/or termination options that are factored
into our determination of lease payments when appropriate. We do not separate lease and non-lease
components of contracts.

Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and liabilities are
recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the
lease term. When available, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present value;
however, most of our leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. Therefore, we must estimate
our incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease payments based on information available at lease
commencement.

The lease term consists of the non-cancellable period of the lease and the periods covered by options to extend

or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise such options. Our lease agreements
do not contain any residual value guarantees.
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The following table presents the lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the balance sheet as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Classification on the December 31 December 31
balance sheet 2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Assets
Operating lease assets Operating lease right-of-use assets 140,212 128,961
Finance Lease assets .... Property, plant and equipment, net 10,980 2,063
Total lease assets......... 151,192 131,024
Liabilities
Current
Operating .......cccccevenen. Current maturities of operating leases 21,910 22,250
Finance ......cccocevennne. Current maturities of debt and finance
leases 1,647 525
Noncurrent
Operating .......cccccevenen. Operating leases, less current maturities 122,225 110,736
Finance .......ccccceeveenens Long-term debt and finance leases, less
current maturities 7,705 1,166
Total lease liabilities 153,487 134,677
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)

OPErating 18aSES........eeivriireteee e 11.03 12.25
FINANCE 1BASES ....c.vecvieeeie et 3.89 2.69
Weighted-average discount rate

OPErating lEaSES. .....cviveieiieiiittrieict s 2.37% 2.40%
FINANCE 1EASES ... eveeveeeeie ettt 2.41% 1.89%

We adopted ASC 842 with effect from January 1, 2019. Upon adoption of the new lease standard, discount
rates used for existing leases were established at January 1, 2019. ASC 842 requires a lessee to classify a
lease as either a finance or operating lease. Both will result in the recognition of a right of use asset and a
lease liability on the balance sheet. Interest and amortization expense are recognized for finance leases while
only a single lease expense is recognized for operating leases, typically on a straight-line basis.

Lessor accounting remains similar to previous accounting policies.
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Lease Costs

The following table presents certain information related to the lease costs for finance and operating leases
for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Interest on Finance lease liability.........cccocovviviviicicic i 114 56
Depreciation on Finance 16ase aSsetS .......c.ovvvvivververeiesesinsinannas 1,192 716
Operating 18aSe COSES ......ccvvviriieeieieiere e 27,289 24,341
Short-term 18aSe COSt......ccviiiirieiie e 1,433 1,747
Total 1€aSe COSt ......vvviiiiiire e 30,028 26,861
Supplemental cash flow information
December 31, December 31
2020 2019

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of the lease

liability
Operating cash flows for operating 1€ases .........c.ccccevvevvevveiennns 29,397 22,308
Financing cash flows for finance leases............cccoocevivevivevc e, 2,844 990

Undiscounted Cash Flows

The following tables reconcile the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total remaining
years to the finance lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities recorded on the balance sheets as of
December 31, 2020:

Operating Leases  Finance Leases
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

2020 e 26,573 1,826
2022 e 23,214 1,354
20023 e 20,644 1,147
2024 ... s 18,979 1,008
2025 s 14,826 4,812
LI LcT =T 1 =] USSR 62,283 —
Total lease payments...............ccccoeviiiiiiiiiici 166,519 10,147
Less: Imputed interest ..............cccooovieviiiiiieniienie e (22,279) (590)
Total lease liabilities.................ccccoceeviiiii i, 144,240 9,557

Related party lease transactions

The Group in the ordinary course of business entered into a number of lease agreements with related parties.
During the periods presented, the Group as lessee, entered into the following transactions with such parties.
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22.

Classification on the balance December 31, December 31,
sheet 2020 2019

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Liabilities

Current

Operating ......cccoevevevennienneennen, Current maturities of operating 1,993 2,437
leases

FInance ......cccecevveeievievieecee e, Current maturities of debt and 135 121
finance leases

Noncurrent

Operating .......cceeveveevveriereeresesrnnnns Operating leases, less current 14,202 15,661
maturities

FINance ......ccccevvveieicie i Long-term debt and finance leases, 427 514
less current maturities

Total related party lease liabilities 16,757 18,733

Leases as a lessor

We are the lessor in respect of various properties under both cancellable and non-cancellable operating leases.
In 2020, $2,708,000 (2019: $2,270,000, 2018: $2,304,000) was recognized as rental income in the statement
of operations.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a number of defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans. The schemes are set
up under trusts and the assets of the plans are therefore held separately from those of the Group.

Defined contribution plans

The charge in the statement of operations in respect of the Group's defined contribution plans was
$10,586,000 (2019: $10,071,000 and 2018: $9,824,000).

Defined benefit plans

We operate six funded defined benefit pension plans for certain employees of the Group. Two of these plans
are based in Ireland, two are based in the United Kingdom, and two smaller schemes in each of the
Netherlands and Canada. The pension benefits payable on retirement in the UK, Ireland and Canada are
determined based on years of service and the levels of salary. The scheme in the Netherlands provides pension
benefits based on career average salary.

The plans in Ireland have been closed to new entrants since 2009 and salaries for defined benefit purposes
have been capped with any salary increases above the cap pensionable on a defined contribution basis. In
2017, the Group initiated an Enhanced Transfer Value (‘'ETV') program whereby an offer was made to all
active and deferred members of the Irish defined benefit pension plans (the “Irish Plans”) to transfer their
accumulated accrued benefits from the Irish Plans, eliminating future accrual of benefits in the Irish Plans
and receive a transfer value above the statutory minimum amount. This program has reduced the volatility of
the Irish Plans going forward. Both of the UK schemes are also closed to new entrants and to new accruals.
The schemes in the Netherlands and North America are also closed to new entrants.

With respect to the UK plans, on October 26, 2018, the UK High Court ruled (in a landmark case relating to
the Lloyds Banking Group's pension schemes) that pension benefits must be equalized in respect of
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMPs) accrued between May 17, 1990 and April 5, 1997. The impact of
this ruling on the UK plans was treated as a plan amendment.
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Defined benefit pension schemes represent a significant commitment of the Group's resources and they are
exposed to the volatility of market conditions. The values of pension assets are exposed to worldwide
conditions in equity and bond markets. The underlying calculation of pension plan liabilities are subject to
changes in discount rates, inflation rates and the longevity of plan members. The cost of defined benefit
schemes and in particular the method used to value liabilities in the current historically low interest rate
environment has resulted in significant volatility and cost to the Group. In addition, the cost of operating
defined benefit pension plans has increased due to more stringent funding rules and increased regulations.

Obligations and funded status
The following tables sets forth a reconciliation of defined benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status

for our defined benefit pension plans as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (U.S. Dollars in
thousands):
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Benefit obligation at

December 31,2018 ...............
Service CoSt.....ccoovvvuvriniriennns
Interest CoSt........ccoovvrivrinninnns
Employee contributions .........
Benefits paid ...........ccoceeveiennen
Actuarial gains/losses.............
CUITENCY ..o

Benefit obligation at

December 31,2019 ...............
Service CoSt.....coevvvrererinneenne.
Interest COSt........cccvvvvevivennnnnn.
Employee contributions.........
Plan Amendments..................
Benefits paid.........c.ccooeevriennn.
Actuarial gains/losses ............
Settlements........ccccoocvvvrvinnnn.
CUITENCY ..vvveiveeicreerce e

Benefit obligation at

December 31, 2020................

Fair value of plan assets at

December 31, 2018 .................
Actual return on plan assets.........
Employer contributions ...............
Employee contributions...............
Benefits paid..........cccccceeevvivennnn
CUITENCY .eveivivieciiee e

Fair value of plan assets at

December 31, 2019 .................

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions ...............
Employee contributions...............
Benefits paid..........cccccceeevvivennnn
Settlements .......ccoceveviniieninnn
CUITENCY .eveivivieciiee e

Fair value of plan assets at

December 31,2020..................

Net pension liability/(asset)

recognized at December 31,
2009 ..

Net pension liability/(asset)

recognized at December 31,
2020 ...

Ireland UK Netherlands Canada Total
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

(90,275) (99,165) (14,458) a1,777) (205,675)
(1,201) — (435) — (1,536)
(1,822) (2,916) (306) (73) (5,117)

(76) — (64) — (140)
2,657 2,416 91 161 5,325
(8,184) (7,876) (2,715) (28) (18,803)
1,774 (3,768) 276 (83) (1,801)

(97,027) (111,309) (17,611) (1,800) (227,747)
(1,310) — (548) — (1,858)
(1,359) (2,122) (258) (69) (3,808)

(67) — (63) — (130)
— (279) — — (279)
2,958 2,615 99 163 5,835
(4,420) (16,264) (1,297) (26) (22,007)
(9,402) (5,080) (1,807) (37) (16,326)
(110,627) (132,439) (21,485) (1,769) (266,320)
88,243 90,195 13,186 1,529 193,153
5,931 11,935 2,639 79 20,584
3,502 1,431 504 — 5,437
76 — 64 — 140
(2,657) (2,416) (91) (161) (5,325)
(1,740) 3,531 (252) 74 1,613
93,355 104,676 16,050 1,521 215,602
2,663 12,114 1,492 56 16,325
2,070 1,226 526 — 3,822
67 — 63 — 130
(2,958) (2,615) (99) (163) (5,835)
8,874 4,462 1,655 26 15,017

104,071 119,863 19,687 1,440 245,061
3,672) (6,633) (1,561) 279) (12,145)
(6,556) (12,576) (1,798) (329) (21,259)

We recognized these amounts on our consolidated balance sheets as follows (US Dollars in thousands):
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Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

Defined benefit plan liability — current..............................

Employee benefits — noncurrent

Defined benefit plan liability, net—noncurrent............

Other employee benefits—noncurrent...........c.cccceeeeee.
Employee benefits — noncurrent, total .........................coe
Amount recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets .......

Amounts recognized in the Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income ................cccoccoeviiiiiiiii
Net actuarial 10SSes..............cocceriiiiiiiniiiic e
Net prior service (cost) credit...............ccoooveriiiiniiniiiiieniiens

Total amount recognized in Accumulated Other

Comprehensive INCOME ...........c.coueoviciiiiniieiieiise e

Actuarial assumptions

We used the following weighted average assumptions to determine our projected benefit obligations under

the pension plans:

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

(5,787)

(15,472)

(8,135)
(23,607)
(29,394)

(64,591)
8,952

(55,639)

(5,511)

(6,633)
(6,627)
(13,260)
(18,871)

(53,797)
9,758

(44,039)

Rate of increase

in salaries....

Rate of increase

in pensions..
Inflation rate..
Discount rate .

Ireland United Kingdom Netherlands Canada
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
0.00%-2.00% 0.00%-2.00% 2.5% 2.5% 0.00%-2.00% 0.00%-2.00% n/a n/a
0.65%-1.30% 0.70%-1.40% 1.9%-2.8% 1.9%-2.65% 0% 0% 2.00% 2.00%
1.30% 1.40% 2.9% 2.7% 1.3% 1.40% 2.00% 2.00%
1.08% 1.40% 1.4% 2.0% 1.08% 1.40% 4.20% 4.20%
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Components of Net Pension Cost

Net periodic pension cost consisted of the following (US Dollars in thousands):

Year ended December 31, 2020

Ireland UK Netherlands Canada Total
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Current Service Cost ........ccocvvvveveennnne (1,310) — (548) — (1,858)
INterest CoSt.......oocvvvvvninienieieieen (1,359) (2,122) (258) (69) (3,808)
Expected return on plan assets.......... 3,028 3,954 235 58 7,275
Amortization of unrecognized
actuarial gains / 10Sses...........cc.c.... (1,404) (545) (132) — (2,081)
Amortization of net past service
COSES 1ottt 749 87) 123 — 785
Net pension cost ..............ccccevrrnnnen. (296) 1,200 (580) an 313
Year ended December 31, 2019
Ireland UK Netherlands Canada Total
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Current SErvice CoSt.......cocvvvrvrivrnnnnns (1,101) — (435) — (1,536)
INterest CoSt.........covvvvriiic s (1,822) (2,916) (306) (73) (5,117)
Expected return on plan assets............ 2,444 4,002 282 63 6,791
Amortization of unrecognized
actuarial gains / 10SS€S .........ccccvvevene (1,206) (693) (139) — (2,038)
Amortization of net past service costs 735 (73) 121 — 783
Net pension cost .............cccceeecvvvrennne. (950) 320 “77) 10) 1,117)
Year ended December 31, 2018
Ireland UK Netherlands Canada Total
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Current service CoSt.......cccocvvvvvrvennnnnn, (1,391) - (548) - (1,939)
INterest COSt......oovviviviiiiiece e (1,900) (2,893) (302) (77) (5,172)
Expected return on plan assets............ 3,203 4,450 273 66 7,992
Amortization of unrecognized (1,580) (1,069) (164) - (2,813)
actuarial 10SSes.......ccceovveienencnine
Amortization of prior service costs .... 775 (77) 127 - 825
Net pension cost ...........cccocovviieeninnnne (893) 411 (614) an (1,107)

We present all non-service cost components of net pension cost within other expense/(income) in our
consolidated statements of operations.

127



&30,
sjusfeainba

Usea pue yseD
..... $10BJ1U09 9oURINSU|

JUBLWLISAAUI 31e1So |Bay

................. seNLIN%as
aWooul-paxi4

......... sal1In2as AQ1inb3

$)asse ue[J

d]Jel Junoasig

................ a1el vonepu|
.................... mco_wcmg
U1 8sealoul Jo arey
salLiefes
U1 8sealoul Jo arey

709°ST1T 190°SHT 1Ts‘T ovr'1 0S0°91 L8961 9L9P0T £98°611 SSE°E6 TLOPOT
9.6°L 680°02 99 €S — — 60¢ LSETT TTL'L 6,98
0G0'9T 189'6T — — 0S0'9T 189°6T — — — —
9T.'GT 99Y'€T — — 18L°L 8vL'y 626°L 8T.'8
QTT'.T 1,9'8T €8¢ ove — — velL'e 8Lv'e 8ET'VT €96'vT
€96'L6 66¢'GTT [AYAR LVT'T — — L8T'ES €059 v9G'ey 60T 61
28.'09 6v8°LG — — — — 69.°0Y L€2'GE €10'0¢ 21922
610¢ 020 610¢ 0207 610¢ 020¢ 610¢ 0202 610C 020
®lo], [®l0], BILIWY SPUBLIYIIN 3N puepI]
0N
:9JaMm suoledo|e 18sse abriane payybiam InQ
%0¢ %0¢ %0¢ %00'¢C %0T°¢ %07'T %09°¢ %00°€ %00'¢C %00°¢ %0T1°¢ %07'T
—9%0SC —%06'C
%00'¢C %00'¢C %00'¢C %0L'T %09'T %07'T %02'€ %02'€ %0.L°¢C %0L'T %09'T %07'T
%00°¢ %00°¢ %00°¢ %000 %000 %000 %02'E %02'E %S59°C %0L'T %09'T %07'T
—9%0SC —%0SC —%06T —%G80 —%080 —%0L0
e/u e/u e/u %00°¢ %00°¢ %00°¢ %0S°¢C %0S°¢C %0S°¢C %00°¢ %00°¢C %00°¢
—9%00'0 —%000 —%000 —9%000 —9%000 —9%000
8107 6107 0207 8107 610T 0202 8T0T 610T 0207 8107 6107 0207
‘1€ 19qUIIII( PIPUD 18K Y} 10, ‘€ I9QUIIII( PIPUD JBIAIY) A0 ‘[ € JOqUIII( PIPUD 18I Y} 10 ‘I € 19qUIIII( PIPUD 18K Y} A0
epeue) SPUBLIdYIIN wop3ury| payun puepIy

:papua sJeak ay1 Joj 1509 uoisuad a1poliad 18U Ino aulwls1zp 01 suondwnsse abeiane paybiam BuIMOo]|0) 8yl pasn apn

suondunsse [eLIEN)oE $3s09 uorsudd JaN

128



The fair value of pension plan assets at December 31, 2020 was determined using the following fair value
measurements:

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Total Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset category Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Equity SECUNILIES ....cvevveeriecircecrce e 57,849 57,849 —
Fixed-income securities...........ccocevvverienae 115,299 — 115,299
OtNEN .ot 13,466 13,466 —
INSUrance CONEIactS ........c.ccveevevvrneenieenienns 19,687 — 19,687 —
Cash and cash equivalents ...............c.c..... 20,089 20,089 — —
Fair value excluding investments
measured at net asset value 226,390 91,404 134,986 —
Investments measured at net asset value 18,671
Total plan assets at fair value ................ 245,061

The fair value of pension plan assets at December 31, 2019 was determined using the following fair value
measurements (USD in thousands):

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Total Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset category Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Equity SECUFItIES ....covvvvevieiee e 60,782 60,782 — —
Fixed-income securities............c.cccevvrvenae 97,963 — 97,963 —
OFher .. 15,716 15,716 — —
Insurance CONtracts ..........ccoevevvvvveieninnne, 16,050 — 16,050 —
Cash and cash equivalents ...............c.c...... 7,976 7,976 — —
Fair value excluding investments
measured at net asset value 198,487 84,474 114,013 —
Investments measured at net asset value 17,115
Total plan assets at fair value ................ 215,602

Employer contributions

In 2020, we contributed $3,822,000 to our pension plans. We estimate that 2021 pension contributions will
be approximately $4,000,000. Our actual contributions and plans may change due to many factors, including
changes in tax, employee benefit, or other laws and regulations, tax deductibility, significant differences
between expected and actual pension asset performance or interest rates, or other factors.
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23.

Future Benefit Payments

The estimated future benefit payments from our pension plans at December 31, 2020 were:

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

2021 .. s 6,191
2022 ... s 6,299
2023 ... s 6,412
2024 ... 6,642
2025 ... s 6,693
2026 — 2030 ....eiiveeiieee s 37,215

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative financial instruments are used to reduce our exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange
and interest rates. Foreign currency derivatives are entered into only when they match an existing foreign
currency asset or liability, or where they are used to hedge a forecasted transaction. Interest rate swaps may
be used to manage any interest rate risk in accordance with our risk management policies.

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value at each reporting date and the movement in fair
value is recognized in the statement of operations unless they are designated in a hedge accounting
relationship.

None of our derivatives have been entered into hedge accounting relationships during the years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

All derivatives have been entered into for economic hedging purposes. No derivatives have been transacted
for trading or speculative purposes.

The following table presents the balance sheet location and fair value of the derivative instruments (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at

December 31, 2020
Accrued
Other receivables Liabilities

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Foreign currency exchange contracts held at fair value through
Profit and 10SS .......ccoeiiiiieiec e — 1,424

Fair Value Measurements at

December 31, 2019
Accrued
Other receivables Liabilities

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Foreign currency exchange contracts held at fair value through
Profit and 0SS ......ccociriiiiiiice s 94 342
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24.

Derivative amounts recorded in the statement of operations was as follows:

Classification Year ended Year ended Year ended
in Statements December 31, December 31, December 31,
of Operation 2020 2019 2018

(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Foreign currency exchange  Other income /
contracts not in hedge (expense),
relationships ..........ccco..... net (682) 116 496

Derivative instruments are disclosed on a gross basis.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

The Group uses foreign currency borrowings to hedge the net investment in foreign entities. The carrying
value of borrowings, which are designated as net investment hedges at the year end, amounts to $65,357,000
(2019: $85,606,000). The gains or losses on the effective portions of such borrowings are recognized in other
comprehensive income. A gain of $3,168,000 was included in other comprehensive income in the period
ended 31 December 2020, a loss of $1,422,000 was included in other comprehensive income in the period
ended December 31, 2019, and a gain of $374,000 was included in other comprehensive income in the period
ended December 31, 2018. Ineffective portions of the gains and losses on such borrowings are recognized in
the statement of operations although no ineffectiveness has been recognized in the current or prior period.
Gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are included in the statement of operations on
the disposal of a foreign entity.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Set out below are the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the financial assets
and liabilities disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

Other investments
Other investments are measured at fair value which is based on quoted market prices where available.
Cash and cash equivalents, including short-term bank deposits

The carrying amount reported in the consolidated financial statements for these items approximates fair value
due to their liquid nature and are classified as Level 1.

Trade receivables and other receivables, net

The carrying value reported in the consolidated financial statements for these items is net of allowances,
which includes a degree of counterparty non-performance risk and are classified as Level 2.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
The carrying value reported in the consolidated financial statements for these items approximates their fair

value, which is the likely amount for which the liability with short settlement periods would be transferred
to a market participant with a similar credit standing as ours and are classified as Level 2.
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Derivative financial instruments

Our derivative assets or liabilities include foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives that are measured at
fair value using observable market inputs such as forward rates, interest rates, our own credit risk as well as
an evaluation of our counterparties’ credit risks.

Additionally, we include an element of default risk based on observable inputs into the fair value calculation.
Based on these inputs, the derivative assets or liabilities are classified within Level 2 of the valuation
hierarchy.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

For floating rate interest-bearing loans and borrowings with a contractual repricing date of less than six
months, the nominal amount is deemed to reflect fair value. For loans with repricing dates of greater than six
months, the fair value is calculated based on the present value of the expected future principal and interest
cash flows discounted at interest rates effective at the reporting date and adjusted for movements in credit
spreads. Based on these inputs, the derivative assets or liabilities are classified within Level 2 of the valuation
hierarchy. We estimate the total fair value of our total borrowings is $328,437,000 at December 31, 2020.
Refer to Note 20, “Borrowings.”

Contingent consideration
Fair value is based on the present value of expected payments discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.
The expected payment is determined by forecasting the acquiree's earnings over the applicable period.

Contingent considerations are estimated using Level 3 inputs. Refer to Note 30 for additional disclosures on
contingent consideration.
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As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Group recognized and measured the following financial instruments
at fair value:

As of December 31, 2020

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(U.S. Dollars in thousand)

Assets measured at fair value

At fair value through profit or loss

Other iNVestments ..........cccvvvienieicnnnns 406 — — 406
Foreign exchange contracts ................... — — — —
Foreign exchange contracts ................... — — — —
Liabilities measured at fair value

At fair value through profit or loss

Foreign exchange contracts .................. (1,424) — (1,424) —
Contingent consideration....................... (10,698) — — (10,698)
Assets measured at fair value

At fair value through profit or loss

Other iINVeStMENtS..........ccovvvvvrireicnnenn, 5,663 5,108 — 555
Foreign exchange contracts ................... 94 — 94 —
Liabilities measured at fair value

At fair value through profit or loss

Foreign exchange contracts ................... (342) — (342) —
Contingent consideration....................... (16,667) — — (16,667)

25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Capital commitments

We have authorized capital expenditure of $38,250,000 (2019: $17,421,000) at the reporting date. Capital
expenditure contracted for at December 31, 2020 amounted to $2,919,000.

Subsidiaries

The Company has guaranteed certain liabilities of a number of its subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2020 including guarantees under Section 357 of the Irish Companies Act, 2014.

Guarantees

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies or equity accounted affiliates within the Group, the Company considers these to be insurance
arrangements and accounts for them as such. The Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent
liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under
the guarantee. The following are details of contracts made by the Company at December 31, 2020 to
guarantee the indebtedness of other companies or equity accounted affiliates within the Group:
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l. The Company has guaranteed bank borrowings of subsidiaries in the amount of $328,945,000
(2019: $352,125,000).

Il. The Company has guaranteed bank borrowings of $4,653,000 (2019: $4,806,000) within
investments accounted for under the equity method.

1. The Company has given guarantees in respect of other trading obligations arising in the ordinary
course of business of $254,000 (2019: $439,000).

In addition to the Company guarantees above, certain Group subsidiaries have given guarantees totaling
$ 10,581,000 (2019: $ 8,778,000) in respect of other trading obligations arising in the ordinary course of
business and guarantees totaling $7,631,000 (2019: $6,536,000) in respect of bank borrowings within
investments accounted for under the equity method.

Contingencies
From time to time, the Group is involved in claims and legal actions, which arise in the normal course of
business. Based on information currently available to the Group, and legal advice, the Group believes such

litigation will not, individually or in aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial
statements and that the Group is adequately positioned to deal with the outcome of any such litigation.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has a related party relationship with its equity accounted investees. Transactions with the Group's
equity accounted investees are set out below.

Related party transactions with equity accounted investees

The Group trades in the normal course of its business, in some situations under supply contracts, with its
equity accounted investees. A summary of transactions with these related parties during the year is as follows:

2020 2020 2019 2019 2018 2018
Revenue Purchases Revenue Purchases Revenue Purchases
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Dole...ccocooveeeeeenen, 8,900 49,000 4,600 21,600 — —
Other equity
accounted
investees.............. 104,490 64,204 100,800 101,130 98,848 132,363

The amounts due from and to equity accounted affiliates at year end are disclosed, in aggregate, in notes 15
and 16 for Dole and other equity accounted investees, respectively.

Leasing transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 21.

Other related party transactions - Balmoral

Balmoral International Land Holdings plc (“Balmoral”) is a related party to Total Produce because the Chair
of the Board of Total Produce is also the Chair of the Board of Balmoral.

In the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, a subsidiary of the Group leased a number of
buildings, was in receipt of property management services and provided IT management services to Balmoral.
The total net expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2020
were $1,526,000, $1,447,000 and $1,430,000, respectively.
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Up to August 1, 2018, the Group provided key management services to Balmoral. During 2018, the Group
received income from Balmoral of $215,000. Income related to expenses recharged by the Group to Balmoral
and related to costs incurred by the Group on behalf of Balmoral, including recharges in respect of
administration expenses and a portion of the employment costs of the Chairman.

In 2019, a joint venture of Total Produce disposed of assets to a wholly-owned subsidiary of Balmoral. The
total consideration for the transaction (inclusive of deferred and contingent consideration) was $7,542,000.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

At December 31, 2020, the authorized share capital was €10,000,000 ($12,265,000) divided into
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1 cent (euro) each. The issued share capital at that date was 410,724,962
ordinary shares (2019: 410,524,962 ordinary shares). During the year, the Group received consideration of
$152,000 (2019: $75,000) from the issue of 200,000 (2019:100,000) shares that were issued to satisfy the
exercise of 200,000 (2019:100,000) share options.

At December 31, 2020, the Company held 22,000,000 (2019: 22,000,000) treasury shares in the Company.
All rights (including voting and dividend rights) in respect of these treasury shares are suspended until these
shares are reissued. The following shows a summary of activity during the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 in respect of our ordinary shares. (U.S. Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary
Shares Shares $ Shares Shares $
In issue at beginning of year ...................... 410,525 4,863 410,429 4,862
Shares repurchased by the Company.............. — 4) —
Shares issued on exercise of share options ..... 200 2 100 1
In issue at end of year................cocoeevvvennenns 410,725 4,865 410,525 4,863

Capital management

The Board regularly reviews and monitors our capital structure with a view to maintaining a strong capital
base in order to sustain market confidence in the business. This involves considering dividends paid to
shareholders, the amount of liquid assets on the balance sheet and return on capital. We operate a share option
scheme and an employee profit sharing scheme, which allows employees to use part of their profit sharing
awards to acquire shares in the Company.

The Group has the authority to purchase its own shares. This authority permits the Group to buy up to 10%
of the issued share capital at a price which may not exceed 105% of the average price over the previous five
trading days. On January 27, 2016, we completed a €20,000,000 share buy-back program that commenced
on the October 9, 2015, with a total of 14,017,270 ordinary shares repurchased at a total cost of €20,361,000
($22,200,000) including associated costs. The repurchased ordinary shares were cancelled. The share buy-
back program was earnings accretive.

In November 2010, the Group also exercised this authority and completed a share buy-back of 22,000,000

shares at a cost of €8,580,000 ($11,721,000), plus costs of €107,000 ($150,000). These shares are held as
treasury shares unless reissued or cancelled.
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Dividends paid and proposed

The following is a summary of the dividends declared and paid for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019 (U.S. Dollars in thousands, except where indicated):

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Dividends paid during the year

Final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2019: €2.5770
cents / share (2018: €2.5140 cents/share) .......ccccoccvevcvveviviennennn, 11,875 11,003

Interim dividend for the year ended December 31, 2020: nil
(2018: €0.9129
(o= L YA T T =) — 3,916

1) DO OO 11,875 14,919

On January 29, 2021, we paid an interim dividend for 2020 0f€0.9129 cents per ordinary share, or $4,307,000
with respect to the financial year ended December 31, 2020.

We have proposed a final dividend for 2020 of €2.770 cents per ordinary share to be paid to ordinary
shareholders to be paid in May 2021. These proposed dividends have not been recognized as a liability in the
consolidated balance sheet because they have not been approved. The final dividend is subject to approval
by our shareholders at our 2021 Annual General Meeting.

NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

For some of our subsidiaries, we own a controlling equity stake, and a third party or key member of the
business' management team owns a minority portion of the equity. The balance sheet and operating activity
of these entities are included in our consolidated financial statements and we adjust the net income in our
consolidated statement of operations to exclude the noncontrolling interests' proportionate share of results.
We present the proportionate share of equity attributable to the redeemable noncontrolling interests as
temporary equity within our consolidated balance sheet and the proportionate share of noncontrolling
interests not subject to a redemption provision that is outside of our control as equity.
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The following table presents the changes in redeemable noncontrolling interest for each of the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019.

For the years ended December 31,

2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Balance at January 1 ..........ccccoooviiiininnic 30,891 47,475
Impact of adoption of ASC 842 .........ccoevviriiiiniiirccs — (183)
Share of Net iINCOME/(10SS) .....eveveveriiiiicsc e 4,500 4,868
Share of items recognized in other comprehensive income........ (1,190) 836
Share of comprehensive income..................cccocoeiiiiniiiinnnn, 3,310 5,704
Dividends paid to redeemable noncontrolling interest holders... (6,444) (7,763)
Redeemable noncontrolling transferred to noncontrolling

TNEEIESE. ..ttt — (18,457)
Acquired redeemable noncontrolling interest ...........c.ccoceevvnene. (4,331) —
Accretion to redemption value recognized in additional paid in

(or. T o | SR 7,606 3,163
Foreign currency translation ............cccocveveeveiiieiicsee e (715) 952
Balance at December 31 .................coo i, 30,317 30,891

VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

We consolidate all Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”) for which we have determined that we are the Primary
Beneficiary (“PB”) under ASC 810. We use judgement when determining (i) whether an entity is a VIE; (ii)
who are the variable interest holders; (iii) the elements and degree of control that each variable interest holder
has; and (iv) ultimately which party is the PB.

We have one material VIE, Dole in which we are not the PB and do not consolidate its results and instead
account for our investment using the equity method of accounting, as described in Note 15.

A second VIE, El Parque, a fresh produce business, is accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
Its registered office is Los Acantos 1320, Vitacura, Santiago, Chile. On December 16, 2016, we acquired
50.005% of the series A shares and 50.08% of the series B shares in El Parque. Remaining shares of series
A and series B are held by IDI and 3 individual investors, respectively. Only series A shares have all voting
right. The El Parque board of directors comprises two members, one from each TP and IDI. Therefore, voting
interest and economic interest are not proportionate because we have majority ownership but not majority
representation on the board.

We and IDI both have equal equity participation (Series A) and management representation on the board of
El Parque. Further all the significant activities of the business are managed by the unanimous consent of the
board and there are no tiebreaker votes. We do not therefore meet the power criteria required in order to be
considered the PB under the VIE model nor do we hold a controlling financial interest in EI Parque.

We consolidate the results of one VIE as we are the PB, being our 50% shareholding in EurobananCanarias
S.A. (“EBC”) a Canary Islands fruit produce business. Its registered office is Avda. de Anaga N°11, 38001,
Santa Cruz de Tenerife. Through our involvement in EBC since its incorporation in 1993, we have an
economic interest of 50% and a power to appoint its managing director. The managing director influences all
decisions related to operations, and our economic interest is not equal to voting interest (decision making
right for all relevant activities). Accordingly, the conditions of a primary beneficiary are met, and we
consolidate EBC under the VIE model. We have not provided any financial or other support to EBC during
the periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.
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El Pargue — equity accounted VIE

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we did not provide any financial support to El Parque, a non-
consolidated VIE. The following table presents our maximum exposure to loss in our El Parque, as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31 December 31
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)
Carrying value of equity investment in El Parque ............cccceevenene 7,893 9,310
Maximum exXposure t0 l0SS..........c.cocveveiiiiiiniinniiene e 7,893 9,310

The maximum exposure to loss represents the amount that would be absorbed by us in the event that all of
our assets held in the VIE had no value. We have not provided any guarantees in respect of debt issued by El
Parque.

EBC — consolidated VIE

The following is the summarized financial information for EBC reflected in our consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2020.

For the year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(US Dollars in thousands)

REVENUE ...t 489,743 461,893 474,074
Gross Profit....ccccee e 38,817 35,943 36,072
Selling, general and administrative expenses . (21,130) (19,984) (19,603)
Interest (expense)/income, Net...........ccccveneeee. (147) (144) 40
Income/(loss) before income taxes............... 17,540 15,815 16,509
INCOME taxX EXPENSE ....ovvvvrieerieeriee e (4,202) (3,814) (3,989)
Equity in net earnings of investments

accounted for under the equity method........ 2,180 1,113 1,393
Net INCOme ........ccvvvveviiiiiiiiiieeeee e 15,518 13,114 13,913
Less: Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interest..........ccccccoevvvievnenen, (3,755) (2,761) (2,657)
Net income attributable to EBC equity

ROIAETS. ... 11,763 10,353 11,256

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

CUITENT @SSEES..vveiveiiireeieeiieeeite et e et e et e s e et et eenbr e e sraeenbeeans 111,339 103,497
NON-CUITENT @SSELS .. vveivveeiirieiiee et 55,226 53,718
Current HabilitieS ......eove i 68,150 67,142
Non-current liabilitieS.........cccooveve i 14,525 12,590
NON-CONtrolling INTEreSt.........ceiieiiiee e 15,476 14,941
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31.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

Total contingent consideration amounts to $10,698,000 (2019: $16,667,000) and represents provision for the
net present value of the amounts expected to be payable in respect of acquisitions which are subject to earn-
out arrangements. The following tables present the activity in contingent consideration for each of the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

For the year ended

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(U.S. Dollars in thousands)

Balance at beginning of year..................ccccoovi i 16,667 28,060
Paid dUFMNG YEAI......cciiieiicec e (7,729) (12,405)
Fair value movements charged / (credited) to statement of

o] 0T Lo TR 519 (228)
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries............cccoocvieviivie i 139 1,632
Arising on disposal of subsidiaries...........cocvvvvriiiievieevie e — (211)
Arising on investment in joint VENtUreS.........cccooevieeveeve e 291 —
Avrising on acquisition of non-controlling interests ..........ccccccoevveneee. 228 —
Foreign exchange MOVEMENES .........cccvveieeieeiie e e e 583 (181)
Balance at end of year ...............ccccooviiiii i 10,698 16,667
CUITENT. ...t 5,786 8,862
NON-CUITENT ...ttt et e e e e aer s 4912 7,805
Balance at end of year ..............cccocoeiiiiiiiiii 10,698 16,667

See Note 24 for fair value disclosures on the measurement of contingent consideration at December 31, 2020
and 2019.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The 2020 interim dividend of 0.9129 euro cent per share was paid after year end on January 29, 2021. The
total dividend amounted to €3,549,000 ($4,307,000).

On February 17, 2021, the Group and Dole Food Company, Inc (“Dole”). and affiliates of Castle & Cooke,
Inc. (the “C&C shareholders™), which own a 55% interest in Dole's parent company (“Dole Holdings™)
(together, the “Parties”), announced that they entered into a binding transaction agreement (the “Agreement”)
to combine under a newly created, U.S.-listed company (“Dole plc”) (the “Transaction™). The Group has
secured a committed debt facility with a term of 5 years to backstop and refinance certain existing Total
Produce facilities in advance of the completion of the Transaction. In the event that the Transaction does not
complete this committed financing shall remain in place in the Total Produce Group.

On March 26, 2021, Total Produce entered into a credit agreement, which provides for a $500 million multi-
currency senior secured Revolving Credit Facility, which is available to Total Produce and its co-borrowers.

The Credit Agreement also provides for a $940 million seven-year US Dollar senior secured term loan facility
(“Term Loan B”) to be available upon the consummation of certain conditions provided therein, including
the closing of the Transaction.

Following strong demand from bank lenders, Total Produce and the initial arranges of the facilities intend to

amend the financing structure by increasing the Revolving Credit Facility to $600 million, introducing a new
$300 million U.S. Dollar senior secured term loan facility (“Term Loan A”) to be provided by commercial
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banks, which would reduce the Term Loan B commitments to $540 million.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, the Revolving Credit Facility will be available to Dole plc and
certain of its subsidiaries, and the Term Loan B will be available to Total Produce USA Holdings Inc.
Proceeds of the Term Loans will be used to refinance the existing Total Produce and Dole Food Company
debt facilities, with the exception of the Dole vessel financing and certain other Group bilateral facilities
which will remain post completion of the Transaction. The Revolving Credit Facility and both Term Loans
will be syndicated.

The Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loans are expected to provide long-term sustainable
capitalization following the completion of the Transaction, lowering the combined company’s average cost
of capital and creating a stronger balance sheet.

On 22 April 2021, the Group announced that the Board had resolved to pay a final dividend of 2.770 cent per
share for the year ending December 31, 2020. This dividend will be paid on May 28, 2021 to shareholders
on the Register of Members at the close of business on April 30, 2021. The ex-dividend date will be April
29, 2021 with a currency election date of May 5, 2021, 12.00 noon GMT.
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D - Deloitte & Touche LLP
e o l e 650 S. Tryon St.
& Suite 1800
Charlotte, NC 28202-4200
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Managers
DFC Holdings, LLC
Charlotte, NC

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DFC Holdings, LLC, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the "Company"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), members’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of DFC Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, and

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

March 10, 2021 (April 28, 2021, as to the subsequent events described in Note 22)
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DFC HOLDINGS, LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended
December 31, 2020 December 28, 2019 December 29, 2018
(In thousands)

REVENUES, NEL.......cvevierieiiiieecieecece e $ 4,671,999 $ 4,515,955 $ 4,566,808
CoSt OF SAIES......cveiceeieeee e (4,311,275) (4,174,298) (4,270,198)
Gross Profit ......ccoeeveeeeeeciieeceeeeecee e $ 360,724 $ 341,657 $ 296,610
Selling, marketing and general and administrative
BXPENSES ...vevveveeverereetesrereetesre e ere e e re st s re e rens (200,582) (208,884) (239,313)
Merger, transaction and other related costs ............. (661) (24) (1,645)
Gain 0N asSet SAIES......cccviveieriie e 11,181 23,366 13,766
Operating iNCOME ........cooevivervrieiesieeeeseieas $ 170,662 $ 156,115 $ 69,418
Other eXPense, NEL .......cccviveerene e (29,305) (3,316) (7,341)
INEreSt INCOME .....vveviciice e 3,131 4,784 4,377
INLEreSt EXPENSE ...vcvevererecieeee et (78,250) (89,180) (85,102)

Income (loss) from continuing operations
before income taxes and

EOUITY BAIMINGS....cvvevierereee et $ 66,238 $ 68,403 $ (18,648)
Income tax (expense) benefit..........ccccevvvivivrciennennn, (23,782) (24,036) 10,280
Earnings (loss) from equity method
INVESTMENTS.....coieiiiei e 2,149 (5632) (1,263)
Income (loss) from continuing operations,
net of INCOME taXeS.......cooevevveveeriiieceanas $ 44,605 $ 43,835 $ (9,631)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of
INCOME tAXES ....vveveireerieeeere ettt (43) (2,500) (3,935)
Net income (10SS) ...coveveveveveeereeeeeceeereeeans $ 44,562 $ 41,335 $ (13,566)
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests..........ccoevevvevvenenn. (1,854) (1,971) (1,832)
Net income (loss) attributable to DFC
Holdings, LLC......ccovvvviiiiieeceeeee $ 42,708 $ 39,364 $ (15,398)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DFC HOLDINGS, LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Net iNCOME (10SS).....vevvivirviiieiriiicirieiee s

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Net unrealized loss on derivatives, net of
income tax benefits of $2,758, $0 and $0.....

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of
income tax of $0, $0 and $0.........ccceevrvrvenene.

Pension and postretirement obligation
adjustments, net of income tax benefits of
$928, $1,131 and $2,660...........ccoccerieerrennn.

Reclassification of stranded tax effects from
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act..........ccccevevvenrnne.

Total other comprehensive income (loss)..
Comprehensive income (10SS)........cccoeveviverivereinenne.

Less: Comprehensive income attributable
to noncontrolling interests ....................

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to DFC
Holdings, LLC ..o

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
(UIn thousands)

$ 44,562 $ 41,335 $ (13,566)
(8,417) — —
25,575 (8,265) (19,158)
(7,045) (5,131) (12,818)
— (4,134) —
10,113 (17,530) (31,976)
54,675 23,805 (45,542)
(1,854) (1,971) (1,832)
$ 52,821 $ 21,834 $ (47,374)



DFC HOLDINGS, LLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
(In thousands)

ASSETS
Cash and cash eQUIVAIENTS ..........c.iiiiiieee et ene $ 66,795 $ 64914
SNOMt-tEITMN INVESTMENTS. ... .ottt sttt s et et e b e be e e b e e eneeneanea 6,246 5,676
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $19,425 and $20,472, respectively .........c.ccocecerveninnene. 382,417 372,377
Grower advance receivables, net of allowances of $3,395 and $3,660, respectively................... 51,308 56,041
Other receivables, net of allowances of $9,619 and $7,413, respectively........ccccocvvrvevreiernnnns 84,564 81,166
Inventories, net of allowances of $3,162 and $2,178, reSpectively ..........cccocovrrcieieinnninieienen. 220,363 231,123
PrEPAIT EXPENSES ...v.vvevvveeeeeeeetetete ettt et et sessese st et et et s s et eses s et s et etetete st et es s s sssssetet et et et as s e s snes 30,236 27,097
OFNEI CUITENT ASSELS ....viuvivviuiitieteeti et ste ettt et te st et et e e et ese et e eb e s te st e b e s esseseebeebesbesbessenbeseensetaarens 13,574 5,809
ASSELS NEIA-TOI-SAIE ..ot ettt ene s 255 —

Total current assets .... 855,758 844,203
Long-term inVeStMEeNts .........ccccoceverieiencnese e 25,048 24,603
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates...........ccccvvieveiieiicriee e, 25,588 22,741
Actively Marketed PrOPEITY ......c.ov ettt s 47,081 58,840
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $580,419 and $514,772,

TESPECTIVEIY ...vvveeiietiiste ettt ettt e st bbb et e st st eseese st et e etenenaeresnenennas 1,125,638 1,096,800
Operating 18ase right-0f-USE @SSELS ......iviiiiieieieesie et sne 232,067 263,073
GOOUWIIL......eiieeee ettt ettt s ettt b et et et ee e e ene e 329,823 329,823
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $68 and $36, respectively........................ 254,393 254,455
OENEE @SSELS, NMEL.....eveviiiiieet ettt bbbttt bbbttt 61,117 54,723

TOTAL BSSELS... sttt ettt $ 2,956,513 $ 2,949,261
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
ACCOUNES PAYADIE .......vvviviiicicictetee ettt sttt e $ 253,309 $ 232,237
INCOME tAXES PAYADIE ...ttt ettt s 12,863 5,390
ACCIUEH TTADTITTIES ...ttt sttt ne e 412,577 377,534
Current maturities 0f Operating I8aSES ...........civrierireririeiree e 53,250 62,952
Notes payable and current portion of long-term debt, Net ..........c.ccoceveiiieiiinicee e, 75,504 53,958

Total current HabIlItIes ........ooviiiiieeee e 807,503 732,071
LONG-ErM AEDTE, NEL......oouiieii bbb e 1,230,552 1,317,799
Operating leases, less current maturities 175,970 198,638
Deferred inCOme tax HabilItIes ........c.oceiiiiriiiece e 75,322 75,067
Other 10Ng-term HADITTIES .......oviiieii et 276,824 290,088

TOtAl HADIIIIES ..vevvveeiieeciee ettt et ne s $ 2,566,171 $ 2,613,663

Members’ equity:

Class A units, 550 units issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December

28, 2009 ...t b ettt R bRttt r et n e ettt et s — —
Class B units, 450 units issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December
28, 2009 ...ttt R bR ettt ettt ettt s — —
Additional paid-in capital............cccooeriniiiiniincn, 869,951 868,528
Notes receivable from affiliate (25,005) (25,308)
Accumulated defiCit........cccovereiiiiiiiiieniieiens (363,253) (405,961)
Accumulated other COMPreNENSIVE 10SS .........ccvcviiiiiiiecicicicicieese e (100,084) (110,197)
Total equity attributable to DFC HoldiNgS, LLC ........ccooiiiiiiiieieienee e 381,609 327,062
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests 8,733 8,536
TOLAI BOUILY ...ttt bbbt b e bt e bt b e 390,342 335,598
Total l1abilitieS and EQUILY .........coii i $ 2,956,513 $ 2,949,261

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DFC HOLDINGS, LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
Operating Activities (In thousands)
INEL INCOME (I0SS) 1. ier ettt se ettt ettt s et s e s e e enenenenennnnnes $ 44,562 $ 41,335 $ (13,566)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and @mOTtIZATION ...........couiueiiiiiiieiei bbb 91,392 88,111 89,612
NON-CASH 18ASE EXPENSE. ... vtttk et b et bbbttt s b e bt benene s 51,428 58,062 —
Net unrealized loss (gain) on financial instruments... 6,549 9,329 (11,559)
Asset write-0ffs and net gain 0N sale 0f @SSELS ........ccciviriiieeiiire e 3,027 (17,389) (6,334)
(Earnings) loss from equity method INVESIMENTS ..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiee e (2,149) 532 1,263
Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs... 3,724 3,825 3,902
Refinancing charges.........ocoeoverniinennensenns — — 5,458
(Provision) benefit for deferred income taxes ........... 2,238 (5,061) 12,691
Pension and other postretirement benefit plan eXPense ..........ccoccviiiiiriiie i 10,324 8,253 9,923
OBNEE ..ttt ettt b b bt a b bR bbb sttt h e b et et e et bea ettt e st rene s — 380 568
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables, Net Of AlIOWANCES..........c.ciiiiiiieie e et 7,041 (17,776) (26,264)
LT (0] TSSO 2,159 19,663 (22,067)
Prepaid expenses and other assets. (6,698) 16,294 (3,061)
Income taxes.... (8,114) (24,230) (72,691)
Accounts payable........c.c.coceceeiinnne 14,606 (23,124) 13,441
Accrued and other 1ong-term labilitieS ..........cccovvieieeeicreeeer e (13,671) (27,926) (13,274)
Operating 18aSe laDIIITIES ........cviiiiiiiice e et (55,304) (58,004) —
Cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities 151,114 72,274 (31,958)
Investing Activities
SAIES OF ASSELS ...vvveviireieiteiete ettt e et e s et ettt et et e R et R e R e bt Re et e et b et et e ne et e enn 28,233 71,767 85,809
Capital EXPENGIIUIES.......c.eviiiteieiicietee et b et et b bbb e bbb e bt ebese e e (90,604) (84,189) (74,696)
PUIChases Of INVESTMENLS .........ccoiviiiuiiiiieietcie sttt ettt ettt se bbb se bbb se e s (1,218) (2,167) (1,724)
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates.. (173) (170) —
[T TSRS — (145) 3,593
Cash flow provided by (used in) INVEStING CIVITIES.........ceieiieiiiieerese e (63,762) (14,904) 12,982
Financing Activities
Short-term debt DOITOWINGS ......ccvoiiiiiei ettt enas 56,000 23,659 69,000
Repayments on short-term debt borrowings and oVerdrafts .............oocoeveeeeeesssssseeeeeenes (58,104) (46,500) (46,726)
Long-term debt borrowings 552,352 705,904 817,697
Long-term debt repayments (637,838) (735,199) (860,394)
Payment of deht ISSUANCE COSES .......cviuiriirietiiiicieteee ettt (583) — (1,343)
Payment of NONCONIOIIING INEEIESES .........oveuiiiieieiiiiee e — e (797)
Affiliate transaction COStS..........cc.ccovrerernene — — (15,000)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests... (1,657) (1,566) (1,220)
Preferred return on preferred units .............. — — (570)
FUNAING DY AFfIHALES .......cuiiiteieieee bbb e e 28
Repayment of notes issued t0 affiliates ........ccccovviirieiiiice e 1,726 20,954 15,070
Note receivable issued t0 affillates. ... — (20,311) (25,000)
Cash flow (used in) fiNANCING ACHIVITIES .......cvvviveieiiicicieic e (88,104) (53,059) (49,255)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes 0N Cash ...........ccceeirirriiinieee e 2,633 (1,556) (2,189)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash eQUIVAIENTS ..........cooiiiiiiiieiee e 1,881 2,755 (70,420)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the YEar............coocviiiiiiiiiinree e 64,914 62,159 132,579
Cash and cash equivalents at €Nd OF YA ........cccveeieirieire et $ 66,795 $ 64,914 $ 62,159
Supplemental cash flow information:
Income tax payments, NEt Of FEFUNGS .........covoviiiieiccee e $ 37,206 $ 51,488 $ 47,720
Interest payments on borrowings 74,956 83,412 73,854
Non-cash realized gains (losses) on financial INSIrUMENLS...........ccccvivieiirirniiiiee e (4,908) 11,584 —
Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Accrued property, plant and BQUIPMENT.......c.ceeeririiriieieie et $ 47,231 $ 51,383 $ 4,792
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DFC HOLDINGS, LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — NATURE OF OPERATIONS

DFC Holdings, LLC is the sole owner of Dole Food Company, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively
referred to in these notes as “Dole” or the “Company”). Dole is engaged in the worldwide sourcing, processing,
distributing and marketing of high-quality fresh fruit and vegetables. Dole is one of the largest producers of bananas
and pineapples and is an industry leader in packaged salads, fresh-packed vegetables and fresh berries.

Dole conducts operations throughout North America, Latin America, Europe, Asia, the Middle East and Africa
(primarily in South Africa). As a result of its global operating and financing activities, Dole is exposed to certain risks
including changes in commodity and fuel costs, fluctuations in interest rates, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates, as well as other environmental and business risks in both sourcing and selling locations.

Dole’s principal products are produced on both Company-owned and leased land and are also acquired through
associated producer and independent grower arrangements. Dole’s products are primarily packed and processed by
Dole and sold to wholesale, retail and institutional customers and other food product companies.

DFC Holdings, LLC was established as a Delaware limited liability company (the “Parent”) on August 8, 2013. The
limited liability company agreement was amended and restated on December 29, 2014. Until July 31, 2018, the
Members of Dole were wholly owned through the Parent by David H. Murdock (“Mr. Murdock™), Dole’s Chairman.

On February 1, 2018, Mr. Murdock, through his wholly owned subsidiaries, entered into a Securities Purchase
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with a wholly owned subsidiary of Total Produce plc (“Total Produce”) to sell 45% of
the Parent for $300.0 million (the “Transaction”). The Parent wholly owns the Company and has no independent
assets or operations apart from its investment in the Company and on a consolidated basis has the same assets,
liabilities, total equity and earnings as the Company. The Transaction closed on July 31, 2018. On February 17, 2021,
Dole, Total Produce, and Mr. Murdock announced that they have entered into a binding transaction agreement
(including all subsequent amendments, the “IPO Agreement”) to combine Dole and Total Produce under a newly
created entity listed in the U.S. (“Dole plc”) (the “IPO Transaction”). See Note 21 “Total Produce plc Transaction”
and Note 22 “Subsequent Events” for further information.

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19”) a global
pandemic and recommended containment and mitigation measures worldwide. As of the date of this Scheme Circular,
Dole operations remain open and in production throughout the world. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the
length or severity of this pandemic. The Company experienced certain direct costs primarily related to personal
protective equipment and transportation, and costs due to lower production capacity from a plant shutdown. However,
the Company is not able to reasonably estimate the full extent to which the disruption may have indirectly impacted
the Company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, and consolidated cash flows in
fiscal year 2020.

NOTE 2 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements herein are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the consolidated financial statements of Dole
include all necessary adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature, to present fairly Dole’s financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

Dole’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of majority owned subsidiaries over which Dole
exercises control, and entities that are not majority owned but require consolidation, because Dole has the ability to
exercise control over operating and financial policies or has the power to direct the activities that most significantly
impact the entities’ economic performance. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the amounts and disclosures reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, the areas of customer and grower receivables, inventories,
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impairment of assets, useful lives of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, marketing programs, income
taxes, self-insurance reserves, retirement benefits, financial instruments, and commitments and contingencies. Actual
results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

During February of 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a change in the fiscal year end from a
52/53 week year ending on the Saturday closest to December 31 to a calendar year ending on December 31. The
change was made effective with fiscal year 2020 on a prospective basis, and, therefore, operating results for prior
years were not adjusted.

As a result of the change, fiscal year 2020 consisted of 369 days ending on December 31, 2020, fiscal year 2019
consisted of 364 days ending on December 28, 2019, and fiscal year 2018 consisted of 364 days ending on December
29, 2018. Under a 52/53 week year, fiscal year 2020 would have consisted of 371 days ending on January 2, 2021. As
such, the change in fiscal year resulted in two fewer operating days. The Company performed an assessment of the
change in fiscal year and concluded that the change did not have a material impact to Dole’s financial condition,
results of operation or cash flows nor comparability to prior years.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized when a performance obligation is satisfied as control of a good or service
is transferred to a customer in the amount expected to be entitled at transfer. For each customer contract, the
performance obligations are identified, the transaction price is allocated to the individual performance obligations,
and revenue is recognized when these performance obligations are fulfilled and control of the good or service is
transferred to the customer. The transfer of control of a good or service to customers is based on written sales terms
that allow customers right of return when the good or service does not meet certain quality factors.

Revenue consists primarily of product revenue which includes the selling of agricultural goods to third-party
customers. Product revenue also includes surcharges for additional product services such as freight, cooling,
warehousing, fuel, containerization, handling, and palletization related to the transfer of products. The Company also
has certain marketing contracts in which Dole is the principal, and the revenue and cost of sales is reported on a gross
basis.

Revenue also includes service revenue, which includes commissions with third-party growers, management fees, and
royalties for the use of Company brands and trademarks. Additionally, the Company maintains a commercial cargo
business where revenue is earned by leasing a Company vessel, leasing available space within a Company vessel, or
providing handling and transportation services of containerized cargo on Company vessels. Net service revenues were
less than 10% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018.

Dole’s incremental costs of obtaining a contract have primarily consisted of sales commissions, and the Company
elected the practical expedient to expense these costs for contracts that are less than one year. These costs are included
in selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. If these
costs relate to contracts that are greater than one year, the incremental costs are capitalized as a contract asset and
amortized over the period from which the contract is obtained until the performance obligations are met. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract have not historically been material to Dole, and Dole’s contracts are historically less than
one year.

The Company treats shipping and handling costs that occur before the customer obtains control of the good as a
fulfilment cost rather than a service performance obligation. Further, Dole elects the practical expedient to exclude
sales and other taxes imposed by government authorities on revenue-producing transactions from the transaction price.

The period between Dole transferring a promised good or service to a customer and customer payment is expected to
be less than one year and, as such, Dole elected the practical expedient to not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component.

Revenue is recorded net of any sales allowances, sales promotions, and sales incentives. Sales allowances are
calculated based on historical claims information. Dole offers sales promotions and sales incentives to its customers
(resellers) and to its consumers. Sales promotions are temporary price reductions on third-party sales and sales
incentives include consumer coupons and discounts, volume and timing rebates, and product placement fees.
Estimated sales discounts are recorded in the period in which the related sale is recognized. Volume rebates are

148



recognized as earned by the customer based upon the contractual terms of the arrangement with the customer and,
where applicable, Dole’s estimate of sales volume over the term of the arrangement. All other sales incentives are
estimated using both historical trends and current volumes and assumptions. The Company also enters cooperative
advertising arrangements in which Dole refunds a retailer for a portion of the costs incurred to advertise Dole’s
products. The value of these arrangements is treated as a reduction of revenue, unless the arrangement results in a
separate performance obligation for Dole, in which these amounts are recorded in selling, marketing and general and
administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. Adjustments to estimates are made periodically
as new information becomes available and actual sales volumes become known. Adjustments to these estimates have
historically not been significant to Dole. See Note 6 “Trade Receivables and Grower Advances” for additional detail
on allowances for sales deductions.

Cost of Sales: Cost of sales primarily consist of costs associated with the production or purchasing of inventory,
packaging materials, labor, depreciation, overhead, transportation, and other distribution costs. Cost of sales also
includes recurring agricultural costs and shipping and handling costs, which are detailed below.

Agricultural Costs: Plant costs, including seeds, trees, vines, and stems, and preproduction costs, including land
preparation, pre-planting, and planting costs, are generally capitalized into inventory and charged to cost of sales when
the related crop is harvested and sold, with the exception of pineapples, in which the costs are expensed as incurred.
Certain plant and preproduction costs are capitalized to property, plant and equipment, depending on the crop, and
charged to cost of sales over the related useful life. All land development costs, including farm and soil improvements,
are capitalized to property, plant and equipment. The useful lives for plant, preproduction, and land development costs
capitalized to property, plant and equipment are 2 to 25 years, based on historical yields, climate and weather
conditions, and likelihood of disease and pest interference. Recurring agricultural costs after the preproduction period,
including ongoing pruning, fertilization, watering, and farm labor, are generally capitalized into inventory and charged
to cost of sales when the related crop is harvested and sold, with the exception of pineapples and bananas, in which
the costs are expensed as incurred.

Shipping and Handling Costs: Amounts billed to third-party customers for shipping and handling are included as a
component of revenues. Shipping and handling costs incurred are included as a component of cost of sales and
represent fulfillment costs incurred by Dole to ship products from the sourcing locations to the end customer and are
not considered separate performance obligations.

Value-Added Taxes: Value-added taxes that are collected from customers and remitted to taxing authorities are
excluded from revenues and cost of sales. Receivables related to value-added taxes are included within other
receivables, net.

Marketing and Advertising Costs: Marketing and advertising costs, which include media, production, and other
promotional costs, are generally expensed in the period in which the marketing or advertising first takes place.
Marketing and advertising costs, included in selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations, amounted to $12.3 million, $14.4 million and $14.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively.

Research and Development Costs: Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and are included in cost
of sales or selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.
Research and development costs amounted to $10.8 million, $9.7 million and $8.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively.

Income Taxes: Dole accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the
financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in
which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities
is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred
income tax assets for which it is deemed more likely than not that future taxable income will not be sufficient to realize
the related income tax benefits from these assets. Dole establishes additional provisions for income taxes when, despite
the belief that tax positions are fully supportable, there remain positions that do not meet the minimum probability
threshold, which is a tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing
authority. In addition, once the recognition threshold for the tax position is met, only the portion of the tax benefit that
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is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon settlement with a taxing authority is recorded. The impact of provisions
for uncertain tax positions, as well as the related net interest and penalties, are included in income taxes in the
consolidated statements of operations. State income taxes and withholding taxes, which would be due upon the
repatriation of foreign subsidiary earnings, have not been provided where the undistributed earnings are considered
indefinitely invested.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments,
primarily money market funds and time deposits, with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash
equivalents also include restricted amounts, which are de minimis and therefore not material to the financial
statements.

Short-Term and Long-Term Investments: Short-term investments include the portion of the Rabbi Trust securities
portfolio that approximates the short-term liability of the frozen non-qualified Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan (“SERP”) defined benefit plan and the total liability of the non-qualified deferred compensation Excess Savings
Plan (“ESP”). Long-term investments include the portion of the Rabbi Trust securities portfolio that will be used to
fund a portion of the long-term liability of the SERP plan. Securities are recorded at fair value with realized and
unrealized holding gains and losses included in earnings. Dole estimates the fair value of its investments using prices
provided by its custodian. See Note 16 “Fair Value Measurements” for fair value disclosures.

Trade Receivables: Trade receivables less allowances are recognized at net realizable value, which approximates fair
value. Credit risk related to trade receivables is mitigated due to the large number of customers dispersed worldwide.
To reduce credit risk, Dole performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers but does not generally require advance
payments or collateral. Additionally, Dole periodically estimates expected credit losses for all outstanding trade
receivables to determine if a related impairment loss and allowance should be recognized. Dole estimates its allowance
for credit losses for trade receivables on a collective pool basis when the Company believes similar risk characteristics
exist among customers. For Dole, similar risk characteristics may include geographic region, type of customer, or
market conditions, among other factors. Trade receivables that do not share similar risk characteristics are evaluated
on a case-by-case basis. Dole estimates expected credit losses based on ongoing customer credit monitoring,
macroeconomic indicators, and historical credit loss on customers and geographic regions. One customer, a large
nationwide retailer, accounted for approximately 11% and 10% of Dole’s revenue during the years ended December
31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively. No other individual customer accounted for greater than 10% of Dole’s
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019, or December 29, 2018, nor accounted for
greater than 10% of Dole’s accounts receivable as of December 31, 2020 or December 28, 2019.

Dole adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial instruments — Credit losses (Topic 326) Measurement of credit losses on
financial instruments (“ASC 326”), and subsequent amendments to the guidance effective December 29, 2019, the
first day of the 2020 fiscal year. See Note 3 “New Accounting Pronouncements” and Note 6 “Trade Receivables and
Grower Advances” for additional detail on the Company’s allowance for credit losses and ASC 326 adoption.

Grower Advances: Dole makes advances to third-party growers for various farming needs. Some of these advances
are secured with crop harvests, property or other collateral owned by the growers. Dole monitors these receivables on
a regular basis and periodically estimates expected credit losses for all outstanding grower advances to determine if a
related impairment loss and allowance should be recognized. These expected credit losses are evaluated on a case-by-
case basis and are based on historical credit loss information among other quantitative and qualitative factors. Grower
advances are stated at the gross advance amount less allowances for expected credit losses. Grower advances are
disaggregated into short-term advances that mature in twelve months or less, which are included within grower
advance receivables, net, and long-term advances that are included in other assets, net, within the consolidated balance
sheets. See Note 6 “Trade Receivables and Grower Advances” for additional detail on the allowance for credit losses
of grower advances and the breakout of short-term and long-term advances.

Other Receivables: Other receivables consists primarily of miscellaneous notes receivable, hedging receivables, and
receivables from governmental institutions. These receivables are recorded at net realizable value. Allowances against
receivables are established based on specific account data and factors such as Dole’s historical losses, current
economic conditions, age of receivables, the value of any collateral, and payment status compared to payment terms.
Account balances are written off against the allowance if and when management determines the receivable is
uncollectible.

Concentration of Credit Risk: Financial instruments that potentially subject Dole to a concentration of credit risk
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principally consist of cash equivalents, investments, derivative contracts, and grower advances. As discussed above,
credit risk related to trade receivables is mitigated through the Company’s large customer base and periodic credit
valuations. Dole maintains its cash and investments with high quality financial institutions. The counterparties to
Dole’s derivative contracts, which are discussed in greater detail below, are major financial institutions. Grower
advances are principally with farming enterprises and are generally secured by the underlying crop harvests, property,
or other collateral owned by the growers.

Inventories: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Costs related to fresh fruit and fresh
vegetables are determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Specific identification and average cost methods are also used
primarily for certain packing materials and operating supplies. In the normal course of business, the Company incurs
certain crop growing costs such as land preparation, planting, fertilization, grafting, pruning, and irrigation. Based on
the nature of these costs and type of crop production, these costs may be capitalized into inventory. Generally, all
recurring direct and indirect costs of growing crops for deciduous fruit, vegetables, citrus, and fresh fruit other than
bananas and pineapples are capitalized into inventory. These costs are recognized into cost of sales during each harvest
period. See Note 8 “Details of Certain Assets and Liabilities” for additional detail on the disaggregation of inventories
by inventory class.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates: Investments in unconsolidated affiliates and joint ventures with ownership
of 20% to 50% are recorded using the equity method, provided Dole has the ability to exercise significant influence.
All other unconsolidated investments are accounted for using the cost method. At December 31, 2020 and December
28, 2019, substantially all of Dole’s investments in unconsolidated affiliates and joint ventures have been accounted
for under the equity method. See Note 20 “Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates” for additional detail.

Dole evaluates its equity and cost method investments for impairment when facts and circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of such investments may not be recoverable. Dole reviews several factors to determine whether the
loss is other than temporary, such as the length and extent of the fair value decline, the financial condition and near-
term prospects of the investee, and whether Dole has the intent to sell or will be required to sell before the investment’s
anticipated recovery. If a decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary, an impairment charge is
recorded in earnings. Dole did not recognize any impairment charges for investments in unconsolidated affiliates for
the years ended December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost plus asset retirement obligations, if
any, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of these assets. Dole reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset group may not be recoverable. If an evaluation of
recoverability is required, the estimated undiscounted future cash flows directly associated with the asset are compared
to the asset’s carrying amount. If this comparison indicates that there is an impairment, the amount of the impairment
is calculated by comparing the carrying value to discounted expected future cash flows or comparable market values,
depending on the nature of the asset group. Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Dole did not
recognize any impairment charges for property, plant and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2020,
December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018. See Note 10 “Property, Plant and Equipment” for additional detail on
the major classes of property, plant and equipment and the respective useful lives of the asset classes.

Dry-Docking Costs: Dole incurs costs for planned major maintenance activities related to its vessels during regularly
scheduled dry dockings that occur approximately every 2 to 5 years, depending on the age of the vessel. Costs incurred
during the dry-docking period, such as overhaul costs, are capitalized and amortized to the next overhaul. Costs
incurred during the dry-docking period relating to routine repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred and
included in costs of sales.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets: Goodwill represents the excess cost of a business acquisition over the fair value of
the net assets acquired, including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets. Fair values for goodwill and
intangible assets are determined based on discounted cash flows, market multiples, or appraised values, as appropriate.
Dole tests goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level annually on the first day of the fourth quarter of each
fiscal year and when there is an indicator of impairment. Dole defines each of its three operating business segments
as reporting units for purposes of evaluating goodwill for impairment: Fresh Fruit, Fresh Vegetables, and Diversified.

Dole’s indefinite-lived intangible assets, primarily consisting of the DOLE brand trademark and trade name (“Dole
brand”), are considered to have an indefinite life because they are expected to generate cash flows indefinitely and, as

151



such, are not amortized. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually on the first day of the
fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if certain impairment indicators arise. From time to time, Dole
also develops local trade names and other definite-lived intangible assets that are recorded at fair value and amortized
on a straight-line basis over 5 to 10 years. These definite-lived intangible assets have not historically been material to
Dole.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, the Company qualitatively
assessed whether it was more likely than not that the respective fair values of each reporting unit were less than their
carrying amounts, inclusive of goodwill, and concluded that this condition did not exist. Similarly, the Company
evaluated each indefinite-lived intangible asset and concluded that it was not more likely than not that the respective
fair values of the indefinite-lived intangible assets were below the carrying amount. As such, Dole did not perform
the first step of the two-step goodwill impairment test for any reporting unit or indefinite-lived intangible asset
impairment test for any of the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2020,
December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018.

The Company is also monitoring for other long-term impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, such as the impairment of
goodwill, intangibles, or other long-lived assets. As of the end of the year, Dole has not identified indicators of
impairment as a result of the pandemic.

See Note 11 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” for additional detail.

Foreign Currency Exchange: The functional currency of Dole is the U.S. dollar. For subsidiaries with transactions
that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency, the net foreign currency exchange transaction
gains or losses resulting from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities to the functional currency are included
in determining net income. Net foreign currency exchange gains or losses resulting from the translation of assets and
liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are recorded as a part of the
cumulative translation adjustment in members’ equity.

Derivative Financial Instruments: Dole also holds derivative instruments to hedge against foreign currency exchange,
fuel costs, and interest rates on long-term borrowings. Dole estimates the fair value of its derivatives, including any
credit valuation adjustments, using market-based inputs. On December 29, 2019, the first day of the 2020 fiscal year,
Dole adopted hedge accounting and designated qualifying cash flow hedges as hedging instruments. For these
instruments, all realized gains and losses are included in earnings and unrealized gains and losses are included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. For all other hedges not designated as hedging instruments, all realized and
unrealized gains and losses are included in earnings. See Note 15 “Derivative Financial Instruments” for additional
detail on derivative instruments and the impact of the adoption of hedge accounting.

Fair Value Hedges: The Company enters fair value hedges to reduce the exposures in fair values of certain assets and
liabilities against foreign currency exchange. Dole enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the changes
in fair value of intercompany loans denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar functional currency.

Cash Flow Hedges: The Company enters cash flow hedges to reduce the exposure to variability in certain expected
future cash flows related to foreign currency exchange, fuel costs and interest rates on long-term borrowings. Dole
enters into foreign currency exchange forward contracts and option contracts to hedge a portion of its forecasted
revenue, cost of sales, and operating expense. Dole incurs significant fuel costs transporting products from the sourcing
locations to the end customer (reseller). To mitigate the price uncertainty of future purchases of bunker fuel, Dole
enters into bunker fuel swap contracts. Additionally, in order to mitigate interest rate uncertainty on long-term debt,
Dole enters into interest rate swap agreements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: Dole’s financial instruments primarily comprise cash and cash equivalents, short
and long-term investments, short-term trade and grower receivables, trade payables, notes receivable and notes
payable, as well as long-term grower receivables, finance lease obligations, asset-based loans, term loan facilities, and
notes. For short-term instruments, excluding Dole’s short-term Rabbi Trust investments that are recorded at fair value,
the carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. For the long-term
financial instruments, excluding Dole’s secured notes, term loans and long-term Rabbi Trust investments, the carrying
amount approximates fair value since they bear interest at variable or fixed rates which approximate market. See Note
16 “Fair Value Measurements” for additional detail.
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Dole also holds retirement plan assets which are measured at fair value. Dole estimates the fair values of its retirement
plan assets based on quoted market prices, dependent on availability. In instances where quoted market prices are not
readily available, the fair value of the investment securities is estimated based on pricing models using observable or
unobservable inputs.

Leases: Dole leases fixed assets for use in operations where leasing offers advantages of operating flexibility and is
less expensive than alternative types of funding. Dole also leases land in countries where land ownership by foreign
entities is restricted or where purchasing is not a viable option. Dole adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASC
842”) and subsequent amendments to the guidance effective December 30, 2018, the first day of the 2019 fiscal year,
using the modified retrospective method.

Under ASC 842, Dole’s leases are evaluated at inception or at any subsequent modification and, depending on the
lease terms, are classified as either finance or operating leases. For leases with terms greater than one year, the
Company recognizes a related asset ("right-of-use asset™) and obligation ("lease liability™) on the lease commencement
date, calculated as the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Right-of-use assets represent the right to
use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising
from the lease. Many of Dole’s leases include rental escalation clauses, renewal options, and/or termination options
that are factored into the determination of lease payments when appropriate. Dole’s lease agreements do not contain
any residual value guarantees. The majority of Dole’s leases are classified as operating leases. Dole’s principal
operating leases are for vessel containers that do not meet finance lease criteria, ports, land, and warehouse facilities.
Dole’s finance leases primarily consist of vessel containers and machinery and equipment that meet the finance lease
criteria. Dole’s decision to exercise renewal options is primarily dependent on the level of business conducted at the
location and the profitability of the renewal.

During fiscal year 2018, Dole accounted for its leases under ASC 840, the previous lease guidance. Dole’s leases were
evaluated at inception or at any subsequent modification and, depending on the lease terms, were classified as either
capital leases or operating leases. Capital leases were included on the balance sheet similar to the accounting treatment
of finance leases under ASC 842, with capital lease assets being included in property, plant & equipment, net, and
capital lease liabilities being included within debt, net; however, operating leases were excluded from the balance
sheet. For operating leases that included rent escalations, rent holidays or rent concessions, rent expense was
recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, with associated prepaid or deferred rent recognized on the
balance sheet. When adopting ASC 842, Dole did not reassess lease classification and therefore operating leases and
capital leases under ASC 840 are considered operating leases and finance leases, respectively, under ASC 842.

When available, the rate implicit in the lease is used to discount lease payments to present value; however, most of
Dole’s leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. Therefore, the Company’s incremental borrowing
rate is used to discount the lease payments based on information available at lease commencement. See Note 14
“Leases” for additional detail.

Guarantees: Dole makes guarantees as part of its normal business activities. These guarantees include guarantees of
the indebtedness of some of its key fruit suppliers and other entities integral to Dole’s operations. Dole also issues
bank guarantees as required by certain regulatory authorities, suppliers, and other operating agreements, as well as to
support the borrowings, leases, and other obligations of its subsidiaries. The majority of Dole’s guarantees relate to
guarantees of subsidiary obligations and are scoped out of the initial measurement and recognition accounting
requirements related to guarantees.

Workers Compensation and Loss Reserves: Dole self-insures certain losses arising out of workers compensation
claims. Dole establishes workers compensation accruals for its self-insured programs based upon reported claims in
process and actuarial estimates for losses incurred but not reported. Loss reserves, including incurred but not reported
reserves, are estimated using actuarial methods, and ultimate settlements may vary significantly from such estimates
due to increased claims frequency or the severity of claims.

Assets Held-for-Sale, Actively Marketed Property: Dole reports a business or assets as held-for-sale when
management has approved or received approval to sell the business or assets and is committed to a formal plan, the
business or assets are available for immediate sale, the business or assets are being actively marketed, the sale is
anticipated to occur during the ensuing year, and the other specified criteria for classification are met. In certain
situations when timing of the sale of land is uncertain, Dole classifies such assets as actively marketed property. A
business or assets classified as held-for-sale or land classified as actively marketed property are recorded at the lower
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of their carrying amounts or estimated fair values less cost to sell. If the carrying amounts exceed their estimated fair
values, losses are recognized. Depreciation is not recorded on assets classified as held-for-sale or on land
improvements associated with actively marketed property. Assets and liabilities related to a business classified as
held-for-sale and actively marketed property are segregated in the consolidated balance sheets, and major classes are
separately disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements commencing in the period in which the
business or assets are classified as held-for-sale or actively marketed. See Note 9 “Assets Held-For-Sale and Actively
Marketed Property” for additional detail.

Gain (Loss) on Asset Sales: Gain (loss) on asset sales primarily consists of gains and losses incurred through the
disposal of assets held-for-sale and actively marketed property as discussed above. Other gains and losses include
disposals of other property in the ordinary course of business and have not historically been significant.

Merger, Transaction and Other Related Costs: Dole records and separately states merger, transaction, and legal costs
to reflect non-recurring acquisition and merger-related activities. These costs were not significant for the years ended
December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018.

Discontinued Operations: Dole determines whether a disposal of a component or a group of components of Dole is
required to be presented as discontinued operations, when the disposal represents a strategic shift that had, or will
have, a major effect on Dole’s operations and financial results. A component of an entity comprises operations and
cash flows that can be clearly distinguished both operationally and for financial reporting purposes. Income or loss
related to discontinued operations was not material in the year ended December 31, 2020 and amounted to losses of
$2.5 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively. These
losses primarily represent adjustments to tax-related indemnification accruals relating to issues that existed prior to
the sale of Dole Asia to ITOCHU Corporation in 2013.

Note Receivable from Affiliate: In circumstances where the terms are not equivalent to those that prevail in an arm’s-
length transaction, Dole accounts for loans to members as a reduction of members’ equity, and these loans are
classified separately within the consolidated statement of members’ equity within note receivable from affiliate, as a
direct reduction to total members’ equity. Interest on loans to members is recorded as an increase to additional paid-
in capital and an increase to note receivable from affiliate, with payments decreasing note receivable from affiliate.
Based on the nature of these equity transactions, cash movements related to these loans are considered financing
activities within the consolidated statements of cash flows.

NOTE 3 — NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

ASU 2016-13 — Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326)

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial instruments — Credit losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
credit losses on financial instruments, and subsequent amendments to the guidance, including Codification
improvements to Topic 326 in November 2018 (ASU 2018-19) and May 2019 (ASU 2019-04), and Targeted transition
reliefin May 2019 (ASU 2019-05). ASC 326 replaces the incurred loss methodology for measuring credit losses with
an expected loss model. The amendment affects the measurement of credit losses of trade receivables and any other
financial asset measured at amortized cost. The standard clarifies that receivables arising from operating leases are
accounted for using lease guidance and not as financial instruments. The amendments are applied on either a
prospective transition or modified-retrospective approach depending on the subtopic.

In addition, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial instruments — Credit losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and
hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842) — Effective dates and ASU 2020-02, Financial instruments — Credit
losses (Topic 326) and Leases (Topic 842) — amendments to SEC paragraphs pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 119 and update to SEC section on effective date related to accounting standards update No. 2016-02,
Leases (Topic 842). The guidance clarifies the effective dates of accounting amendments, including credit losses as
described above and provides SEC Staff Guidance on credit losses measured at amortized cost. All accounting
amendments discussed above are effective for public entities in annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019,
and interim periods within those fiscal years. Dole adopted this new accounting guidance on a prospective transition
approach on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s 2020 fiscal year. The adoption of this ASU did not have a
material impact to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and related disclosures. See
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Note 6 “Trade Receivables and Grower Advances” for additional detail on the Company’s allowance for credit losses.
ASU 2017-04 — Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — Simplifying the Test

Jfor Goodwill Impairment, to simplify how an entity is required to test goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2
from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measures goodwill impairment by comparing the implied fair value of a
reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of goodwill. Under the amended guidance, an entity should perform
its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying
amount. The elimination of Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test should reduce the cost and complexity of
evaluating goodwill for impairment. Amendments should be applied on a prospective basis disclosing the nature of
and reason for the change in accounting principle upon transition. Disclosure should be provided in the first annual
period and in the interim period in which an entity initially adopts the amendments. The accounting amendment is
effective for public entities in annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those
fiscal years. Dole adopted this new accounting guidance on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s 2020 fiscal
year and implemented the new goodwill impairment test during Dole’s annual goodwill assessment.

ASU 2017-12 — Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to
Accounting for Hedging Activities. The FASB issued this ASU to amend hedge accounting to enable entities to better
portray hedging activities in the financial statements. The accounting guidance also aligns the recognition and
presentation of the effects of hedging instruments and hedge items in the financial statements and includes targeted
improvements related to the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

In addition, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial instruments — Credit losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and
hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842) — Effective dates. The guidance clarifies the effective dates of accounting
amendments, including derivatives and hedging as described above. The accounting amendments are effective for
public entities in annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
Dole elected hedge accounting and adopted the new accounting guidance on December 29, 2019, the first day of
Dole’s 2020 fiscal year. See Note 15 “Derivative Financial Instruments” for additional detail on the impact of hedge
accounting and the application of this accounting guidance.

ASU 2018-13 — Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820)

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair value measurement (Topic 820) — Disclosure framework —
changes to the disclosure requirements for fair value measurement. This ASU removed certain disclosure
requirements related to the fair value hierarchy, modifying existing disclosure requirements related to measurement
uncertainty and adding new disclosure requirements, such as disclosing the changes in unrealized gains and losses for
the period included in other comprehensive income (loss) for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the
end of the reporting period and disclosing the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to
develop Level 3 fair value measurements. The accounting amendment is effective for public entities in annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Dole adopted this new accounting
guidance on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s 2020 fiscal year. The adoption of this ASU did not have a
material impact on Dole’s fair value disclosures.

ASU 2018-14 — Compensation — Retirement Benefits — Defined Benefit Plans

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-14, Compensation — retirement benefits — Defined benefit plans —
General (Subtopic 715-20) — Disclosure framework — Changes to the disclosure requirements for defined benefit
plans. The ASU modified the disclosure requirements for employers that sponsor defined benefit pension or other
postretirement plans. The accounting amendment is effective for public entities in annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2020. Earlier application of this amendment is permitted. Dole early adopted this new accounting
guidance on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s 2020 fiscal year. The adoption of this ASU did not have a
material impact on Dole’s disclosures. See Note 13 “Employee Benefit Plans” for additional detail.

155



ASU 2018-16 — Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)

In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-16, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) Overnight Index Swap (OIS) Rate as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge
Accounting Purposes. This ASU expands the list of U.S. benchmark interest rates permitted in the application of hedge
accounting. The accounting amendment is effective for public entities in annual periods beginning after December 15,
2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Dole elected hedge accounting and adopted the accounting
guidance on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s 2020 fiscal year. The adoption of this ASU did not have an
impact on Dole’s financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or related disclosures, as Dole did not designate
the Company’s interest rate swap hedge for hedge accounting. See Note 15 “Derivative Financial Instruments” for
additional detail on the impact of hedge accounting and the application of this accounting guidance.

ASU 2018-17 — Targeted Improvements to Related Party Guidance for Variable Interest Entities (Topic 810)

In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-17, Targeted Improvements to Related Party Guidance for Variable
Interest Entities. This ASU provides guidance on whether an entity is required to consolidate a variable interest entity
when indirect interests are held through related parties in common control arrangements. The guidance clarifies that
indirect interests should be considered on a proportional basis for determining whether fees paid to decision makers
and service providers are variable interests to evaluate whether these entities should be consolidated. Dole adopted
this accounting guidance on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s 2020 fiscal year. The adoption of this ASU
did not have a material impact to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and related
disclosures, but the Company will continue to consider this ASU in its ongoing consolidation analysis.

ASU 2018-18 — Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808)

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, Collaborative arrangements (Topic 808) — Clarifying the
interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606. This ASU resolves the diversity in practice concerning the manner in
which entities account for transactions based on their assessment of the economics of a collaborative arrangement.
Guidance clarifies that certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants should be accounted for as
revenue when the collaborative arrangement participant is a customer and precludes recognizing revenue for
consideration received from a collaborative arrangement if the participant is not a customer. The accounting
amendment is effective for public entities in annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Dole adopted this new accounting guidance on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s
2020 fiscal year. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact to the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and related disclosures.

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740)

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes. The ASU introduces new guidance to evaluate whether a step-up in tax basis of goodwill relates to a business
combination in which book goodwill was recognized or a separate transaction, and also provides a policy election to
not allocate consolidated income taxes when a member of a consolidated tax return is not subject to income tax. The
ASU also makes changes to the current guidance for making intraperiod allocations and determining when a deferred
tax liability is recognized after an investor in a foreign entity transitions to or from the equity method of accounting,
among other changes. The accounting amendment will be effective for public entities in annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2020. Dole is assessing the effect of this accounting guidance on its consolidated financial
statements and its method and timing of adoption.

ASU 2020-01 Investments — Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments — Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic
323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Investments — Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments — Equity
Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) — Clarifying the Interactions
between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815. The amendments in this update clarify certain interactions between the
guidance to account for certain equity securities under Topic 321, the guidance to account for investments under the
equity method of accounting in Topic 323, and the guidance in Topic 815. This update could change how an entity
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accounts for an equity security under the measurement alternative or a forward contract or purchased option to
purchase securities that, upon settlement of the forward contract or exercise of the purchased option, would be
accounted for under the equity method of accounting or the fair value option in accordance with Topic 825, Financial
Instruments. The accounting amendment will be effective for public entities in annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Dole is assessing the effect of this accounting
guidance on its consolidated financial statements and its method and timing of adoption.

ASU 2020-04 — Reference rate reform (Topic 848) — Facilitation of the effects of reference rate reform on financial
reporting

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference rate reform (Topic 848) — Facilitation of the effects of
reference rate reform on financial reporting. The amendments in this update provide optional expedients and
exceptions related to accounting for transactions affected by reference rate reform. The amendments only apply if
certain criteria are met. The amendments in this update apply only to contracts and hedging relationships that reference
LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued due to reference rate reform.

In addition, in January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Amendments to reference rate reform (Topic 848). The
amendments in this update clarify that certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract
modifications and hedge accounting apply to derivative instruments that use an interest rate for margining,
discounting, or contract price alignment that is modified as a result of reference rate reform. Amendments in this
update also capture the incremental consequences of the scope clarification and tailor the existing guidance to
derivative instruments affected by the discounting transition. All amendments discussed above are elective and are
effective upon issuance for all entities. Dole is assessing the effect of this accounting guidance on its consolidated
financial statements and its method and timing of adoption.

ASU 2020-10 — Codification Improvements

In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-10, Codification Improvements. The amendments in this update seek
to clarify guidance being applied in an inconsistent manner, however amendments are not expected to result in a
significant change in practice. The amendments in this update are effective for public entities in annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2020. Dole is assessing the effect of this accounting guidance on its consolidated
financial statements and its method and timing of adoption.
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NOTE 4 — OTHER EXPENSE, NET

Included in other expense, net in Dole’s consolidated statements of operations are the following items:

Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018

(In thousands)
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign intercompany

DOITOWINGS ....veveeceecee e $ (15,218) $ (7,275) $ 10,978
Realized (loss) on foreign intercompany

DOFTOWINGS ... — — (1,929)
Non-cash realized gain (loss) on foreign

intercompany borrowings .........ccccoeveeeeeeeniennenn (4,908) 11,584 —
Unrealized gain (loss) on fair value hedge

derivative inStruments............ccocevevvirivnieienennn, 5,112 (4,418) (1,867)
Realized (loss) on fair value hedge derivative

INSETUMENTS....cveiviceeceecee e (5,782) (2,051) (3,836)
Realized (loss) on non-designated cash flow hedge

derivative inStruments..........cccceeevveeieeieecee e, (4,470) — —
Gain (10sS) 0N INVESIMENTS........c.ccvverviirieirenieee 2,820 3,059 (672)
Refinancing and other debt related costs................. — — (5,458)
Non-service components of net periodic pension

DENETIt COSES ...oviiviiriiiicicee e (7,448) (4,811) (5,072)
OFher .o 589 596 515
Other eXPENSE, NEL ........c.ccceveeveveeieeeeee e $ (29,305) $ (3,316) $ (7,341)

NOTE 5 — CHARGES FOR RESTRUCTURING
2018 Restructuring

During the second quarter of 2018, Dole committed to a worldwide restructuring and reorganization. Major initiatives
include reducing headcount costs, exiting certain business lines and activities, as well as optimizing marketing spend.
In connection with the plan, Dole has relocated certain corporate and administrative functions to North Carolina and
Costa Rica, including finance, information technology, legal and executive departments.

Dole incurred $1.3 million of restructuring charges during the year ended December 31, 2020 which are included in
selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations. Dole incurred
$2.2 million and $13.3 million of restructuring charges during the years ended December 28, 2019 and December 29,
2018, respectively. Of the charges incurred during the year ended December 28, 2019, $0.8 million was included in
costs of products sold and $1.4 million was included within selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses
on the consolidated statement of operations. Of the charges incurred during the year ended December 29, 2018, $6.5
million was included in cost of sales and $6.8 million was included in selling, marketing and general and
administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations. Dole has incurred cumulative restructuring
charges of approximately $16.8 million through the year ended December 31, 2020 related to the 2018 restructuring
plan. Of the $16.8 million incurred, $9.4 million relates to cumulative severance charges.
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A rollforward of Dole’s restructuring liabilities related to the 2018 restructuring, which are classified in accrued
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, is summarized as follows:

Severance and Lease
Other Employee- Abandonment
Related Costs Costs and Other Total
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 29, 2018.................. $ 4,676 $ 1,640 $6,316
Charges incurred ..........ccoocvvevvinieniene e 1,391 856 2,247
Cash Payments. ......ccoveevverreinieneeseseeee s (5,556) (978) (6,534)
NON-CaASN. ..o — (1,518) (1,518)
Balance as of December 28, 2019.................. 511 — 511
Charges incurred... .......ccocvvevvininiene e 1,064 240 1,304
Cash PaymeNtS........cccevveiveveenieieesieeeeseens (374) (160) (534)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ................. $ 1,201 $ 80 $ 1,281

Dole does not expect to incur further material restructuring costs in connection with this restructuring plan.

2017 Restructuring

In the third quarter of 2017, Dole committed to a restructuring plan for its U.S. berries operations to ensure alignment
with its growth objectives. As part of this plan, Dole closed its berry farms in the U.S. and reduced its workforce. Dole
will continue to sell berries that will be sourced from Mexico and South America.

Dole incurred no restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2020. Dole incurred restructuring charges of
approximately $0.3 million and $3.6 million during the years ended December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018,
respectively. All of the charges incurred during the year ended December 28, 2019 were included in selling, marketing
and general and administrative expenses and all of the charges incurred during the year ended December 29, 2018
were included in cost of sales on the consolidated statement of operations, respectively. Dole incurred cumulative
restructuring costs of $25.8 million through the year ended December 28, 2019 related to the 2017 restructuring plan.
Of the $25.8 million incurred, $2.2 million relate to cumulative severance charges.

A rollforward of Dole’s restructuring liabilities related to the 2017 restructuring, which are classified in accrued
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, is summarized as follows:

Severance and Lease
Other Employee- Abandonment
Related Costs Costs and Other Total
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 29, 2018 ................. $ 346 $ 4412 $ 4,758
Charges incurred (reversed)..........c.cooovvenne. (18) 306 288
Net cash (Payments). ......cccoveevveeeeviceceinenas (269) (3,079) (3,348)
Balance as of December 28, 2019 ................. 59 1,639 1,698
Charges (reversed) .......ccoveeivrieerirrsreesierennn, (7 — @)
Net cash (Payments..........ccovvvvveiervieerisieennan, (52) (633) (685)
Balance as of December 31, 2020.................. $ — $ 1,006 $ 1,006

Dole does not expect to incur further material restructuring costs in connection with this restructuring plan.
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NOTE 6 — TRADE RECEIVABLES AND GROWER ADVANCES
ASC 326 — Credit Losses

The Company adopted ASC 326 on December 29, 2019, the first day of Dole’s 2020 fiscal year. The new guidance
requires significant changes to how entities measure credit losses, replacing the incurred loss approach with an
expected loss model for instruments measured at amortized cost. See below for additional detail on the Company’s
receivables and allowance for credit losses.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables as of December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019 were $382.4 million and $372.4 million, net of
allowances of $19.4 million and $20.5 million, respectively. The allowance for trade receivables consists of two
components: 1) allowance for credit losses of $18.4 million and $19.5 million as of December 31, 2020 and December
28, 2019, respectively; and 2) allowance for sales deductions of $1.0 million as of December 31, 2020 and December
28, 2019. Allowance for sales deductions are accounted for under the scope of ASC 606, Revenue Recognition, and
have historically not been material.

As aresult of Dole’s robust credit monitoring practices, the industry in which it operates, and the nature of its customer
base, the credit losses associated with trade receivables have been historically insignificant in comparison to annual
net sales. The allowance for credit losses on trade receivables is measured on a collective pool basis when the Company
believes similar risk characteristics exist among customers. For Dole, similar risk characteristics may include
geographic region, type of customer, or market conditions, among other factors. Trade receivables that do not share
similar risk characteristics are evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Dole estimates expected credit losses based on
ongoing customer credit monitoring, macroeconomic indicators, and historical credit loss on customers and
geographic regions.

A rollforward of the allowance for credit losses for trade receivables was as follows:

Amount
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 28, 2019 ........ccoccvieeiiiiiiecieceee e $ 19,477
Provision for uncollectible accounts ..........ccovevvevevieicee e 4,324
Deductions to allowance related to write-offs.............cccceverennne. (2,938)
Recoveries of amounts previously written off .............c.ccoeevene (3,154)
RECIASSITICALIONS. .....cviecvee sttt 671
Balance as of December 31, 2020 .......ccccovveeiieeiieeiie e $ 18,380

Grower Advances

The Company makes both cash advances and material advances to third-party growers for various production needs
on the farms including labor, fertilization, irrigation, pruning, and harvesting costs. Some of these advances are secured
with property or other collateral owned by the growers.

Grower advances are categorized as either working capital advances or term advances. Working capital advances are
made during a normal growing cycle for operating costs and other subsistence allowances to the farmers. These
advances are short-term in nature and are intended to be repaid with the excess cash proceeds from the current crop
harvest. Short-term grower loans and advances, whether secured or unsecured, are classified as grower advance
receivables, net in the consolidated balance sheets.

Term advances are made to allow the grower to make capital improvements to the land or prepare it for development.
These advances are long-term in nature and may or may not bear interest. Accrued interest on these arrangements has
not been historically significant to the financial statements. These advances usually do not have defined repayment
terms but are payable over the term of the supply agreement with the excess cash proceeds from the crop harvest after
payment of any outstanding working capital advances. The term of the supply agreement is generally 5 to 10 years.
Term advances are classified as other assets, net in the consolidated balance sheets.
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The following table summarizes the short-term and long-term portions of grower advances as of December 31, 2020
and December 28, 2019:

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019

Short-Term Long-Term  Short-Term Long-Term
(In thousands)

Gross advances to growers and suppliers................ $ 54,703 $ 6,489 $ 59,701 $ 6,831
Allowance for advances to growers and suppliers

(PASE AUB) ... (3,395) (519) (3,660) (329)
Net advances to growers and suppliers.................... $ 51,308 $ 5,970 $ 56,041 $ 6,502

Dole monitors the collectability of grower advances through periodic review of financial information received from
growers. The allowance for credit losses for grower advances is monitored by management on a case-by-case basis
considering historical credit loss information for the grower, the timing of the growing season and expected yields,
the fair value of the collateral, macroeconomic indicators, weather conditions, and other contributing factors.

Dole generally considers an advance to a grower to be past due when the advance is not fully recovered by the excess
cash proceeds on the current year crop harvest, or the advance is not repaid by the excess cash proceeds by the end of
the supply term agreements. Of the $57.3 million and $62.5 million of net advances to grower and suppliers at
December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively, $6.2 million and $8.2 million, respectively, was considered
past due.

The following table details the advances to growers and suppliers including the related allowance based on their credit
risk profile:

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
(In thousands)

Allowance for advances to growers and suppliers:
Gross SECUred AGVANCES..........covvieeirieiiee e ecee e $ 33,717 $ 18,037
Allowances for Secured AdVANCES.........cccceveieiireieieneeneneeas (1,150) (1,084)
Gross UNnSecured AGVANCES ........covrvereeieeerieieseesieseseesseeeeeeseenees 27,475 48,495
Allowances for Unsecured AdVanCesS..........ccovvereieiereieneneens (2,764) (2,905)
Balance, end 0f the YEar .........ccccceiveiiiiicecee e $57,278 $ 62,543
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NOTE 7 — INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations was as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
Current
Federal, state and local............c.cccooeveveeenivircnnane. $ 4,215 $ 3,547 $ 6,388
o= o o S 25,193 23,892 26,398
29,408 27,439 32,786
Deferred
Federal, state and local............ccooevieviiiiiiciiennen, 3,261 (4,254) 16,086
0= o o S (1,023) (807) (1,438)
2,238 (5,061) 14,648
Non-current income tax expense (benefit)
Federal, state and local.............ccocvvevicvnivnienennnn, 1,172 2,957 (70,380)
o= o o ST (9,036) (1,299) 12,666
(7,864) 1,658 (57,714)
$ 23,782 $ 24,036 $ (10,280)

Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations before equity earnings was as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
U.S. et $ (33,310) $ (60,779) $ (141,923)
NON-U.S ..ot 99,548 129,182 123,275
$ 66,238 $ 68,403 $ (18,648)
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Dole’s reported income tax expense (benefit) on continuing operations differed from the expense calculated using the
U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the following reasons:

Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018

(In thousands)
Expense computed at U.S. federal statutory income

tax rate 0f 21% ...ccvvvveeiiric $ 13,910 $ 14,365 $ (3,916)
Foreign income taxed at different rates ................... 10,525 331 5,622
State and local income tax, net of federal income taxes

............................................................................ 3,518 (247) (192)
Change in valuation allowances ..........c..ccccceeerernne 4,201 6,502 7,908
Changes in liabilities for uncertain tax positions, net

of tax benefits ......cccoeevveiiiiiii, (8,373) 1,028 9,854
Transaction, insurance litigation and other related

COSES 1.ttt — 280 2,441
WIIte-0ffS oo, — 1,728 —
Mandatory transition tax, Net...........cccvevveververenenn — — (31,945)
Impact of federal tax rate change on deferred taxes — — (14)
Permanent items and other..........c.ccoovevviiicienennnn, 1 49 (38)
Income tax expense (benefit)........ccocccevvvicvenciennn, $ 23,782 $ 24,036 $ (10,280)
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) comprised the following:

December 31, December 28,

2020 2019
(In thousands)

INEANGIBIES ..o $ (59,757) $ (59,076)
Property, plant and eqUIPMENT..........cccvvierieiieree e (54,672) (58,792)
Investments and other asset basis differences..........ccocovveverevenvinnnnne, 10,449 9,952
Postretirement BENefits .........cocvvviiiiiieee e 21,858 21,608
OPErating ACCIUAIS .......ccviieiereisie et eneas 12,949 12,352
Tax credit CarryfOrWards.........ooceveeere e 8,716 11,670
Net operating loss and other carryforwards...........ccoovevveverevenniennnnnn 64,467 61,961
Valuation AllOWANCES........c..ocviiieieie ettt e et re e (93,233) (89,963)
Interest expense disalloWanCe. ...........ccovvevieii e 19,924 23,455
OFNEE, NEL .. bbb 9,728 6,417
$ (59,571) $ (60,416)

Dole has gross state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $806.0 million and $86.9 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2020. Dole has recorded deferred tax assets of $42.0 million which has been offset by $0.1 million of
liabilities for uncertain tax positions for state net operating loss carryforwards with varying expiration rules, which, if
unused, approximately $21.1 million will expire between 2021 and 2030. Dole has recorded deferred tax assets of
$22.6 million for foreign net operating loss carryforwards which are subject to varying expiration rules. State tax
credit carryforwards of $10.0 million include $9.9 million which will expire between 2021 and 2030, and $0.1 million
which can be carried forward indefinitely. Dole has $0.8 million of foreign tax credit carryforwards which, if unused,
will expire in 2029.

A valuation allowance has been established to offset a portion of the federal interest expense disallowance, certain
state net operating loss carryforwards, certain state tax credits and certain other state deferred tax assets, certain foreign
net operating loss carryforwards, and certain other deferred tax assets in foreign jurisdictions. Dole has deemed it
more likely than not that future taxable income in the relevant taxing jurisdictions will be insufficient to realize all of
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the related income tax benefits for these assets. The net increase in valuation allowances in fiscal year 2020 debited
to equity related items was $0.1 million.

Total deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
(In thousands)

DEfErred taX @SSELS.......civiiviiiiiei i eie ettt sttt $ 285,111 $ 266,082

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance ...........ccccceeevenieiieiininiene s (93,233) (89,963)

191,878 176,119

Deferred tax Habilities ......cccvvveiiiiiece e (251,449) (236,535)

Net deferred tax lHabilitieS........covvvvevviiciiii e, (59,571) (60,416)
Total net non-current deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of:

Net non-current deferred tax assets™........ccccvvvevveeiieeiieesiree e 15,751 14,651

Net non-current deferred tax liabilitieS .........cocevveeiviivcei i, (75,322) (75,067)

Total net non-current deferred tax assets (liabilities)...........c........ (59,571) (60,416)

Total net deferred tax Habilities ..........cocovevceiiiii i $ (59,571) $ (60,416)

* Net non-current deferred tax assets are classified in other assets, net in the consolidated balance sheets.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits was as
follows:

Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits - beginning balance..... $ 56,571 $ 76,293 $ 65,736
Gross increases - tax positions in current period .. 829 450 —
Gross increases - tax positions in prior period...... 27 1,490 21,866
Gross decreases - tax positions in prior period ..... (1,689) (2 (3,035)
SEttIEMENLS ...o.vveeceee e (3,438) (19,796) (4,838)
Lapse of statute of limitations............ccccccecvrvrnnnne. (4,496) (1,864) (3,436)
Unrecognized tax benefits - ending balance.......... $ 47,804 $ 56,571 $ 76,293

The total for unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, was $56.5 million, $68.3 million and $87.7
million for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively. If
recognized, approximately $54.8 million, net of federal and state tax benefits, would be recorded as a component of
income tax expense and accordingly impact the effective tax rate.

Dole recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to its unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income taxes
in the consolidated statements of operations. Accrued interest and penalties, before tax benefits, of $8.7 million and
$11.7 million at December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively, were included as a component of other
long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. At this time, Dole believes that it is reasonably possible that
the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits could decrease within the next twelve months by approximately $15.0
million related to taxation of foreign income and transfer pricing issues.

Undistributed Foreign Earnings: Prior to the enactment of the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”), with few
exceptions, U.S. federal income and foreign withholding taxes had not been provided on the excess of the amount for
financial reporting over the tax basis of investments in Dole’s foreign subsidiaries that were essentially permanent in
duration. With the enactment of the Tax Act, all post-1986 previously unremitted earnings for which no U.S. deferred
tax liability had been accrued have now been subject to U.S. tax. Notwithstanding the U.S. taxation of these amounts,
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Dole intends to continue to invest most or all of these earnings, as well as the Company’s capital in these subsidiaries,
indefinitely outside of the U.S. and does not expect to incur any significant, additional taxes related to such amounts.
Also, from time to time, Dole may choose to repatriate anticipated future earnings of which some portion may be
subject to tax and increase Dole’s overall tax expense for that year. As of December 31, 2020, Dole has not made a
provision for state or foreign withholding taxes on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis
of investments in foreign subsidiaries that are indefinitely reinvested.

DFC Holdings, LLC or one or more of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and
various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, Dole is no longer subject to income tax examinations
by tax authorities for years prior to 2014.

Income Tax Audits: Dole believes its tax positions comply with the applicable tax laws and that it has adequately
provided for all tax related matters. Matters raised upon audit may involve substantial amounts and could result in
material cash payments if resolved unfavorably. Management considers it unlikely that the resolution of these matters
will have a material adverse effect on Dole’s results of operations.

NOTE 8 — DETAILS OF CERTAIN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Inventories
December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
(In thousands)
Inventories:
FiniShed ProduUCES.........cccvvevieeiciceceeeece et $ 88,959 $ 103,772
Raw materials and WOrk in progress........ccccvevveveenesiesieesiesseesenenes 72,193 71,346
Crop groWINg COSES ..ocuviiuieiiiitieiteerirete e e e ste e see e e e sre e 36,665 30,623
Agricultural and other operating SUPPHES.......ccccvevvviieiieriereereens 22,546 25,382

$ 220,363 $ 231,123

Physical goods that have completed production and are held-for-sale in the ordinary course of business are classified
as finished products. Inventories classified as raw materials represent goods that will be consumed in production, such
as fresh fruit or vegetables to be modified from their original form and awaiting packaging, as well as items such as
consumer packing, labels, and pallets. Goods that are in the course of production are classified as work in progress.
Inventories classified as crop growing costs include costs incurred up to the time crops are produced in commercial
quantities. In addition, agricultural and other operating supplies that are consumed indirectly in production are also
capitalized into inventory, such as ripening agents, fertilizer, and fuel.
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Accrued Liabilities

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019

(In thousands)

Accrued liabilities:

Environmental and inSUrance reServeS.........cocvvvveiveveesieeriesinesnnn,s $ 1,064 $ 2,618
Employee-related costs and benefits..........ccoovvovivvieiiiieinneien, 118,127 112,179
AMOUNtS AUE 10 GrOWETS ....vveeeveriesiesiecteeeeeesie e sre e e see e e 117,645 102,067
Sales, marketing and advertising ..........cccceeceveevvviesnsiecieere e 34,240 30,526
Shipping related COSS .......covieiiiiie i 73,385 57,670
Materials and SUPPIIES ....ocvveveieiieie e 13,644 17,814
ACCIUE INTEIESE....e.veiviiieceeie e ste et sre s 2,599 4,152
Deferred INCOME .....cvcveieie e 1,078 1,192
Liability for unrecognized tax benefits.........cccccevvviviviiviicieienn, — 5,532
Oher TAXES .vevi e 6,730 8,473
Foreign currency forward CONractsS.........ccceevvvviverveneesneiesnesnn, 12,048 8,892
Miscellaneous other accrued liabilities..........c.ccccevvvevveiviiecinennn, 32,017 26,419

$ 412,577 $ 377,534

Miscellaneous other accrued liabilities primarily include liabilities related to accrued litigation reserves and legal costs
and accruals recorded based on timing. See Note 17 “Commitments and Contingencies” for additional detail on the
Company’s legal activity.

Other Long-Term Liabilities

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019

(In thousands)

Other long-term liabilities:

Accrued postretirement and other employee benefits................... $ 153,916 $ 157,685
Income taxes Payable ... 45,831 51,223
Liability for unrecognized tax benefits.........ccocovvvervivnninnnne. 56,465 62,524
Miscellaneous other long-term liabilities............ccccooevviiiinnnnen. 20,612 18,656

$ 276,824 $ 290,088

Miscellaneous other long-term liabilities primarily include liabilities related to the Company’s interest rate swap hedge
and accrued litigation reserves and legal costs. See Note 15 “Derivative Financial Instruments” for additional detail
on the Company’s interest rate swap and Note 17 “Commitments and Contingencies” for additional detail on the
Company’s legal activity.

NOTE 9 — ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE AND ACTIVELY MARKETED PROPERTY

Dole continuously reviews its assets in order to identify those assets that do not meet Dole’s future strategic direction
or internal economic return criteria. As a result of this review, Dole has identified and is in the process of selling
certain assets which are classified as either held-for-sale or actively marketed property. The assets that have been
identified are available for sale in their present condition and an active program is underway to sell the properties.
Dole is actively marketing these properties at a price that is in excess of book value, but the timing of sale is uncertain.

Assets held-for-sale

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Dole approved and committed to sell real estate in Sweden and two
warehouses in North America. Dole transferred assets of $3.5 million and liabilities of $0.1 million to assets and
liabilities held-for-sale, respectively, for the Sweden property, and $2.4 million of assets to assets held-for-sale for the
North America properties. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Dole completed the sale of these assets in
Sweden and North America that were designated as held-for-sale. Total gain on the sale in Sweden was $5.1 million
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and total gain on the sales in North America was $0.7 million. As of December 31, 2020, assets held-for-sale consist
of two additional North America properties approved for sale. There are no liabilities held-for-sale as of December
31, 2020.

During the year ended December 28, 2019, Dole sold the Swedish fresh cut salad business which had assets with a
net book value of $39.5 million and liabilities of $14.8 million. Total gain from the sale of the Swedish fresh cut salad
business was $17.9 million. Dole concluded that it was not probable that the remaining assets within Sweden and
Finland would be sold within the next year and therefore no longer qualified as held-for-sale. As a result, the Company
reversed assets with a net book value of $5.8 million and liabilities of $1.0 million back to their respective line items.
In addition, during the year ended December 28, 2019, Dole began to actively market the Livingston ranch property
associated with the Company’s Fresh Vegetables division. As a result, the property was reclassified to assets held-for-
sale. The property had assets with a net book value of $7.1 million and no associated liabilities. Dole sold the
Livingston ranch property during the year ended December 28, 2019, which resulted in the disposal of all assets held-
for-sale. Total gain from the sale of the Livingston ranch was $3.0 million. As of December 28, 2019, there were no
assets or liabilities held-for-sale.

During the year ended December 29, 2018, Dole sold the Corporate headquarters building in California and recognized
a net gain of $7.3 million. Dole also recognized a net gain of $0.7 million in 2018 related to the resolution of an earn-
out payment received from the sale of the Swedish flower business that was sold during 2017 and previously classified
as assets held-for-sale.

A rollforward of assets held-for-sale was as follows:

Amount
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 29, 2018 $ 45,599
Additions related to the Livingston ranCh..........cccccocevviviinene s 7,136
Sale of the fresh cut salad DUSINESS.........cccviiiiiiiieie e (39,469)
Sale of LiviNgStoN FaNCh ........ooiieiieie e (7,136)
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments ...........cccocvevveveicienieneeninns (336)
Reclassifications to property, plant and equipment, net..........ccccccvevvvieiiereennnns (5,794)
Balance as of December 28, 2019 ........cccooiiiiiiieie e $ —
Additions related to SWeden ProPerty........ocoovireriiireinireeseese s 3,509
Additions related to North America Property .......ccceveeerensenensneneseeenes 2,421
Additions related to Other Property ... 255
Sale Of SWEEN PrOPEITY ...c.ocviieiiieice e (3,509)
Sale of North AMerica ProPerty .......cccveieeiiereese e (2,421)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 .......covevieeeiiiiiie et $ 255
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A rollforward of liabilities held-for-sale in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets was as follows:

Amount
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 29, 2018 ........c.ccooviiiirieiniiei e $ 15,919
Sales of the fresh cut salad DUSINESSES ........coveieiiiiiiie e (14,833)
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments ...........c.ccccooveinenenscnennn (65)
Reclassifications to miscellaneous other accrued liabilities..........c.cccovevvevieniennnn (1,021)
Balance as of December 28, 2019 ...t e e
Additions related to SWeden ProPertY.........ccooeireriiirenieenieeee s 75
Sale Of SWEBN PrOPEITY ...vevive et (75)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ........ccccvcveiiieieiieieiieee e s $ —

The major classes of assets included in assets held-for-sale in the consolidated balance sheets were as follows:

December 31,
2020

(In thousands)
Property, plant and eqUIPMENT, NEL.........cccceiiiiriiirirsreseee e $ 255

$ 255

Actively marketed property

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Dole sold 349 acres of actively marketed Hawaii land with a net book
value of $8.8 million and recognized a gain of $6.3 million. The Company also reclassified $3.0 million of actively
marketed property to land and land improvements within property, plant and equipment, net, related to land in Latin
America with a net book value of $0.2 million and real estate in Latin America of the former fresh cut flowers division
with a net book value of $2.8 million, as Dole concluded that it was not probable that the property would be sold
within the next year. During the year ended December 28, 2019, Dole sold approximately 3,800 acres of land in
Hawaii with a net book value of $5.1 million and recognized a gain of $2.9 million. During the year ended December
29, 2018, Dole sold approximately 4,200 acres of land in Hawaii with a net book value of $26.2 million and recognized
a gain of $5.9 million. As of December 31, 2020, actively marketed property consisted of approximately 5,051 acres

of Hawaii land, with a net book value of $47.1 million.

A rollforward of actively marketed property was as follows:

Amount
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 29, 2018 ........cccoiiiiiiiiie e $ 63,952
Transfer to land and land IMProvemMENtS...........ccovvveieevicce e (50)
Hawaii [and SAIES .......cviiiiiiiie e (5,062)
Balance as of December 28, 2019 ..o 58,840
Transfer to land and land imProveMENtS...........ccoceiiriiieiinene e (2,963)
Hawaii [and SAIES .......oviiiic e (8,796)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ........ccccooeiiiiiieie e $ 47,081
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NOTE 10 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Major classes of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
(In thousands)

Land and land improvemMENtS...........ccccuverieieniene e $ 480,291 $ 484,264
Buildings and leasehold improvements ...........ccocvererienienenene e 300,832 291,733
Machinery and eqQUIPMENT ..........coeiiiiieiieeeeee e e 379,613 346,922
COMPULET SOTEWAIE .....eeeviiiiciie et 26,588 24,306
VesSels and CONTAINETS .........oviiiieri e 289,708 290,174
Machinery and equipment and vessel containers under finance leases .. 64,844 45,666
CONSLIUCLION 1N PIrOGIESS ...vvevveveeeriestesieeieetee e sie sttt eree e e see b sreeneas 164,181 128,507
1,706,057 1,611,572

Accumulated depreciation ...........ccccverveireieinece s (580,419) (514,772)
$ 1,125,638 $ 1,096,800

Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Years
Land iMPrOVEMENTS .....c.ve e iee ettt te e e st et et e eanaesraenneas 2t035
Buildings and leasehold improvemMents™ ..........c.cccvvieiieiiieiiece e 2t050
Machinery and eqUIPMENT ..o s 1to 35
COMPULET SOTEWATE ...t bbb 1to 10
VESSEIS AN CONTAINETS ... .ccviiiieiieieie ettt see e 5to 21

Shorter of useful life

Equipment and vessel containers under finance 1€ases..........cccoevveneinienenecsene or life of lease

*Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the shorter of the useful life or life of the lease.

Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment totaled $91.4 million, $88.1 million and $89.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2020, December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively. Interest expense
capitalized into property, plant and equipment was $4.2 million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31,
2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively.
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NOTE 11 — GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The balance of goodwill was $329.8 million as of December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019.

Details of Dole’s intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 were as follows:

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount
(In thousands)
Dole brand name ........ccccevvrvrvcennsnnrcenenns $ — $ 250,000 $ — $ 250,000
Water HghtS.......ccovvieireece e — 4,246 — 4,246
Other... o : 6 years 215 (68) 147
$ 254,461 $ (68) $ 254,393
Details of Dole’s intangible assets as of December 28, 2019 were as follows:
Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount
In thousands)
Dole brand Nname ........ccccevvivvvcesessiseenens — $ 250,000 $ — $ 250,000
Water FghtS......ccovovvieiieeee e — 4,276 — 4,276
OLNET .o . 6 years 215 (36) 179
$ 254,491 $ (36) $ 254,455

A rollforward of intangible assets excluding goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019

was as follows:

Amount

(In thousands)

Balance as of December 29, 2018
N o 14T R
Amortization
Foreign exchange IMPaC .........ccovviiieiiee e

.............................................................................. $ 254,323

........................................................................................................ (36)

Balance as of December 28, 2019........ccoociiiiiieiie et $ 254,455
YA a3 o] g 11411 o] 4 [P SSRS (32)
Foreign exXchange IMPACT ........cccoiviiieiieiece e (30)

Balance as of December 31, 2020.......c..cociiiiieiiiiiie e $ 254,393
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As of December 31, 2020, the estimated amortization expense associated with Dole’s intangible assets for each of the
next five fiscal years was as follows:

Amount
(In thousands)
2020 .. e nr s $ 37
2022 .t bbbt bt bttt e te e sbe e nae e 37
2023 e b b e R bt bt b e be e aesre e she e naeeeas 37
2024 ... 36
2025 bbb e bbbt b be e ae e she e nbeenas —
TOAL s $ 147

Dole evaluates goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually during the fourth quarter,
or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate that impairment may exist. There
was no impairment of goodwill or intangible assets recorded for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 28,
2019 and December 29, 2018.

NOTE 12 — NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT
Notes payable and long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019

(In thousands)
Secured debt:

ABL revolving credit facility .......c.cccovvrrnreccicieieiernesceas $ 15,900 $ 45,800
TEIM 0N ..ot res 866,875 896,563
SENIOr SECUIEU NOLES ...e.veivvevienieie ettt 300,000 300,000
Vessel financing loan facility.........c.ccoeviiiiiiiiis 67,063 76,313
Other financing arrangementS..........ccooveeeeerererenie e 29,355 33,982
Notes payable and note agreements, at a weighted average interest
rate 0f 9.0% IN 2019.......cciiiiiice e — 5,305
Finance lease obligations, at a weighted average interest rate of 5.6%
iN 2020 (5.8% IN 2019) .....voiiiiriirieiiiieeceseeee e 41,086 31,741
1,320,279 1,389,704
Unamortized debt discounts and debt iSsuance COStS...........cccocvveveveenne.. (14,223) (17,947)
1,306,056 1,371,757
Current maturities, net of unamortized debt discounts and debt
ISSUBINCE COSES ...vvvvirvereireeereetesteseetesteaetestesese st e sesesre s enesressesesrenans (75,504) (53,958)
Long-term debt, NET ......ccocveiiiieiecicceeeece e $ 1,230,552 $ 1,317,799

Term Loan, ABL Revolving Credit Facility and Senior Secured Notes

On April 6, 2017, Dole entered into a term loan credit agreement (the “term loan”) and an asset-based revolving credit
agreement (the “ABL revolver”) with certain lenders (the term loan and the ABL revolver, together, the “credit
facilities”). During March and April 2018, Dole obtained lender consents under each of these named agreements and
the 2025 Notes (as defined below) to allow Total Produce to become a permitted debt holder.

The credit facilities included syndicated borrowings under a term loan of $950.0 million, that bears interest, at Dole’s
option, at either (i) LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.00%, with a LIBOR floor of 1.00% or (ii) a base rate plus 1.75% to 2.00%,
in each case, based on Dole’s first lien net leverage ratio. Commencing on September 30, 2017, principal payments
of approximately $5.9 million are due annually during the first four years and principal payments of approximately
$11.9 million are due annually during the remainder of the term of the facility, with the balance due on the maturity
date of April 6, 2024. On April 3, 2018, the term loan interest rate was amended to bear interest at either (i) LIBOR
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plus 2.75% with a LIBOR floor of 1.00% or (ii) a base rate plus 1.75%. At December 31, 2020 and December 28,
2019, amounts outstanding under the term loan were $866.9 million and $896.6 million, respectively. As discussed in
Note 15 “Derivative Financial Instruments”, during 2018, Dole entered into an interest rate swap to fix $300.0 million
of the credit facilities’ variable rate debt to fixed rate debt.

The ABL revolver, under which the participating lenders committed to lend up to the lesser of the (i) amount of the
borrowing base available thereunder and (ii) $175.0 million (“Total Revolving Commitment”), of which up to $50.0
million may be borrowed by Solvest, Ltd. and Dole Finance International, LLC, wholly owned subsidiaries of Dole.
The annual interest rate on amounts drawn under the ABL revolver is, at Dole’s option, either (i) LIBOR plus 1.50%
to 2.00% with a LIBOR floor of 0.00%, or (ii) a base rate plus 0.50% to 1.00%, in each case, based upon Dole’s
average historical excess availability under the ABL revolver. All amounts outstanding under the ABL revolver are
due on April 6, 2022. At December 31, 2020, the borrowing base was $126.7 million, which was the lower of the
borrowing base or the Total Revolving Commitment. Dole’s borrowings under the ABL revolver were $15.9 million
at December 31, 2020. After taking into account approximately $21.1 million of outstanding letters of credit issued
under the ABL revolver, Dole had $89.7 million available for cash borrowings. At December 28, 2019, Dole had
$70.3 million available for cash borrowings.

Dole’s borrowings under the credit facilities are secured by substantially all the U.S. assets of Dole and its material
domestic subsidiaries. The borrowings of Solvest, Ltd. and Dole Finance International, LLC under the ABL revolver
are secured by substantially all the assets of Dole’s material Bermudan subsidiaries.

Additionally, on April 6, 2017, Dole completed the sale and issuance of $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of
7.25% Senior Secured Notes due June 15, 2025 (“2025 Notes”). The 2025 Notes were sold to qualified institutional
investors pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), and to persons outside the U.S.
in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act, who are exempt from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act. Interest is due semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year. The 2025 Notes are
secured by substantially all U.S. assets of Dole and its material U.S. subsidiaries and is junior to the security interest
of the obligations under the credit facilities.

Vessel Financing Loan Facility

On December 11, 2015, Dole entered into secured loan facilities (“vessel facility”) of up to $111.0 million, in the
aggregate, to finance a portion of the acquisition costs of three new vessels. The vessel facility consists of three
tranches, each tied to a specific vessel, which allowed Dole to borrow up to 70% or $37.0 million of the contract cost
of each vessel, collateralized by the completed vessel. Principal and interest payments are due annually in arrears for
48 consecutive installments. The vessel facility bears interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 2.00% to
3.25% and will mature on May 18, 2028. At December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, Dole’s borrowings under
the vessel facility were $67.1 million and $76.3 million, respectively.

On October 30, 2020, Dole entered into two secured loan agreements of $49.1 million, in the aggregate, to finance a
portion of the acquisition costs of two new vessels, which are expected to be delivered in 2021. Each agreement is
tied to a specific vessel which allows Dole to borrow 60%, or $24.5 million, of the contract cost of each vessel,
collateralized by the complete vessel. Principal and interest payments are due semi-annually in arrears for 18
consecutive installments. Each vessel facility bears interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 3.25% and will
mature nine years from utilization. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Dole incurred $0.6 million in debt
issuance costs related to the new vessel financing loan facilities. The loan agreements will be funded during fiscal
year 2021. See Note 22 “Subsequent Events” for additional detail on vessel financing.

Other Financing Arrangements

On June 23, 2016, Dole acquired approximately 1,000 gross hectares of farms in Chile for $36.0 million. In connection
with the purchase, Dole entered into a secured long-term asset financing arrangement for $28.8 million to finance 80%
of the farm purchase. The terms of the financing arrangement include a 5-year loan of $5.7 million due in July 2021,
and a 10-year loan of $23.1 million due in June 2026. The 5-year loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to
LIBOR plus 2.60%, and the 10-year loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 3.15%. Principal and
interest payments are due semi-annually in arrears. The long-term financing arrangement is collateralized by the farms
and related assets. At December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, Dole’s borrowings under this arrangement were
$17.3 million and $20.2 million, respectively.
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On July 1, 2016, Dole acquired approximately 837 gross hectares of pineapple farms in Costa Rica. In connection
with the purchase, Dole entered into a secured long-term asset financing arrangement for up to $16.0 million to finance
the farm purchase. The term of the financing arrangement includes a 10-year loan of $16.0 million due in July 2026.
The 10-year loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 5.00%, adjustable annually, with a floor rate
of 5.50% per annum. Interest only payments were due monthly in arrears for the first two years. Effective August 1,
2018, principal and interest payments are due monthly in arrears. The long-term financing arrangement is
collateralized by the farms and related assets. At December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, Dole’s borrowings
under this arrangement were $12.1 million and $13.8 million, respectively.

Notes Payable Agreements

As of December 31, 2020, there were no note payable agreements outstanding, and as of December 28, 2019, there
were $5.3 million of note payable agreements outstanding, primarily related to a short-term credit facility.

Finance Lease Obligations

At December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, Dole’s finance lease obligations of $41.1 million and $31.7 million,
respectively, primarily relate to machinery and equipment and vessel containers, which continue through 2032. See
Note 14 “Leases” for additional detail on finance lease obligations including maturities.

Covenants and Restrictions

Provisions under the term loan and the ABL revolver include limitations on, among other things, indebtedness,
investments, liens, loans to subsidiaries, employees and third-parties, the issuance of guarantees and the payment of
dividends.

In order for certain payments such as dividends or investments to be made, Dole must satisfy certain payment
conditions which include: (i) availability under the ABL shall exceed the greater of (A) $20.0 million and (B) 15% of
the Line Cap (as defined in the definitive documentation for the ABL revolver, but which is $126.7 million as of
December 31, 2020), and (ii) Dole would be required to comply with a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1:1,
unless availability exceeds the greater of (A) $25.0 million and (B) 20% of Line Cap. In addition, if the availability
under the ABL revolver were to fall below the greater of (i) $15.0 million and (ii) 10% of the lesser of the Total
Revolving Commitment and the Borrowing Base (as defined in the credit agreement), then Dole would be required to
comply with a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio covenant. At December 31, 2020 and December 28, 2019, Dole
had sufficient availability, and the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant under the ABL revolver was not applicable.

The term loan requires Dole to maintain compliance with a maximum first lien net leverage ratio, which was initially
set at 6.00 to 1.00 beginning in the third fiscal year 2017, with step-downs to (i) 5.75 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter of
the 2019 and 2020 fiscal years and (ii) 5.50 to 1.00 for each fiscal year thereafter. At December 31, 2020 and December
28, 2019, Dole was in compliance with all applicable covenants.

A breach of a covenant or other provision in any debt instrument governing Dole’s current or future indebtedness
could result in a default under that instrument and, due to customary cross-default and cross-acceleration provisions,
could result in a default under Dole’s other debt instruments. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the
credit facilities or other debt instruments, the lenders or holders of such debt could elect to declare all amounts
outstanding to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If Dole were
unable to repay those amounts, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them, if any, to secure the
indebtedness. If the lenders under Dole’s indebtedness were to accelerate the payment of the indebtedness, Dole cannot
give assurance that its assets would be sufficiently liquid to repay in full its outstanding indebtedness on an accelerated
basis.

Debt Discounts and Debt Issuance Costs
Debt discounts, debt issuance costs, and all other debt underwriting costs are reflected as a direct reduction to the debt
liability to which they relate and are amortized into interest expense over the term of the underlying debt using the

effective interest rate method.

The amortization expense related to Dole’s deferred debt discounts and debt issuance costs was recorded in the
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consolidated statements of operations as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, 2020 December 28,2019 December 29, 2018
(In thousands)
INLEIESt EXPENSE ...vveveverveeerctee et $ 3,724 $ 3,825 $ 3,902

Uncommitted Lines of Credit

In addition to amounts available under the revolving credit facility, Dole’s subsidiaries have uncommitted lines of
credit of approximately $67.1 million at various local banks, of which $64.4 million was available at December 31,
2020. At December 28, 2019, there were uncommitted lines of credit of $42.1 million, of which $39.5 million was
available for use. These lines of credit are used primarily for short-term borrowings or bank guarantees. Dole’s
uncommitted lines of credit extend indefinitely but may be cancelled at any time by Dole or the banks, and, if
cancelled, any outstanding amounts would be due on demand.

Maturities of Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt

Stated maturities with respect to notes payable and long-term debt, including finance lease obligations, as of
December 31, 2020 were as follows:

Amount
(In thousands)

P20 TSR $ 79,976
2022 e a e e e s iae 68,629
2023 e e e s st e e e e e e saae 65,528
2024 ..o 754,605
202D e e e e s st a e e e e s iae 317,541
B (ST =T U R 34,000
1o - | SRR $ 1,320,279

NOTE 13 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Dole sponsors a number of defined benefit pension plans covering certain employees worldwide. Benefits under these
plans are generally based on each employee’s eligible compensation and years of service, except for certain plans
covering union employees, which are based on negotiated benefits. In addition to pension plans, Dole has other
postretirement benefit (“OPRB”) plans that provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired
employees. Covered employees may become eligible for such benefits if they fulfill established requirements upon
reaching retirement age.

In the U.S., Dole sponsors one qualified pension plan, which is funded. All of Dole’s international pension plans and
worldwide OPRB plans are unfunded.

Substantially all U.S. pension benefits were frozen December 31, 2001. There were 144 employees who continue to
earn benefits under the terms of collective bargaining agreements at December 31, 2020, as compared to 141
employees at December 28, 2019.

Dole sponsors a non-qualified deferred compensation plan (“ESP”) and a non-qualified frozen defined benefit plan
(“SERP?”), both of which are unfunded. Under the provisions of these two Rabbi Trust plans, Dole is obligated to
contribute to the trusts within 30 days after a change of control event, as defined by the plans, to ensure the assets of
the trusts are sufficient to meet the ESP obligation and the present value of the projected benefit obligation of the
SERP as of the change of control date. The assets held in the Rabbi Trusts are subject to the claims of Dole’s general
unsecured creditors. As of December 31, 2020, $6.2 million is classified as short-term and included in short-term
investments in the consolidated balance sheets, and $25.0 million is classified as long-term and is included in long-
term investments in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 28, 2019, $5.7 million was classified as short-
term and included in short-term investments in the consolidated balance sheets, and $24.6 million was classified as
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long-term and included in long-term investments in the consolidated balance sheets.

Dole uses a December 31 measurement date for all of its plans. For the U.S. pension plan, assets as of November 30
are used and rolled forward to December 31 using agreed actuarial assumptions.

Obligations and Funded Status

The status of Dole’s defined benefit pension plans was as follows:

International Pension Plan

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at
beginning of the year ....
Service CoSt.......cocvvvruvrnnnn.
Interest COSt........ccooovvriunnne
Foreign currency exchange
rate changes .................
Actuarial (gain) loss ..........
Curtailments, settlements
and terminations, net.....

Benefits paid...........ccccoenes

Benefit obligation at end of
the year ......ccccocevveveenen.

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of the year ....
Actual return on plan
ASSELS..vevrireiee e
Company contributions .....

Benefits paid..........ccceenes
Settlements ........coeeeenennen.

Fair value of plan assets at
end of the year ..............

Funded status.....................
Amounts recognized in the

Consolidated Balance

Sheets:

Current liabilities...............

Long-term liabilities ..........

U.S. Pension Plans S OPRB Plans
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 31, December 28, December 31, December 28,
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
(In thousands)
$ 265,735 $ 249,101 $ 85,751 $ 85,700 $ 20,418 $ 20,661
270 226 2,611 2,906 7 15
6,425 8,774 6,068 6,245 693 908
— — 2,388 (1,081) — —
20,234 29,563 8,793 5,238 1,293 1,983
— —  (10,697) (9,764) — —
(21,120) (21,929)  (2,433) (3,493) (3,002) (3,149)
$ 271,544 $ 265,735 $ 92,481 $ 85,751 $ 19,409 $ 20,418
$ 218,666 $ 190,236 $ — $— $ — $ —
30,137 41,105 — — _ _
4,123 9,254 14,567 13,257 3,002 3,149
(21,120) (21,929) (2,433) (3,493) (3,002) (3,149)
— —  (12,139) (9,764) — —
$ 231,806 $ 218,666 $ — $ — $ — $ —
$ (39,738) $ (47,069) $ (92,481) $ (85,751) $ (19,409) $ (20,418)
$ (2317)  $ (2,348) $ (10,886) $ (8,440)  $ (2,346) $ (2,529)
(37,421) (44,721) (81,595) (77,311) (17,063) (17,889)
$ (39,738) $ (47,069) $ (92,481) $ (85,751) $ (19,409) $ (20,418)

As of December 31, 2020, there was a net actuarial loss in the benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans
which was primarily attributable to a decrease in the discount rate, offset by gains due to updating the mortality
improvement scale and claims and premiums experience. As of December 28, 2019, there was a net actuarial loss in
the benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans which was primarily attributable to a decrease in the
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discount rate and updates to demographics, offset by gains due to updating the mortality improvement scale, mortality
assumption, and claims and premiums experience and the removal of the excise tax.

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows:

U.S. Pension Plans International Pension Plans OPRB Plans

Year
Year Ended Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Y:

ear Ended

December December December December December December December December December
31,2020 28,2019 29,2018 31,2020 28,2019 29,2018 31,2020 28,2019 29,2018
(In thousands)

Net actuarial loss

(gain)...ccccevenee $ 50,709 $ 51,280 $ 51,579 $ 18,390 $ 11,900 $ 8,504 $ 1,449 $ 207 % (2,147)
Prior service

(benefit........... — — — — — — (3,602) (4,414) (5,225)
Income taxes ...... (10,739)  (10,990) (16,293) (2,747) (2,227) (1,625) 938 1,597 3,295
Total...oovveeveenns $ 39,970 $ 40,290 $ 35,286 $ 15,643 $ 9,673 $ 6879 $(1,215) $ (2,610) $ (4,077)

All of Dole’s pension plans and OPRB plans were underfunded at December 31, 2020, having accumulated benefit
obligations exceeding the fair value of plan assets. The aggregate projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans and OPRB plans with accumulated benefit obligations in
excess of plan assets were as follows:

December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
(In thousands)
Projected benefit obligation...........c.cccccevviiviiiicccc $ 383,434 $ 371,904
Accumulated benefit obligation............ccccvcveeviiciiriiccccee e $ 362,454 $ 350,989
Fair value of plan aSSetS.........ccccevieiiveviieeeiee e $ 231,806 $ 218,666
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The Company classifies the non-service components of net periodic pension benefit costs within other expense, net in
the consolidated statement of operations. See breakout of the costs below:

Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 29,
2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
Non-Service Components of Net Periodic Pension
Benefit Costs

INEEreSt COSE ...vvvvviriirercecceeee e, $ 13,186 $ 5,019 $ 13,797

Expected return on plan assets ............... (11,795) (11,963) (12,373)
Amortization of net loss and prior service

benefit........ccocovveiiiice 2,651 1,242 1,476

(011311 SRRSO 3,406 513 2,172

$ 7,448 $ 4,811 $ 5,072

Assumptions

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were as follows:

U.S. Pension Plans International Pension Plans OPRB Plans
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 28, December 31, December 28, December 31, December 28,
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Discount rate ..........ccev.. 2.14% 2.94% 6.32% 6.88% 3.13% 3.96%
Rate of compensation
iNCreASe.....ccovevververeans 3.00% 3.00% 4.63% 5.10% — —

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were as follows:

U.S. Pension Plans International Pension Plans OPRB Plans

Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
December December December December December December December December December
31, 2020 28,2019 29,2018 31,2020 28,2019 29,2018 31,2020 28,2019 29,2018

Discount rate............ 2.94% 4.11% 3.57% 6.88% 7.25% 6.96% 3.96% 5.05% 4.60%
Rate of compensation

increase............... 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 5.10% 5.16% 5.23% — — —
Rate of return on plan

ASSEtS ..o, 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% — — — — — —

Dole does not sponsor any cash balance plans or plans with promised interest credit rates. International plan discount
rates and assumed rates of increase in future compensation differ from the assumptions used for U.S. plans due to
differences in the local economic conditions in the countries in which the international plans are based. No rate of
compensation increase is shown for U.S. plans, because benefits under the U.S. plans are frozen except for a group of
144 employees whose benefits are negotiated under collective bargaining agreements, compared to 141 employees in
the 2019 fiscal year. The assumption for the rate of compensation increase for these employees reflects the rate
negotiated in those bargaining agreements.
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The accumulated pension benefit obligation for Dole’s U.S. OPRB plan was determined using the following assumed
annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits:

2021 2020
Health care costs trend rate assumed for next year............ccoceeecvrerieenen. 7.00% 7.25%
Rate of increase to which the cost of benefits is assumed to decline (the
UItIMALE trend FatE) ......eceiieieiee e e 4.50% 4.50%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate..........cccoceveveiiniienenne. 2029 2029
Plan Assets

The following is the target asset mix for Dole’s U.S. pension plan, which management believes provides the optimal
tradeoff of diversification and long-term asset growth:

Target
Allocation
FiXed INCOME SECUILIES ....cvviiviiiiie et 66%
EQUILY SECUNITIES .eeviiiiiieiie ettt sttt neas 34%
TOMAL e 100%
Dole’s U.S. pension plan weighted average asset allocations by asset category were as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, December 28,
2020 2019
Fixed iNCOME SECUMTIES ....c.viivieiiee et 67% 65%
EQUILY SECUNITIES ..iviiiiiieiieiee ettt 33% 35%
TOMAL e e 100% 100%

The plan’s asset allocation includes a mix of fixed income investments designed to reduce volatility and equity
investments designed to maintain funding ratios and long-term financial health of the plan. The equity investments
are diversified across U.S. and international stocks as well as growth, value, and small and large capitalizations.

Dole employs a total return investment approach whereby a mix of fixed income and equity investments is used to
maximize the long-term return of plan assets with a prudent level of risk. The objectives of this strategy are to achieve
full funding of the accumulated benefit obligation and to achieve investment experience over time that will minimize
pension expense volatility and minimize Dole’s contributions required to maintain full funding status. Risk tolerance
is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status, and corporate financial condition.
Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through annual liability measurements, periodic
asset/liability studies, and quarterly investment portfolio reviews. See Note 16 “Fair Value Measurements” for
additional detail on fair value of employee benefit pl